IDENTIFICATION OF HOST FACTORS IN SWINE RESPIRATORY EPITHELIAL CELLS THAT CONTRIBUTE TO HOST ANTI-VIRAL DEFENSE AND INFLUENZA VIRUS REPLICATION

A Thesis Submitted to the College of Graduate Studies and Research in Partial Fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Vaccinology and Immunotherapeutics program, School of Public Health University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon

> By Sathya Narayanan Thulasi Raman

© Copyright Sathya Narayanan Thulasi Raman (2015). All rights reserved

PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a postgraduate degree from the University of Saskatchewan, I agree that the libraries of this university may make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for copying of this thesis in any manner, whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professors who supervised my thesis work or in their absence, the Head of the Department or the Dean of the college in which my thesis work was done. It is understood that any copying or publication or use of this thesis or parts thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without any written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of Saskatchewan in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my thesis.

Request for permission to copy or to make other use of material in this thesis in whole or part should be addressed to:

Executive Director, School of Public Health,

Program Director, Vaccinology and Immunotherapeutics

University of Saskatchewan

107 Wiggins Road

Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, S7N 5E5

Canada

ABSTRACT

Swine influenza viruses (SIV) are a common and an important cause of respiratory disease in pigs. Pigs can serve as mixing vessels for the evolution of reassortment viruses containing both avian and human signatures, which have the potential to cause pandemics. NS1 protein of influenza A viruses is a major antagonist of host defence and it regulates multiple functions during infection by interacting with a variety of host proteins. Therefore, it is important to study swine viruses and NS1-interacting host factors in order to understand the mechanisms by which NS1 regulates virus replication and exerts its host defense functions. Influenza A viruses enter the host through the respiratory tract and infect epithelial cells in the respiratory tract, which form the primary sites of virus replication in the host. Thus, studying SIV infection in primary swine respiratory epithelial cells (SRECs) would resemble conditions similar to natural infection.

The objectives of this study were to identify NS1-interacting host factors in the virusinfected SRECs and to understand the physiological role of at least one of the factors in influenza virus infection. The approaches to meet this objective were to generate a recombinant SIV carrying a Strep-tag in the NS1 protein, infect SRECs with the Strep-tag virus, purify NS1interacting host protein complex from the infected cells by pull-down using strep-tactin resin and then study the physiological role of one of the NS1-interacting partners during influenza infection. Using a reverse-genetics strategy, a recombinant virus carrying the Strep-tag NS1 was successfully rescued and the SRECs were infected with this recombinant virus. The Strep-tag in the NS1 protein facilitated the isolation of an intact NS1-interacting protein complex and the proteins present in the complex were identified by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. The identified proteins were grouped to enrich for different functions using bioinformatics. This gave an insight into the different functions that NS1 may regulate during infection and the potential host partners involved in these functions.

Among the host proteins identified as potential interaction partners, RNA helicases were particularly of interest to study. Influenza being an RNA virus, RNA helicases could have important functions in the virus life cycle. Among the identified RNA helicases, DDX3 has been shown to regulate IFN β induction and affect the life cycle of a number of viruses. However, its function in influenza A virus life cycle has not been studied. Hence, this study explored whether DDX3 has any role in the influenza A virus life cycle. Immunoprecipitation studies revealed viral proteins NP and NS1 as direct interaction partners with DDX3. DDX3 is a known component of stress granules (SGs) and influenza A virus lacking the NS1 gene is reported to induce SG formation. Therefore, the role of DDX3 in SG formation, induced by PR8 influenza A virus lacking NS1 (PR8 del NS1) was explored. The results from this study showed that DDX3 co-localized with NP in SGs indicating that DDX3 may interact with NP in the SGs. NS1 protein was found to inhibit virus-induced SGs and DDX3 downregulation impaired virus-induced SG formation. The contribution of the different domains of DDX3 to viral protein interaction and virus-induced SG formation was also studied. While DDX3 helicase domain did not interact with NS1 and NP, it was essential for DDX3 localization in virus induced SGs. Moreover, DDX3 downregulation resulted in the increased replication of PR8 del NS1virus, accompanied by an impairment of SG induction in infected cells.

Since DDX3 is reported to regulate IFN β induction, the role of DDX3 in influenza A virus induced IFN β induction was also examined. Using small molecule inhibitors and siRNA-mediated gene knockdown, the RIG-I pathway was identified as the major contributor of

influenza induced IFN β induction in newborn porcine tracheal epithelial (NPTr) cells. DDX3 downregulation and overexpression also showed that DDX3 has an inhibitory effect on IFN β expression induced by both influenza infection and low molecular weight (LMW) poly I:C treatment, which is also a RIG-I ligand. RNA competition assay to identify the mechanism of DDX3-mediated inhibition, showed that RIG-I binding affinity to its ligands LMW poly I:C and influenza viral RNA (vRNA) is much higher than that of DDX3. Furthermore, DDX3 downregulation enhanced titers of the PR8 del NS1 virus, while it did not affect the titers of the wild-type strains of PR8 and SIV/SK viruses. Overall, the results show that DDX3 has an antiviral role and the SG regulatory function of DDX3 has a profound effect on virus replication than the IFN β regulatory function.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Yan Zhou for giving me the opportunity to work in her lab and for mentoring and encouraging me throughout the entire thesis process. I would also like to thank members of my advisory committee Dr. Suresh Tikoo, Dr. George Mutwiri, Dr. Scott Napper and Dr. Philip Griebel for their positive criticisms and technical advice during the committee meetings.

I would also like to extend my gratitude to several past and current members of our lab and staff at VIDO-InterVac. I would like to thank a past lab member, Dr. Aleksandar Masic who trained me with all the basics, when I first joined the lab. I would like to thank other past lab members, Ms. Nathalie Berube, Dr. Hyun Mi Pyo, Dr. Xinya Lu, Dr. Li Lin, Dr. Junwei Li, and all the current lab members for their friendly support and technical assistance. I would also like to thank Mr. Ken Lai and Ms. Donna Dent for their technical advice.

I would like to extend my thanks to the many supporting staff at VIDO-InterVac especially Ms. Joyce Sander and Ms. Donna Holmlund for their unreserved assistance in the preparation of numerous administration and immigration documents. I am also grateful to other support staff at the University of Saskatchewan who made this experience a memorable one.

Finally, I am forever grateful to my parents, my brother, friends and to my wife Radhika for their unconditional support and patience throughout these several years.

This project was supported by a grant from CIHR and a NSERC discovery grant awarded to Dr. Yan Zhou.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PERMISSION TO USE	i
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
LIST OF TABLES	xii
LIST OF FIGURES	xii
ABBREVIATIONS USED IN THIS THESIS	xiv
1.0 LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1 Influenza virus	1
1.1.1 Classification	1
1.1.2 Virion and genome Structure	1
1.1.3 Influenza A virus life cycle	
1.1.4 Evolution and genetics of influenza A iruses	14
1.2 Overview of innate immunity and virus evasion strategies	
1.2.1 Pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) and Pathogen Associated Mo	lecular Patterns
(PAMPs)	
1.2.1.1 Toll-like Receptors (TLRs)	
1.2.1.2 RIG-I (retinoic acid inducible gene-I) like receptors	
1.2.1.3 NOD like receptors (NLRs)	
1.2.1.4 Lectin Receptors	
1.2.2 Effectors of innate immunity	

1.2.2.1 Physical barriers of innate immunity	30
1.2.2.2 Cells of innate immunity	31
1.2.2.3 Chemical mediators of innate immunity	33
1.2.3 Mode of action of IFN β in inducing antiviral state	37
1.2.3.1 Inhibitors of virus entry	38
1.2.3.2 Inhibitors of virus translation and replication	40
1.2.3.3 Inhibitors of virus release and exit	42
1.2.4 NS1 interaction with host proteins and its function in influenza virus life cycle	43
1.3 DDX3 and virus life cycle	48
1.3.1 Biological functions of DDX3	48
1.3.1.1 DDX3 in transcription	49
1.3.1.2 DDX3 and pre-mRNA splicing	50
1.3.1.3 DDX3 and Nuclear RNA export	50
1.3.1.4 DDX3 in translation and cytoplasmic stress granule formation	51
1.3.1.5 DDX3 in cellular signaling and IFN β induction	54
1.3.2 DDX3 in virus infection	55
2.0 RATIONALE, OBJECTIVES AND AIMS	59
2.1 Rationale	59
2.2 Hypothesis	60
2.3 Objectives and aims	60
3.0 NETWORK OF HOST FACTORS THAT INTERACT WITH NS1 PROTEIN OF	
INFLUENZA A VIRUS	64
3.1 Abstract	64

3.2 Introduction
3.3 Materials and methods 67
3.3.1 Cells and viruses
3.3.2 Antibodies
3.3.3 Plasmid construction and generation of mutant viruses
3.3.4 Western blotting
3.3.5 Immunofluorescent staining
3.3.6 Purification of Strep-tagged NS1 protein complex70
3.3.7 Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) analysis of protein
complex
3.3.8 Analysis of LC-MS/MS data
3.3.9 Construction of protein-protein interaction networks
3.4 Results and Discussion72
3.4.1 Construction and characterization of Strep-tagged NS1 mutants
3.4.2 Identification of the cellular interaction partners of NS1 protein from infected primary
SRECs
3.4.3 Bioinformatics analysis of the protein dataset
3.4.4 Protein translation and viral replication
3.4.5 Splicing and nuclear export of viral mRNA
3.4.6 Apoptosis and innate immunity
3.4.7 SIV/SK-NS1 polymorphisms and their potential contribution to interaction partners 88
3.4.8 Validation of NS1 interaction with RNA helicases DHX9 and DDX391
3.4.9 Conclusion

4.0 DDX3 INTERACTS WITH INFLUENZA A NS1 AND NP PROTEINS AND EXERTS

ANTIVIRAL FUNCTION THROUGH THE REGULATION OF STRESS GRANULE

FORMATION
4.1 Abstract
4.2 Introduction
4.3 Materials and Methods
4.3.1 Cells and viruses
4.3.2 Antibodies and reagents
4.3.3 Transfection and immunoprecipitation (IP)
4.3.4 Western blotting 100
4.3.5 Immunofluorescent staining 100
4.3.6 Knockdown of DDX3 101
4.3.7 FISH Assay 101
4.4 Results 103
4.4.1 DDX3 interacts with viral NS1 and NP proteins 103
4.4.2 DDX3-NS1 and DDX3-NP interaction is RNA independent
4.4.3 C-terminal domain of DDX3 has a predominant role in mediating DDX3 interaction
with NS1 and NP107
4.4.4 DDX3 localizes in the SGs in response to del NS1 virus infection
4.4.5 DDX3 and NP co-localizes in SGs but vRNA is not sequestered in virus-induced SGs
4.4.6 Influenza virus NS1 inhibits virus-induced SG formation and DDX3 localization in
SGs

4.4.7 The core-helicase domain of DDX3 alone is sufficient for its localiz	ation into del NS1
virus-induced SGs	
4.4.8 DDX3 downregulation interferes with SG formation and enhances with SG formation and enh	virus replication
4.5 Discussion	122
5.0 THE ROLE OF DDX3 IN REGULATING INTERFERON BETA EX	PRESSION
DURING INFLUENZA INFECTION	127
5.1 Abstract	127
5.2 Introduction	129
5.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	
5.3.1 Cells and viruses	
5.3.2 Antibodies and reagents	
5.3.3 Plasmid construction	
5.3.4 Transfection and Western Blotting	
5.3.5 siRNA transfection	
5.3.6 Real-Time PCR	
5.3.7 Luciferase reporter assay	
5.3.8 In vitro transcription	
5.3.9 Biotinylation and RNA-protein pull down	
5.3.10 Statistical analysis	
5.4 RESULTS	
5.4.1 IFN β mRNA expression is mediated through RIG-I during influenze	a virus infection

5.4.2 DDX3 downregulation results in increased IRF-3 phosphorylation and IFN β mRNA
expression upon influenza virus infection140
5.4.3 DDX3 regulates IFN β mRNA expression triggered by the RIG-I agonist LMW poly
I:C
5.4.4 DDX3 overexpression decreases IFNβ promoter activity
5.4.5 RIG-I and DDX3 bind to LMW poly I:C, but DDX3 is unable to compete with RIG-I
for binding to poly I:C146
5.4.6 RIG-I binds to influenza vRNA at a much higher affinity than DDX3 150
5.4.7 The overall effect of DDX3 regulation in IFN β expression and SG formation affects
PR8 del NS1 virus replication but not WT virus replication
5.5 DISCUSSION 154
6.0 GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS 159
APPENDIX I: PUBLICATIONS, CONFERENCES, SCHOLARSHIPS AND AWARDS
213
APPENDIX II: PROOF OF PERMISSION LETTERS FOR REUSE OF COPYRIGHTED

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) critical during viral infection, their ligands and
cellular distribution
Table 3.1 List of proteins above a protein score of 150 in the purified NS1 protein complex 80
Table 3.2 Enriched functions as analyzed by DAVID resources and InnateDB
LIST OF FIGURES
Figure 1.1 Influenza A virus genome structure and organization
Figure 1.2 Proteins encoded by 8 segments of the influenza A virus genome
Figure 1.3 Influenza A virus life cycle
Figure 1.4 Influenza A virus antigenic shift and antigenic drift
Figure 1.5 Receptors of type I, II and III IFNs
Figure 1.6 Antiviral activities of interferon stimualted genes
Figure 1.7 Antiviral function of influenza A NS1 45
Figure 1.8 The Role of DDX3 in IFNβ signaling pathway
Figure 3.1 Characterization of recombinant Strep-tag NS1 viruses
Figure 3.2 FACS staining of SRECs, Protein expression kinetics and NS1 protein Strep-tactin
pull-down from WT and SIV/SK-544 infected cells
Figure 3.3 Interaction network of proteins involved in translation
Figure 3.4 Interaction network of proteins involved in RNA processing
Figure 3.5 Interaction network of proteins involved in the Apoptosis and Cytoskeleton network
Figure 3.6 Interaction network of innate immunity related proteins
Figure 4.1 Identification and characterization of viral proteins interacting with DDX3 105

Figure 4.2 RNA dependency of DDX3 interaction with NS1 and NP 108
Figure 4.3 Identification of DDX3 protein domains critical for viral protein interaction 109
Figure 4.4 Kinetics of SG formation in PR8-WT and PR8 del NS1virus- infected cells and
vRNA and NP localization in relevance to SGs113
Figure 4.5 Effect of NS1 on virus-induced and NaAs-induced SG formation 116
Figure 4.6 Characterization of DDX3 domains in virus-induced SG formation 118
Figure 4.7 Effect of DDX3 downregulation on virus-induced SG formation and virus titer 121
Figure 5.1 Influenza virus-induced IFN β expression is mediated through the RIG-I pathway. 142
Figure 5.2 IRF3 phosphorylation and IFN β mRNA expression is enhanced in DDX3 KD cells
Figure 5.3 IFN β mRNA expression is mediated through complexed poly I:C
Figure 5.4 Effect of DDX3 overexpression on influenza virus and complexed poly I:C-mediated
IFNβ mRNA expression
Figure 5.5 DDX3 and RIG-I competition assay with LMW poly I:C
Figure 5.6 Viral RNA (vRNA) interaction with RIG-I and DDX3

ABBREVIATIONS

25-НС	25-Hydroxycholesterol
AA	Amino acid
AMP	Antimicrobial peptides
APC	Antigen presenting cell
ASC	Apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a caspase recruitment domain
BEGM	Bronchial epithelial growth medium
bp	base pairs
BPIC	Biotinylated LMW poly I:C
CARD	Caspase activation and recruitment domain
cDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CPSF	Cleavage and polyadenylation specificity factor
CPSF 1	Cleavage and polyadenylation specificity factor 1
CPSF 2	Cleavage and polyadenylation specificity factor 2
CPSF30	Cleavage and polyadenylation specificity factor 30
CRK/CRKL	v-CRK avian sarcoma virus CT10-homolog/v-CRK avian sarcoma virus CT10-homolog-like
CRM1	Chromosome region maintenance 1
cRNA	Complementary RNA

Ct	Cycle threshold
CTD	C-terminal domain
CTLs	Cytotoxic T lymphocytes
CV	Column volume
DAMP	Danger associated molecular pattern
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DC	Dendritic cell
DDX	DEAD (Asp-Glu-Ala-Asp) box helicase
DDX1	DEAD (Asp-Glu-Ala-Asp) box helicase 1
DDX21	DEAD (Asp-Glu-Ala-Asp) box helicase 21
DDX3	DEAD (Asp-Glu-Ala-Asp) box helicase 3
DDX6	DEAD (Asp-Glu-Ala-Asp) box helicase 6
DHX9	DEAH (Asp-Glu-Ala-His) Box Helicase 9
Dlg1	Disks large homolog 1
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dsRNA	Double stranded RNA
DTT	Dithiothreitol
Dvl	Dishevelled
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

eIF	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor
eIF2a	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor-2alpha
eIF4A	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4A
eIF4E	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E
eIF4GI	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4GI
EJC	Exon junction complex
FACS	Fluorescence activated cell sorting
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FISH	Fluorescence in situ hybridization
FLB	Flag lysis buffer
FXR1	Fragile X mental retardation syndrome-related protein 1
G3BP	Ras GTPase-activating protein
GAS	Gamma activated sequences
GCN2	General control nondereprissible 2
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate
h.p.i.	Hours post infection
h.p.t.	Hours post transfection
HA	Hemagglutinin
HBV	Hepatitis B virus
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus

hnRNP	Heterogenous nuclear ribonucleoprotein
hnRNP A2/B1	Heterogenous nuclear ribonucleoprotein A2/B1
hnRNPF	Heterogenous nuclear ribonucleoprotein F
hnRNPU	Heterogenous nuclear ribonucleoprotein U
HRI	Heme-regulated translation inhibitor
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
HSP40	Heat shock protein 40
IFITM	IFN inducible transmembrane protein
IFN	Interferon
IFNAR	Interferon alpha receptor
IFNGR	Interferon gamma receptor
IFNLR	Interferon lambda receptor
IFNα	Interferon alpha
IFNβ	Interferon beta
IFNγ	Interferon gamma
IFNλ	Interferon lambda
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
IKK	Inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa-B kinase
ΙΚΚα	Inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa-B kinase alpha
ΙΚΚε	Inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa-B kinase epsilon
IL-10	Interleukin-10

IL10Rβ	IL-10 receptor beta
IL-12	Interleukin-12
IL-18	Interleukin-18
IL1-α	Interleukin 1-alpha
IL-1β	Interleukin-1 beta
IL28Ra	Interleukin-28 receptor alpha
IL-6	Interleukin-6
IL-8	Interleukin-8
ILF3	Interleukin enhancer binding factor 3
IP	Immunoprecipitation
IPS-1	IFNβ promoter stimulator protein 1
IRES	Internal ribosome entry site
IRF3	Interferon regulatory factor 3
IRF7	Interferon regulatory factor 7
ISG15	Interferon stimulated gene 15
ISGF3	IFN-stimulated gene factor 3
ISGs	Interferon stimulated genes
ISREs	Interferon stimulated response elements
JAK	Janus-activated kinase-signal transducer interferon regulatory factor
JEV	Japanese encephalitis virus
JMEM	Joklik's modified minimum essential medium

JNK-ATF2	c-Jun N-terminal kinase-Activating transcription factor 2
KD	Knockdown
LC-MS/MS	Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry
LGP2	Laboratory of genetics and physiology 2
Lin7C	Lin-7 homolog C
LMW	Low molecular weight
LRR	Leucine rich repeat
M1	Matrix protein 1
M2	Matrix protein 2
M42	matrix protein 42
MAGI	membrane-associated guanylate kinase
MAVS	Mitochondrial antiviral signaling
MDA5	Melanoma differentiation-associated protein 5
MDCK	Madin-Darby canine kidney
MEM	Minimal essential medium
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex
MOI	Multiplicity of infection
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
Mx1	Myxovirus resistance 1
Mx2	Myxovirus resistance 2
Myd88	Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88

NA	Neuraminidase
NaAs	Sodium arsenite
NCR	Non-coding region
NFκB	Nuclear factor kappa beta
NF-κB	Nuclear factor-kappa B
NK	Natural killer
NLR	Nod-like receptor
NLRP3	NOD-like receptor, pyrine domain containing protein 3
NLS	Nuclear localization signal
NOD	Nucleotide oligomerization and binding domain
NoLS	Nucleolar localization signal
NP	Nucleoprotein
NPTr	new born porcine tracheal epithelial
NS1	Non-structural protein 1
NS2/NEP	Non-structural protein 2/Nuclear export protein
NS3	Non-structural protein 3
NXF1	Nuclear RNA export factor 1
OAS	2'5'-oligoadenylate synthetase
ORF	Open reading frame
PA	Polymerase acidic
PABP1	Polyadenylate-binding protein 1

PAMP	Pathogen associated molecular pattern
PA-N155	Polymerase acidc-N155
PA-N182	Polymerase acidic-N182
PA-X	Polymerase acidic protein-X
PB1	Polymerase basic 1
PB1-F2	Polymerase basic 1- F2
PB1-N40	Polymerase basic 1-N40
PB2	Polymerase basic 2
PBM	PDZ-binding domain
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
pDC	Plasmacytoid Dendritic cell
PERK	PKR-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PFU	Plaque forming unit
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
PKR	Protein kinase R
pol	Polymerase
PPP	Triphosphate
PRR	Pathogen recognition receptor
PYD	Pyrine domain

qPCR	Quantitative real-time PCR
RD	Repressor domain
RHAU	RNA associated with AU-rich element
RIG-I	Retinoic acid-inducible gene 1
RLR	RIG-I like receptor
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNP	Ribonucleprotein complex
RPL19	Ribosomal protein L19
rRNA	Ribosomal RNA
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SG	Stress granule
SiOT	Off-target siRNA
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
siRNA-OT	Off-target siRNA
SIV	Swine Influenza virus
SK	Saskatchewan
snRNA	Small nuclear RNA
SRECs	Swine respiratory epithelial cells
ssRNA	Single stranded RNA
STAT	Signal transducers and activators of transcription
Sw	Swine

ТАР	Tip-associated protein
TBK1	Tank binding kinase 1
TBST	Tris buffered sodium chloride solution with 0.1% Tween-20
TC	Tetracysteine
THOC	THO complex
THOC4	THO complex 4
TIA-1	T-cell intracellular antigen-1
TIAR	TIA-1 related
TLR3	Toll-like receptor 3
TLR7	Toll-like receptor 7
TNFR	Tumor necrosis factor receptor
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
TRIF	TIR domain containing adaptor protein inducing IFN β
TRIM	Tripartite interaction motif
tRNA	Transfer RNA
ТҮК	Tyrosine kinase
UAP56	ATP-dependent RNA helicase uap56
UTR	Untranslated region
UV	Ultraviolet
VACV	Vaccinia virus
vRNA	Viral RNA

vRNP Viral ribonucleoprotein complex WB Western blot WNV West Nile virus WT Wild-type

CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Influenza virus

1.1.1 Classification

Influenza viruses belong to the family of *Orthomyxoviridae*. This family is composed of RNA viruses, which are negative-sense, single, stranded and have a segmented genome. The viruses in this family are divided into six different genera, namely influenza A, B and C viruses, Thogotovirus, Isavirus and Quaranfilvirus. All influenza viruses are further classified based on the antigenic nature of their surface glycoproteins Hemagglutinin (HA) and Neuraminidase (NA) (461). Different subtypes of HA and NA are distinguishable serologically, in that the antibodies of one virus subtype do not react with another subtype (461). So far, 18 different HA subtypes (H1 to H18) and 11 different NA subtypes (N1 to N11) (155, 538, 586) have been identified for influenza A viruses, while influenza B HA and NA are each classified into two lineages, Victoria-like and Yamagata-like (49).

Different influenza viruses are named according to their genus, the species from which they were isolated (not included when isolated from humans), location of the isolate, the number of the isolate, the year of isolation and the HA and NA subtypes (only if it is an influenza A virus). For example, the nomenclature A/Sw/SK/18789/02 (H1N1) represents the type A influenza virus isolated from pigs (Sw-swine) in Saskatchewan (SK) as a virus isolate 18789, isolated in the year 2002 with the HA and NA subtype H1 and N1 respectively.

1.1.2 Virion and genome structure

Influenza virus is an enveloped virus and possess an outer layer lipid membrane derived from the host cell in which it multiples. The morphology of the virion is pleomorphic and can be spherical (80-120 nm in diameter) or filamentous (up to several micrometers in length). Fresh clinical preparations are characterized by a significantly higher proportion of the filamentous virion (90), while multiple passages in egg and tissue culture renders the virion with a spherical morphology (87, 277). Reassortment and genetic studies in virus strains forming filamentous and spherical virions show that mutations within influenza A virus M1 and M2 protein affect the morphology of the virus particles (62, 125, 452). The surface glycoproteins HA, NA and Matrix protein 2 (M2) are embedded in the outer lipid membrane and project from the surface of the virion. The HA and NA projecting from the surface impart the virions the distinctive spikes that are readily observable in electron micrographs of negatively stained virus particles. The spikes are usually 10-14 nm long and are distributed at a ratio of 1: 4 (NA: HA) on the virion's envelope. Underneath the lipid membrane, Matrix protein 1 (M1), which is the most abundant structural component of the virion, forms a shell and associates with the ribonucleoprotein complex (RNP) (56, 393). The proteins M1 and M2 modulate the filamentous and spherical morphology of influenza A viruses (62, 71). The RNP complex forms the core of the virus particle and is made up of viral RNA (vRNA), nucleoprotein NP and polymerase proteins; polymerase basic 1 (PB1), polymerase basic 2 (PB2) and polymerase acidic (PA) (34). Nuclear export protein/non-structural protein 2 (NEP/NS2) has also been reported to be present in purified viral preparations (446) (Fig. 1.1).

The eight vRNA segments of the influenza A virus genome range in size from 890 to 2341 bases and contain conserved sequences at the 3' and 5' ends flanking the coding region (112). These conserved regions, comprising 13 nucleotides at the 5' end and 12 nucleotides at the 3' end, display partial and inverted complementarity and form the core promoter region, which is important for regulation of virus replication. The core promoter is associated with the

heterotrimeric RNA polymerase containing PB1, PB2 and PA in the virion (139, 282).

Additionally, each vRNA segment is encapsidated by multiple copies of the NP protein forming a twisted rod-like structure (400). The secondary structure within the core promoter has been studied extensively, leading to the development of several models, which includes the panhandle model (221), RNA fork model (141) and corkscrew model (139). These secondary structures have been shown to be critical for polymerase binding, endonuclease activity and polyadenylation (67, 308, 309, 437).

The influenza A virus genome consists of 8 vRNA segments that encode up to 17 proteins. The vRNA segments and the proteins derived from each segment are illustrated in Fig 1.2. RNA segment 1 of the influenza A virus encodes the PB2 protein, which is an important component of the heterotrimeric virus polymerase complex and a major virulence determinant of influenza A viruses. The PB2 protein binds the 5'-cap of host pre-mRNA molecules and thus plays a key role in transcription initiation (186). The PB2 protein also plays a role in replication, since a single amino acid mutation has been reported to specifically affect replication but not transcription (160). The PB2 protein also affects virus pathogenicity and host range, as the amino acid at position 627 majorly contributes to this phenotype (295, 490, 507). Furthermore, PB2 regulates antiviral innate immunity by interacting with mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein (MAVS) and inhibiting MAVS-mediated beta interferon (IFNβ) expression (180).

The PB1 subunit of the RNA polymerase complex is encoded by RNA segment 2 of influenza A virus. The PB1 protein is responsible for the elongation of RNA during viral transcription and replication by catalyzing the sequential addition of nucleotides to the newly synthesized RNA chain (63, 175). The PB1 protein contains four highly conserved regions, each



From [Yitzhi Jane Tao, and Wenjie Zheng, Science 2012; 338:1545-1546]. Reprinted with permission from AAAS. See Appendix II for documentation to republish this material

Figure 1.1 Influenza A virus genome structure and organization. A schematic diagram of the structure of the influenza A virus particle is depicted. The eight single stranded RNA segments of antisense orientation encapsidated with NP comprise the genome. The genome is surrounded by a matrix made up of M1 protein. The viral polymerase complex (PA, PB1, PB2) are associated with the vRNA segments. The surface proteins HA, NA and the ion channel protein M2 are embedded in the lipid envelope of viral membrane and NEP is found associated with the virion.

ranging in size from 4-13 amino acids, which form a large functional domain important for polymerase activity (89). Additionally, PB1 is essential for the formation of the structural backbone and catalytic activities of the RNA polymerase (89). PB1 mRNA encodes two other proteins PB1-F2 and PB1-N40 by an alternate open reading frame (ORF) (83, 581). PB1-F2 is a multifunctional protein and varying sizes have been reported in different influenza strains (77). Its functions include direct or indirect roles in the apoptosis of immune cells via the mitochondrial pathway, exacerbation of pathogenicity in animal models, modulation of innate immune response in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* models, regulation of polymerase activity and enhancement of secondary bacterial infections (77). The PB1-N40 protein is translated from the fifth AUG codon of PB1 mRNA and lacks the first 39 AA of PB1 responsible for binding to the polymerase subunit PA (581); however, the precise function of PB1-N40 in influenza virus life cycle is unknown. The third RNA segment of influenza A virus encodes the third RNA polymerase subunit PA. The PA protein possesses the endonuclease activity of the viral polymerase, required to generate the capped primer necessary for viral mRNA transcription initiation (114, 604). Also the PA protein has been shown to possess proteolytic activity with two amino acid residues S624 and T157 present in the active site (194, 428, 458). RNA segment 3 encodes three additional proteins; PA-X by a ribosomal frameshift, PA-N155 and PA-N182 by using alternative translation initiation sites (234, 387). The PA-X protein possesses the endonuclease domain of the PA protein but lacks the C-terminal domain necessary for binding to other RNA polymerase subunits (234). Thus, the PA-X subunit is believed to be involved in host-shutoff through its endonuclease activity (273). However, the exact molecular mechanisms involved in PA-X-mediated host shut-off remains unknown and needs further study. PA-N155 and PA-N182 are N-terminal truncated forms of PA (387). Mutant viruses lacking PA-N155



(Source: ViralZone:www.expasy.org/viralzone, SIB Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics). See Appendix II for documentation of permission to republish this material

Figure 1.2 Proteins encoded by 8 segments of the influenza A virus genome. RNA segment 1 encodes one protein, PB2. Segment 2 encodes three proteins, full-length PB1, PB1-F2 and PB1- N40 by alternate open reading frame (ORF). Segment 3 encodes the full-length PA, PA-N182 and PA-N155 by alternate ORF, PA-X by ribosomal frame shift. Segments 4, 5 and 6 each encode one full-length protein namely HA, NP and NA respectively. Segment 7 encodes full-length M1, two additional proteins M2 and M42 via alternative splicing. Segment 8 encodes three proteins, full-length NS1 protein, NEP protein by alternative splicing and NS3 also generated by alternative splicing (not described in this figure).

demonstrated slower replication kinetics and less pathogenicity in mice, while mutant viruses lacking PA-N182 replicated as efficiently as the wild-type virus (387). Even though PA-N155 affects virus replication, the exact function and mechanism are unknown. Hence, the exact function of the N-terminal truncated PA proteins, PA-N155 and PA-N182, warrants further study and understanding.

The major surface glycoprotein HA of influenza A virus is encoded by RNA segment 4. The primary function of the HA protein is attachment to the sialic acid receptors and fusion activities. In virus-infected cells, HA is co-translationally translocated across the rough endoplasmic reticulum membrane and forms a precursor protein called HA0 (164). Viruses with the HA0 precursor remain non-infectious until being cleaved at the monobasic cleavage site by host trypsin-like proteases, found in the respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts, into HA1 and HA2 (94, 303). Some avian viruses of the H5 and H7 subtype possess multiple basic amino acids at the cleavage site, which is susceptible to cleavage by ubiquitous proteases, resulting in systemic spread and high pathogenicity in the host (132, 503, 558). Once the HA protein binds to the receptor, the virus is endocytosed and the low pH of the endosome triggers a dramatic conformational change. The cleaved HA facilitates a pH-mediated fusion of the endosomal and viral membrane, releasing the contents of the virion into the cytoplasm (494). The HA protein through its transmembrane domain mediates lipid raft association on the cell membrane, which is important for virus budding and replication (454). Influenza HA recognition of the sialic acid receptor is a key determinant of host range (427). Besides functioning in receptor binding and fusion, HA is a major antigenic determinant of influenza A viruses. Mutations in the HA protein caused by antigenic drifts and antigenic shifts can lead to the emergence of novel strains resulting in annual epidemics and sometimes global pandemics (528).

7

RNA segment 5 of influenza encodes the NP protein. The NP protein is the structural unit of RNPs, covering the entire vRNA except at the ends. The NP protein is important for nuclear and cytoplasmic trafficking of RNPs. After uncoating, the RNPs have to be transported to the nucleus for transcription (210). This is achieved through recognition of the NP nuclear localization signal (NLS) by the cellular cargo protein karyopherin α (404). NP also interacts with M1 to form the NEP-M1-RNP complex necessary for CRM1-mediated nuclear export of vRNP to the cytoplasm (3). Newly synthesized NP is important for the regulation of the switch between transcription and replication (560). Furthermore, amino acids associated with MxA resistance have been identified in the NP protein of pandemic viruses, implicating NP function in evading innate immunity (354).

The second major surface glycoprotein on the influenza A virus envelope is the NA protein, encoded by RNA segment 6. The primary role of NA is to release newly synthesized viral particles from the host cell by cleaving the sialic acid receptors from the cell surface, thereby preventing virus aggregation and permitting virus spread (561). Additionally, NA cleaves the sialic acids from respiratory tract mucins and helps the virus reach and bind to the target cells during infection (364).

RNA segment 7 encodes three proteins; the matrix protein M1 and the ion channel proteins M2 and M42. M1 is the most abundant protein in influenza A virions and forms a shell surrounding the core RNP. Meanwhile, M2 is a proton channel that opens in response to the low pH of the endosome upon virion endocytosis, allowing proton influx into the virion and triggering dissociation of the viral RNP from the matrix proteins (218). M1 facilitates the export of newly synthesized RNPs into the cytoplasm by interacting with both RNP and NEP (3). Several studies have shown the importance of M1 protein in virus budding. M1 interacts with both the plasma membrane and the RNPs facilitating vRNP recruitment into the budding virions (454). M1 may also crosslink the cytoplasmic tails of HA and NA mediating their incorporation into the budding virion. In addition, M1 interaction with the cytoplasmic tails of HA and NA allows M1 to associate with lipid rafts and triggers its polymerization at the virus budding site (174, 465).

In addition to binding HA, NA and NP, M1 also binds to the M2 protein and the M2 cytoplasmic tail plays an important role in virus assembly and budding (454). The M1-M2 interaction is important for filament formation of the virion and mutations in the M2 cytoplasmic tail result in the impaired recruitment of vRNPs to the budding virion (454). Besides these functions, membrane scission and the release of budding virion from the host cell membrane also requires the M2 protein (453). The M42 protein is expressed by alternative splicing and is a M2 variant synthesized during infection with M2-null viruses (582). The M42 protein functionally complements the M2 protein, supporting efficient replication of the M2-null viruses (582).

RNA segment 8 encodes three proteins, NS1, NS2 (NEP) and NS3. Alternative mRNA splicing generates NEP and NS3 proteins. The NS1 protein is produced abundantly throughout the whole replication cycle and is encoded by the unspliced mRNA derived from RNA segment 8. The NS1 protein is a major virulence factor and is a multifunctional protein interacting with a variety of host cell factors (189). It is a key protein used by influenza A viruses to counteract host antiviral defence mechanisms and is a well-studied type I IFN antagonist (189, 355). Through its multiple interactions with cellular and viral proteins, the NS1 protein exerts several functions in the infected cell, all of which favour virus replication. These multiple functions

include IFN antagonism, regulation of viral replication and polymerase activity, enhancement of viral mRNA translation, regulation of apoptosis, regulation of splicing and mRNA export (355).

The NEP protein is expressed by the alternative splicing of segment 8 mRNA. It interacts with the M1 protein and functions in the export of vRNP complexes from the nucleus to the cytoplasm (3). NS3 is another protein encoded by segment 8 mRNA via alternative splicing. The NS3 protein is not expressed by all the influenza A virus strains and the specific mutation which is responsible for the expression of NS3 protein has been found in only 33 natural influenza A strains (476). It is speculated that the NS3 protein could be associated with adaptation to mice and other hosts, but it has not been proven yet (476).

1.1.3 Influenza A virus life cycle

Influenza A virus life cycle (Fig. 1.3) starts with the attachment of the HA protein on the virion to some of the sialic acids on the cell surface. Linkages between the sialic acids and the carbohydrates in the cell surface glycoproteins can be of two types: α (2, 3) or α (2, 6). The HAs of human viruses preferentially bind to sialic acids with the α (2, 6) linkage, while HAs of avian viruses preferentially bind to sialic acid with the α (2, 3) linkage (93). Pigs contain both sialic acid linkages, which makes pigs an ideal mixing vessel for the reassortment of human and avian viruses (348). However, this specificity is not absolute, since avian and human cells have been reported to contain both sialic acid linkages (363). Recent studies suggest that HA receptor specificity may not be as simple as differentiating between two types of sialic acid linkages. Several other factors such as chain length, sulfation and fucosylation may also play a role in HA interaction with the receptor (85, 502).

After binding receptors on the cell surface, influenza A virus is taken into the cell via receptor-mediated endocytosis. Clathrin-mediated endocytosis has been the most studied and is considered the major entry pathway of influenza A viruses (362, 423). However, recent studies show that influenza A virus can also enter through a non-clathrin mediated pathway resembling micropinocytosis, which is the main route for non-selective uptake of extracellular fluid by cells (109). The endosome has a low pH of approximately 5-6, which aids in the fusion process. The low pH of the endosome causes a conformational change in the cleaved HA, which exposes the fusion peptide of HA2 subunit. This fusion peptide inserts itself into the endosomal membrane, bringing the viral and endosomal membranes into contact with each other, resulting in fusion (188, 197). In the endosome, another important transformation occurs inside the virion due to low pH. The transmembrane domain of the M2 protein on the lipid envelope forms an ion channel, which allows the influx of protons into the virion from the endosome (432). This acidifies the viral core releasing the vRNPs from M1 interactions (433). Fusion of the viral envelope with the endosomal membrane and acidification of the core results in uncoating of the virion and releases the vRNPs into the cytoplasm.

Influenza A viruses are one of the few RNA viruses, where genome replication and transcription take place inside the nucleus (210). Hence, the vRNPs must get into the nucleus for normal virus replication to proceed. The vRNPs are considered too large to allow for passive diffusion into the nucleus and hence must rely on active nuclear import mechanisms. The NLS on NP has been found to be both essential and sufficient for vRNP nuclear import. This transport occurs through the recognition of NP NLS by a cargo protein called importin α (96).

11




See Appendix II for documentation of permission to republish this material

Figure 1.3 Influenza A virus life cycle. The life cycle of influenza A virus begins with the surface protein Hemagglutinin (HA) binding to sialic acid receptors on the host cell. The virion is internalized in the endosome and the low pH of endosome cause the fusion of the viral and endosomal membrane and the viral RNP is released into the cytoplasm. The viral RNP is transported into the nucleus and transcription and replication take place in the nucleus. The viral mRNA is exported from the nucleus and is translated to make new viral proteins by the host translational machinery. The vRNA is exported from nucleus and is assembled along with the viral proteins including the surface proteins inserted into the budding lipid envelope. Budding proceeds and the virus is released after the NA on the virion surface cleaves the inhibitory sialic acids on the host cell surface.

Once in the nucleus, vRNA is initially used as a template for virus mRNA and cRNA synthesis (379). Viral mRNAs are incomplete copies of the template, transcription of which is dependent on the availability of 5'-capped cellular pre-mRNAs. The polymerase PB2 protein binds to the 5'-cap of cellular pre-mRNAs and the endonuclease function of PA protein cleaves the pre-mRNAs approximately 10 to 13 nucleotides from their 5'-caps (114, 130). This 5'capped segment is used as the primer and the PB1 protein catalyzes chain elongation and continues until it reaches a stretch of uridines approximately 16 nucleotides before the 5'end of vRNA, where it stutters resulting in the addition of poly(A) tail (63, 322). In contrast to mRNAs, cRNAs are uncapped full-length copies of vRNA without a poly(A) tail. Hence, the mechanism of transcription has to be different. Nevertheless, how the polymerase switches and coordinates exactly between the two modes of transcription and replication is not fully understood. Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain the switch, but it has been suggested that the availability of soluble NP might be an important trigger for the switch (38, 560). During the early stages of influenza A virus life cycle, synthesis of NP and NS1 mRNAs is favoured, which might lead to the accumulation of NP and trigger the switch from transcription to replication (203, 479).

Next, newly synthesized vRNA is coated with NP and the polymerase complex. The interaction of vRNPs with NEP and M1 facilitates their export from the nucleus to the cytoplasm (3). The HA and NA proteins are post-translationally modified and are directed onto lipid rafts on the apical plasma membrane (454). M2 binds to the raft periphery and brings together several other raft domains. M2 and M1 association with the vRNPs result in the accumulation of all the viral components to the plasma membrane (454). This initiates the process of budding and the viral envelope separates from the cell membrane. Finally, the enzymatic activity of the NA

(491) and the virus is released to infect another viable cell and continue its spread.

1.1.4 Evolution and genetics of influenza A viruses

RNA viruses possess low-fidelity RNA polymerases lacking the exonuclease proofreading ability and hence are inherently error-prone (216, 500). This results in very high mutation rates at the nucleotide level, but these high mutation rates may not always result in changes at the amino acid level. This is because of different selective pressures and evolutionary constraints on both the virus genes and the virus species. For example, although the nucleotide mutations occur at a similar frequency in all hosts, the amino acid mutations are very low in avian viruses infecting wild aquatic birds and thus they evolve very slowly, since they are well adapted to their hosts (37, 575). However, the evolutionary rates in human and mammalian viruses are much higher and the viral proteins continuously accumulate amino acid substitutions (575). Evolutionary rates among different proteins of the same virus species may also differ. For example, the M1 and M2 genes of human viruses have been shown to evolve very differently, with the M2 gene evolving much more rapidly when compared to the M1 gene, which showed almost no accretion of amino acid changes over a 55-year period (229, 575). The rate of evolution varies depending on the nature of the selective pressure and the evolutionary constraints. Surface proteins such as HA and NA might be subject to selective pressure by the host immune system, while internal proteins such as NP may not face any selective pressure by the immune system, but undergo host-specific adaptive evolution (152, 176, 276).

The genetic changes that drive evolution of influenza A viruses may occur by three different mechanisms: 1) mutations due to RNA polymerase errors, 2) reassortment and



Figure 1.4 Influenza A virus antigenic shift and antigenic drift. Antigenic shift. When two or more influenza A viruses co-infect a host, there is a potential for the gene segments to be exchanged (reassortment), which could result in a novel virus with a new set of HA and NA genes. When reassortment results in a virus with a new set of HA and NA genes. When reassortment results in a virus with a new set of HA and NA genes. When reassortment results in a virus with a new set of HA and NA subtypes, it is called antigenic shift and has the potential to cause pandemic, when the vast majority of the host has not encountered this new virus subtype previously. **Antigenic drift.** As influenza A viruses replicate, the genes undergo random mutations due to the error prone viral polymerase. When these random mutations occur in the surface proteins, it results in new antigenically distinct strains of the existing subtype and is called antigenic drift. When these mutations are selected by the host favourably for virus replication, it has the potential to cause epidemics.

3) recombination. As discussed earlier, influenza A virus RNA polymerase is highly error prone with mutation rates ranging from approximately 1×10^{-3} to 8×10^{-3} substitutions per site per year (82). Hence, with each round of replication more and more point mutations are introduced into the replicated genome, which may have a neutral, positive or negative effect on the replication and survival of the virus. Many of these changes may not be viable, but those that are advantageous could become dominant due to various selective pressures encountered by the virus. The effect of these gradual changes are more apparent when these mutations accumulate in the antigenic domains of surface glycoproteins HA and NA, since these proteins are under a strong selective pressure from the host immunity (82). When these mutations cause positive selection of the HA and NA variants by escaping from neutralizing antibodies, it results in the generation of a new antigenic variant, which is able to evade host immunity. This phenomenon of change in the antigenicity of the surface glycoproteins due to gradually accumulated mutations is called antigenic drift (74) (Fig. 1.4). Consequently, as a result of antigenic drift the virus can no longer be neutralized by the host antibodies raised against the parent strain, allowing the virus to spread more readily among the population, resulting in epidemics (572). Mutations in the HA or NA amino acid sequence occur at a frequency of less than 1% per year and the antigenic drift occurs on average every 2-8 years (74). While minor changes in the antigenicity of viruses is detectable at any time, changes large enough to reflect on hemagluttinationinhibition assays accumulate over several years (106, 368, 556).

When compared to the slow and gradual changes that occur during antigenic drift, reassortment causes abrupt changes in the genome content of the virus. When two or more viruses co-infect a host or cell at the same time, there is a potential for the viruses to exchange gene segments. This phenomenon of rearrangement of viral gene segments occurring when a cell is infected with two or more genomic variants of influenza viruses is called reassortment (Fig. 1.4) (513). From co-infection with two different viruses, reassortment can result in 2^8 or 256 gene variants, which shows that this process can result in significant genetic diversity. These variants under the right selective pressure could be selected to evade immunity or adapt to a new host resulting in major pandemics. When reassortment results in the introduction of a HA or/and NA subtype that are antigenically distinct from the circulating influenza variant into a population, it is called antigenic shift (Fig. 1.4) (499). The importance of gene reassortment in the evolution of novel viruses is highlighted by the past and recent pandemics. Viruses responsible for Asian influenza in 1957 and Hong Kong influenza in 1968 were reassortant viruses, containing avian origin HA, PB1 and NA segments and avian origin HA and PB1 segments in a human genetic background respectively (265, 304, 469). The 2009 pandemic H1N1 virus was also a result of reassortment. It was the result from reassorment of a triple reassortant virus with the Eurasian avian-like swine viruses. The triple reassortant viruses were a result of genetic exchange between the North American H3N2 virus and H1N2 swine viruses. As a result, the 2009 pandemic virus possessed PB2 and PA genes of North American avian virus origin, a PB1 gene of human H3N2 virus origin, HA (H1), NP, and NS genes of classical swine virus origin, and NA (N1) and M genes of Eurasian avian-like swine virus origin (395).

Besides point mutations and reassortment, the viral genome can also evolve by recombination. Recombination can occur between two virus genomes or between the virus genome and the host. In influenza viruses, recombination occurs by template switching, where the polymerase jumps from one template to the other and then continues transcribing, thus producing RNA with genetic information combined from two different segments. Although recombination in influenza is rare, both types of recombinations have been reported and have resulted in an evolutionary advantage for the virus. For example, insertion of 54 nucleotides of 28S rRNA into an avian influenza virus HA gene and a 60-nucleotide insertion sequence from NP gene into a seal influenza virus HA gene, increased HA cleavability (274, 410). Other examples include conversion of a low pathogenic avian influenza virus to a high pathogenic variant after insertion of 21 nucleotides of the M segment or 30 nucleotides of the NP segment into the HA segment (421, 506). Viruses produced by recombination events can cause pandemics. For example, a recent phylogenetic analysis of the HA gene from the 1918 pandemic virus suggested that it may have been generated by recombination, where the sequence corresponding to the stalk region originated from a human-lineage influenza virus, while the globular domain of HA1 polypeptide originated from a swine virus (168).

1.2 Overview of innate immunity and virus evasion strategies

Innate immune response provides the first line of immunological defence against infection. Innate immunity provides a broad range of protection using receptors and molecules that are non-specific to a particular pathogen but recognize unique patterns in microbial or viral components common to most pathogens known as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). The host recognizes these PAMPs using membrane bound or soluble germlineencoded receptors called pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs). Three main classes of PRRs encoded by vertebrate hosts are Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs), Retinoic acid inducible gene-I (RIG-I)-like receptors (RLRs) and Nucleotide oligomerization and binding domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs). Additionally, lectin receptors also serve as a PRR in activating innateimmunity during infection with certain viruses containing glycoproteins on the virion surface (332). Some of the major PRRs, ligands recognized and their cellular distribution are listed in Table 1.1.

1.2.1 Pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) and pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs)

1.2.1.1 Toll-like receptors (TLRs)

Among the PRRs known today, TLRs were the first to be identified and were first recognized in *Drosophila* to be important for defense against fungal infections (315). Subsequently several mouse and human homologs of the Drosophila Toll receptor were discovered, 10 in humans (TLR1 – TLR10) and 12 in mouse (TLR1-TLR9 and TLR11-TLR13) and hence were called Toll-like receptors (TLRs) (263, 519). The TLRs are type I transmembrane proteins that are composed of an amino-terminal leucine-rich repeat-containing ectodomain responsible for PAMP recognition, a transmembrane domain and a cytoplasmic carboxy-terminal Toll-interleukin-1 receptor homology (TIR) domain that relays downstream signalling events (5). TLR1, TLR2, TLR6 and TLR10 reside on the plasma membrane and recognize microbial cell wall and membrane components such as lipoprotein and peptidoglycans (263). TLR4 and TLR5 also localize to plasma membrane and recognize bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and flagellin respectively (263). TLR2, 4 and 6 recognize fungal components such as zymosan, mannan and β -glucan as well (263). TLR3, TLR7, 8 and 9 are localized in the endosomes and recognize different nucleic acid ligands. TLR3 recognizes double-stranded RNA (dsRNA), TLR7 and 8 recognize single stranded RNA (ssRNA) and TLR9 engages unmethylated CpG DNA (6, 8, 263). TLR11 and TLR12 form a heterodimer to sense profilin form the parasite *Toxoplasma gondii* (18), while TLR13 detects bacterial 23S ribosomal RNA (323, 407). Differences in the signal transduction pathway exist among the TLRs, being either myeloid differential primary response 88 (MyD88)-dependent or TIR-domain containing

Pattern Recognition Receptor	Microbial ligand recognised	Cellular distribution
TLR2/TLR1, TLR2/TLR6	Lipoproteins and glycolipids of bacterial origin, viral envelope proteins and viral proteins released into extracellular space	Plasma membrane
TLR3	dsRNA, poly I:C	Endosome
TLR4	Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), flagellin, viral glycoproteins	Plasma membrane
TLR5	Flagellin	Plasma membrane
TLR7/8	viral ssRNA	Endosome
TLR9	Bacterial and viral unmethylated CpG DNA	Endosome
TLR10	Unknown	Plasma membrane
RIG-I	RNA containing dsRNA regions of approximately 20 nt with blunt ends containing a 5'-ppp moiety, low molecular weight poly I:C, short (25 bp) and long dsRNA (>200 bp) with 3' or 5' monophosphate	Cytoplasm
MDA5	High molecular weight poly I:C, long dsRNA (1-2 kb) and short dsRNA (100 nt)	Cytoplasm
NLRP3	leakage of ions from intracellular compartments, reactive oxygen species (ROS),activation by dsRNA through indirect mechanisms	Cytoplasm
Mannose-binding Lectins	High Mannose and Fucose	Secreted
SP-A, SP-D	Mannosylated and glycosylated proteins	Secreted
Galectins	Glycans containing β-galactoside	Secreted

Table 1.1 Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) critical during viral infection, their ligands and cellular distribution.

adaptor inducing interferon- β (TRIF)-dependent (4, 261). All the TLRs except TLR3 use the MyD88-dependent pathway, which signals only through TRIF (588). TLR4 is unique in that it uses both the MyD88 and TRIF-dependent pathways for signalling (261, 518, 588).

Viral components are known to be sensed by several TLRs during influenza infection. However, TLR3 and TLR7 are the predominant TLRs important for sensing viral RNA. As discussed above, TLR3 senses dsRNA in endosomes. However, several studies have shown that no dsRNA is generated during influenza virus replication (431, 573) and that this is due to the helicase activity of cellular protein UAP56 (583). Therefore it is speculated that TLR3 recognizes unidentified RNA structures present in the dying infected cells, which are phagocytosed by dendritic cells (DCs) (233, 474). During Influenza A virus infection, activation of TLR3 has been shown to be more proinflammatory than antiviral in that, more IL-6, IL-8 and less IFNβ was induced (307). Indeed TLR3^{-/-} mice have been shown to have a survival advantage when compared to wild-type (WT) mice following lethal influenza virus infection, in spite of having higher viral loads and lower viral clearance (306). This shows that these proinflammatory cytokines are essential for the host to efficiently clear the virus. Similar to TLR3^{-/-} mice. TLR4^{-/-} mice have also been shown to survive better than the WT mice upon influenza A virus infection (226, 397). Interestingly, the virus does not produce the ligand sensed by TLR4 but the infected cell does. It was shown that oxidative phospholipid OxPAPC (226) and S100A9 (543) protein produced in response to acute lung injury caused by influenza A virus infection can act as a non-PAMP or as a danger associated molecular pattern (DAMP) and stimulate the TLR4-TRIF pathway to induce proinflammatory cytokines.

Plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) produce high levels of IFNα upon infection with the WT virus (68, 75, 143, 236, 389). In pDCs, TLR7 recognizes ssRNA genome in the endosome after the virus is taken up (115, 344). Endosomal acidification is required for this recognition and does not require viral replication. Signalling through this pathway induces production of type I IFN and pro-inflammatory cytokines in a MyD88-dependent manner (115, 344).

TLR10 is the only known TLR receptor in the family without a known agonist, function or signalling pathway. However, a role for TLR10 as an innate immune sensing receptor in influenza A virus infection has recently been reported (314). It was found that H5N1 virus infection induced robust TLR10 expression when compared to infection with a seasonal H1N1 virus A/HK/54/98 and that both the virus replication and de novo protein synthesis is required for TLR10 induction (314). H5N1 and H1N1 infection of primary human macrophages and a monocyte cell line induced robust expression of type I and III IFNs and proinflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-8 in a TLR10-dependent manner (314). The authors also reported enhanced vRNP-induced IL-8 induction when TLR10 was exogenously expressed.

1.2.1.2 RIG-I (retinoic acid inducible gene-I) like receptors

RIG-I like receptors (RLRs) are cytosolic sensors of viral RNA. Three central members of the RLR family are RIG-I, melanoma differentiation factor 5 (MDA5) and laboratory of genetics and physiology 2 (LGP2). They are present in the cytoplasm of most cell types and are strongly induced by IFNs (521). The RLRs are very similar to TLR3 in that both detect viral RNA and induce type I IFN and proinflammatory cytokines (8, 474). However, the fundamental difference between the two is that the TLR3 and other endosomal TLRs recognize viral nucleic acids that have reached the endosomes through endocytosis (518), while the RLRs being located in the cytosol detect intracellular viral RNA from actively replicating viruses (260). The other difference is that the RLRs are active in most cell types, while the TLRs are restricted to specialized immune cells such as macrophages and dendritic cells (254).

The RLRs belong to the DExD/H-box (Asp-Glu-x-Asp/H) family of helicases and are characterized by a central ATPase containing a DExD/H box helicase domain (345). RIG-I and MDA5 contain a N-terminal CARD (caspase activation and recruitment domain) domain which mediates downstream signalling, while LGP2 lacks a CARD domain (599, 600). All three receptors have a C-terminal domain (CTD); RIG-I and LGP2 harbor a repressor domain (RD) in the CTD, while MDA5 does not. Because of the RD, RIG-I adopts a closed auto-inhibited conformation where the CARDs are sterically unavailable for signal transduction (91, 135, 289). Hence, its overexpression in the absence of an activating ligand does not result in signalling. MDA5 on the contrary does not have a RD and hence is believed to adopt an open conformation (44).

Even though RLRs share similar structural domains, they differ in their ligand binding specificities. The RIG-I ligand comprises an RNA molecule with a 5' triphosphate (PPP) moiety and blunt-ended base-paired region of approximately 20 nt. The base pairing at the 5' end could be due to secondary RNA structures such as hairpin or panhandle conformations on individual ssRNA (219, 431, 462, 463). Although 5'PPP-ssRNA is a ligand for RIG-I, RNAs lacking a 5'PPP have also been reported to act as RIG-I agonists. Both short (25bp) dsRNA with a 3' or 5' monophosphate group and long (>200bp) dsRNA lacking terminal triphosphates have been reported to activate RIG-I (50, 517). Also, low molecular weight poly I:C (300-1000bp) and short dsRNA generated by T7 polymerase induces IFN in a RIG-I-dependent manner (255). The

requirement for 5'PPP moiety is believed to provide a mechanism of self-discrimination by RIG-I. This is because the 5'PPP in cellular transcripts is either masked by a 7-methyl-guanosine cap (in case of mRNA) or is removed before export from the nucleus (in case of tRNA and rRNA). Distinct from RIG-I, MDA5 detects high molecular weight poly I:C (1000bp-8000bp), long dsRNA (1-2 kb) and short dsRNAs (approx. 100nt) when present in large quantities (44, 45, 133, 426, 585). It has been reported that MDA5 similar to RIG-I is able to discriminate self-RNA from non-self RNA using a specific molecular signature at the 5' end. The 5' cap structures of eukaryotic mRNAs have ribose 2'-O-methylation and many viruses that replicate in the cytoplasm of eukaryotes have evolved 2'-O-methyltransferases to modify their mRNAs. It was shown that coronavirus mutants deficient in 2'-O-methyltransferases induced higher type I IFN expression in a MDA5-dependent manner (611). This observation suggests that RNA modifications such as 2'-O-methylation provide a molecular signature for the discrimination of self and non-self mRNA.

As observed with the differential recognition of RNA species, RIG-I and MDA5 detect mostly non-overlapping groups of viruses. RIG-I has been reported to induce innate immune signalling in response to infection by negative strand RNA viruses such as paramyxoviruses, orthomyxoviruses, rhabdoviruses such as vesicular stomatitis virus, Ebola virus and EBER RNA carried by Epstein-Barr virus (72, 256, 457, 598, 611). MDA5 senses positive strand RNA viruses such as picornaviruses (171, 256), while certain flaviviruses induce signalling via both RIG-I and MDA5 (79, 147, 256, 337, 508).

The third RLR LGP2, which lacks the CARD domain, binds dsRNA independent of 5'-PPP and also differentially regulates RIG-I and MDA5 signalling (435). In another study, the binding specificity of LGP2 was studied using surface plasmon resonance (516). It was reported that dsRNA and 5'PPP ssRNA both bound to LGP2, while ssRNA without a 5'PPP bound LGP2 with a lower affinity (516). While LGP2 lacking the tandem CARD domain was initially believed to be a negative regulator, gene disruption studies show that it may be a positive regulator (553, 600). Hence, the exact ligand and the role of LGP2 in innate immunity to virus infection are still unclear.

Among the RLRs, RIG-I is important for influenza detection in epithelial cells, macrophages and conventional DCs (254). RIG-I has been shown to detect full length 5'PPP ssRNA viral genome (444), preferentially binding to shorter genomic segments as well as subgenomic defective interfering particles (35). Interestingly, a smaller U/A-rich region within the 3' UTR of influenza genomic RNA induces IFN in a 5'PPP-independent manner (103). Despite these findings, it remained unknown whether the RIG-I ligand were naked RNA products generated during virus replication or whether the nucleocapsid encapsidated RNA could be recognized by RIG-I. Recent studies showed that RIG-I indeed interacts directly with the panhandle structure of incoming viral nucleocapsids, undergoes a conformational switch, oligomerizes and triggers the activation of IRF3 inducing IFN production (328, 574).

1.2.1.3 NOD like receptors (NLRs)

NLRs comprise a large receptor family of 22 members in humans and are characterized by a conserved nucleotide oligomerization and binding domain (NOD) motif (198, 228). The proteins in this group share a common domain organization containing one of several aminoterminal protein-protein interaction domains such as the CARD, pyrin domain (PYD), and baculovirus inhibitor repeat (BIR) domain, followed by an intermediary NOD domain. The carboxyl terminus consists of a varying number of leucine-rich repeat (LRR) motifs with proposed functions of detecting PAMPs and danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), thus leading to NLR activation.

NLRs are subdivided into four subfamilies namely NLRA, NLRB, NLRP and NLRC based on the N-terminal effector domains (537). The NLRP and NLRC subfamilies comprise the larger number of members of the NLR family (20 proteins in humans). The NLRC subfamily consists of six members: NLRC1, NLRC2, NLRC3, NLRC4, NLRC5 and NLRX1. The proteins in this subfamily have one or two N-terminal CARD domains, which recruit caspase-1 or kinases to mediate downstream signalling. However, NLRC3, NLRC5 and NLRX1 are grouped into this subfamily due to their phylogenetic relationship, homology and have undefined N-terminal domains (385). NLRC1 and NLRC2 are stimulated following bacterial infection and they sense a specific muropeptide (diaminopimelic acid) and muramyl dipeptide from peptidoglycan respectively (169, 170). NLRC3 inhibits TLR4-dependent activation of NF- κ B by interacting with TRAF6 to attenuate Lys63-linked ubiquitination of TRAF6 and activation of NF-KB (466). NLRC4 senses bacterial flagellin to activate caspase-1 and IL-1β (146, 377). NLRC5 is induced by IFNy, LPS and Poly I:C (43). NLRC5 has a role in MHC-I expression and acts as a negative modulator of inflammatory pathways (43, 283). NLRX1 has been shown to regulate mitochondrial antiviral immunity (9, 383). Nevertheless, MAVS-dependent type I IFN response to poly I:C and sendai virus infection in NLRX1 knockout mice was similar to WT mice (23, 443, 495). Thus, the exact role of NLRX1 in MAVS-mediated innate immunity is still under investigation.

The NLRP subfamily comprises 14 proteins in humans, NLRP1-14 and is characterized by the presence of a N-terminal Pyrin domain (385, 537). Few members of this group have been studied in depth. Several NLRP family members such as NLRP1, NLRP2, NLRP3 and NLRP6 are key components of caspase-1 activated complexes called inflammasomes. They activate caspase-1 through the recruitment of ASC (Apoptosis–associated speck-like protein containing a caspase recruitment domain) to the pyrin domain of NLRPs, leading to the processing and release of IL-1β, IL-18 and secretion of leaderless proteins like pro IL1-α and Fibroblast growth factor (FGF)-2 (124, 270, 358, 360). However, many NLRPs also have a negative role in immune response. NLRP2 and NLRP12 suppress NF κ B signaling (11, 142). NLRP4 negatively regulates type I IFN signalling by targeting TBK1 for degradation and suppresses autophagy by associating with beclin-1 (98, 245). NLRP10 has been shown to have anti-inflammatory activity, where it inhibited the auto-processing of caspase-1, caspase-1-mediated IL-1ß processing and suppressed the aggregation of ASC (227). Besides this role, NLRP10 is also an essential receptor in initiating adaptive immunity by DCs (123). NLRP5, NLRP17 and NLRP14 are associated with functions in development and reproduction (292), while NLRP1, NLRP2, NLRP9 and NLRP11 play a role in autoimmune diseases (242, 351, 515).

NLRP3-mediated inflammasome activation has been demonstrated to be important for innate defence against influenza A virus infection. NLRP3 deficient mice were more susceptible to pathogenic virus infection when compared to wild-type mice (10, 532). The enhanced morbidity in NLRP3 deficient mice correlated with a decrease in immune cell recruitment, cytokine and chemokine induction, while there was no defect in the control of virus replication (10, 532). These studies suggest that NLRP3-mediated inflammasome is not involved in antiviral resistance, but increases disease tolerance through cellular recruitment and induction of tissue repair in infected tissues (532). Inflammasome activation and cytokine production requires two signals. Signal 1 activates NF κ B which induces the transcription and translation of pro-IL-1 β , pro-IL18 and NLRP3 genes (510). This is called priming. Activation of NF κ B is mediated by the ligands of TLR, IL-1 receptor and Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor (510). Signal 2 is induced by signals resulting from host damage and this activates cleavage of caspase-1 leading to the secretion of mature IL-1 β and IL-18 (510). It is believed that PAMP signals from commensal bacteria provide the signal 1 for inflammasome activation in the context of influenza A virus infection. Intact microbiota in mice provided signals for the expression of pro-IL-1ß and pro-IL18 mRNA at steady state and mice treated with antibiotics displayed delayed viral-clearance and exhibit impaired innate and adaptive immune response against influenza A virus infection (1, 225). Several stimuli have been reported to provide the signal 2 for inflammasome activation during Influenza A virus infection. Influenza virus ssRNA, proton flux through virus encoded M2 ion channel in the trans-Golgi network and high-molecular weight PB1-F2 fibrils in the phagosomes of cells that have taken up dying virus-infected cells have all been reported to provide the signal 2 to activate the release of IL-1 β and IL-18 (224, 367, 532).

1.2.1.4 Lectin receptors

Lectins belong to a highly diverse group of proteins that recognize carbohydrates on glycoproteins and glycolipids and are involved in protein modulation, cell growth and homeostasis (165, 338). Mammalian lectins are categorized into many families based on their carbohydrate recognition domains (CRDs), as C-type, I-type, L-type, M-type, P-type, R-type, Fbox, chitinase-like lectins, galectins and intelectins (552). Some lectins, such as C-type lectins and galectins function as PRRs as they recognize viral components that are highly modified by oligosaccharides and thus function in viral innate immunity (332). Mannose-binding lectin (MBL) belongs to the collectin family, which is a subgroup of C-type lectins. Characteristic of the collectin family MBL contains a cysteine-rich region, a collagen-like domain, a neck region and a CRD (529). MBL is biologically active in a tetramer form and functions as a soluble receptor in the complement cascade by recognizing carbohydrate patterns on the virus surface, leading to resistance against many viral infections (217, 484). Virus eradication does not occur by formation of membrane-attacking complex on the viral surface and is believed to be mediated by three mechanisms namely: 1) Virus neutralization by MBL-activated complement C3 and C4 deposition on the viral surface, 2) Direct virus neutralization by MBL and 3) Prevention of interaction between viruses and its receptors (148, 238, 498, 596). Surfactant proteins SP-A and SP-D are also members of the collectin family and defend the viral invasion of the respiratory system as they are primarily secreted in the respiratory tract and lungs (207, 349, 559). They prevent infection by influenza A viruses by binding to glycosylated HA and NA on the viral surfaces (199, 200, 530). Mechanisms of SP-A and SP-D mediated antiviral activity against influenza include, inhibition of viral entry by viral aggregation and enhancement of viral clearance by recruitment of macrophages and neutrophils (199, 200, 530). The surfactant proteins also bind to the respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) glycoproteins F and G on the surface of the virion and enhances opsonisation of the virions and modulates host immune response against RSV infection (31, 166, 182).

Galectins are a group of 15 proteins that are secreted and associate with specific cell surface glycans containing beta-galactosides (30). Galectin-1 is a well-studied member of this family and is secreted by immune cells such as T-cells and stromal cells surrounding B-cells (327). It has been reported to bind to the envelope glycoproteins F and HA of Nipah virus (NiV) and influenza A virus respectively (159, 591). Binding of galectin-1 to NiV-F leads to reduced NiV-induced syncytium formation, while galectin-1-HA association leads to inhibition of hemagglutination activity (159, 591). However, galectin proteins also function as a proviral factor facilitating the viral entry of some viruses (157, 375, 584).

1.2.2 Effectors of innate immunity

1.2.2.1 Physical barriers of innate immunity

The principle components of innate immunity comprise of the physical barriers (skin, mucosal epithelia), the chemical barriers (antimicrobial peptides, cytokines), the innate immune cells (macrophages, DCs) and the components of humoral immunity such as complement factors. All of these are the effectors of innate immunity.

The mucosal epithelia can be considered as any tissue that is able to secrete mucus and antimicrobial products across an epithelial layer and is fortified by both innate and adaptive components of the immune system (370). The mucosal epithelial tissue is present in several sites including the respiratory tract, gastrointestinal tract, urogenital tract and eye conjunctiva and the epithelial cells present in these mucosal tissues form the main physical barriers providing innate defence.

Skin is the largest organ of the human body and provides an effective barrier to external assaults. Structurally, skin is made up of two layers, the outermost epidermis and inner dermis separated by a basement membrane. The uppermost layer of the epidermis, stratum corneum is comprised of keratinocytes, tightly linked by desmosomes in a hydrophobic cellular matrix forming the durable outer layers of the skin (2). Keratinocytes produce large quantities of the

protein keratin which forms the tough watertight surface of the skin and are also the main source of antimicrobial peptides (AMP) in the skin (2). Several types of AMP are produced in the skin and include cathelicidins, β -defensins, dermicidin and psoriasin, which have both antimicrobial and immunomodulatory functions (2). During a pathogenic insult or injury, recruited neutrophils, mast cells and other leukocytes produce the majority of AMP. Innate immune cells such as langerhan cells (specialized DC), macrophages, myeloid and plasmacytoid DCs and NK cells are also present in the lower parts of the epidermis (525).

1.2.2.2 Cells of innate immunity

The innate immune cells can be divided into two categories. Those that are phagocytic, such as neutrophils, macrophages and dendritic cells and those containing enzymatic granules such as eosinophils, basophils, mast cells and natural killer (NK) cells. Neutrophils are relatively short-lived lasting only 6-8 hrs in circulation, but are the most abundant and important circulating leukocytes (286). They are typically the first responders recruited to the site of infection. Upon infection, stimulated endothelial cells close to the sites of inflammation expose a class of molecules called selectins. The Neutrophils are captured by the selectin molecule and they roll along the endothelial wall following a chemokine gradient, which is then followed by integrin-mediated firm adhesion (286). The neutrophils then traverse through the endothelium and arrive at the site of inflammation, where they unleash their antimicrobial arsenal to eliminate the invading pathogen. Neutrophils exert their antimicrobicidal activity by releasing granules containing enzymes and AMP such as myeloperoxidase, NADPH oxidase, defensins, lysozyme, several proteases, cathepsins and lactoferrin (557). Neutrophils can also phagocytose pathogens through receptor-mediated endocytosis via PRRs or through opsonisation (550). Neutrophils are

also known to kill microbes through NETosis, where they undergo active cell death releasing decondensed chromatin containing histones, antimicrobial granular and cytoplasmic proteins into extracellular space (13, 284). These structures are thought to kill microbes by exposing them to high local concentrations of antimicrobial compounds (13).

The macrophage is an important cell-type involved in innate immunity. Depletion of alveolar macrophages in pigs infected with influenza virus has been reported to result in 40% mortality and severe respiratory signs when compared to infected control pigs (278). Upon infection, infected epithelial cells increase the production of CCL2, which facilitates monocyte and macrophage recruitment through their CCR2 receptor (209, 325). Activated macrophages secrete proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-8 and TNF α (39). The alveolar macrophages can phagocytose virus particles and apoptotic infected cells. They also modulate the adaptive immune response to influenza virus infection (202, 223, 578).

NK cells destroy virus-infected cells without the need for previous antigen stimulation. They recognize the weakened expression of MHC class I molecules on the surface of infected cells, which normally bind to inhibitory receptors on the surface of NK cells (301, 334, 541). Additionally, NK cells expressing the main triggering receptors NKp46 and NKp44 have been reported to recognize the HA protein expressed on the cell surface of influenza-infected cells (22, 352). NK cells have also been shown to lyse influenza virus-infected cells by recognition of HA through NKp46 (352). NK cells can also mediate antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity by recognizing the Fc portion of antibodies bound to virus-infected cells through CD16 receptor (201, 509). The importance of the NKp46 receptor and NK cells during influenza infection is evident in a study, where mice deficient of NKp46 receptor equivalent NCR-1 displayed increased morbidity and mortality upon influenza virus infection (161).

DCs are the professional antigen presenting cells (APCs). During infection, they form an important bridge between the innate and adaptive immunity by presenting viral antigens to naïve and memory B and T lymphocytes (28, 185). During infection, DCs can acquire the antigen for presentation by two distinct mechanisms. First, DCs can be infected directly with influenza virus and the viral proteins can then be processed inside the cell, loaded onto MHC class I molecules and presented to virus specific CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) (28, 47, 595). The second mechanism is when DCs acquire antigens by phagocytosing virus particles and infected apoptotic cells, where the antigenic peptides are processed and loaded onto MHC class II (MHC-II) molecules and presented to CD4⁺ helper T cells and CD8⁺ CTLs by cross-presentation (549). Thus, DCs serve an important function in the innate immune response during viral infection.

1.2.2.3 Chemical mediators of innate immunity

IFNs are important chemical mediators of innate immunity and elicit distinct antiviral responses. They are grouped into three classes called type I, II and III IFNs, according to their amino acid sequence (442). In humans, type I IFNs comprise of multiple IFN α subtypes, one IFN β gene and other genes of less well-defined roles such as IFN- ω , IFN- ε , IFN- τ , IFN- δ and IFN- κ , while IFN γ is the only member of type II IFN. IFN α/β are the major type I interferons secreted by cells in response to infectious agents, particularly viral pathogens. They have several major functions during infection. They are known to induce an antimicrobial state in neighbouring and infected cells via the induction of interferon stimulated genes (ISGs), modulate the innate immune response in a balanced manner and activate the adaptive immune system by

promoting antibody production and effector T cell responses (32). The Type III IFN gene family consists of three genes IFN- λ_1 , λ_2 and λ_3 and is more closely related in structure and sequence to the cytokine IL-10 (117).

Type I IFNs can be produced by almost any type of cell in the body in response to stimulation, whereas haematopoietic cells, particularly pDCs specialize in its secretion (512). The first step in the production of type I IFNs is the recognition of microbial pathogens by cellular PRRs. Several PRRs including RLRs, TLRs and NLRs sense different microbial components as described previously. Pathogen sensing by the PRRs initiates a signalling cascade, which culminates in the activation of transcription factors IRF-3, IRF-7 and NFkB. The transcription factors then translocate to the nucleus, bind to the IFN gene promoter and induce transcription of the IFN gene. IRF3 and IRF7 are phosphorylated by cellular kinases and translocate to the nucleus after dimerization (262), whereas the IKK complex, consisting of IKK- α , IKK- β and IKK- γ , phosphorylates the NF κ B inhibitor I κ B leading to its proteasomedependent degradation and release of functional NFkB to translocate to the nucleus (251). The type I IFNs can also be induced by host factors and cytokines such as TNF, which signals via IRF1 rather than through IRF3 and IRF7 (592). IFN- α/β exerts the antiviral effect in neighbouring and infected cells by binding and signalling through a heterodimeric transmembrane receptor termed the IFN α receptor (IFNAR), which is composed of two subunits IFNAR1 and IFNAR2. Type I IFN binding to IFNAR activates the receptor-associated protein tyrosine kinases Janus kinase I (JAK1) and Tyrosine kinase 2 (TYK2), which then phosphorylate the transcription factors signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 and 2 (STAT1 and STAT2) (27, 113). Phosphorylated STAT1 and STAT2 dimerize and translocate to the nucleus, where they assemble with IRF9 to form a trimolecular complex called IFN-stimulated gene



Figure 1.5 Receptors of type I, II and III IFNs. Distinct receptors are used by the three classes of IFNs. Type I IFNs signal through IFN α receptor (IFNAR), a heterodimer comprised of subunits IFNAR1 and IFNAR2. Type II IFNs signal through IFN γ receptor (IFNGR) comprised of subunits IFNGR1 and IFNGR2. Type III IFNs signal through IFN λ receptor (IFNLR), a heterodimer comprised of IL10R β and IFNLR1 subunits. Binding of the IFNs to their respective receptors trigger phosphorylation of the JAK and TYK kinases, which in turn phosphorylate the receptors at specific tyrosine residues leading to recruitment of STAT proteins and their phosphorylation. The STAT proteins dimerize and recruit other transcription factors to form a complex, which translocates to the nucleus and triggers transcription of genes regulated by IFN stimulated response elements (ISRE) and gamma-activated sequence (GAS) promoter sequences.

factor 3 (ISGF3). ISGF3 binds to DNA sequences known as IFN-stimulated response element (ISREs), activating the transcription of ISGs (Fig. 1.5) (468). The ISGs are primarily responsible for the antiviral effects of type I IFNs.

IFN-gamma (IFN γ) is the lone type II IFN and is known to be induced by many cell types such as macrophages, DCs, NK cells, NKT cells, CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells and B lymphocytes (371). The production of IFNy is controlled by the cytokines IL-12 and IL-18, which are secreted by the APCs in response to infection (470). Even though IFNy production is largely restricted to immune cells, IFNy receptors (IFNGR) comprised of IFNGR1 and IFNGR2 chains are expressed by most cell types and hence are capable of responding to IFN γ (546). The IFNGR is made up of two ligand-binding IFNGR1 chains associated with two IFNGR2 chains that is involved in signal transduction (548). Upon IFNy binding to IFNGR, kinases JAK1 and JAK2 bind to IFNGR1 and IFNGR2 subunits respectively and become tyrosine phosphorylated (371). Activated JAKs phosphorylate the IFNGR tails, which recruit the STAT1 monomers, which are again phosphorylated by the JAKs leading to STAT1 dissociation from the receptors and STAT1 homodimerization (371). The STAT1 homodimer translocates to the nucleus, binds to γ activated sequence (GAS) elements to induce transcription of IFNy responsive genes (Fig. 1.5) (371). Many of the transcribed genes are transcription factors and the major one is interferon response factor 1 (IRF1) (55). IFNy secretion has many different immunomodulatory effects. It is involved in the upregulation of MHC-I molecules and in increasing the quality, quantity and repertoire of peptides loaded onto MHC-I (371). Other functions of IFNy include upregulation of MHC-II molecules for efficient antigen presentation, development of a Th1 response and the activation of the microbicidal functions of macrophages (371). Type I and type II IFN are known

to induce the expression of a common set of ISGs as well as a distinct set of ISGs in order to exert its antiviral and immunomodulatory functions (331).

Type III IFNs or IFN λ consists of four proteins IFN λ_1 (IL-29), λ_2 (IL-28A), λ_3 (IL-28B) and λ_4 . In contrast to type I IFNs, IFN λ was fairly recently discovered and shares many biological functions with type I IFN (288, 483). IFNλ expression is induced by the stimulation of the same PRRs that induce type I IFN expression, with one difference being the Ku70 DNA sensor that activates IFN λ but not the type I IFNs (305, 606). The IFN λ receptor (IFNLR) is a unique heterodimeric receptor which shares one subunit with the IL-10 family of cytokines called IL10R β and a second subunit specific to IFN λ called IFNLR1 or IL28R α (Fig. 1.5) (288, 483). In contrast to IFNAR which is expressed by almost all cell-types, IFNLR expression is restricted to epithelial cells and hepatocytes and because of this, IFN λ provides the therapeutic benefits of type I IFN and yet avoid the side-effects that come with type I IFN treatment (305). In terms of the transcription factors that induce IFN λ expression, it has been reported that IRF and NF κ B can induce IFN λ expression independently, which is different from the concerted action of several transcription factors required for type I IFN induction (536). The IFNLR signals through a similar JAK-STAT pathway as the IFNAR complex and induces a subset of the same ISGs (467). However the magnitude of IFN λ stimulated response is generally lower than type I IFNs and lasts for a longer duration with a delayed peak response (357).

1.2.3 Mode of action of IFNβ in inducing antiviral state

As discussed previously, IFN β binding to its receptors triggers the transcription of a set of genes called ISGs. IFN β inhibits virus replication and establishes an antiviral state through the antiviral activity of these ISGs. ISGs affect various stages of a virus life cycle including virus entry, virus replication, virus translation, virus release and exit (Fig. 1.6).

1.2.3.1 Inhibitors of virus entry

Murine myxovirus resistance 1 (Mx1) and murine myxovirus resistance 2 (Mx2) proteins belong to a small family of dynamin-like large guanosine triphosphatases (GTPases) closely related to the dynamin GTPase family. The human proteins related to the murine Mx1 and Mx2 proteins are MxA and MxB respectively (425). They have inhibitory activity against several different viruses and act by blocking the early steps of viral replication cycle (190). The mouse Mx1 protein is localized in the nucleus and inhibits primary transcription of influenza viral mRNAs and exhibits higher inhibitory activity towards the longer transcripts corresponding to the viral polymerases PB2, PB1 and PA (424). In contrary, the human MxA protein is localized in the nucleus and does not affect viral mRNA transcription and polyadenylation. However, it interferes with intracytoplasmic transport of viral mRNAs, viral protein synthesis and translocation of newly synthesized viral proteins to the cell nucleus (424). A recent study reported that Mx1 interacts with the viral proteins PB2 and NP and interferes with PB2-NP interaction, thereby reducing the viral polymerase activity (555). Furthermore, the human MxA protein has also been reported to interact with the viral protein NP (544). The Mx2 protein on the other hand does not have any known antiviral activity towards influenza viruses (333), but inhibits Human immunodeficiency virus -1 (HIV-1) and HIV-2 (178, 249, 333). Mx2 prevents the nuclear entry of the reverse transcribed genome, thereby ultimately inhibiting chromosomal integration of the HIV genome, which is a key step essential for HIV replication (178, 249, 333).

Cholesterol 25-hydroxylase is an enzyme that catalyzes the secretion of oxysterol 25-Hydroxycholesterol (25-HC) and is upregulated in response to TLR activation and is an IFN inducible gene that promotes resistance to a variety of viral infections (36, 52, 330). 25-HC broadly inhibits the growth of several enveloped viruses by directly modifying the cell membrane and thereby blocking membrane fusion between the virus and the cell (330). 25-HC has also been shown to act in both autocrine and paracrine fashion in macrophages infected with influenza virus (52). In addition, 25-HC is involved in prenylation of proteins, an important modification affecting the function of several viral and cellular proteins (467).

The IFITM family of proteins consists of five members, IFITM1, IFITM2, IFITM3, IFITM5 and IFITM10 (26, 492). Among these IFITM1, 2 and 3 have been shown to be IFN inducible and are known to affect the replication of a variety of viruses including influenza A viruses, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus, flaviviruses, dengue virus and West Nile virus (64, 222, 239, 468). The IFITM proteins are able to inhibit such a diverse array of viruses because of their localization in different compartments including the plasma membrane, the endosome and the lysosomes (131, 222, 319, 602). IFITM3 is the most potent IFITM family member in restricting influenza virus replication and a model has been suggested where IFITM3 prevents virus fusion trapping the virions in the endosomes, ultimately leading to their destruction in the lysosomes and autolysosomes (64, 131). Basal levels of IFITM3 restricted initial virus infection until IFN expression further reinforced the restriction by upregulating IFITM3 expression (64). Although the mechanism of restriction is unclear, a recent study showed that the entry of non-enveloped viruses such as reovirus that utilize the endosomedependent entry mechanism was also inhibited by the action of IFITM3 (25). This study showed that acidification and subsequent proteolysis of the reovirus capsid was affected in IFITM3

expressing cells leading to failed membrane penetration or subsequent lysosomal degradation of the virus particle. The IFITM proteins have also been suggested to alter the curvature and fluidity of the membrane, thereby inhibiting steps prior to membrane hemifusion (319).

The TRIM family constitutes a large family of proteins with diverse cellular activities, including E3 ubiquitin ligase activity (415). A well-known member of this is TRIM5 α , which inhibits the early stages of HIV-1 life cycle (504). This study showed that TRIM5 α might restrict HIV-1 replication by directly binding and ubiquitinating the capsid protein, adversely affecting the uncoating process. Another member of the TRIM family, TRIM22 also restricts HIV-1 by interfering with the trafficking of HIV-1 gag protein to the plasma membrane, leading to decreased virus particle production (32). TRIM22 also restricts influenza A virus replication by interacting with NP, leading to polyubiquitination and proteosomal degradation of NP (113).

1.2.3.2 Inhibitors of virus translation and replication

Protein kinase R (PKR) is a major sensor of dsRNA in the cytoplasm. It binds to dsRNA produced from infection in the cytoplasm, leading to its activation. Activated PKR phosphorylates the translation initiation factor eIF2 α , resulting in the shutdown of viral and cellular protein synthesis leading to the inhibition of virus replication (27, 456). PKR has also been shown to be instrumental in activating the NF κ B pathway and in maintaining the integrity of IFN α and IFN β mRNA during infection with certain viruses (293, 475).

2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetase (OAS) is an IFN stimulated gene (455) and is activated by the dsRNA, which is produced during both RNA and DNA virus infections. Activation of OAS results in the production of 2'-5' oligoadenylates from ATP (493). 2'-5' oligoadenylates



Figure 1.6 Antiviral activities of interferon stimulated genes. Interferon stimulated genes (ISGs) affect different stages of the life cycle of viruses starting from entry of the virus until virus exit and release.

then activate the ubiquitous cellular endoribonuclease RNaseL, which cleaves the viral RNA preferentially over cellular RNA (493). During influenza virus infection, RNaseL activity has a major contribution to IFN antiviral activity (380). It has been reported that mutant viruses with the NS1 R38A mutation are highly susceptible to IFN antiviral activity, while this inhibition is relieved upon the knockdown of RNaseL or in its absence in RNaseL^{-/-} cells (380).

Interferon stimulated gene 15 (ISG15) is an ubiquitin like protein that is rapidly upregulated upon induction by type I IFNs (111). Upon induction, Herc5 the major E3 ligase for ISGylation mediates the ISGylation of more than 300 proteins co-translationally (121). The function of ISGylation of a majority of these proteins is unknown. However, ISG15 deficient mice have been shown to have increased susceptibility to infection by a number of viruses such as influenza, herpes and sindbis viruses, which underscores its important antiviral function in the host (316). While ISG15 exerts its antiviral function through targeting the influenza A NS1 protein, a recent study has shown that ISG15-mediated protection of mice against influenza virus infection is through non-antiviral mechanisms, possibly through playing a role in lung repair after virus infection (384, 608).

1.2.3.3 Inhibitors of virus release and exit

Viperin is a widely induced ISG and it has been reported to contribute to the antiviral activities against a number of viruses including Hepatitis C virus (HCV), sindbis virus, HIV, influenza and human cytomegalovirus (514). It exerts its antiviral function by inhibiting an enzyme in isoprenoid biosynthesis called farnesyl diphosphate synthase, which alters membrane fluidity. Since, influenza A virus and HIV-1 bud from lipid rafts, alterations in these rafts affects the budding and release of the virus particles from infected cells (391, 567).

Tetherin is an important ISG and restricts virus release by inserting its N- and C-terminal domains simultaneously into both the virus envelope and the plasma membrane thereby retaining the virion to the plasma membrane (554). While its restrictive activity is well studied and well understood in HIV and has also been reported to have antiviral activity against several enveloped viruses, its antiviral role in influenza virus infection is not completely understood (511). While some influenza virus strains have been shown to be sensitive to tetherin, several strains have been shown to be resistant to tetherin-mediated antiviral activity (172). The mechanism of tetherin antagonism in influenza viruses is believed to be mediated by the HA and NA proteins and may involve interference with tetherin expression (172).

1.2.4 NS1 interaction with host proteins and its function in influenza virus life cycle

While the mechanisms of antigenic drift and antigenic shift help the virus in evading the adaptive immune response raised by the host, influenza A virus relies on the interaction of viral proteins to various components of the innate immune system to aid in evading the innate immune response (549).

NS1 is a multifunctional protein affecting a variety of host functions and is an important virulence factor for influenza A viruses (189, 290, 355). Influenza A viruses encoding NS1 with functional defects have been shown to be highly attenuated in various animal models (128, 156, 447, 523). Recombinant viruses lacking the NS1 gene are severely attenuated in IFN competent systems but replicate well in IFN-deficient systems such as in Vero cells and 6-day old embryonated eggs (156, 523). Moreover, infection with influenza virus lacking the NS1 gene leads to enhanced expression of IFN and ISGs, when compared to WT virus infection (162).

These findings show that NS1 and its functions could serve as ideal targets for the development of effective and new antiviral drugs. Indeed knowledge on the cellular interaction partners of NS1 and other viral proteins has resulted in the development of small molecule inhibitors with potent antiviral activity. For example, a fragment of cleavage and polyadenylation specificity factor 30 (CPSF30), which binds to the CPSF30 binding site on the NS1 protein has been shown to prevent NS1 binding to CPSF30 and abrogates the NS1 inhibitory function on 3'end processing of cellular pre-mRNAs (545). Studies using siRNA-based approaches have identified many cellular factors involved in different steps of the influenza A virus life cycle. Drugs targeting some of these cellular factors have been screened and show potent antiviral activity against influenza A virus (105, 570). Thus, the identification of NS1 cellular interaction partners will provide valuable data for the development of future antiviral drugs and boost the knowledge on cellular mechanisms modulated by influenza NS1 to promote virus replication. Some of the well-known interactors of NS1 and their functions in influenza virus replication are discussed below (Fig. 1.7).

One of the well-known pathways activated during influenza virus replication is the PI3K/Akt signalling pathway (122). The PI3K/Akt pathway is regulated by influenza NS1 protein through its direct interaction with the SH3 and C-terminal SH2 domain of p85β, which is the regulatory subunit of PI3K (489). The SH3 binding motif 1 of NS1 is required for this interaction and the PI3K/Akt pathway activation (487). The PI3K/Akt pathway activation inhibits virus-induced apoptosis through caspase-9 phosphorylation and treatment of cells with a PI3K specific inhibitor has been reported to reduce viral protein expression, viral RNA synthesis and vRNP nuclear export (487, 488). NS1 proteins of the 1918 pandemic virus and many avian



Republished with permission of Society for General Microbiology, from The multifunctional NS1 protein of influenza A viruses, Hale et al., 89, 2008; permission conveyed through Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. See Appendix II for documentation of permission to republish this material

Figure 1.7 The antiviral functions of influenza A NS1. Influenza A NS1 interacts with dsRNA and several host proteins to exert its antiviral function. By binding dsRNA and interacting with RIG-I and PKR, it has a direct effect on limiting the induction of IFN. NS1 inhibits cellular mRNA maturation by interacting with CPSF30 and PABPII, while interaction with components of the nuclear export machinery blocks mRNA export. NS1 interaction with p85 β and CrkL activates the PI3K signalling pathway, which favours viral replication.

influenza A viruses contain a consensus class II SH3-binding sequence, which is necessary for binding to the N-terminal SH3 domain of two related adaptor proteins Crk/CrkL (206). While binding to these adaptor proteins did not influence the ability of NS1 to suppress IFN β expression, it was found to be associated with enhanced PI3K signalling (206). Several studies have shown that activation of the PI3K signalling pathway has many beneficial effects on viral replication, which includes delayed apoptosis induction in infected cells (340, 341, 597).

Another important cellular interaction partner of NS1 is CPSF30, which is an essential component of the 3'end cellular processing machinery of host pre-mRNAs (29). The NS1 protein binds CPSF30 and prevents its binding to the RNA substrate, which inhibits the 3'end cleavage and polyadenylation of host pre-mRNAs (394). Inhibition of this process also results in nuclear retention of cellular pre-mRNAs and restricts translation of these mRNAs (394). Through this mode of inhibition, NS1 prevents the post-transcriptional processing of several cellular antiviral pre-mRNAs including IFN_β pre-mRNA (399). While cellular pre-mRNAs are affected by this interaction, viral mRNAs are not since they obtain their poly(A) tail by the stuttering of viral polymerase on the vRNA template (609). NS1 also inhibits cellular mRNA export by binding to various components of the mRNA export machinery including NXF1/TAP, p15, Rae1 and E1B-AP5, which form a protein complex (144, 460). The majority of host mRNA export is mediated through the heterodimeric transport receptor NXF1-p15, which interacts with both the mRNA and various nuclear pore complex (NPC) proteins called nucleoporins (505). Rae1 and E1B-AP5 are also involved in nuclear export (24). They aid in the interaction of NXF1 to mRNAs and in the recruitment of Nup98 to NXF1 respectively to mediate mRNA export through the NPC (24, 54). NS1 prevents the interaction of a complex containing these proteins with other members of the mRNA export machinery by either rearranging the NXF1/p15/Rae1/E1B-AP5 mRNA export

complex or by masking the binding sites of this complex (460). One of the well-established functions of NS1 is its selective enhancement of translation of viral mRNAs. NS1 achieves this through its interaction with the translation initiation factor eIF4GI and PABP1. Mapping studies showed that the eIF4GI and PABP1 interacting domains correlate to residues 81-113 and 1-81 of the NS1 protein respectively (70). The NS1 protein promotes viral mRNA translation by binding to the 5' UTR of viral mRNA as well as with eIF4GI and PABP1 and aiding in the specific recruitment of the 43S complexes on the viral mRNA (70).

The NS1 protein of influenza A virus exerts its IFN antagonism by targeting several components of the innate immune system (Fig. 1.7). The NS1 protein is divided into an Nterminal RNA-binding domain (AA 1-73) which binds to dsRNA and a C-terminal effector domain (AA 74-230) which binds to several host proteins (189). Expression of the dsRNAbinding domain alone is sufficient to inhibit IFNB induction, while substituting the amino acids of the dsRNA-binding domain (R38/K41) to alanine resulted in a reduction in the IFN inhibitory effect (568). Thus, dsRNA binding is important for the IFN antagonistic function of the NS1 protein. The RIG-I protein is a major PRR responsible for IFN induction during influenza viruses (600). Upon binding viral RNA, RIG-I exposes the N-terminal CARD domain, which binds to another CARD containing protein MAVS. This results in the activation of a signalling cascade leading to the phosphorylation of transcription factors such as IRF3 and IRF7. The activation of these transcription factors cause the induction of IFNB promoter (264, 587, 600). Moreover, the E3 ubiquitin ligase activity of TRIM25 induces K63-linked ubiquitination of the CARD domain, which has been shown to facilitate RIG-I interaction with MAVS and enhance IFN β induction (151). The NS1 protein inhibits the RIG-I signalling pathway by directly interacting with both RIG-I and TRIM25. The NS1 protein binds directly to the second CARD domain of RIG-I and
inhibits RIG-I function (246, 378); meanwhile, amino acids E96/E97 and R38/K41 required for RNA binding activity in NS1 are necessary for interaction with TRIM25 (150). Mutation of these amino acids resulted in the loss of NS1's ability to inhibit TRIM25-mediated RIG-I ubiquitination, RIG-I CARD-induced IRF3 phosphorylation, dimerization and IFN^β promoter activation (150). Thus, the NS1 protein is able to efficiently block the RIG-I signalling pathway. An important host defence pathway is the PKR pathway, which is activated upon binding dsRNA and leads to the phosphorylation of the translation initiation factor eIF2 α (27, 456). $eIF2\alpha$ phosphorylation in turn results in the disruption of protein translation and prevents viral replication, since the virus depends on the host machinery for viral mRNA translation. NS1 inhibits PKR activation by binding to and sequestering its ligand dsRNA and by binding directly to PKR (204, 343, 524). Residues 1-230 of PKR is required for direct interaction with NS1, while the dsRNA binding mutant of NS1 is also able to interact with PKR and inhibit its activation (321). This shows that NS1 is able to inhibit PKR by a mechanism independent of dsRNA binding. Thus, NS1 exerts its multifunctional nature and affects various stages of the virus life cycle by interacting with several host proteins.

NS1 being a multifunctional protein, new host interaction partners are being discovered routinely and hence the NS1 protein is believed to interact with additional host proteins that are yet to be identified (189, 355).

1.3 DDX3 and virus life cycle

1.3.1 Biological functions of DDX3

DDX3 belongs to the DEAD box RNA helicase family and harbors ATPase and RNA helicase activities (145, 594). DDX3 has two homologues, DDX3X and DDX3Y, which are

located on the X and Y chromosomes respectively (280, 296, 419). DDX3X is ubiquitously expressed in most tissues while DDX3Y expression is restricted to the male germline tissues (116). Like most other DEAD box helicases, DDX3X or DDX3 has been implicated in a number of functions related to RNA metabolism, including transcriptional regulation, translation, splicing, mRNA export and ribosome biogenesis (471). DDX3Y on the other hand is associated with male fertility and is essential for spermatogenesis in both humans and mice (134, 302).

Results from several studies show that DDX3 is a multifunctional protein (496) and its characteristic as a nucleocytoplasmic shuttling protein might be important for this pleiotropic function (594). The multiple functions of DDX3 protein in cellular RNA metabolism are discussed below.

1.3.1.1 DDX3 in transcription

DDX3 has a role in the transcriptional regulation of genes from different promoters including IFNβ, E-cadherin and P21 ^{waf1/cip1} promoters (59, 80, 472, 497). However, the mechanism by which DDX3 regulates these promoters appears to be different. Chromatin immunoprecipitation studies have shown direct association of DDX3 with the IFNβ and Ecadherin promoters (59, 497). However, the IFNβ promoter is upregulated by DDX3, while the E-cadherin promoter is downregulated. Alternatively, DDX3 regulates the P21 waf promoter by binding to the transcription factor Sp1 (80). In this case, P21 waf promoter activity is enhanced and regulation is Sp1-dependent. While the effect of DDX3 on the IFNβ promoter activity is independent of its helicase or ATPase activity (472, 497), DDX3 regulation on the P21 waf promoter requires ATPase but not unwinding activity (80). Therefore, the mechanism of action of DDX3 on the regulation of different promoters might be different with varied regulatory outcomes. More future studies, examining the mechanism of promoter recruitment and the exploration of other DDX3 promoter targets are needed. Based on the function of other DEADbox helicases such as DDX5 and DDX17 acting as adaptors between promoter-specific transcription factors (149), it is speculated that DDX3 also gets recruited to specific promoters in a similar manner.

1.3.1.2 DDX3 and pre-mRNA splicing

Splicing is a key step in eukaryotic gene expression, where the introns are excised from pre-mRNA and the exons are ligated together to form a continuous reading frame catalyzed by the spliceosome complex (579). The protein composition of this spliceosome complex has been identified by mass spectrometry of purified mRNP complexes (445, 527). Among these proteins, the best characterized are the group of proteins belonging to the exon junction complex (EJC), which binds to spliced mRNA 20-24 nucleotides upstream of the exon-exon ligation site (526). In a study with affinity purified spliced mRNP complexes, DDX3 was identified as a novel mRNP protein and found to associate stably with the mRNPs via the EJC (376). Also, the association was splicing-dependent and DDX3 was found exclusively in the spliced mRNAs carrying an EJC (376). However, whether DDX3 knockdown or impairment has an effect on splicing is not yet known. Hence, the exact role of DDX3X in pre-mRNA splicing remains to be clarified.

1.3.1.3 DDX3 and nuclear RNA export

Tip associated protein (TAP) is considered as a major receptor for mRNA export from the nucleus to the cytoplasm (253, 505). DDX3X was identified as a TAP interacting protein and as a result associates with TAP-associated mRNPs (298). Depletion of TAP causes nuclear accumulation of DDX3 but it does not alter the mRNA distribution in the cell (298). Therefore, even though DDX3 interacts with TAP and its export is at least partially TAP-dependent, it does not appear to be critical for the export of most cellular mRNAs (298). However, it is still possible that DDX3-TAP interaction is essential for the nuclear export of a small subset of mRNA.

Distinct from the TAP-mediated export pathway is the CRM1-dependent RNA export pathway. Several studies implicate DDX3X in the CRM1-dependent pathway. DDX3 was found to be essential for CRM1-mediated export of unspliced HIV RNA (594) and also as a component of the eIF4E-mediated mRNA export pathway (539). eIF4E enchances the mRNA export of genes that contain an approximately 50 nt element in the 3' UTR known as the eIF4E-sensitive element (99). DDX3 was found to associate with these eIF4E-sensitive mRNPs and its interaction with eIF4E was RNA-independent (539). However, the role of DDX3X in this pathway is not yet well defined.

1.3.1.4 DDX3 in translation and cytoplasmic stress granule formation

Even though several studies have investigated the role of DDX3 in translation, its function is still murky because of the contradicting results from these studies. In HeLa cells, DDX3 knockdown was found to dramatically decrease protein production from a β -globin reporter construct and the translation promoting function of DDX3 was determined to be mediated through its interaction with the translation initiation factor eIF3 (310). In another study, DDX3 depletion in Huh7 cells with the transfection of different reporter constructs showed downregulation of translation with both cap and IRES (Internal Ribosome Entry Site) containing mRNAs and that DDX3 assists 60S subunit joining process to assemble functional 80S ribosome (163). Therefore, these studies concluded that DDX3 depletion has a negative role in general translation. However, a different study showed that DDX3 has an inhibitory effect on capdependent translation but enhances hepatitis C virus IRES-mediated translation (485). The study ascribed this translation regulatory effect of DDX3 to its interaction with eIF4E and their observation with cap affinity chromatography analysis suggests that DDX3 traps eIF4E in a translationally inactive complex by blocking its interaction with eIF4G (485). Besides these studies, DDX3X has also been reported to target complex 5'-UTR of a subset of mRNAs, specifically promoting the translation of cyclin E1 mRNA (297). Thus, it remains to be clarified, whether DDX3 has a general effect on translation or it has a specific effect on a subset of mRNAs and whether the translation regulatory effect is inhibitory or enhancing. Most of the studies mentioned above have found associations of DDX3 with several translation initiation factors such as eIF4A, eIF4E, eIF4G, eIF3 and PABP. Therefore, despite the controversial data regarding the effect of DDX3 on translation, it is quite clear that it has some role in translation initiation.

Stress granules (SGs) are non-membranous cytoplasmic foci containing aggregates of untranslated mRNA in cells exposed to adverse stress conditions such as heat shock, UV irradiation, virus infection, hyperosmolarity and oxidative stress (15). Assembly of the SGs during stress conditions helps the cells to direct the translation machinery for the production of stress response factors and heat shock proteins by sequestering housekeeping mRNAs into the SGs (417). SG formation is initiated by the phosphorylation of eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2α (eIF2 α) (269). eIF2 α phosphorylation results in the reduced availability of eIF2 α -GTPtRNA_i^{Met} ternary complex which is required for translation initiation, thereby resulting in stalled translation initiation complexes (267). RNA-binding proteins such as TIAR and TIA-1 then bind to these stalled translation initiation complexes and facilitate the formation of SGs (269). Phosphorylation of eIF2 α can occur by 4 different kinases activated by distinct types of stress (589). Heme-regulated translation inhibitor (HRI) kinase is activated in response to oxidative stress, GCN2 kinase is activated in response to nutrient deprivation and UV irradiation, PKR kinase is activated in response to viral infections, and PKR-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase (PERK) signals in response to endoplasmic reticulum stress. Many viruses induce SGs through the activation of PKR kinase and in some cases GCN2 by detection of viral RNA in the cytoplasm (46, 350). Many viruses have been reported to inhibit SG formation by various mechanisms underscoring the antiviral role of SGs (335, 409).

Many RNA helicases such as DDX1, DDX3, DDX6, eIF4A and RHAU have been shown to localize in SGs (69). A recent study reported localization of DDX3 in SG, induced by a variety of cellular stress including sorbitol, arsenite, DTT, heat shock treatment and UV irradiation. DDX3 was found to be a SG-nucleating factor and DDX3-eIF4E interaction was found to be essential for SG formation (486). This observation was found to provide a functional link between the translation inhibitory effect of DDX3 and its SG inducing capability, because eIF4E binding defective DDX3 mutant was unable to repress translation (486). However, another study reported that DDX3 knockdown did not impair arsenite-induced SG formation, even though overexpressed GFP-DDX3 was found to localize in SGs (298). Nevertheless, it is clear that DDX3 is localized in SGs along with the translation initiation factors it is known to interact with. Thus, DDX3 recruitment to the SGs might be an important link to explain its translation inhibitory phenotype and association with the translation initiation factors. Besides that, recent reports show that infection with PR8 influenza virus lacking the NS1 gene induces formation of SGs in the infected cell (271, 272). Influenza virus-induced SGs have antiviral properties and

several viral proteins, such as NS1, PA-X and NP have been reported to counteract SG formation (271, 272, 409). However, the role of DDX3 in influenza virus-induced SG formation is unknown and might be an interesting area of study.

1.3.1.5 DDX3 in cellular signalling and IFNβ induction

DDX3 was identified in a genome wide siRNA screen for novel wnt- β catenin signalling regulators (97). The report suggests that DDX3 binds CK1_c, promoting its kinase activity and thereby enhances the phosphorylation of the scaffold protein dishevelled (Dvl). Antiviral PRRs such as TLRs and RLRs recognize different species of viral nucleic acids and induce type I IFNs (259, 534). Both the TLR3 and RIG-I pathway lead to the activation of IRF3, mediated by IKKrelated kinases TBK1 and IKKE. IRF3 then translocates to the nucleus and promotes transcription from the type I IFN promoter (138, 243, 254, 403, 482). DDX3 interacts with both TBK1 and IKK ε and contributes to IFN β induction (472, 497). DDX3 interacts directly with IKKE and enhances autophosphorylation and the activation of IKKE (183). Activated IKKE in turn phosphorylates DDX3 and the phosphorylated DDX3 recruits IRF3, facilitating the phosphorylation of IRF3 by IKK ε (183). Phosphorylated DDX3 has also been shown to bind directly to IFN^β promoter and promote its transcription (497) (Fig. 1.8). Another recent study also suggested that DDX3 interacts directly with HCV RNA and then triggers MAVS-dependent signalling enhancing IFN β induction (413). Even though all the above studies point to a role for DDX3 as an IFN β enhancer, the exact mechanism by which it fulfills this function is controversial. Nevertheless, DDX3 being a multifunctional protein, it could be contributing to IFNβ induction through multiple mechanisms. Moreover, several viruses appear to target DDX3 to counteract IFNB induction, as discussed below in more detail.

1.3.2 DDX3 in virus infection

Several viruses such as HIV, HCV, Hepatitis B virus (HBV) and Vaccinia virus (VACV) either co-opt DDX3 as a cellular cofactor or inactivate the protein with specific viral factors to aid in viral replication. For example, DDX3 is a well-established cellular co-factor in HIV replication (388, 593, 594). Yedavalli et al. showed that DDX3 interacts with HIV rev protein and the cellular nuclear export protein CRM1 (594). Through this rev-DDX3 interaction, HIV was reported to target its partially spliced mRNAs for CRM1-mediated nuclear export (594). Based on these observations, DDX3 was reported to function as a cofactor essential for HIV-1 replication. Another study also showed that DDX3 interacts with HIV Tat and enhances Tat function during HIV replication (593). A combination of DDX3 with other helicases such as DDX1, DDX5, DDX6, DDX21 and DDX56 synergistically enhanced Rev function but not Tat function (593). Only DDX3 specifically enhanced HIV-1 Tat function (593) . The ATPasedependent RNA helicase activity of DDX3 was required for both Rev and Tat function(593, 594) and the interaction with Tat localized DDX3 to cytoplasmic P-bodies and stress granules (593).

Multiple studies have shown DDX3 to affect HCV virus life cycle. DDX3 was first identified as a HCV core-interacting protein by yeast two-hybrid assay. In this study DDX3 and core were found to co-localize in distinct spots in the perinuclear region of the cytoplasm (414). Another evidence implying DDX3 in the HCV virus life cycle came from the observation that DDX3 is downregulated in Hepatocellular carcinoma specimens (78). Proteomic analysis of lipid droplets in core expressing hepatoma cell lines identified DDX3 along with another DEAD box helicase DDX1 as present in the lipid droplet fraction (459). This observation suggested that lipid droplets containing HCV core protein may participate in RNA metabolism thereby affecting



Figure 1.8 The role of DDX3 in IFN β **signalling pathway.** Transcription factors and other proteins involved in RIG-I-mediated signalling cascade for IFN β induction are shown in the figure. DDX3 has been reported to target the RIG-I-mediated IFN β induction pathway by targeting the different components of the pathway as shown in the schematic. The multifunctional nature of DDX3 is believed to facilitate DDX3 interaction with these diverse components of the pathway.

HCV replication (459). Ariumi et al. demonstrated the reduced accumulation of both genomelength HCV RNA (HCV-O, genotype 1b) and replicon RNA in DDX3 knockdown cells (20). Moreover, RNA replication of JFH1 (genotype 2a) and the release of core protein into the culture supernatants was suppressed in DDX3 knockdown cells. These results suggested that DDX3 is required for HCV replication. Several studies have shown that DDX3 upregulates IFN β induction through several mechanisms (413, 472, 497). A recent study showed that DDX3-core interaction, besides other mechanisms, could aid in HCV replication by suppressing DDX3 augmented IPS-1 signalling for IFN β induction (411). Another mode of action of DDX3 in HCV replication has also been demonstrated. In this study, it has been shown that DDX3 interacts with the 3' UTR of HCV genomic transcript activating IKK α (320). IKK α then translocates to the nucleus and induces CBP/p300-mediated transcriptional program, which enhances coreassociated lipid droplet formation to facilitate virus assembly (320).

DDX3 has also been implicated in the replication of other flaviviruses such as Japanese Encephalitis virus (JEV) and West Nile virus (WNV). DDX3 was shown to be required for JEV replication, because DDX3 knockdown inhibited JEV replication (317). DDX3 was shown to interact with JEV NS3, NS5 and bind to 5' and 3' UTR region (317). Also, DDX3 upregulated viral RNA translation and DDX3 helicase activity was found to be crucial for JEV replication (317). Many studies have shown that P-bodies are greatly diminished during WNV infection (126, 317). A recent study explored the fate of the P-body components after WNV infection (76). It was reported that many P-body components including DDX3 are recruited to virus replication sites and positively regulate viral replication (76).

57

VACV K7 protein has a potent inhibitory effect on TLR-dependent and independent IRF activation and consequently IFNβ promoter induction (472). On further exploration VACV infection was found to stimulate DDX3 and K7 interaction and this interaction was found to be necessary for the IFN inhibitory function of K7 (472). Expression of DDX3 led to enhanced TBK1/IKKe-dependent IFNβ promoter induction, whereas suppression of DDX3 expression by RNAi inhibited this as well as virus or poly I:C-induced IRF3 activation (472). This was the first study to reveal an IFN stimulating function for DDX3. HBV was also found to use a strategy similar to VACV to inhibit IFN induction. HBV pol protein was reported to interact with DDX3 and inhibit TBK1/IKKε activity by disrupting the interaction between IKKε and DDX3 (563). Even though DDX3-HBV pol interaction is beneficial for the virus because of reduced IFN induction, this might not be the only function. DDX3 was found to be incorporated into nucleocapsids (562). The ATPase motif and not the helicase motif of DDX3 was found to be essential for this polymerase inhibitory effect (562).

CHAPTER 2: RATIONALE, OBJECTIVES AND AIMS

2.1 Rationale

Influenza A viruses cause annual epidemics and recurring pandemics and are considered as a persistent global health issue. Additionally, sporadic cases of avian to human transmission of H5N1 and H7N9 avian influenza viruses have caused concerns regarding the pandemic potential of these viruses. Besides vaccines, antiviral drug therapy is an effective treatment measure for influenza-infected patients. Currently, FDA has approved two classes of drugs for prophylaxis and treatment of influenza virus infection, which include M2 ion channel inhibitors, such as amantadine, rimantadine and Neuraminidase inhibitors, such as oseltamivir and zanamavir. In addition, some countries have approved the use of several new drugs targeting additional viral functions. However, a major concern in using these drugs is the frequent emergence of drugresistant strains. Therefore, there is an urgent need for the development of new antiviral drugs, especially those targeting non-viral targets. Influenza A virus depends on the host cellular machinery for its replication and spread. Therefore, host factors would serve as an ideal non-viral target for the development of new antiviral therapy. Some examples of antiviral drugs targeting host factors include the sialidase DAS181 targeting the influenza virus receptor sialic acids and maraviroc, which targets the HIV-1 co-receptor CCR5 for HIV-I antiviral therapy. Therefore, it is critical to identify novel host cellular factors involved in the influenza A virus life cycle. Besides enhancing the current knowledge of influenza virus life cycle, such novel host factors may also serve as novel targets for next generation antiviral therapy.

The NS1 protein of influenza A virus is a multifunctional protein. In addition to its wellknown function to antagonise host defence mechanisms, NS1 is also involved in the regulation of viral polymerase activity, RNA export, splicing, translation and viral replication. NS1 exerts its multifunctional nature through its interaction with a variety of host cell factors. Hence, identification of the host proteins that interact with NS1 during virus infection will provide an insight into the multiple functions regulated by NS1; leading to the identification of novel cellular pathways regulated by the influenza A NS1 protein. Additionally, some of the identified proteins could potentially be used as targets for future antiviral therapy. Even though many NS1 interacting host proteins have already been identified, it is widely believed that many more NS1 interactors are yet to be discovered. Therefore, there is a strong necessity for more studies to identify these NS1 interacting host factors. Epithelial cells in the respiratory tract serve as the primary site of replication during influenza infection. The respiratory epithelial cells also produce immunomodulatory cytokines and chemokines upon infection. Therefore, when compared to using continuous cell lines, studying influenza virus infection and NS1 host factor interactions on swine respiratory epithelial cells (SRECs) would resemble conditions similar to natural infection.

2.2 Hypothesis

I hypothesize that the NS1 protein of influenza A virus antagonizes host antiviral defence mechanisms and regulates different functions in the virus life cycle by interacting with multiple host factors during infection.

2.3 Objective and aims

The overall objective of my study is to identify the novel host proteins that interact with influenza A virus NS1 protein in physiological settings and to characterize the role of at least one of the identified cellular factors during influenza A virus infection. To achieve the objective, I propose the following aims and approaches.

2.3.1 Aim 1. Generation and characterization of a recombinant swine influenza virus (SIV) encoding Strep-tagged NS1

2.3.1.1 To generate a recombinant virus encoding Strep-tag NS1 using reverse genetics.

2.3.1.2 To characterize the phenotype of the virus in terms of growth property, NS1 localization and protein expression kinetics compared to the wild-type virus.

2.3.2 Aim 2. Isolation of primary SRECs and purification of the intact NS1 protein complex from infected SREC

2.3.2.1 To isolate SRECs from the trachea of healthy pigs and confirm the purity of the isolated cells using fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) analysis.

2.3.2.2 To infect SRECs with the recombinant SIV encoding Strep-tag NS1 and purify the intact NS1 protein complex from the infected cell lysate using the streptactin resin.

2.3.3 Aim 3. Identification of proteins in the purified NS1 protein complex and bioinformatics analysis

2.3.3.1 To identify the host proteins co-precipitated with NS1 in the purified protein complex using liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry.

2.3.3.2 To analyze the dataset containing the host proteins using DAVID bioinformatics resources, STRING database and Cytoscape software tool to understand the potential host functions regulated by NS1.

2.3.4 Aim 4. Validation and characterization of one of the viral interaction partners: DDX3

2.3.4.1 To confirm DDX3 interaction with NS1 by immunoprecipitation and to identify other potential viral proteins that interact with DDX3 by Western blotting from virus-infected cell lysate.

2.3.4.2 To characterize the RNA dependency of the interaction between DDX3 and viral proteins.

2.3.4.3 To identify the domains in DDX3 that are important for NS1 and NP interaction.

2.3.5 Aim 5. Validation and characterization of the role of DDX3 in influenza virus-induced SGs

2.3.5.1 To study the kinetics of SG formation in influenza A virus-infected cells and to investigate the localization of DDX3 and NP interaction.

2.3.5.2 To characterize the role of different domains of DDX3 in the recruitment of DDX3 to influenza A virus-induced SGs.

2.3.5.3 To assess the effect of siRNA-mediated DDX3 knockdown on SG formation by immunofluorescence staining and how DDX3 knockdown affects influenza A virus propagation.

2.3.6 Aim 6. Validation and characterization of the role of DDX3 in influenza A virusinduced IFNβ expression

2.3.6.1 To identify the major PRR responsible for influenza A virus-induced IFN β expression using siRNA-mediated knockdown of the PRRs, RIG-I and TLR3.

2.3.6.2 To analyse the effect of DDX3 knockdown and overexpression on virus-induced IRF3 phosphorylation, IFNβ mRNA expression and IFNβ promoter activity.

2.3.6.3 To investigate the mechanism of IFN β inhibition by DDX3 using an *in vitro* competition assay.

2.3.6.4 To test the effect of DDX3 downregulation on SIV/SK-WT and PR8 del NS1 virus replication by examining the virus titer using plaque assay.

CHAPTER 3: NETWORK OF HOST FACTORS THAT INTERACT WITH NS1 PROTEIN OF INFLUENZA A VIRUS

Relationship of this study to the dissertation.

Influenza A virus NS1 is a multifunctional protein with critical host defense antagonistic properties (189). We hypothesized that the multifunctional nature of the protein is exerted through its interactions with cellular proteins. Therefore, we sought to study NS1 interactions with host proteins in infected cells by infecting epithelial cells with a recombinant virus expressing Strep-tagged NS1 protein.

3.1 Abstract

Pigs are an important reservoir of influenza A viruses, due to their potential to host reassortment viruses with pandemic potential. NS1 protein is a key virulence factor of influenza A viruses and a major antagonist of innate immune responses. It is also involved in enhancing viral mRNA translation and regulation of virus replication. Being a protein with pleiotropic functions, NS1 has a variety of cellular interaction partners. Hence, studies on swine influenza viruses (SIV) and identification of swine influenza NS1-interacting host proteins is of great interest. Here, a recombinant SIV carrying a Strep-tag in the NS1 protein was constructed and primary swine respiratory epithelial cells (SRECs) were infected with this virus. The Strep-tag sequence in the NS1 protein enabled us to purify the intact NS1 protein and its interacting protein complex specifically. Cellular proteins present in the purified complex were identified by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) and a dataset of these proteins was generated. Four hundred and forty five proteins were identified by LC-MS/MS and among them 192 proteins were selected by setting up a threshold based on the mass spectrometry parameters. The selected proteins were analyzed by bioinformatics and were categorized in the involvement of different functional groups such as translation, RNA processing, innate immunity and apoptosis. Protein interaction networks were derived using these data. The novel proteins and the networks revealed in this study will be the potential candidates for targeted study of the molecular interaction of NS1 with the host proteins, which will provide insights into the identification of new therapeutic targets to control influenza infection and disease pathogenesis.

3.2 Introduction

Influenza A viruses are globally important human and animal pathogens responsible for seasonal, epidemic and periodically world-wide pandemic outbreaks. Among these viruses, swine influenza viruses (SIV) are a common and an important cause of respiratory disease in pigs (86, 416). Pigs are an important host of influenza A viruses, which could harbor viruses with pandemic potential (7, 213, 275), as they are known to support the replication of both human and avian viruses. Hence, they serve as a mixing vessel for the generation of virus reassortments, which might result in more pathogenic and novel viruses, such as the pandemic 2009 H1N1 virus that originated from pigs (7, 213, 275). Viruses being obligate parasites use diverse cellular machinery for replication and spread in the host. It is now widely recognized that the next generation of antivirals should be developed targeting cellular machinery rather than viral machinery, because historically viral targets are easily mutated by the virus to develop resistance against the drug (570). Host machinery, which is not under any evolutionary pressure to mutate, would be difficult for viruses to develop resistance against (339). Therefore, identification of host factors affecting SIV infection in its natural host is of paramount importance both for the basic understanding of the virus life cycle and for developing new antiviral therapy.

The NS1 protein of influenza A viruses is involved in regulating splicing, mRNA export, translation and antagonizing host defenses. It fulfills these functions via interaction with multiple cellular partners (189, 355). Although a variety of NS1 interaction partners have been identified, there is still a great interest in discovering novel interaction partners (104, 478). In this study, a recombinant SIV carrying a Strep-tag in the NS1 protein was constructed and primary swine respiratory epithelial cells (SRECs) were infected with this virus. Studying SIV replication by

infecting the primary swine cells will resemble conditions close to natural infection and the Strep-tag sequence in the NS1 protein would enable us to purify the intact NS1 protein and its interacting protein complex specifically. Cellular proteins present in the purified complex were identified by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) and a dataset of these proteins was generated. The dataset was further analysed by bioinformatics and provided comprehensive networks of the host factors that interact with NS1. The novel proteins revealed in this study will be potential candidates for the targeted study of the molecular interaction of NS1 with host proteins.

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Cells and viruses. Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells were maintained in minimum essential medium (MEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS). SRECs were isolated and cultured as described elsewhere (590). Briefly, trachea from healthy 6-8 week old pigs were obtained after euthanization and washed in sterile Phosphate buffered saline (PBS). The trachea from each pig was transected longitudinally and the surface epithelium was pulled off the submucosa using a glass microscope slide. The epithelium was washed with Joklik's MEM (JMEM) (Sigma-Aldrich) containing glutamine (2mM), Dithiothreitol (0.5 mg/ml) (Sigma-Aldrich), Deoxyribonuclease (10 μ g/ml) (Sigma-Aldrich) and antibiotics for 3 hrs at 4°C, changing the media every 1 hr. The tissue was then digested with protease XIV (Sigma-Aldrich) in the above media for 18 hrs at 4°C. After 18 hrs, the protease XIV was neutralized by adding FBS to a final concentration of 20%. The media was filtered through a 70 μ m cell strainer and the cells were pelleted down and washed with JMEM supplemented with 20% FBS. The cells were then resuspended in Bronchial Epithelial Growth Medium (BEGM) (Lonza Group Ltd.)

with added growth factors from the bullet kit (Lonza Group Ltd.) and then plated on an uncoated dish for 2-3 hrs and left in an incubator at 37°C. Contaminating fibroblasts attach to the plate, while the epithelial cells are only lightly attached and can be easily dislodged by gentle agitation. The floating cells were once again washed in BEGM media and plated onto a type IV collagen (Sigma-Aldrich)-coated cell culture flask. Once the cells reached 100% confluency, they were split on to type IV collagen-coated flasks and propagated further.

A/Sw/SK/18789/02 (H1N1) (SK02) virus was propagated in 11-day-old embryonated chicken eggs as described previously (487). Influenza virus titer was determined by plaque assay on MDCK cells.

3.3.2 Antibodies. Rabbit polyclonal NS1 and NP antibodies were generated in our laboratory as previously described (488). The other antibodies were purchased from different sources as follows: Strep MAB-Classic antibody conjugated to horseradish peroxidise (HRP) (IBA), Alkaline Phosphatase (AP) – Conjugated anti-rabbit IgG (Jackson ImmunoResearch), Mouse anti human cytokeratin (pan) (AbD Serotec), Goat F (ab')2 Anti-Mouse IgG1- FITC conjugate (Southern Biotech), mouse IgG1 negative control antibody (AbD Serotec), Goat anti-Rabbit IgG secondary antibody, Alexa Fluor 594 (Life Technologies).

3.3.3 Plasmid construction and generation of mutant viruses. The DNA sequence corresponding to the Strep-tag (TGGTCACACCCACAGTTCGAAAAA) was introduced into pHW-SK-NS (361) plasmid by overlapping PCR. Plasmid pHW-SK-NS-Strep-replacement (plasmid #544) encodes SIV/SK-NS1 with AA 77-84 replaced by the Strep-tag, while plasmid pHW-SK-NS-Strep-insertion (plasmid #545) encodes SIV/SK-NS1 with the Strep-tag inserted between AA 79 and 80.

The recombinant viruses encoding the Strep-tag NS1 were rescued using an eightplasmid reverse genetics system (214). For the rescue of the recombinant viruses, plasmids pHW-SK-PB2, pHW-SK-PB1, pHW-SK-PA, pHW-SK-HA, pHW-SK-NP, pHW-SK-NA, pHW-SK-M (361) and one of either plasmids pHW-SK-NS-Strep-replacement or pHW-SK-NS-Strep-insertion was transfected onto co-cultured MDCK and 293T cell. The rescued viruses designated SIV/SK-544 and SIV/SK-545 were propagated in 11-day-old embryonated eggs.

3.3.4 Western blotting. A portion of the cell lysate (input), eluent or wash fractions from the Strep-tactin sepharose column and samples for protein expression kinetics were resolved by sodium dodecyl sulfate-10% polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and Western blotting was performed as described elsewhere (488).

3.3.5 Immunofluorescent staining. MDCK cells were grown on glass chamber slides. After virus infection, the cells were washed with PBS, fixed and permeabilized with 1:1 acetone /methanol mixture at -20°C for 20 mins. The cells were washed in PBS, blocked in 5% goat serum in PBS for 45 mins and then incubated with the rabbit polyclonal NS1 antibody in blocking buffer for 2 hrs at room temperature or overnight at 4°C. The cells were again washed in PBS and incubated with the Goat anti-Rabbit IgG secondary antibody, Alexa Fluor 594 (Life Technologies) secondary antibody in the blocking buffer for 1 hr at room temperature. After washing in PBS, the cells were mounted using Prolong Gold Antifade reagent (Life Technologies). Multiple images of different fields of view were captured using Leica TCS SP8 confocal laser microscope. A representative of the multiple images is presented in the results. **3.3.6 Purification of Strep-tagged NS1 protein complex.** SRECs were infected with SIV/SK-544 at an MOI of 2.0. At 16 h.p.i., cells were harvested in cell lysis buffer (Cell Signaling Technology) with protease inhibitor (Complete protease inhibitor cocktail tablets – Roche Diagnostics Corporation). The lysate was sonicated and then clarified by centrifugation at 16200 ×g for 10 min at 4°C in a standard micro centrifuge. The Strep-tactin sepharose resin (IBA) was washed 3 times with 4 column volume (CV) of cell lysis buffer, then added to the clarified lysate and incubated at 4°C overnight. Next, the lysate-sepharose mixture was added to a polypropylene column (Qiagen) and washed extensively with wash buffer [100 mM Tris-Cl (pH 8.0), 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA] and the Strep-tag NS1 protein complex was then eluted from the sepharose resin with 3 CV of elution buffer (wash buffer with 2.5 mM desthibiotin). Protease inhibitor cocktail was added to the eluent to prevent degradation of the proteins and the proteins present in the complex were identified by LC-MS/MS at the University of Victoria-Genome BC Proteomics Centre.

3.3.7 Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) analysis of protein complex. The sample for LC-MS/MS analysis was first subjected to In-solution trypsin digestion. The sample was reduced with dithiothreitol (30 min at 37°C) and cysteine sulfhydryls were alkylated with iodoacetamide (30 min at 37°C in darkness). Twenty μg of trypsin (Promega) was added to each sample, at a sample to enzyme ratio of 50:1 and digested at 37°C for 16 hr. The sample was de-salted on a Waters HLB Oasis column, speed vac concentrated and then stored at -80°C prior to LC-MS/MS analysis. The above procedure and the LC-MS/MS analysis were performed at University of Victoria-Genome BC Proteomics Centre. **3.3.8 Analysis of LC-MS/MS data.** The proteins identified by LC-MS/MS were enriched and grouped into different functional categories using the functional annotation tool of DAVID Bioinformatics Resources 6.7 (241). The proteins from our NS1-interacting complex were screened against the known NS1-host factor interactions from VirHostNet (Virus-Host Network) 2.0, which is a public knowledgebase dedicated to the management, analysis and integration of virus-host interactions (187, 392). Proteins annotated to be involved in innate immunity were screened using the Gene Ontology Analysis tool from InnateDB database (65, 346, 347).

3.3.9 Construction of protein-protein interaction networks. Interaction networks of the proteins were generated through the use of STRING database (version 10) (237) and Cytoscape software (version 3.2.0) (477).

3.4 Results and Discussion

3.4.1 Construction and characterization of Strep-tagged NS1 mutants

The NS1 protein is made of a RNA-binding domain and an effector domain joined by a flexible and highly variable linker region (57, 438). Our lab had previously rescued mutant viruses having a TC tag insertion or a Strep-tag insertion in this variable region of NS1 (324, 326). Since the objective was to study SIV NS1-interacting partners in its natural host, a recombinant SIV possessing a Strep-tag sequence (WSHPQFEK) in the linker region of NS1 protein in the background of SK02 virus was rescued. The presence of the Strep-tag sequence would enable purification of the NS1 protein along with any associated proteins from the infected cell lysate. Two mutant viruses were rescued: SIV/SK-544 that encodes NS1 with a Strep-tag sequence replacing AA 77 to 84 and SIV/SK-545 that encodes NS1 with a Strep-tag sequence inserted between AA 79 and 80.

The replication potential of the recombinant viruses were first assessed by comparing the plaque size and multiple cycle growth kinetics to that of the wild-type (WT) virus. Even though plaque size of both mutants appear to be similar to the WT virus (Fig. 3.1A), SIV/SK-545 was attenuated in multi-cycle growth kinetics, while SIV/SK-544 displayed growth kinetics similar to the WT virus (Fig. 3.1B).

The phenotype of the mutant virus was further characterized to confirm that the introduction of Strep-tag sequence did not alter the function of NS1 protein. Since SIV/SK-544 mutant virus displayed similar plaque size and growth kinetics to that of the WT virus, I focused on the SIV/SK-544 mutant. Influenza NS1 predominantly localizes in the nucleus of infected



Figure 3.1 Characterization of recombinant Strep-tag NS1 viruses. A) MDCK cells were infected with either the WT virus or the recombinant Strep-tag NS1 viruses. At 48 h.p.i., plaques were visualized by staining with coomassie blue. B) MDCK cells were infected with either the WT virus or the recombinant Strep-tag viruses at an MOI of 0.001 in triplicates. Supernatant was collected every 24 hrs and the titer was determined by plaque assay on MDCK cells. A growth curve was plotted using the mean titer values at each time point and the associated standard deviation is displayed as error bar. C) MDCK cells were infected with either the WT virus or the mutant SIV-SK/544 virus at an MOI of 2 on chamber slides. At 7-8 h.p.i. the cells were fixed, permeabilized and stained with rabbit anti-NS1 serum followed by Alexa fluor 594-conjugated anti rabbit antibody (red) and mounted with a mounting media containing DAPI stain (blue). A representative image of multiple fields of view is shown in the figure.

cells (181, 396) and its intracellular distribution is vital for its multifunctional ability. Therefore, WT and SIV/SK-544 virus-infected cells were immunostained with antibodies specific for NS1 and the intracellular localization of NS1 protein in the infected cells was observed. As shown in Fig. 3.1C, NS1 localized to the nucleus and nucleolus in both SIV/SK-544 and WT virus-infected cells, revealing a similar distribution pattern. These results show that introduction of the Strep-tag sequence did not affect the function of the recombinant virus and hence SIV/SK-544 virus was used for further studies to isolate the intact NS1-interacting protein complex from the infected cells.

3.4.2 Identification of the cellular interaction partners of NS1 protein from infected primary SRECs

I believe that studying host-virus protein interaction in infected primary cells would result in the identification of novel interactors more relevant to the natural infection conditions. It has been reported that the primary site of replication in the host during influenza A virus infection is the respiratory epithelial cells in the trachea (353). Therefore, I was keen on isolating primary SRECs to study NS1-host protein interaction from these cells. Primary SRECs were isolated from the trachea of healthy 6-8 week old pigs and cultured on collagen-coated culture flasks. The cultured primary cells displayed typical cobble-stone morphology (data not shown) and almost all of the cultured cells stained positive for the epithelial cell marker cytokeratin (33) (Fig. 3.2A), confirming their epithelial nature.

To ensure that the virus can replicate efficiently in primary SRECs, the SRECs were infected with the WT and mutant viruses at an MOI of 1 and the cell lysates were collected at different time points. The cell lysates were then subjected to Western blotting with antibodies against NS1, NP and Strep-tag. The protein expression kinetics was found to be similar for both the WT virus and SIV/SK-544 virus in infected SRECs (Fig. 3.2B). While the NS1 antibody detected both WT NS1 and Strep-tagged NS1, only the Strep-tagged NS1 was detected by the antibody against Strep-tag.

Next, the accessibility of the Strep-tag to Strep-tactin, a derivative of streptavidin, which binds to the Strep-tag specifically with high affinity was tested (464). SRECs were infected with either the WT or SIV/SK-544 virus and at 16 hours post infection (h.p.i.), the cell lysate was prepared and subjected to a pull-down assay with the Strep-tactin resin, followed by Western blotting to determine the presence of NS1 in the eluent. Only NS1 from SIV/SK-544 infected cells could be pulled down efficiently, while the WT NS1 protein did not bind to the resin and was lost during the washes (Fig. 3.2C).

The viral and cellular proteins present in the NS1 pull-down complex from the SIV/SK-544 infected cell lysate and the WT virus-infected cell lysate were then identified by LC-MS/MS. Only 5 cellular proteins were identified in the SIV/SK-WT eluent, whereas 445 cellular proteins were identified in the eluent from SIV/SK-544 infected cell lysate. The 5 cellular proteins identified in the SIV/SK-WT eluent were excluded from further analysis. While no viral proteins were identified in the SIV/SK-WT eluent, viral proteins PB2, PB1, PA, HA, NP and M1 were identified in SIV/SK-544 eluent. The proteins present in the complex were identified using a software package called Mascot from Matrix Science (www.matrixscience.com) that compares the observed mass spectra data to a database of known proteins, to determine the most likely matches. For each protein match, Mascot calculates an overall protein score, which reflects the



Figure 3.2 FACS staining of SRECs, protein expression kinetics and NS1 protein Streptactin pull-down from WT and SIV-SK-544 infected cells. A) SRECs were stained with an antibody against the epithelial cell marker cytokeratin and the purity of the cells were analysed using FACS machine. B) SRECs were infected with WT or SIV/SK-544 virus at an MOI of 1. Cell lysates collected at the indicated time points were subjected to Western blotting with antibodies specific for NP, NS1 and Strep-tag. C) SRECs were infected with either the WT virus or SIV/SK-544 virus at an MOI of 2. At 16 h.p.i., cell lysate was collected and subjected to a pull-down assay with Strep-tactin sepharose. The Flow through (FT), Wash fractions (W1, W2) and the Eluent were collected and subjected to Western blotting with the antibody against NS1. combined score of all the observed mass spectra that can be matched to amino acid sequences within that protein. Therefore, a higher score indicates a more confident match. To be more stringent in the specificity of the proteins chosen for analysis, we set the threshold to be a Mascot protein score of 150 and above. Additionally, we also excluded those proteins identified with a single peptide match by LC-MS/MS. By setting up this threshold and exclusion, the analysis was restricted to the proteins with the highest confidence scores and thereby I ended up with 192 cellular proteins (43% of the total number, Table 3.1) for further analysis.

3.4.3 Bioinformatics analysis of the protein dataset

VirHostNet 2.0 database provides a high-confidence resource of manually curated interactions defined for a wide range of viral species including influenza. The influenza virus-host interaction database in VirHostNet 2.0 was screened against the 192 top scoring proteins identified in the LC-MS/MS analysis. I found that 92 out of the 192 proteins have been documented in the VirHostNet 2.0 database as NS1-interacting partners (Table 3.1). This analysis gave further proof that the proteins identified in this study are valid NS1 protein interaction partners.

NS1 exerts its multifunctional nature primarily by interacting with host proteins. Therefore, categorizing and grouping the proteins identified by LC-MS/MS based on their molecular functions in the host will reveal potential pathways that might be affected by NS1 expression during infection. The proteins in this dataset were therefore analysed using the DAVID bioinformatics resources (241) to enrich for different functional annotations (Table 3.2). These include protein translation, RNA processing and splicing, Cytoskeleton and microtubules

					·				
Uniprot ID	Gene Name	Peptides matched	Sequence coverage (%)	Protein Score	Uniprot ID	Gene Name	Peptides matched	Sequence coverage (%)	Protein Score
Q13085	ACACA	81	47.1	4631	P46776	RPL27A	9	40.3	739
O00839	HNRNPU	7	12.4	2162	O02878	RPL6	14	40.3	707
P05166	PCCB	29	73.8	2146	P11498	PC	10	13.4	701
P07437	TUBB5	28	79.3	2031	P62241	RPS8	13	54.8	697
P05217	TBB2	28	79	1915	P62266	RPS23	6	42.7	667
P04350	TUBB4A	5	12.3	1903	Q10570	CPSF1	16	16.8	663
P68371	TUBB4B	5	12.3	1903	P62888	RPL30	7	51.8	661
Q9H4B7	TBB1	28	71.2	1861	P14618	PKM	8	26.7	648
P39023	RPL3	13	27	1706	P62829	RPL23	6	36	639
Q14573	ITPR3	35	18.1	1606	P23396	RPS3	17	69.3	639
P62841	RPS15	6	54.9	1508	P62263	RPS14	9	68.3	636
P11940	PABPC1	29	42.7	1426	P62249	RPS16	12	52.5	618
P62701	RPS4X	22	61.3	1413	P53621	COPA	13	15.8	610
P52272	HNRNPM	16	37.8	1331	P05165	PCCA	14	22.8	603
P04264	KRT1	16	38.6	1303	O9Y2T7	YBX2	10	35.7	595
O9H4B7	TUBB1	17	41	1232	P61978	HNRNPK	9	35.4	587
P68363	TUBA1B	21	64.7	1198	O00571	DDX3X	8	17.2	572
O96FU6	ACTG1	21	69.7	1167	P13645	KRT10	9	27.6	564
P61247	RPS3A	24	67.5	1158	Q07020	RPL18	8	36.4	564
P60709	ACTB	20	64.4	1140	002543	RPL18A	9	36.6	564
P62753	RPS6	11	32.4	1132	P62917	RPL8	10	42.5	553
O9BUF5	TUBB6	17	45.2	1050	O9NZB2	FAM120A	10	15.4	547
P67809	YBX1	12	65.9	1016	P27635	RPL10	8	35.6	547
O9BOE3	TUBA1C	20	59.8	1002	P18124	RPL7	14	46.8	546
P62424	RPL7A	17	48.2	986	P62750	RPL23A	9	44.8	537
09Y224	C14orf166	10	39.8	950	P51991	HNRNPA3	7	31.7	527
092499	DDX1	19	32.9	948	O9H361	PABPC3	16	20.4	517
P05141	SLC25A5	12	35.9	945	P18621	RPL17	13	51.4	514
P68366	TUBA4A	15	46.3	939	O00567	NOP56	8	18.2	503
P36578	RPL4	17	39.3	918	P11142	HSPA8	14	25.8	499
O8NCA5	FAM98A	10	38.6	906	P26373	RPL13	13	44.6	488
P52597	HNRNPF	10	36.8	902	P62277	RPS13	13	49.8	488
P22087	FBL	13	58.4	886	012959	DLG1	9	18	487
O12905	ILF2	11	44.2	881	O3ZCM7	TUBB8	10	22.1	473
P43243	MATR3	13	27.8	871	P35527	KRT9	7	28.8	472
P12236	SLC25A6	14	51.6	863	P62244	RPS15A	10	61.1	461
O6PEY2	TUBA3E	14	49.2	855	096CW1	AP2M1	11	34.6	454
012906	ILF3	21	35.2	847	P16402	HIST1H1D	7	23.1	450
07Z417	NUFIP2	8	18	846	P62269	RPS18	10	42.2	443
P62081	RPS7	11	55.2	833	P04406	GAPDH	7	33.3	434
013310	PABPC4	18	32.2	806	P62805	HIST1H4A	7	52.3	411
P68104	EEF1A1	12	47.5	803	P55795	HNRNPH2	8	30.9	409
P15880	RPS2	16	49.2	795	058815	HP1BP3	13	28.9	409
P12235	SLC25A4	8	30.2	785	008211	DHX9	12	11	407
O6UN15	FIP1L1	13	37.7	780	P14866	HNRNPI.	6	23.5	407
P06576	ATP5B	10	35.2	751	P06899	HIST1H2B1	5	38	391
P25705	ATP5A1	10	25.6	746	P46782	RPS5	4	36.3	391
			20.0		1 10/02			20.0	

List of Proteins above a protein score of 150 in the purified NS1 protein complex

						-			
Uniprot ID	Gene Name	Peptides matched	Sequence coverage (%)	Protein Score	Uniprot ID	Gene Name	Peptides matched	Sequence coverage (%)	Protein Score
Q02978	SLC25A11	5	30.5	391	P51116	FXR2	5	11.3	232
P07910	HNRNPC	5	19.5	381	P62851	RPS25	4	23.9	228
P62913	RPL11	7	36.5	376	P84103	SRSF3	4	26.5	225
P62979	RPS27A	3	19.8	371	Q13084	MRPL28	4	27.3	224
Q92974	ARHGEF2	8	13.3	367	P47914	RPL29	3	18.8	224
P84098	RPL19	5	21	367	P42766	RPL35	4	24.9	223
P46778	RPL21	9	37.2	361	O76094	SRP72	8	18.9	223
Q07065	CKAP4	8	17.3	357	Q9P2I0	CPSF2	4	7.1	222
P62847	RPS24	6	31.1	353	P46109	CRKL	9	35.6	218
Q9Y2X3	NOP58	4	11.9	349	P02511	CRYAB	5	51.9	218
O60506	SYNCRIP	6	12.6	346	P17858	PFKL	6	16.2	218
P26599	PTBP1	4	18.3	342	P36542	ATP5C1	4	15.9	216
O43390	HNRNPR	7	12.4	337	P62854	RPS26	3	42.2	210
Q9Y6M1	IGF2BP2	7	16.4	337	Q13405	MRPL49	2	14.9	207
P16401	HIST1H1B	6	18.5	329	O43143	DHX15	5	10.1	206
P62280	RPS11	9	46.7	327	Q9BUJ2	HNRNPUL1	4	10.3	200
Q9C0J8	WDR33	12	16	326	O95793	STAU1	6	12.1	197
P10412	HIST1H1E	4	12.5	324	Q96A33	CCDC47	3	10.4	196
P83731	RPL24	5	25.8	323	Q13509	TUBB3	5	15.1	195
P05455	SSB	5	11	322	P61513	RPL37A	4	40.9	193
P46781	RPS9	12	31.1	319	P51114	FXR1	7	18.4	190
Q92841	DDX17	8	21	313	P11387	TOP1	5	7.5	190
P61313	RPL15	10	36.7	313	P83881	RPL36A	4	25.9	186
Q3KQU3	MAP7D1	5	6.8	300	Q9Y3U8	RPL36	6	36.7	185
Q8WWM7	ATXN2L	13	14.4	287	Q00325	SLC25A3	4	16.6	183
Q13435	SF3B2	6	12	277	P38159	RBMX	6	15.9	181
P22492	HIST1H1T	3	8	276	Q8TCJ2	STT3B	4	6.9	179
O15523	DDX3Y	5	10.6	272	P84243	H3F3A	2	29.3	174
Q9BQG0	MYBBP1A	6	8.1	272	Q6PKG0	LARP1	4	3.9	173
P62910	RPL32	5	33	270	P61254	RPL26	8	32.5	173
Q9HCE1	MOV10	3	3.5	269	Q8WXX5	DNAJC9	2	11.7	172
P08106	HSPA2	6	12.7	266	Q9Y3Y2	CHTOP	3	17.5	171
Q9NR30	DDX21	7	12	260	O14910	LIN7A	3	15.6	171
Q1KMD3	HNRNPUL2	7	9.8	258	Q9NUP9	LIN7C	5	33.6	171
P50914	RPL14	5	21.6	258	P52815	MRPL12	2	12.8	171
P62899	RPL31	7	44.9	258	P49411	TUFM	6	17.3	169
P16104	H2AFX	4	37.8	256	P32969	RPL9	2	15	166
Q14204	DYNC1H1	9	2.9	254	P40429	RPL13A	8	30.3	165
P62158	CALM1	3	49	252	P07305	H1F0	3	18.4	162
P27482	CALML3	3	49	252	P42677	RPS27	5	38.2	162
Q6NZI2	PTRF	6	20	252	P0DMV8	HSPA1A	3	7.4	158
P23528	CFL1	5	47.4	244	P08107	HSPA1A	6	13.3	158
P45880	VDAC2	3	18.5	241	Q86V81	ALYREF	5	40	157
Q15717	ELAVL1	4	24.9	240	Q86V81	THOC4	5	40	157
P68431	HIST1H3A	2	29.1	239	Q99459	CDC5L	2	3.2	156
P0DMV9	HSPA1B	6	13.3	238	P67936	TPM4	4	18.1	155
P04792	HSPB1	4	38.8	236	Q9UJS0	SLC25A13	2	5.2	152
O60884	DNAJA2	4	18.8	234	Q99729	HNRNPAB	3	11	151

Uniprot ID	Gene Name	Peptides matched	Sequence coverage (%)	Protein Score
Q9H0A0	NAT10	3	4.1	151
Q13283	G3BP1	2	7.4	150

Table 3.1 List of proteins above a protein score of 150 in the purified NS1 protein complex. The table represents the list of all proteins in the purified protein complex, identified using LC-MS/MS with a protein score of 150 and above. The proteins documented in the VirHostNet 2.0 database as known NS1-interacting partners are highlighted with a dark tan colour.

and apoptosis. These are known to be important host functions regulated during influenza infection.

To understand the interaction between the identified proteins, interaction networks of the proteins grouped in each of the enriched functional categories mentioned above were generated using STRING database and Cytoscape software (Figures 3.3-3.6). Here, the role of NS1 in affecting these functions, known NS1-host interaction partners involved in these functions and how the identified proteins fit in the context of influenza A virus infection and NS1 function are discussed.

3.4.4 Protein translation and viral replication

There are several reports supporting a role for NS1 in the selective translation of viral mRNAs over cellular mRNAs (107, 158, 356, 420). It is widely believed that NS1 interacts with the 5'UTR of viral mRNA, eIF4GI and PABP1 and facilitates the recruitment of 40S ribosomal subunit bound to eIF3, thereby enhancing the selective translation of viral mRNA (189, 355). NS1 protein has also been shown to interact with hStaufen (STAU1) causing its redistribution. Co-localization of both proteins in the ribosomal and polysomal fraction in influenza virus-infected cells have also been reported (129). As STAU1 is known to contribute towards the microtubular transport of cellular mRNAs to polysomes, this interaction is also thought to enhance the selective translation of viral mRNA by NS1. Besides regulating translation, NS1 is also known to regulate virus replication by interacting with the viral RNP and RNA motifs in positive-strand viral RNAs (356, 448). In addition, NS1 also fulfills this function by interacting with cellular proteins such as DDX21, hnRNPU, hnRNPA2/B1 and hnRNPF proteins

Tran	slation
Uniprot ID	Gene Name
P49411	TUFM
P68104	EEF1A1
P27635	RPL10
P62913	RPL11
P26373	RPL13
P40429	RPL13A
P50914	RPL14
P61313	RPL15
P18621	RPL17
Q07020	RPL18
Q02543	RPL18A
P84098	RPL19
P46778	RPL21
P62750	RPL23A
P83731	RPL24
P61254	RPL26
P46776	RPL27A
P46779	RPL28
P47914	RPL29
P62888	RPL30
P62899	RPL31
P42766	RPL35
Q9Y3U8	RPL36
P83881	RPL36A
P61513	RPL37A
P39023	RPL3
P36578	RPL4
Q02878	RPL6
P62424	RPL7A
P62917	RPL8
P32969	RPL9
P46783	RPS10
P62280	RPS11
P62277	RPS13
P62263	RPS14
P62841	RPS15
P62244	RPS15A
P62249	RPS16
P62269	RPS18
P15880	RPS2
P62266	RPS23
P62847	RPS24
P62851	RPS25
P42677	RPS27
P62979	RPS27A
P23396	RPS3
P61247	RPS3A
P62701	RPS4X
P46782	KPS5
P62753	RPS6
P62081	RPS7
P02241	KPS8
P46781	RPS9
P62910	KPL32
P52815	MRPL12
Q13084	MRPL28
Q13310	PABPC4
P40429	RPL13A

RNA Processing				
Uniprot ID Gene Name				
Q99459	CDC5L			
Q92499	DDX1			
Q92841	DDX17			
O43143	DHX15			
Q08211	DHX9			
Q6UN15	FIP1L1			
Q9HCE1	MOV10			
O00567	NOP56			
Q9Y2X3	NOP58			
P05455	SSB			
Q86V81	THOC4			
P67809	YBX1			
Q10570	CPSF1			
Q9P2I0	CPSF2			
P22087	FBL			
P51991	HNRNPA3			
P07910	HNRNPC			
P52597	HNRNPF			
P61978	HNRNPK			
P52272	HNRNPM			
O43390	HNRNPR			
Q00839	HNRNPU			
Q9BUJ2	HNRNPUL1			
Q13310	PABPC4			
P11940	PABPC1			
P26599	PTBP1			
P62913	RPL11			
P50914	RPL14			
P61254	RPL26			
P83881	RPL36A			
P62263	RPS14			
P62841	RPS15			
P62249	RPS16			
P62847	RPS24			
P62753	RPS6			
P62081	RPS7			
P38159	RBMX			
Q13435	SF3B2			
P84103	SRSF3			
O60506	SYNCRIP			
P14866	HNRNPL			

Spl	icing
Uniprot ID	Gene Name
Q99459	CDC5L
Q92499	DDX1
O43143	DHX15
Q08211	DHX9
Q86V81	THOC4
P67809	YBX1
Q10570	CPSF1
Q9P2I0	CPSF2
P51991	HNRNPA3
P07910	HNRNPC
P52597	HNRNPF
P61978	HNRNPK
P52272	HNRNPM
O43390	HNRNPR
Q00839	HNRNPU
Q9BUJ2	HNRNPUL1
P11940	PABPC1
P26599	PTBP1
P83881	RPL36A
P38159	RBMX
P14866	HNRNPL
Q13435	SF3B2
P84103	SRSF3
O60506	SYNCRIP
Microtubule	& Cytoskeleton
Uniprot ID	Gene Name
Q08211	DHX9
Q3KQU3	MAP7D1
Q92974	ARHGEF2
P62158	CALM1
Q9Y224	C14orf166
P02511	CRYAB
Q14204	DYNC1H1
P04792	HSPB1
P68363	TUBA1B
O95793	STAU1
Q9BQE3	TUBA1C
Q6PEY2	TUBA3E
P68366	TUBA4A
Q9H4B7	TBB1
P05217	TBB2
Q13509	TUBB3
P04350	TIDDIA
	TUBB4A

Apoptosis				
Uniprot ID	Gene Name			
P23528	CFL1			
P02511	CRYAB			
P04792	HSPB1			
P08107	HSPA1A			
P62979	RPS27A			
P16989	YBX3			
P23396	RPS3			
P61247	RPS3A			
P05217	TBB2			
P07437	TUBB5			
Q92974	ARHGEF2			
P62913	RPL11			
P62753	RPS6			

PDZ domai	PDZ domain containing				
Uniprot ID	Gene Name				
Q12959	DLG1				
O14910	LIN7A				
Q9NUP9	LIN7C				

Innate Immunity				
Uniprot ID	Gene Name			
P62158	CALM1			
P46109	CRKL			
P02511	CRYAB			
Q92499	DDX1			
Q9NR30	DDX21			
O00571	DDX3X			
Q08211	DHX9			
Q15717	ELAVL1			
P51114	FXR1			
P14866	HNRNPL			
Q12906	ILF3			
Q14573	ITPR3			
Q9HCE1	MOV10			
Q15365	PCBP1			
Q15366	PCBP2			
P84098	RPL19			
P49411	TUFM			
P67809	YBX1			

Table 3.2 Enriched functions as analyzed by DAVID resource	S						
and InnateDB. This table represents the different enriched functiona	ıl						
categories identified using DAVID bioinformatics resources and contain	IS						
the proteins belonging to each functional category. Proteins related to innate							
immunity were grouped using InnateDB database.							

TUBB8

TUBB5

Q3ZCM7 P07437



Figure 3.3 Interaction network of proteins involved in translation. The proteins classified as related to the translation machinery (Table 3.2) were analyzed by STRING database and an interaction network was generated using Cytoscape. The edges connecting NS1 and known NS1-interacting host proteins are represented by dashed lines and the NS1-interacting host protein nodes are highlighted by an octagon shaped border. Nodes represent the proteins in the network. Edges represent the interaction connecting the two nodes.
(81, 311, 430, 569). In line with these observations, PABP1, STAU1, eIF3F, DDX21, hnRNPU and hnRNP proteins were identified in the NS1-interacting complex in this study (Table 3.1). Among the NS1-associating host proteins, 59 proteins were grouped by DAVID to have a function in translation with a P value equal to 4.8×10^{-56} (Fig. 3.3) (Table 3.2).

3.4.5 Splicing and nuclear export of viral mRNA

Once the vRNP is in the cytoplasm, it is transported into the nucleus by the nuclear import machinery in association with the viral proteins (96, 564). Once in the nucleus, genomic replication, transcription and pre-mRNA processing takes place. Influenza viruses are unique among RNA viruses in that the whole replication cycle takes place inside the nucleus and not in the cytoplasm (210), since the virus needs the host splicing machinery to splice the NS1 and M mRNA into smaller NEP and M2 mRNA respectively (299, 300). Additionally, viral transcripts are exported through the NXF1 protein which is recruited to the viral transcripts by a complex of proteins made up of THO complex (THOC1-7), UAP56 and Aly/REF (601).

NS1 protein affects several functions in RNA processing. Influenza NS1 is reported to increase the splicing of viral M mRNA but does not appear to affect the splicing of its own mRNA (449, 450). Contrary to this enhancing effect, influenza NS1 protein is known to inhibit cellular pre-mRNA splicing by associating with spliceosomes and U6 snRNA, contributing to host's shut-off (342). hnRNP proteins are abundant nuclear proteins known to be bound to premRNAs in the nucleus (119) and they function in the splicing and nuclear export of pre-mRNA in eukaryotic cells (88, 119). Influenza NS1 protein is proposed to have a function in the nuclear export of viral mRNAs and has been shown to interact with several proteins involved in nuclear export including NXF1. Its binding to the cellular protein CPSF inhibits polyadenylation of host



Figure 3.4 Interaction network of proteins involved in RNA processing. The proteins classified as related to the RNA processing machinery (Table 3.2) were analyzed by STRING database and an interaction network was generated using Cytoscape. The edges connecting NS1 and known NS1-interacting host proteins are represented by dashed lines and the NS1-interacting host protein nodes are highlighted by an octagon shaped border. Nodes represent the proteins in the network. Edges represent the interaction connecting the two nodes.

pre-mRNAs and prevents their nuclear export (394, 460). Among the NS1-associating host proteins, 41 proteins and 24 proteins were grouped by DAVID to be involved in RNA processing ($P = 2.6 \times 10^{-21}$) and RNA splicing ($P = 7.4 \times 10^{-13}$) respectively, including CPSF1, CPSF2, 8 out of the 20 known hnRNP proteins and THOC4 (Fig. 3.4) (Table 3.2).

3.4.6 Apoptosis and Innate immunity

Even though proteins from my dataset were weakly enriched for the apoptosis function by DAVID (P = 0.12), it is an important pathway affecting both the virus and host during influenza A virus life cycle (Fig. 3.5A) (Table 3.2). Hence, I was keen on exploring the potential contribution of the proteins in the dataset to the apoptosis pathway.

Apoptosis is an important innate immune mechanism to maintain homeostasis in the host and is a major pathway regulated during influenza virus infection (212, 522). Influenza A virus has been documented to modulate apoptosis to favour efficient virus replication by interacting with several host proteins through its viral proteins, including NS1 (208, 232). A recent study showed that NS1 interaction with β -tubulin disrupts the cellular microtubule network and thereby commits the cell to apoptosis (192). NS1 interaction with the p85 regulatory subunit and CRK/CRKL prevents premature cell-death and facilitates enhanced virus replication (122, 220, 489). Additionally, the microtubule and cytoskeleton network also contributes to trafficking of vRNPs from the cytoplasm to the cell periphery for assembly and budding of the virus (12). Thus, the microtubule network and apoptosis pathways are key players in the influenza A virus life cycle. Furthermore, 20 proteins in the dataset belong to the microtubule and cytoskeleton network, as analyzed by DAVID bioinformatics resources (P = 1.6×10^{-4}) (Fig. 3.5B) (Table 3.2).

NS1 is a known antagonist of innate immune response. InnateDB is a manually curated



Figure 3.5 Interaction network of proteins involved in the Apoptosis & Cytoskeleton network. The proteins classified as belonging to the a) apoptosis pathway and b) cytoskeleton network (Table 3.2) were analyzed by STRING database and an interaction network was generated using Cytoscape. The edges connecting NS1 and known NS1-interacting host proteins are represented by dashed lines and the NS1-interacting host protein nodes are highlighted by an octagon shaped border. Nodes represent the proteins in the network. Edges represent the interaction connecting the two nodes.

А

В

knowledgebase of the genes, proteins, interactions and signalling responses in mammalian innate immunity (65). Therefore, I screened the dataset against the genes present in the innateDB database, which have been annotated to have a role in innate immune response. Eighteen proteins from the dataset were identified, which belonged to this database (Table 3.2). Several proteins listed in the table are well known interactors of NS1. DHX9 and DDX21 interact with NS1 and regulate virus replication (81, 326), CRKL interaction with NS1 induces enhanced PI3K signalling (597), while other proteins such as FXR1 and ILF3, have known functions during influenza A virus infection but have not been reported to interact with NS1 (565, 610). Hence, NS1 being an antagonist of innate immune responses, it might be interesting to study the interaction of these cellular proteins with NS1 and their function. A protein interaction network of these host factors revealed strong associations between these proteins (Fig. 3.6).

3.4.7 SIV/SK-NS1 polymorphisms and their potential contribution to interaction partners

It is well documented that significant polymorphisms exist in the NS1 sequences among various strains (355). SK02 virus is a wholly avian virus isolated from pigs (250) and because of this the NS1 protein has some unique sequences and motifs. NS1 protein of influenza A viruses are known to have a PDZ-binding motif (PBM) at the last four amino acid residues (406). As the name suggests, PBMs confer binding to proteins containing a characteristic structure called the PDZ domain. PDZ domain-containing proteins act as scaffolds to assemble protein complexes and function in cell signalling and cell polarity (196, 401). Human influenza A virus isolates contain a PBM with varied sequences depending on the strain and the NS1 of H5N1 avian influenza A virus isolates from human infections generally have a PBM with the sequence ESEV (173). Some studies have shown that avian NS1 with the ESEV PBM can bind the PDZ proteins

Scribble, Dlg1, MAGI-1, MAGI-2, MAGI-3 and an indirect association with Lin7C (173, 329, 531). The SK02 virus used in this study for infections has the same avian signature ESEV PBM (AA 227-230) in the NS1 protein. Therefore, I was interested in finding out, whether any of the above mentioned proteins have been identified in my pull-down complex. Consistent with the literature, Dlg1 and Lin7C were indeed present in the dataset (Table 3.2). This interaction decreases tight junction integrity of the epithelial cells and benefit virus replication (173, 329, 531). Other PDZ containing proteins identified in my complex but not included in gene ontology analysis include Pdlim5 and Pdlim7 proteins, which could have a role in cytoskeleton organization (247). SK02 virus also has a partial nucleolar localization signal (NoLS) comprising the basic amino acids in positions 219, 220 and 224 as per the consensus NoLS identified by Melen et al. (374) and nucleolar localization of SK02 NS1 was also observed in this study (Fig. 3.1C).

It has been observed that most avian influenza A viruses have a class II SH3 domain in the NS1 protein with the sequence PPLPPK at AA 212-217, while this motif is rarely seen in human influenza A viruses (206). NS1 proteins with this sequence have been shown to bind to the cellular adaptor protein CRK/CRKL, while the NS1 proteins of human influenza A viruses do not bind to this sequence (206, 220). Consequently, NS1-CRK/CRKL interaction inhibits the virus-induced activation of JNK-ATF2 pathway, which in turn prevents premature cell death and thereby facilitates enhanced virus replication (220). The NS1 protein of SK02 also possesses a class II SH3 binding motif and CRK/CRKL protein was identified in the pull-down complex (Table 3.1). All these unique interactions could have a significant effect on the pathogenesis of the virus at the cellular level.



Figure 3.6 Interaction network of innate immunity related proteins. The proteins classified as belonging to the innate-immune response pathway (Table 3.2) were analyzed by STRING database and an interaction network was generated using Cytoscape. The edges connecting NS1 and known NS1-interacting host proteins are represented by dashed lines and the NS1-interacting host protein nodes are highlighted by an octagon shaped border. Nodes represent the proteins in the network. Edges represent the interaction connecting the two nodes.

3.4.8 Validation of NS1 interaction with RNA helicases DHX9 and DDX3

Influenza being an RNA virus, RNA helicases could have a critical role in the virus life cycle. Several RNA helicases such as DDX1, DHX9, DDX3, DDX21, DDX17 and DHX15 were identified in the NS1-interacting complex. Hence, I was interested in understanding whether any of these helicases interact with NS1 and the mechanism by which they affect the virus life cycle. A previously published study in our lab, confirmed DHX9 as an NS1 interaction partner and its pro-viral role in enhancing viral transcription and replication during infection was also established (326). In chapter 4 of this thesis, DDX3 has been studied and confirmed to be a NS1 interaction partner. Additionally, knockdown of DDX3 enhanced virus replication and was found to play an antiviral role mediated through stress granule formation (see chapter 4). These two studies confirmed DHX9 and DDX3 as authentic NS1 interaction partners, serving as a validation for the approach used in this work to study the cellular proteins interacting with NS1 protein.

3.4.9 Conclusion

Through bioinformatics analysis of the NS1-interacting complex, we grouped the identified cellular partners into diverse functional categories. This shows that the large protein complex associating with NS1 form part of smaller complexes with distinct cellular functions. Even though our data cannot characterize the cellular partners as direct or indirect NS1 interacting partners, our analysis provides an insight into the potential NS1 regulated cellular pathways important for influenza infection. Validation and characterization of these associations will provide a deeper understanding of the virus-host interplay, the co-evolution mechanisms that moulded the host-pathogen relationship and will help in the identification of new therapeutic

targets to control influenza infection and disease pathogenesis.

CHAPTER 4: DDX3 INTERACTS WITH INFLUENZA A NS1 AND NP PROTEINS AND EXERTS ANTIVIRAL FUNCTION THROUGH THE REGULATION OF STRESS GRANULE FORMATION

Relationship of this study to the dissertation.

In the previous study, DDX3 was identified to be associated with NS1 as part of a larger NS1 interacting protein complex. Therefore, in this study we tested and characterized the interaction of DDX3 with NS1 and other viral proteins. Existing literature about DDX3 function in SGs as an essential nucleating factor (486), prompted us to explore the function of DDX3 in influenza virus-induced SGs.

4.1 Abstract

DDX3 belongs to the DEAD box RNA helicase family and is a multifunctional protein affecting the life cycle of a variety of viruses. DDX3 was identified as a NS1 associating partner in chapter 3. However, its role in influenza virus infection is unknown. In this study, the potential role of DDX3 in influenza A virus life cycle was explored. The interaction of DDX3 and NS1 was first validated. In the search of other potential viral proteins that interact with DDX3, NP was also observed to interact with DDX3 in virus-infected cells. The contribution of the different domains in DDX3 to its NS1- and NP- interaction was examined. Stress granules (SGs) are known to be antiviral and do form in influenza A virus-infected cells expressing defective NS1 protein. Additionally, a recent study showed that DDX3 is an important SG-nucleating factor. Thus, the role of DDX3 in affecting influenza A virus infection through regulation of SGs was further explored. Results from this work showed that SGs were formed in infected cells upon infection with a mutant influenza A virus lacking a functional NS1 (del NS1) protein and DDX3 co-localized with NP in SGs. Furthermore, the DDX3 helicase domain was identified not to interact with NS1 and NP; however, it was essential for DDX3 localization in virus induced SGs. Knockdown of DDX3 resulted in impaired SG formation and led to increased virus titers. DDX3-NP interaction may be important for NP recruitment into SGs and DDX3-NS1 interaction may play a role in NS1 mediated SG inhibition in an eIF2 α -independent manner. Taken together, these results identified DDX3 as an antiviral protein with a role in virus-induced SG formation.

4.2 Introduction

DDX3 belongs to the DEAD box RNA helicase family and harbors ATPase and RNA helicase activities (145). Like most other DEAD box helicases, DDX3 is a multifunctional protein with functions related to RNA metabolism, RNA export, ribosome biogenesis, cellular signalling and apoptosis (19, 480). DDX3 is known to enhance antiviral innate immunity by interacting with specific proteins of the type I IFN pathway (547). However, many viruses employ viral proteins such as Vaccinia virus (VACV) K7, Hepatitis B virus (HBV) pol and Hepatitis C virus (HCV) core protein to counteract DDX3 function and in turn use DDX3 to enhance their own replication (20, 76, 459, 472, 563). Contrary to its antiviral function, DDX3 is required for the replication of several viruses such as Human Immunodeficiency virus (HIV), West Nile virus (WNV), Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV), HCV and Norovirus (547). Therefore, existing literature portrays DDX3 both as a host factor required for viral replication as well as a component of the antiviral innate immune response.

Stress granules (SGs) are discrete cytoplasmic foci containing untranslated mRNA in nucleoprotein aggregates. They form in eukaryotic cells in response to a variety of environmental stress conditions including viral infections (409). The first step in the signalling cascade leading to SG assembly is the phosphorylation of eukaryotic translation initiation factor- 2α (eIF2 α), which can be regulated by any of the four serine/threonine kinases, namely double stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase R (PKR), Heme-regulated translation inhibitor kinase (HRI), PKR-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase (PERK) and General Control Nonderepressible 2 (GCN2) (17, 402, 434). PKR is activated by heat, UV irradiation and viral infections (580), HRI is activated in erythroid cells subject to oxidative stress and when levels of free heme are limiting during hemoglobin assembly (167, 191), PERK is activated in response to unfolded protein accumulation in endoplasmic reticulum (195, 422) and GCN2 is activated during amino acid deprivation (281). The phosphorylation of eIF2 α reduces the availability of ternary complex eIF2-GTP-tRNA_iMet, which is required to load the initiator tRNA_iMet onto the small ribosomal subunit to initiate translation (267). This results in the accumulation of stalled translation preinitiation complexes containing the translationally inactive messenger ribonucleoproteins, which recruit the RNA-binding proteins such as T-cell intracellular antigen-1 (TIA-1) and TIA-1 related protein (TIAR). These RNA-binding proteins in turn mediate the formation of SGs (266).

Several RNA helicases including DDX3 have been shown to localize in SGs (69). A recent study reported that DDX3 localized in the SGs, induced by a variety of cellular stresses including sorbitol, arsenite, DTT, heat shock treatment and UV irradiation. Further, DDX3 was found to be a SG-nucleating factor and DDX3-eIF4E interaction is essential for SG formation (486). Many viruses induce SGs through the activation of PKR kinase and in some cases GCN2 by the detection of viral RNA in the cytoplasm (46, 350). Most viruses including influenza A virus have mechanisms to inhibit SG formation, implicating the antiviral role of SGs in the virus life cycle (409). In case of influenza A viruses, NS1 protein is known to inactivate PKR, thereby preventing eIF2α phosphorylation and SG formation (272). Besides NS1, the nucleoprotein (NP) and polymerase-acidic protein-X (PA-X) have also been shown to aid influenza virus in overcoming stress induced translation arrest (271). Besides inducing translation arrest, SGs have also been shown to play a role in interferon (IFN) synthesis by sequestering retinoic acid inducible gene I (RIG-I) and influenza viral RNA (vRNA), thereby serving as a platform for the sensing of viral RNA by RIG-I (408). In addition, other antiviral proteins such as MDA5, LGP2, RNaseL, OAS and PKR also localize in influenza virus-induced SGs (408). These studies underscore the antiviral role that SGs play in influenza infection and highlight the involvement

of DDX3 in virus life cycle and SG formation. These studies prompted the exploration of the role of DDX3 in influenza A virus induced SG formation.

Several host factors involved in RNA metabolism including DDX3 have been shown to associate with the viral polymerase complex and co-localize with NP (244). However, detailed studies on the viral interaction partners and the function of DDX3 during influenza A virus replication were not conducted. Another study, attempting to assess the effect of DDX3 downregulation on influenza A virus polymerase activity, could not determine conclusively whether DDX3 regulates this function (58). Thus, in this study the role of DDX3 during influenza virus infection and the mechanism of DDX3-mediated regulation on influenza virus replication was investigated. DDX3 was established as an interaction partner with the viral NS1 and NP proteins and it was observed to localize in virus induced SGs. NS1 was able to counteract virusinduced SG formation and DDX3 localization into these SGs. The domains in DDX3 that are critical for interaction with NS1, NP and SG formation was also identified. Moreover, knockdown of DDX3 impaired SG formation and increased virus titers upon infection with PR8 NS1 deletion virus. Thus, DDX3 was established as an antiviral protein for influenza A virus infection with a prominent role in regulating SG formation, which warrants further study and understanding.

4.3 Materials and Methods

4.3.1 Cells and viruses. Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells and new born porcine tracheal epithelial (NPTr) cells were maintained in minimum essential medium (MEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Life Technologies). 293T cells were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% FBS.

Influenza A/Puerto Rico/8/34 (H1N1) (PR8-WT) and A/Sw/SK/18789/02 (H1N1) (SIV/SK-WT) viruses were propagated in 11-day-old embryonated chicken eggs as described previously (487). PR8 virus lacking NS1 protein (del NS1) was kindly provided by Dr. Garcia-Sastre and was propagated in Vero cells maintained in MEM with 10% FBS. PR8-WT and SIV/SK-WT virus were titrated by plaque assay on MDCK cells, while del NS1 was titrated on Vero cells. PR8 virus carrying the mutations R38A and K41A in NS1 was rescued by reverse genetics (214). The virus was propagated using a MDCK cell line stably expressing the NS1 protein (MDCK-NS1) and titrated by plaque assay on the MDCK-NS1 cell line.

4.3.2 Antibodies and reagents. Rabbit polyclonal NS1 and NP antibodies were generated in our laboratory as previously described (488). The other antibodies were purchased from different sources as follows: Mouse anti-HA antibody and Mouse anti-Flag M2 antibody (Sigma-Aldrich), Rabbit anti-flag DYKDDDDK tag antibody (Cell signaling technology), Mouse anti-Influenza A NP AA5H antibody (AbD Serotec), Rabbit polyclonal antibody to DDX3 (Abcam), Rabbit polyclonal antibody to PABP1 (Abcam), Rabbit polyclonal to HA tag – ChIP grade (Abcam), Mouse monoclonal antibody to β-actin (Cell Signaling Technology), Goat anti-TIA-1 antibody (Santa Cruz), Donkey anti-Rabbit IgG secondary antibody, Alexa Fluor 405 (Abcam), Donkey anti-Mouse IgG secondary antibody, Alexa Fluor 488 (Life Technologies), Donkey anti-Goat secondary antibody, Alexa Fluor 633 (Life Technologies), IRDye 680RD anti-

Rabbit antibody (LI-COR), IRDye 800CW anti-mouse antibody (LI-COR). Horse serum used in immunofluorescent staining was purchased from Life Technologies. Stellaris FISH probes specific to PR8 M vRNA for Fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) assay were purchased from Biosearch technologies.

4.3.3 Transfection and immunoprecipitation (IP). To examine DDX3 interaction with the viral proteins, 293T cells were seeded at a density of 1×10^6 cells/well in six-well plates. One µg of each plasmid expressing the protein of interest was transfected using TransIT-LT1 as per the manufacturer's recommendation. For transfection in NPTr cells, Lipofectamine LTX with PLUS reagent (Life Technologies) was used as per the manufacturer's recommendation. The plasmids used for transfection include, pcDNA-HA-DDX3, pcDNA-SK-NP, pcDNA-PR8-NP, pcDNA-PR8-NS1 and pCMV-3×Flag-PR8-NS1, pCMV-3×Flag-DDX3 (DDX3), pCMV-3×Flag-core helicase DDX3 (DDX3-CH), pCMV-3×Flag-C-term deletion DDX3 (DDX3-del CTD) and pCMV-3×Flag-N-term deletion DDX3 (DDX3-del NTD). The protein of interest was cloned into pCMV-3×Flag and pcDNA-HA plasmids such that the Flag- or HA-tag is fused to the N-terminal sequence of the expressed fusion protein. For examining protein interactions by IP, the cell lysate was collected in 1 ml Flag lysis buffer (FLB) (50 mM Tris HCl, pH 7.4, with 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, and 1% TRITON X-100). The cell lysate was then sonicated and cleared of cellular debris by centrifugation. For RNase A treatment, RNase A (Life Technologies) was added to the lysate at a concentration of 10 µg/ml and incubated on ice for 30 mins before proceeding with the immunoprecipitation assay.

For IP, 1.5 μ g of mouse anti-HA (Sigma-Aldrich) or mouse monoclonal anti-Flag M2 (Sigma-Aldrich) antibody or mouse anti-Influenza A NP (AbD Serotec) antibody was added to the cell lysate and incubated with gentle rocking at 4°C for 1 hr and 15 mins. Then, 35 μ l of

Dynabeads Protein G (Life Technologies) was added to the lysate and incubated for another 1 hr and 15 mins with gentle rocking at 4°C. The beads were then washed extensively with FLB and the precipitated proteins were subjected to Western blotting with appropriate antibodies. The IP data presented are representative of multiple experiments.

4.3.4 Western blotting. Samples were resolved by sodium dodecyl sulfate-10% polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad). Membranes were blocked with 10% skim milk for 30 minutes and then incubated with a primary antibody diluted in Tris Buffered Sodium chloride solution with 0.1% Tween-20 (TBST) at 4°C overnight. The following primary antibodies were used for Western blotting: Rabbit polyclonal to NS1 and Rabbit polyclonal to NP (in-house generated), Rabbit anti-Flag DYKDDDDK tag antibody (Cell signaling technology), Rabbit polyclonal antibody to DDX3 (Abcam), Rabbit polyclonal to HA tag–ChIP grade (Abcam), Mouse monoclonal antibody to β-actin (Cell Signaling Technology). After washing in TBST, the membranes were incubated in TBST containing IRDye 680RD Goat anti-Rabbit IgG antibody or IRDye 800CW Goat anti-Mouse IgG antibody. Membranes were washed again in TBST and scanned using an Odyssey imager (Li-Cor Biosciences).

4.3.5 Immunofluorescent staining. NPTr cells were grown on glass chamber slides. After the experimental treatment and/or infection, the cells were washed with PBS, fixed with 4% Paraformaldehyde (PFA) in PBS for 15 mins at room temperature and then permeabilized with ice-cold methanol for 15 mins at room temperature. The cells were washed in PBS, blocked in 5% horse serum in PBS for 45 mins and then incubated with the primary antibody in the blocking buffer for 2 hrs at room temperature or overnight at 4°C (266). The following primary antibodies were used for immunostaining: Mouse anti-Flag M2 antibody (Sigma), Rabbit antiFlag DYKDDDDK tag antibody (Cell signaling technology), Mouse anti-Influenza A NP AA5H antibody (AbD Serotec), Rabbit polyclonal antibody to DDX3 (Abcam), Rabbit polyclonal antibody to PABP1 (Abcam), Goat anti-TIA-1 antibody (Santa Cruz). The cells were again washed in PBS and incubated with the Alexa Fluor conjugated secondary antibodies in the blocking buffer for 1 hr at room temperature. After washing in PBS, the cells were mounted using Prolong Gold Antifade reagent (Life Technologies). Multiple images of different fields of view were captured using Leica TCS SP8 confocal laser microscope. A representative of the multiple images is presented in the results.

For the quantification of the number of SG forming cells, approximately 50 cells showing positive immunostaining for NP were considered from two random microscopy panels. The number of cells showing punctuate TIA-1 staining among the NP positive cells were counted visually.

4.3.6 Knockdown of DDX3. NPTr cells were plated at a density of 4×10^4 cells/well in 24-well plate, 3.8×10^4 cells/well in 4-well chamber slide and 8×10^4 cells/well in 12-well plate. Next day, medium was replaced with OptiMEM and the siRNA containing transfection mix was made with OptiMEM and Lipofectamine 2000 as per manufacturer's protocol. The siRNA mixture containing four independent siRNAs targeting DDX3 (GS1654) and the Negative siRNA (SI03650318) were obtained from Qiagen. The transfection mix was added to the cells in OptiMEM for 5-6 hrs. Then, it was replaced with complete media and incubated for 48 hrs before proceeding with the experimental treatment.

4.3.7 FISH Assay. For the FISH assay, cells were washed with PBS and fixed with 4% Paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 10 min at room temperature after virus infection. After washing with PBS, the cells were permeabilized with 70% ethanol overnight at 4°C. The cells were then

incubated in a hybridization solution [10% dextran sulfate, 2mM vanadyl-ribonucleoside complex, 0.02% RNA-free BSA, 1mg/ml E.coli tRNA, 2× saline-sodium citrate (SSC) and 10% formamide] containing 125 nM vRNA probe (Stellaris FISH probes, Biosearch Technologies) at 28°C overnight in the dark. The cells were then washed again and imaged with a Leica TCS SP8 confocal laser microscope after adding the mounting solution. The Stellaris FISH probes against the M vRNA segment were conjugated with the Quasar 670 Dye. The probes were custom designed using the Stellaris probe designer (version 4.1) with the sequence of the M segment as the target. A total of 39 probes were generated and this mixture of vRNA probes were used in the FISH assay to visualize the M vRNA in the infected cells.

To visualize DDX3 and NP, primary antibodies against the two proteins were added to the hybridization solution along with the vRNA probe during the overnight incubation period described above. Next day, the cells were washed and incubated with the respective Alexa Fluor secondary antibodies in the hybridization solution for 1 hr in the dark at room temperature. Cells were washed again and observed with the confocal microscope. Multiple images of different fields of view were captured using Leica TCS SP8 confocal laser microscope. A representative of the multiple images is presented in the results.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 DDX3 interacts with viral NS1 and NP proteins

DDX3 is known to affect the life cycle of a number of viruses by interacting with their respective viral proteins such as HIV Tat, HCV core, HBV pol and VACV K7 (480). Therefore, I speculated that DDX3 could affect the influenza A virus life cycle by interacting with one or several of the influenza A virus proteins during infection. To identify the DDX3 interaction partners, I tested the interaction between HA-tagged DDX3 and the viral proteins expressed during infection by IP. 293T cells were first transfected with the HA-tagged DDX3 plasmid and then were infected with the influenza virus for 11-12 hrs. The cell lysate was subjected to IP with an antibody against the HA tag. The precipitated proteins were then subjected to Western blotting with antibodies against the HA-tag, viral NS1 protein and NP protein, respectively. As shown in Fig. 4.1A, expression of the viral proteins is similar in the input of the infected cell lysates (lane 1 and 3); both the NS1 and NP proteins were co-precipitated readily with HA-DDX3 (lane 2) but not with HA-vector (lane 4). Neither HA-DDX3 nor the viral proteins were detected in the input and pull-down samples, when HA-vector was transfected in uninfected cells (lane 5 and 6). These data demonstrated that the viral proteins NS1 and NP interact with the DDX3 protein during infection.

To examine whether or not NS1 and NP interaction is dependent upon the expression of other viral proteins, 293T cells were co-transfected with Flag or HA-tagged DDX3 and NS1 or NP expressing plasmids and their interaction was tested by precipitating DDX3 from the lysate. To verify NS1 and DDX3 interaction, the Flag-DDX3 or Flag-vector plasmid was transfected along with or without NS1 expressing plasmid and the cell lysates were subjected to IP with Flag antibody. As shown in Fig. 4.1B, the input NS1 protein expression was similar in lane 1 and 3,

but NS1 was detected in the precipitated complex only when Flag-DDX3 was expressed and not when Flag-vector was expressed (lane 2 vs. 4). To verify NP and DDX3 interaction, HA-DDX3 or HA-vector plasmid was transfected along with or without the NP expressing plasmid (note, Flag-beads bind to NP protein non-specifically, thus I used HA-tag) and the cell lysates were subjected to IP with the HA antibody. As shown in Fig. 4.1C, the input NP protein expression was similar in lane 1 and 3, but NP was detected in the precipitated complex only when HA-DDX3 was expressed and not when HA-vector was expressed (lane 2 vs. 4). These results showed that the NS1 and NP proteins can interact with DDX3 independent of infection and other viral components.

To further confirm this interaction, reciprocal pull-down assay was conducted. Flag-NS1 or Flag-vector plasmid was co-transfected with the HA-DDX3 or HA-vector plasmid in 293T cells and the cell lysates were then subjected to IP using the Flag antibody. As shown in Fig. 4.1D, Flag-NS1 co-precipitated HA-tagged DDX3 (lane 2), while HA-DDX3 was not detected in the precipitated complex expressing Flag-vector and HA-DDX3 (lane 4). For DDX3 and NP interaction, 293T cells were transfected with HA-DDX3 or HA-vector and then were infected with the wild-type (WT) virus. The cells were subjected to IP with NP antibody. As shown in Fig. 4.1E, HA-DDX3 co-precipitated with NP (lane 2) in infected cell lysate. No HA-DDX3 was detected in the precipitated complex of the mock-infected cell lysate, which does not express NP (lane 4). When HA-vector was expressed in infected cells, although NP was precipitated successfully, no HA-DDX3 was detected (lane 6). These results demonstrated that NS1 and NP interact with DDX3 during infection and the interaction is specific.



Figure 4.1 Identification and characterization of viral proteins interacting with DDX3. A) 293T cells were transfected with HA-DDX3 or HA-vector plasmid. At 36 h.p.t., cells were infected with SK-WT at an MOI of 1 or left uninfected. Cell lysates were prepared at 11-12 h.p.i and subjected to IP with HA-antibody. Precipitated proteins were subjected to Western blotting using antibodies against HA-tag, NS1 and NP proteins. B) Flag-DDX3 or flag vector plasmid was co-transfected with or without PR8-NS1 expressing plasmid in 293T cells. At 48 h.p.t., cell lysates were collected and subjected to IP with Flag antibody. Precipitated proteins were subjected to Western blotting using antibodies against Flag-tag and NS1 protein. C) HA-DDX3 or HA vector plasmid was transfected with or without SIV/SK-NP expressing plasmid in 293T cells. At 48 h.p.t., cell lysates were collected and subjected to IP with HA antibody. Precipitated proteins were subjected to Western blotting using antibodies against HA-tag and NP protein. D) Flag-PR8 NS1 or flag vector plasmid was co-transfected with HA-DDX3 or HA-vector in 293T cells. At 48 h.p.t., cell lysates were collected and subjected to IP with Flag antibody and Protein-G dynabeads. Precipitated proteins were subjected to western blotting using antibodies against Flag-tag and HA-tag. E) HA-DDX3 or HA vector plasmid was transfected into 293T cells and were either infected with SIV/SK-WT at an MOI of 1 or left uninfected. At 11-12 h.p.i., cell lysates were collected and subjected to IP with NP antibody. Precipitated proteins were subjected to Western blotting using antibodies against NP protein and HA-tag. I/P refers to input and P/D refers to pull-down. The data presented is representative of multiple independent experiments.

4.4.2 DDX3-NS1 and DDX3-NP interaction is RNA independent

NS1, NP and DDX3 exhibit RNA binding activity (436, 439, 496). Therefore, I was interested in investigating whether DDX3-NS1 and DDX3-NP interactions were mediated by RNA. To this end, plasmids expressing the NS1 protein and HA-DDX3 were co-transfected in 293T cells and the cell lysates were pre-treated with RNase A before subjecting to IP with HA antibody. Efficient degradation of RNA in the sample by the RNase A treatment was confirmed by measuring rRNA ratio (28S/18S) and RNA integrity number (RIN) (291, 473) using Agilent 2100 Bio analyzer (data not shown). As shown in Fig. 4.2A, while NS1 was not co-precipitated with HA-vector (lane 4), NS1 was co-precipitated with HA-DDX3 irrespective of the RNase A treatment (lane 2 vs. 5). It is well established that the substitution of R38 and K41 amino acids to alanine in NS1 disrupts its RNA binding activity (566). Therefore, NS1 with the R38A/K41A mutation (MT NS1) and HA-DDX3 were co-expressed in 293T cells and HA-DDX3-MT NS1 interaction was tested by IP using an antibody against HA tag. Surprisingly, MT NS1 was not coprecipitated with HA-DDX3 (Fig. 4.2B, lane 2). Additionally, the interaction of HA-DDX3 and MT NS1 expressed during infection with the PR8 virus expressing the NS1 protein containing R38A/K41A mutations (MT virus) was also tested (Fig. 4.2C). Similar to the results in cotransfection with plasmids, the MT NS1 expressed during infection did not co-precipitate with HA-DDX3 (Fig. 4.2C, lane 2). These data suggest that even though DDX3-NS1 interaction is RNA independent, the R38/K41 site in NS1 that is important for RNA binding activity by itself is essential for interaction with DDX3.

To investigate the RNA dependency of DDX3-NP interaction, cells were co-transfected with the plasmids expressing HA-DDX3 and NP respectively. Cell lysates were treated with RNase A before being subjected to IP with HA antibody. The RNase A treatment efficiency was tested as described before. As shown in Fig. 4.2D, Western blotting detected the NP protein in the precipitated complex in HA-DDX3 expressing cell lysate irrespective of the RNase A treatment (lane 2 vs. 5), whereas NP was not co-precipitated with HA-vector (lane 4). This suggested that the interaction between DDX3 and NP is independent of RNA.

4.4.3 C-terminal domain of DDX3 has a predominant role in mediating DDX3 interaction with NS1 and NP

DDX3 belongs to the DEAD box family of proteins and like all the helicases in the family contains a core-helicase domain flanked by a highly variable N- and C-terminal region (451, 496). The core-helicase domain in human DDX3 comprises residues 168-582, while the flanking N- and C-terminal regions comprise residues 1-167 and 583-662 respectively (215). Based on the sequence alignment with other DEAD box helicases, the core-helicase domain contains the nine conserved motifs involved in ATPase, helicase and RNA binding activity (153). The N-terminal region contains a conserved leucine rich nuclear export signal and is critical for CRM1-mediated nuclear export and eIF4E binding (480, 486, 496), while an SR-rich region in the C-terminus is associated in an interaction with the nuclear export receptor NXF1/TAP (298). Therefore, Flag-tagged plasmids expressing different truncated DDX3 mutants were constructed and their ability to interact with NS1 and NP was examined. As shown in Fig. 4.3A, plasmids expressing Flag-tagged full length DDX3 and three truncation mutants expressing the core helicase domain of DDX3 alone (AA 168-582, DDX3-CH), DDX3 lacking the C-terminal domain (AA 1-582, DDX3- del CTD) or DDX3 lacking the N-terminal domain (AA 168-662, DDX3- del NTD) were constructed. To identify the domains critical for NS1 and NP interaction, 293T cells were co-transfected with one of the Flag-tagged DDX3 truncation mutant plasmids and a plasmid expressing either NS1 or NP. Cell lysates were subjected to IP



Figure 4.2 RNA dependency of DDX3 interaction with NS1 and NP. A) PR8-NS1 expressing plasmid was co-transfected with HA-DDX3 or HA-vector plasmid in 293T cells. At 48 h.p.t., cell lysate was collected, pre-treated with RNaseA at 10 µg/ml or left untreated and subjected to IP with HA antibody. B) HA-DDX3 or HA-vector plasmid was co-transfected with or without plasmid expressing PR8-NS1 R38A/K41A (MT NS1) in 293T cells. At 48 h.p.t., cell lysate was collected and subjected to IP with HA antibody. C) 293T cells were transfected with HA-DDX3 or HA-vector plasmid. At 24 h.p.t., cells were either infected with PR8 virus carrying R38A/K41A mutation in NS1 (MT virus) at an MOI of 10 or left uninfected. At 24 h.p.i., cell lysate was collected and subjected to IP with HA antibody. (A, B, C) Precipitated proteins were subjected to Western blotting using antibodies against HA-tag and NS1 protein. D) SIV/SK-NP expressing plasmid was co-transfected with RNase A at 10 µg/ml or left untreated and subjected to IP with HA-DDX3 or HA-vector plasmid in 293T cells. At 48 h.p.t., cell lysates were collected, pre-treated with RNase A at 10 µg/ml or left untreated and subjected to IP with HA-antibody. (A, B, C) Precipitated proteins were subjected to Western blotting using antibodies against HA-tag and NS1 protein. D) SIV/SK-NP expressing plasmid was co-transfected with RNase A at 10 µg/ml or left untreated and subjected to IP with HA antibody. Precipitated proteins were subjected to Western blotting using antibodies against that and subjected to IP with HA antibody. Precipitated proteins were subjected to Western blotting using antibodies against were subjected to IP with HA antibody. Precipitated proteins were subjected to Western blotting using antibodies against HA-tag and NP protein. I/P refers to input and P/D refers to pull-down. The data presented is representative of multiple independent experiments.



Figure 4.3 Identification of DDX3 protein domains critical for viral protein interaction. A) Flag-tagged plasmid expressing different DDX3 truncations were constructed to identify the domains important for NS1 and NP interaction and for SG formation. A schematic of the domains cloned into each plasmid is shown in the figure. (B, C) PR8-NP or PR8-NS1 expressing plasmid was co-transfected with one of the Flag-tagged plasmids expressing different DDX3 truncations in 293T cells. At 48 h.p.t., cell lysate was collected and subjected to IP with Flag antibody (B) or NP antibody (C). Precipitated proteins were subjected to Western blotting using antibodies against NS1 protein and Flag-tag (B), or NP protein and Flag-tag (C). I/P refers to input and P/D refers to pull-down. The data presented is representative of multiple independent experiments.

with the Flag antibody (for DDX3-NS1 interaction) or with the NP antibody (for DDX3-NP interaction). As shown in Fig. 4.3B, the full-length DDX3 protein demonstrated strong interaction with NS1 (lanes 2 and 10), whereas the core-helicase domain of DDX3 lost the ability to interact with NS1 (lane 4). Addition of the N-terminal domain slightly restored the interaction with NS1 (lane 12), whereas the addition of the C-terminal region had a stronger influence on restoring the interaction with NS1 (lane 14). Considering the amount of pulled down truncated DDX3 in this sample, the effect is more profound. IP of DDX3 truncation and NP showed similar results to those observed in Fig. 4.3B. As shown in Fig. 4.3C, while the full-length DDX3 protein was co-precipitated with NP (lanes 2 and 12), the core-helicase domain of DDX3 was not (lane 6). While addition of the N-terminal domain of DDX3 restored interaction slightly (lane 14), C-terminal domain addition had a stronger impact on restoring the interaction with NP (lane 18). Additionally, none of the DDX3 truncations or full-length DDX3 bound to the beads when expressed alone, demonstrating the specificity of the interaction of DDX3 and its truncated proteins with NP (lanes 4, 8, 16 and 20). These results suggested that the C-terminal domain (AA 583-662) and the N-terminal domain (AA 1-167) are essential for DDX3 interaction with its viral partners, although the C-terminal domain has a more prominent role than the N-terminal domain.

4.4.4 DDX3 localizes in the SGs in response to del NS1 virus infection

DDX3 has been documented to localize to cytoplasmic SGs and has been reported to be an essential SG-nucleating factor (179, 298, 486). Several other host proteins such as NF90, RAP55 and FMRP known to localize to SGs and involved in SG formation have also been shown to associate with influenza NP and NS1 (381, 565, 576, 610). Influenza A virus lacking a functional NS1 and those that are impaired in NS1 RNA binding activity have been shown to induce robust SG formation, while the WT virus expressing a fully functional NS1 does not induce SGs throughout the virus life cycle (272, 408). A recent study revealed that viral NP is recruited into SGs and that the expression of NS1 is able to inhibit the formation of RAP55 and NP associated SGs (381). These studies led to the speculation that DDX3 could localize in influenza virus-induced SGs and may affect the virus life cycle by interacting with NP in the SGs. In order to test this hypothesis, I first examined SG formation and DDX3 localization upon virus infection in NPTr cells. Unlike many human cell-lines such as A549 and HeLa cells derived from carcinomatous tissues, NPTr cell-line was established following serial culture of primary cells (136). Additionally, the cell-line is derived from trachea, which is the primary site of influenza virus replication during infection (353). Thus, infection of NPTr cells would resemble conditions similar to natural infection and hence we used NPTr cells to study SG formation.

I infected NPTr cells with either a recombinant PR8 virus completely lacking the functional NS1 protein (del NS1) (156) or the WT PR8 virus and observed the formation of SGs at different time points by staining the SG specific marker T-cell restricted intracellular antigen-1 (TIA-1, red) (266). In addition, I also stained the viral NP (green) protein and cellular DDX3 (blue) to identify the infected cells and the localization of DDX3. As shown in Fig. 4.4A, no cytoplasmic punctate staining with TIA-1 was observed in the mock-infected cells and at any of the time points tested in the WT virus-infected cells, indicating SGs did not form in these conditions. However, in the del NS1 virus-infected cells, SGs started to form at 6 h.p.i. and were sustained throughout the time points tested. More strikingly, DDX3 co-localization with TIA-1 in the virus-induced SGs at all the time points when SG formation was observed. In order to confirm the formation of SGs in del NS1 virus-infected cells, the cells were stained for another SG marker PABP1 (266). The cells were also stained for NP (green) to identify the infected cells

А	DDX3	TIA-1	NP	Merge	
				So µm	Mock
3 hpi		9 0 9 9 9 9 9 9	е В Л		
6 hpi	- Al	0 i 0 i 0	0	60 pm	WT virus
9 hpi			100	бо µт	
11 hpi		8 8° 8 0 0 8 8 6	Sal 1	So ym	
3 hpi			ø	стория 1 50 ргп	
6 hpi				С Бо µт	del NC1 virue
9 hpi	200	9 0 9 0 9 0		Сорин (50 рт.)	
11 hpi	SS.		a for	арана 1 50 µm I	



Figure 4.4 Kinetics of SG formation in PR8-WT and del NS1virus-infected cells and vRNA and NP localization in SGs. A) SG formation was analyzed by immunofluorescent staining of NPTr cells either mock-infected or infected with PR8-WT or del NS1 virus at an MOI of 0.5. The cells were stained at predetermined time points. Virus-infected cells were identified by antibody staining for NP (green), SGs were indicated by staining for TIA-1 (red) and DDX3 localization was observed by staining for DDX3 (blue). B) SG formation was further confirmed by immunofluorescent staining of NPTr cells either mock-infected or infected with PR8-WT or del NS1 at an MOI of 0.5. The cells were stained at 11 h.p.i. Virus-infected cells were identified by antibody staining for NP (green), SGs were indicated by staining for TIA-1 (red) and PABP1 (blue), both of which are SG markers. C) Zoomed in image of a del NS1 virus-infected cell stained at 11 h.p.i. for DDX3 (blue), TIA-1 (SG marker) (red) and NP (green). The white arrowheads show NP co-localization with TIA-1 and DDX3, all of which form punctate structures characteristic of SG formation and localization. D) NPTr cells were infected with del NS1 virus at an MOI of 0.5 or mock uninfected. At 11 h.p.i., the cells were subjected to FISH (red) using probes specific for vRNA of M segment and counter stained with antibodies against DDX3 (blue) and NP (green). A representative image from multiple fields of view is shown in the figure.

and TIA-1 (red). As shown in Fig. 4.4B, no punctate staining with PABP1 (blue) or TIA-1 (red) was observed in the mock-infected and WT virus-infected cells. However, TIA-1 and PABP1 colocalized and formed cytoplasmic punctate staining in the del NS1 virus-infected cells. Thus, these results confirm the formation of SGs and present TIA-1 as an authentic marker for observing SG formation in del NS1 infected cells.

4.4.5 DDX3 and NP co-localize in SGs but vRNA is not sequestered in virus induced SGs

The above described IP experiments clearly demonstrate the interaction between the viral NP protein and cellular DDX3 during infection (Fig.4.1A, 4.1C, 4.1E and 4.2D). Therefore, I was interested in studying where the NP and DDX3 interaction could occur in virus-infected cells. In the immunofluorescent staining experiment, I noticed that NP also formed some granules in the cytoplasm, which co-localized with DDX3 and TIA-1 staining (Fig. 4.4C), suggesting that DDX3 interacts with NP in the virus-induced SGs. Since the NP protein encapsidates influenza viral RNA (vRNA) to form the viral ribonucleoprotein (vRNP) complex, which is essential for viral transcription and replication (436), I wanted to understand whether the NP staining in the SGs is a result of vRNP being recruited to virus-induced SGs. FISH assay was conducted using a probe against the M vRNA segment. As shown in Fig 4.4D, FISH analysis clearly showed that vRNA (red) did not co-localize with the granular NP (green) in SGs. Note that, granular DDX3 was always observed to co-localize with TIA-1 in virus-infected cells (Fig. 4.4A and 4.4C). Therefore, in this particular experiment, DDX3 (blue) granule formation was used as a marker for the SGs. These results demonstrated that NP and DDX3 co-localized in virus-induced SGs, while vRNA/vRNP is not sequestered in these SGs.

4.4.6 Influenza virus NS1 inhibits virus-induced SG formation and DDX3 localization in SGs

SGs did not form at any of the time points tested with the WT virus infection, but SG formation was readily observed in the cells infected with the del NS1 virus (Fig 4.4A) starting at 6 h.p.i. Therefore, it was speculated that expression of the NS1 protein might be inhibiting the virus-induced SG formation and DDX3 localization in SGs in the WT virus-infected cells. To test this, SG induction upon del NS1 virus infection was studied in cells expressing the WT NS1 protein. NPTr cells were transfected with plasmids expressing Flag-tagged NS1 protein (Flag-NS1) or Flag-vector and then the cells were infected with the del NS1 virus. To study DDX3 recruitment into the SGs, cells were stained with antibodies against DDX3 (blue), TIA-1 (red) and Flag (green) (Fig. 4.5A). To monitor del NS1 virus-infected cells, the cells were also stained with antibodies against Flag (blue), NP (green) and TIA-1(red) (Fig. 4.5B). As expected, SGs and granular DDX3 were not found in the NS1 expressing cells upon del NS1 virus infection formation, such as oxidative stress induced SG formation via treatment with sodium arsenite (Fig 4.5A and 4.5B). Additionally, the ability of NS1 to inhibit other forms of stress induced SG formation, such as oxidative stress induced SG formation via treatment with sodium arsenite (NaAs) was also tested (369). For this, NPTr cells were transfected with the plasmid expressing Flag-tagged NS1 protein (Flag-NS1) or Flag-vector and then treated with NaAs for 1 hr. Cells were then stained with antibodies against DDX3 (blue), TIA-1 (red) and Flag (green) (Fig. 4.5C). Contrary to the results observed with del NS1 virus induced SGs, NS1 expression did not interfere with NaAs induced SG formation and was even recruited to these SGs in a few cells (Fig. 4.5C).



Figure 4.5 Effect of NS1 on virus-induced and NaAs-induced SG formation. NPTr cells were transfected with 500 ng of Flag-NS1 or Flag-vector plasmid (A, B). At 36 h.p.t., the cells were infected with del NS1 virus at an MOI of 0.5. At 11 h.p.i., one set of cells were stained with antibodies against Flag-tag (green), DDX3 (blue) and TIA-1(SG marker) (red) (A) and the other set of cells were stained with antibodies against Flag-tag (blue), NP (green) and TIA-1 (SG marker) (red) (B). C) At 46-48 h.p.t., the cells were treated with 0.75 mM NaAs for 1 hr and were then stained with antibodies against Flag-tag (green), DDX3 (blue) and TIA-1(SG marker) (red). A representative image from multiple fields of view is shown in the figure.

4.4.7 The core-helicase domain of DDX3 alone is sufficient for its localization into del NS1 virus induced SGs

To further the understanding of DDX3 function in virus-induced SGs, studying the relative importance of the DDX3 domains in SG localization was considered. NPTr cells were transfected with plasmids encoding either the Flag-tagged full-length or the truncated versions of DDX3 (described in Fig. 4.3A) and then infected with the del NS1 virus. At 11 h.p.i., cells were stained with antibodies against Flag (blue), TIA-1 (red) and NP (green). As shown in Fig. 4.6, full-length DDX3 co-localized with the virus induced SGs and so did the core-helicase domain (DDX3-CH) and the C-terminal deleted DDX3 (DDX3-del CTD). However, of the many microscopic fields examined, none of the N-terminal deleted DDX3 (DDX3-del NTD) expressing cells exhibited SG formation upon virus infection.

4.4.8 DDX3 down-regulation interferes with SG formation and enhances virus replication

The dominant negative effect of the N-terminal deleted DDX3 on SG formation (Fig 4.6) led to the hypothesis that DDX3 is not just recruited passively into SGs and might have a critical function in the formation of SGs. To confirm this speculation, NPTr cells were treated with siRNA specific to DDX3 (siRNA-DDX3) and SG formation in del NS1 virus-infected cells was observed (Fig. 4.7A). The infected cells were stained with antibodies against DDX3 (blue), TIA-1 (red) and NP (green). Treatment with the DDX3 siRNA resulted in a significant reduction of endogenous DDX3 expression when compared to the off-target siRNA treated cells (siRNA-OT) (Fig 4.7A, DDX3 panels) and interestingly, virus-induced SG formation was also suppressed in the cells with DDX3 downregulation (Fig. 4.7A, TIA-1 and NP panels). Notably, the quantitation of infected cells exhibiting virus-induced SGs showed that the number of SG forming cells diminished by 60% in the DDX3 siRNA treated cells when compared to the off-target siRNA



Figure 4.6 Characterization of DDX3 domains in virus -induced SG formation. NPTr cells were transfected with 500 ng of plasmids expressing flag-tagged DDX3 truncations. At 36 h.p.t., the cells were infected with del NS1 virus at an MOI of 0.5 and at 11 h.p.i., cells were stained with antibodies against Flag-tag (blue), TIA-1(SG marker) (red) and NP (green). A representative image from multiple fields of view is shown in the figure.

treated cells. This observation suggested that DDX3 is not just passively recruited to the SGs but has a critical function in the formation of virus induced SGs.

From the above data, it is clear that DDX3 has a critical function in virus-induced SG formation, but the effect of DDX3 downregulation and SG formation on virus replication is not known. Thus, DDX3 siRNA and off-target siRNA treated cells were infected with either PR8 WT, del NS1 or SIV/SK-WT virus (a field isolated strain) (250) and the virus titer was examined every 12 hrs. Downregulation of endogenous DDX3 expression was confirmed by subjecting the DDX3 siRNA and off-target siRNA treated cells to Western blotting with the antibodies against DDX3 and β -actin (Fig 4.7B). The normalization of DDX3 level to the β -actin level in the same sample showed that the siRNA-DDX3 treated cells demonstrated a 50% reduction in endogenous DDX3 expression compared to the off-target siRNA treated cells (Fig. 4.7B). Moreover, DDX3 siRNA treatment resulted in an increased virus titer with the del NS1 virus infection at all the time points tested. The peak difference with 10-fold increase in virus titre was observed at 36 h.p.i. However, DDX3 downregulation did not cause any significant difference in the virus titers upon PR8-WT virus infection and SIV/SK-WT virus infection (Fig. 4.7C). The degree of cytopathic effect on the infected cells was also more severe in the del NS1 virus-infected and DDX3 knocked-down cells, while DDX3 knockdown alone did not result in the cytotoxicity (Fig. 4.7D).

119


В







Figure 4.7 Effect of DDX3 downregulation on virus-induced SG formation and virus titer. NPTr cells were transfected with siRNA specific to DDX3 or off-target siRNA. A) At 48 h.p. siRNA treatment, the cells were infected with del NS1 virus at an MOI of 0.5. At 11 h.p.i., the cells were stained for DDX3 (blue), TIA-1 (SG marker) (red) and NP (green). A representative of multiple fields of view is shown in the figure. B) At 48 h.p. siRNA treatment, the cell lysates were subjected to Western blotting with antibodies against DDX3 and β -actin. The level of DDX3 expression was determined by normalizing the intensity of the DDX3 bands with the corresponding β -actin bands for each siRNA treatment and is represented as a graph below the western blot images. At 48 h.p. siRNA treatment, the cells were infected in triplicates with either PR8-WT, del NS1 or SIV/SK-WT virus at an MOI of 0.01. The supernatant was collected every 12 hrs and the virus titer at each time point was determined by plaque assay. A growth curve was plotted using the mean titer values at each time point and the associated standard deviation is displayed as error bar (C). The cytopathic effect of the cells infected by del NS1 virus and mock-infected cells were documented under the microscope (D).

4.5 Discussion

DEAD-box proteins are the largest helicase family in eukaryotes and are multifunctional proteins involved in various aspects of RNA metabolism, cell-cycle regulation, tumorigenesis and virus life cycle (19). Several RNA helicases including DDX1, DDX6, RHAU, eIF4A and DDX3 localize in SGs (69). Among these, DDX3 has been reported to function as an essential component for SG assembly and interacts with other SG proteins such as eIF4E and PABP1 (486). DDX3 interaction with eIF4E traps eIF4E and the associated mRNA in a translationally inactive complex, thus inhibiting cap-dependent translation (485). The formation of this inactive complex and the inhibition of translation in turn triggers SG assembly (486). This study shows that infection with the del NS1 virus triggers SG formation and that DDX3 and NP localize in these SGs (Figures 4.4A and 4.4C). The impairment of virus-induced SG formation and increased replication of del NS1 virus upon DDX3 knockdown was also observed (Figures 4.7A, 4.7B and 4.7C). These results suggested that DDX3 functions as an antiviral protein and DDX3 co-localization in virus-induced SGs may have a major contribution to this antiviral function. This is in agreement with the previous studies, which have shown SG formation to negatively affect influenza virus replication (272, 381). The antiviral function of DDX3 could be exerted in several ways. In one study, it was reported that the vRNA along with RIG-I is sequestered into virus-induced SGs and that these SGs serve as a platform for RNA detection by RIG-I (408). Because DDX3 interacts with NP, it is possible that DDX3 sequesters the NP bound vRNA into the SGs. Even though staining for RIG-I in the del NS1virus-infected cells was not performed, the results clearly showed that the vRNA does not localize in SG-containing NP (Fig. 4.4D). Therefore, it seems less likely that DDX3 exerts its antiviral role through facilitating vRNA sensing by RLR in the SGs. Another possible mechanism of antiviral function exists by

sequestering the viral mRNA into SGs through DDX3 interaction with the translation initiation factor eIF4E. During influenza virus infection, eIF4E binds the viral mRNA in the cytoplasm after nuclear export and triggers the recruitment of other factors such as eIF4G and PABP1 to initiate translation (48). As mentioned above DDX3 inhibits translation by binding eIF4E and locking it in a translationally inactive state in SGs. Therefore, it is conceivable that DDX3 inhibits viral mRNA translation by binding to eIF4E-viral mRNP complex, trapping it in a translationally inactive state and thereby sequestering the eIF4E-viral mRNP into the SGs. However, as the FISH assay requires a mixture of probes for the target RNA molecules, it would be difficult to differentiate cRNA from viral mRNA. Thus, additional studies are needed to confirm the viral mRNA localization in SGs and to explore the contribution of DDX3-eIF4E interaction to SG nucleation. The third possible mechanism is through sequestration of NP into the SGs via DDX3-NP direct interaction, as observed from the IP (Figures 4.1A, 4.1C, 4.1E) and immunofluorescent staining experiments (Figures 4.4A, 4.4C). NP is a highly conserved viral protein with a primary function of encapsidating the viral genome (436). However, NP is a multifunctional protein with additional functions in the nuclear and cytoplasmic trafficking of vRNA, the viral polymerase activity and in the regulation of transcription and replication during the virus life cycle (84, 318). Therefore, sequestration of NP protein from the appropriate cellular compartments into SGs as observed in this study (Fig 4.4C), could have a serious negative effect on viral replication. Taken together, these data suggest that DDX3-NP interaction could sequester NP into the virus-induced SGs, isolating it away from the proper cellular compartments. This reduces the availability of NP to wield its normal cellular functions and has an unfavourable effect on virus replication. Additionally, ectopic NP expression at high levels inhibits SG formation in an eIF2 α -independent manner through an unknown mechanism (271).

Thus, NP sequestration into the SGs could serve as a mechanism to counteract its SG antagonistic function.

It has been reported that NaAs treatment induces oxidative stress and SG assembly via activating the eIF2α kinase HRI (369), while del NS1 virus infection activates the PKR kinase. NS1 is able to inhibit PKR activation but not the HRI kinase activation (272, 381), which might explain the ability of NS1 to supress virus-induced SG formation (Fig. 4.5A, 4.5B) and the inability of NS1 to suppress NaAs-induced SG formation (Fig. 4.5C). Failure of NS1 to suppress SG assembly in NaAs-treated cells was also observed by Khaperskyy et al., in his study (271). These data provide a glimpse into the distinct pathways activated by NaAs treatment and influenza virus for SG assembly.

Studies with DDX3 truncations in inducing SG formation revealed that the core helicase domain of DDX3 alone is sufficient for SG localization during virus infection, while addition of the N-terminal domain does not affect its localization (Fig. 4.6). Interestingly, we observed that addition of the C-terminal domain though has a negative effect on the formation of SGs itself (Fig. 4.6). This prompts the speculation that the N-terminal deleted DDX3 has a dominant negative effect on SG formation. Moreover, downregulation of DDX3 also weakens virus-induced SG formation (Fig. 4.7A). These results portray DDX3 as an essential factor for virus-induced SG formation, which is supportive of another study which identified DDX3 as an essential nucleating factor for oxidative stress-induced SG formation (486).

In this study, it was observed that the WT virus-infected cells do not form SGs throughout the infection at all the time points tested (Fig. 4.4A). The NS1 protein was identified to be responsible for the SG inhibitory function, since SGs did not form in the del NS1 virus-infected cells upon NS1 expression (Figures 4.5A, 4.5B). Previous studies have demonstrated the

ability of NS1 to inhibit SG formation (271, 381). The NS1 protein is believed to suppress SG formation through its ability to inhibit the activation of eIF2α kinase PKR. However, formation of SGs can occur independent of eIF2 α phosphorylation (eIF2 α -P), upon treatment with drugs that interfere with translation initiation and when certain translation initiation factors are depleted with siRNA treatment (100, 279, 366, 382). More specifically, SGs are induced by depletion of PABP1, eIF4E and by preventing eIF4E association with eIF4G (382). Many viruses such as Poliovirus, Herpes Simplex Virus (HSV) and Mammalian Orthoreovirus are known to modulate SG formation independent of eIF2α-P (137, 440, 577). HSV ICP8 protein binds to G3BP, while Poliovirus viral 3C proteinase cleaves G3BP to counteract $eIF2\alpha$ -independent SG formation (418, 577). Hence, an alternative NS1-mediated mechanism to inhibit the SG formation downstream of eIF2a may exist. The NS1 protein of influenza is reported to enhance viral mRNA translation through facilitating ribosomal recruitment by interacting with the viral mRNA, eIF4G and PABP1 (70). In this study, the existence of DDX3 and NS1 interaction is clearly demonstrated (Figures 4.1A, 4.1B, 4.1D). DDX3 interaction with eIF4E prevents eIF4EeIF4G association thereby trapping the associated mRNA in a translationally inactive complex inducing the formation of SGs (486). DDX3 also interacts with PABP1, which is a key component of SGs (486). During WT influenza virus infection, it is reasonable to speculate that NS1 besides interacting with DDX3, also associates with the viral mRNA, PABP1 and eIF4F (comprises eIF4E, eIF4G and eIF4A). This might prevent DDX3 binding to eIF4E and PABP1. Inability of DDX3 to interact with eIF4E and PABP1 could in turn suppress SG formation, which might be an additional mechanism to explain the resistance of WT virus-infected cells to SG formation.

In this study, the role of DDX3 as an antiviral protein during influenza virus infection is reported for the first time. DDX3 localizes in SGs upon virus infection and is critical for virusinduced SG formation. DDX3 is able to interact with the viral proteins NS1 and NP in infected cells, NP but not vRNA is sequestered in the SGs. As reflected in the discussion, NP recruitment into the SGs mediated through DDX3-NP interaction could contribute to DDX3's antiviral function; and NS1 interaction with DDX3 might suppress SG formation in WT virus-infected cells. Supportive of SG mediated DDX3 antiviral function, DDX3 downregulation suppresses SG formation and increases virus titer in the del NS1 virus-infected cells. Overall, a novel antiviral function for DDX3 was discovered, which is mediated through SG formation during influenza virus infection.

CHAPTER 5: THE ROLE OF DDX3 IN REGULATING INTERFERON BETA EXPRESSION DURING INFLUENZA VIRUS INFECTION

Relationship of this study to the dissertation.

In Chapter 3, DDX3 was identified associated with NS1 as part of a larger NS1interacting complex. Additionally, DDX3 was also identified as an innate-immunity related protein. Many studies with various viruses portray DDX3 as a regulator of IFN β induction, which is mediated through DDX3 interaction with different components of the RIG-I mediated IFN β induction pathway (19, 547). Therefore, we investigated the functional role of DDX3 in influenza virus-induced IFN β induction pathway.

5.1 Abstract

DDX3 is a multifunctional protein and has been reported to affect the life cycle of various viruses. More importantly, DDX3 regulates antiviral innate immunity by affecting the various steps of interferon beta (IFN β) signalling pathway during infection by several viruses. However, its function in influenza A virus-induced IFN β induction is unknown. In this work, the role of DDX3 in influenza A virus-induced IFN β expression is investigated. Through siRNA gene knockdown, the RIG-I was identified as the dominant signalling pathway responsible for IFN β induction during influenza A virus infection. DDX3 downregulation and overexpression studies showed that DDX3 inhibits influenza A virus-induced IFN β expression. Additionally, DDX3 inhibition of IFN β expression using Low Molecular Weight (LMW) poly I:C, which is another RIG-I ligand, was also confirmed. Then, attempts were made to identify the mechanism by which DDX3 exerts its IFN β inhibitory effect. RNA competition assay showed that RIG-I affinity to LMW poly I:C and influenza viral RNA (vRNA) is much higher than that of DDX3. Furthermore, DDX3 downregulation enhanced titers of an influenza virus lacking the NS1 gene

(PR8 del NS1), while it did not affect the titers of a WT virus (SIV/SK), which possess a fully functional NS1 gene. In the previous chapter the increase in PR8 del NS1 virus titers was observed to correlate with decreased stress granule (SG) formation in cells with DDX3 downregulation. Overall, the results suggest that, even though DDX3 has a function in IFN β inhibition, its role in SG formation is dominant during PR8 del NS1 virus life cycle, while additional mechanisms might be in place to counteract the increased IFN β induction during WT virus infection. The mechanism by which DDX3 exerts its IFN β inhibitory function still needs further study.

5.2 Introduction

Influenza A virus infection initiates in the respiratory tract and in most cases is restricted within this organ (533). Upon entering the host through the upper respiratory tract, the virus has to counter a number of host defence mechanisms to facilitate its spread and replication in the host. One of the most important defence mechanisms employed by the host during virus infections is the secretion of type I interferons (IFNs) (257). The type I IFN family is primarily comprised of cytokines IFN α and IFN β and induces an antiviral state in both the infected and neighbouring bystander cells via the induction of transcription of a set of genes called IFN stimulated genes (ISGs) (230). The ISGs interfere with multiple stages of the virus life cycle through various mechanisms and are responsible for maintaining the antiviral state in the infected and neighbouring uninfected cells (230). While plasmacytoid dendritic cells are the predominant producers of IFN α , most cell-types and more importantly epithelial cells produce IFN β in response to influenza infection (140, 248).

IFNα/β secretion usually occurs in response to stimulation of receptors known as pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) by ligands of microbial origin (294, 390). These receptors can be located on the cell surface, in the endosomal compartments or in the cytosol and are divided into three main classes, namely: Toll-like receptors (TLRs), Retinoic acid inducible gene I (RIG-I) like receptors (RLRs) and Nucleotide oligomerization and binding domain (NOD) like receptors (294). The two major sensors involved in type I IFN induction during influenza infection are the TLRs and RLRs (154). Among the TLRs, TLR3 and TLR7 are important for influenza virus detection and they recognize double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) and single-stranded RNA (ssRNA) respectively in the endosomal compartment (53, 344). Binding of the RNA ligand to TLR3 and

TLR7 results in the recruitment of adaptor molecules TRIF and Myd88 respectively.

Additionally, the influenza A virus RNA is also recognized in the cytoplasm by RIG-I, which belongs to the RLR family (600). RIG-I recognizes 5'-triphosphate dsRNA with a minimum length of around 10 bp, which resembles the "panhandle" structure of the vRNA generated during influenza virus infection (14, 285, 328). Binding of the RIG-I ligand results in a conformational change that exposes the caspase activation and recruitment domain (CARD), leading to RIG-I ubiquination by TRIM25 and RIPLET, which promotes the interaction of RIG-I with the adaptor molecule MAVS (151, 412). Interaction of all three receptors with their respective adaptors results in the subsequent activation of transcription factors such as IFN regulatory factor-3 (IRF3), IFN regulatory factor-7 (IRF7) and Nuclear factor kappa beta (NFκB), leading to type I IFN production (429).

DDX3 is an ATPase-dependent RNA helicase, which belongs to the DEAD – box RNA helicase family (95, 145, 235). DDX3 has been implicated as a target of several viral proteins and is known to regulate different stages of the life cycle of a variety of viruses such as Hepatitis C virus (HCV), Hepatitis B virus (HBV), West Nile virus (WNV), Human immunodeficiency syndrome virus-1 (HIV), Japanese Encephalitis virus (JEV) and Vaccinia virus (VACV) (19). More importantly, DDX3 has been shown to have a role in antiviral innate immunity through enhancing IFN β induction by targeting different host factors in the interferon signalling pathway (19). During virus infection, several transcription factors including IRF-3 are activated which translocates to the nucleus from the cytoplasm and triggers type-I IFN production (429). Following virus infection, IRF-3 activation occurs via phosphorylation by the kinases TBK1 and IKK ϵ (429). DDX3 has been reported to upregulate IFN β production through its interaction with IKK ϵ or TBK1 (472, 497). DDX3 also acts as a transcriptional regulator by binding to the IFN β

promoter (497). Furthermore, DDX3 has been shown to bind dsRNA and interact with RIG-I and its adaptor MAVS, acting as a scaffold to enhance MAVS-mediated IFN signalling (413). In order to offset the augmented IFN signalling, several viruses have been shown to target DDX3 as well. HCV core protein can disrupt DDX3-MAVS interaction (411), while HBV core protein disrupts DDX3-TBK1/IKKε interaction (563, 603) and suppress IFNβ induction. Similarly, VACV K7 protein targets DDX3 and inhibits IFNβ induction (472).

Even though many studies explored the function of DDX3 in regulating IFNβ induction during virus infection, there is no such study investigating DDX3 and its role in regulating influenza induced IFNβ induction. Therefore, this work utilized gene knockdown and overexpression studies to understand whether DDX3 has any regulatory role in influenza A virus-induced IFNβ induction. DDX3 exerts an inhibitory effect on influenza A virus-induced IFNβ induction and the competition assays with RIG-I ligands, poly I:C and influenza vRNA, demonstrated that DDX3 does not exert its inhibitory effect by competing with RIG-I for its ligand. In addition, this study on influenza A virus replication in DDX3 downregulated cells showed that the increase in IFNβ transcription does not affect influenza A virus replication.

5.3 Materials and Methods

5.3.1 Cells and viruses. Madin-Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells and new born porcine tracheal epithelial (NPTr) cells were maintained in minimum essential medium (MEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Life Technologies). 293T cells were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% FBS.

A/Sw/SK/18789/02 (H1N1) (SIV/SK) viruses were propagated in 11-day-old embryonated chicken eggs as described previously (487). PR8 virus lacking the NS1 protein (PR8 del NS1) was kindly provided by Dr. Garcia-Sastre and was propagated in Vero cells maintained in MEM with 10% FBS. PR8 virus was titrated by plaque assay on MDCK cells and PR8 del NS1 virus was titrated on Vero cells.

5.3.2 Antibodies and reagents. Rabbit polyclonal NS1 antibody was generated in our laboratory as previously described (488). The other antibodies were purchased from different sources as follows: Rabbit anti-Flag DYKDDDDK tag antibody (Cell signaling technology), Rabbit polyclonal antibody to DDX3 (Abcam), Rabbit polyclonal to HA tag – ChIP grade (Abcam), Mouse monoclonal antibody to β-actin (Cell Signaling Technology), Rabbit monoclonal antibody to Phospho-IRF3 (Ser396) (Cell signaling technology), Rabbit polyclonal to IRF3 (Abcam), IRDye 680RD anti-Rabbit antibody (LI-COR), IRDye 800CW anti-mouse antibody (LI-COR). Other reagents were purchased from the following sources as follows: RNeasy mini kit (Qiagen), SuperScript III Reverse Transcriptase (Life Technologies), Platinum SYBR Green super mix (Bio-Rad), Pierce Magnetic RNA-Protein pull-down kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific), Biotin (Long Arm) Hydrazide (Vector laboratories), BrightStar BioDetect kit (Ambion), IRDye 800CW streptavidin (LI-COR), TransIT-LT1 (Mirus Bio LLC), Lipofectamine

LTX with PLUS (Life Technologies), Lipofectamine 2000 (Life Technologies), Low Molecular Weight (LMW) poly I:C (Invivogen), BX795 (Invivogen), MAXIscript T7 *in vitro* transcription kit (Ambion).

5.3.3 Plasmid construction. pcDNA-HA-DDX3 was kindly provided by Dr. Suresh Tikoo (VIDO-InterVac, University of Saskatchewan, Canada). pCMV-3×Flag-DDX3 and pCMV-3xFlag-RIG-I plasmids were used for expression of Flag-DDX3 and Flag-RIG-I in 293T cells. Full-length DDX3 was amplified from pcDNA-HA-DDX3 plasmid and cloned into pCMV-3×Flag plasmid at EcoRI/KpnI sites generating the pCMV-3×Flag-DDX3 plasmid. For the IFNβ luciferase activity assay p125Luc plasmid, which encodes the luciferase gene under the control of the IFN-β promoter and pCMV-rLuc, which encodes renilla luciferase under the control of a CMV promoter were used.

5.3.4 Transfection and Western Blotting. For transfection in 293T cells, 2 μl of TransIT-LT1 was used for every 1 μg of plasmid DNA. TransIT-LT1 and DNA were diluted in Opti-MEM media and the mixture was incubated for 20 mins at room temperature, it was added to the cells overlaid in Opti-MEM media. The media was then replaced with complete media 5-6 hrs post transfection (h.p.t.). For NPTr transfection, 3 μl of Lipofectamine LTX and 0.5 μl of PLUS reagent was used for every 500 ng of plasmid DNA to prepare the transfection mix in Opti-MEM. After incubating the transfection mix at room temperature for 20 mins the mixture was added to the cells overlaid with Opti-MEM media. The media was changed to complete media 5-6 h.p.t. 500 ng of LMW poly I:C was transfected into 293T and NPTr cells complexed with 2 μl Lipofectamine 2000 to test for IFNβ expression and IFNβ promoter induction. Cell lysate and purified proteins were resolved by sodium dodecyl sulfate-10% polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and Western blotting was performed as described elsewhere (488).

5.3.5 siRNA transfection. NPTr cells were plated at a density of 4×10^4 cells/well in 24well plate. Next day, medium was replaced with OptiMEM. The siRNA (final concentration of 100 nM) containing transfection mix was prepared with OptiMEM and Lipofectamine 2000 as per manufacturer's protocol. The transfection mix was added to the cells in OptiMEM. After 5-6 hrs, the media was replaced with complete media and incubated for 48 hrs before proceeding with the experimental treatment.

DDX3 siRNA (GS1654) and Negative siRNA (SI03650318) were obtained from Qiagen. Custom siRNA specific for RIG-I and TLR3 were also obtained from Qiagen. Three siRNAs targeted to different regions of porcine RIG-I gene are of the following sequences: 5'-CAUAACUCUUGGAGGCUUAdTdT-3', 5'-GGCAAAGAGCAUCUUUGAAdTdT-3', 5'-GGACCACUGACAGAUUUAAdTdT-3'. Three siRNAs targeted to different regions of porcine TLR3 genes are of the following sequences: 5'-AAUUGUUAAUAGCAUCAAAdTdT-3', 5'-GAGAAACUUUGCUUAGAAUdTdT-3', 5'-GGAAGAUAACAACUUUCCAdTdT-3'.

5.3.6 Real-Time PCR. RNA was extracted from cells using the RNeasy mini kit. 500 ng of extracted RNA was used for reverse transcription using $oligo(dT)_{20}$ primer and SuperScript III reverse transcriptase to generate cDNA. The cDNA was then combined with the primer set and SYBR green super mix and Quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) reaction was performed in an iCycler IQ5 multicolor real-time PCR detection system (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). The following primers were used for Quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR): porcine IFN β forward, 5'-

CCGAATTCGCTAACAAGTGCATCCTCC-3'; porcine IFNβ reverse, 5'-GCGAAGCTTTCAGTTCCGGAGGTAATC-3'; porcine DDX3 forward, 5'-GCCGCAAACAATACCCAATCTC-3'; porcine DDX3 reverse, 5'-CATAAACCACGCAAGGACGAAC-3'; porcine RPL19 forward, 5'-AACTCCCGTCAGCAGGATCC-3'; porcine RPL19 reverse, 5'-AGTACCCTTCCGCTTACCG-3'.

The qPCR conditions were 95°C for 120 s, followed by 45 cycles with denaturation at 95°C for 15 s, annealing at 60°C for 30 s and elongation at 72°C for 30 s. The Cycle threshold (C_t) values of the internal control gene RPL19 was used for normalization of IFN β and DDX3 expression. Data are presented as relative gene expression to that of untreated cells using the formula 2^{-(ΔCt of test sample – ΔCt of untreated control sample). Real-time PCR was conducted in triplicate for each sample and the mean value was calculated. Final figures represent the results from at least two independent experiments.}

5.3.7 Luciferase reporter assay. 293T cells or NPTr cells were transfected with a plasmid expressing a firefly luciferase gene under the regulation of an IFNβ promoter (p125Luc), a plasmid expressing renilla luciferase under the regulation of a CMV promoter (pCMV-rLuc) for normalization and increasing concentrations of HA-DDX3 or Flag-DDX3 plasmid or the vector plasmids. Forty eight h.p.t., 293T cells were transfected with 500 ng LMW poly I:C using Lipofectamine 2000. Thirty h.p.t., NPTr cells were infected with PR8 del NS1 virus at an MOI of 1. The cell lysate was collected 16 h.p. poly I:C transfection or infection. The relative luciferase activity was then determined using the Dual-luciferase reporter assay system (Promega) as per the manufacturer's protocol.

5.3.8 *In vitro* **transcription.** For *in vitro transcription* of the NS vRNA, a DNA template for *in vitro* transcription was first generated by PCR using pHW-SK-NS plasmid (361) as template and the primers 5'-

TAATACGACTCACTATAGGTAGAAACAAGGGTGTTTTTTAG-3' (forward primer) and 5'-GGCAAAAGCAGGGTGACAAAA-3' (reverse primer). The forward primer contains T7 promoter sequence (TAATACGACTCACTATAGG) followed by the sequence corresponding to the 5' non coding region (NCR) of NS vRNA (TAGAAACAAGGGTGTTTTTTAG) while the reverse primer contains sequence complementary to the 3' NCR of NS vRNA. The DNA segment thus generated, containing the T7 promoter sequence and the SIV/SK NS gene segment, was then used as template in the *in vitro* reaction using the MAXIscript T7 *in vitro* transcription kit. The *in vitro* transcribed NS vRNA was resolved on a 4% urea polyacrylamide gel and visualized using 1× SYBR Gold Nucleic Acid Gel Stain (Life Technologies).

5.3.9 Biotinylation and RNA-protein pull down. LMW poly I:C was biotinylated using Pierce RNA 3' end desthiobiotinylation kit as per the manufacturer's recommended protocol. Briefly, 6.6 μg of LMW poly I:C was incubated with the RNA ligase reaction buffer, RNase inhibitor, Biotinylated Cytidine Bisphosphate, T4 RNA ligase and 30% Polyethylene glycol at 16°C overnight. Next day, the poly I:C in the reaction was separated into the aqueous phase using chloroform:isoamyl alcohol mixture and precipitated with ethanol. The precipitated pellet was then re-dissolved in water and contains the purified biotinylated LMW poly I:C (BPIC). PR8 vRNA and NS vRNA were biotinylated using Biotin (Long arm) hydrazide as described elsewhere (73). Briefly, the T7 transcribed and purified vRNA was diluted in 100 mM sodium acetate, pH 4.5 to a final volume of 90 μl. Then 10 μl of NaIO₄ solution (21.4 mg/ml) was added, mixed and incubated for 1 hr at 4°C in the dark. The RNA from this reaction was then purified by RNeasy mini kit and the RNA was resuspended in 70 μl RNase-free water. To this, 10 μl of 1M sodium acetate pH 6.0 and 20 μl of Biotin (Long arm) Hydrazide dissolved in dimethyl formamide (18.5 mg/ml) were added and incubated overnight at room temperature in the dark. Next day, biotinylated RNA was recovered by purification using the RNeasy mini kit.

For detection, BPIC and vRNA were dot blotted onto Amersham Hybond-N membrane (GE Healthcare) and cross-linked using a commercial UV-light cross-linking instrument at 120 mJ/cm² for a 60 second exposure. After cross-linking, BrightStar biodetect kit or IRdye 800CW streptavidin were used for detection of the biotinylated ligand. For detection using the BrightStar biodetect kit, the membrane containing the UV-cross-linked RNA was washed in wash buffer several times and then blocked in blocking buffer for 30 mins at room temperature. After blocking, the membrane was incubated with Strep-Alkaline Phosphatase diluted in the blocking buffer for 30 mins at room temperature. The membrane was again washed and a substrate for alkaline-phosphatase, CDP-Star was added to the membrane and exposed to an autoradiographic film for detection. For detection using the IRdye 800CW streptavidin, the UV-cross-linked membrane was blocked in Odyssey blocking buffer (Li-Cor) containing 1% SDS and then incubated with IRDye 800CW streptavidin (1:10000) in blocking buffer for 1 hr at room temperature. The membrane was then washed in PBS containing 0.1% Tween 20 and then scanned using an Odyssey imager (Li-Cor).

For studying the binding efficiency of RIG-I and DDX3 with LMW poly I:C and vRNA, Flag-RIG-I and Flag-DDX3 were first purified from 293T cells. 293T cells were transfected with 1 µg of pCMV-3×Flag-RIG-I or pCMV-3×Flag-DDX3 plasmids. At 48 h.p.t, the cell lysate was collected and subjected to immunoprecipitation using Anti-Flag M2 affinity gel (Sigma-Aldrich). The immunoprecipitated proteins were eluted under native conditions by competition with Flag peptide (Sigma-Aldrich). The eluent thus contains the purified protein, which is then used in the RNA-protein pull down experiment. Interaction between purified Flag-DDX3, Flag-RIG-I and poly I:C or vRNA were studied using the Pierce RNA-protein pull down kit. Biotinylated LMW poly I:C (BPIC) or biotinylated vRNA were first bound to the Streptavidin magnetic beads supplied in the kit. The eluent containing either purified Flag-RIG-I or Flag-DDX3 (described above) were then incubated with the Streptavidin magnetic beads bound to either of the RNA species (BPIC or biotinylated vRNA) in protein-RNA binding buffer for 1 hr at 4°C with gentle rotation. The magnetic beads were then washed several times and the protein complex bound to either poly I:C or vRNA were eluted using the elution buffer supplied in the kit.

5.3.10 Statistical analysis. The statistical significance of differences was calculated using GraphPad Prism 6 (GraphPad Software, Inc., USA) with parametric t-tests to obtain the P-value. Data are shown as mean \pm SD (standard deviation) of at least two independent experiments. Significant differences between treatments and controls are represented by an asterisk (P < 0.05) or two asterisks (P < 0.01).

5.4 Results

5.4.1 IFNß mRNA expression is mediated through RIG-I during influenza virus infection

Influenza A virus recognition and IFN secretion can occur by a variety of PRRs such as TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, RIG-I and NLRP3 during virus infection (233). Among these, a subset of PRRs including the TLR3 and RIG-I receptors activate a distinct signalling pathway requiring the IKK related kinases TBK1 and IKK ε and are also known to be the major receptors for IFN β production (154, 260, 520). Therefore, NPTr cells were treated with BX795, an inhibitor of TBK1/IKKE (92), and then infected with the SIV/SK virus to confirm that the TLR3/RIG-Imediated pathway does have a major contribution in influenza A virus-induced IFNβ expression. As shown in Fig. 5.1A, the IFN β mRNA expression was significantly reduced in the BX795 treated cells at both 1μ M and 10μ M concentrations, when compared to the DMSO treated cells. This showed that TBK1/IKK ε activation is indeed required for influenza A virus-induced IFN β mRNA expression. Since both the TLR3 and RIG-I signalling utilize the TBK1/IKKE kinases for IFNβ induction, the relative contribution of the two PRRs in IFNβ signalling was tested. For this, the cells were treated with siRNA specific to TLR3 or RIG-I and the IFNβ mRNA expression after infection with SIV/SK virus was analysed. Both the TLR3 and RIG-I siRNA treatment resulted in a significant downregulation of the respective genes as quantified by qPCR (Fig. 5.1E and 5.1F). However, RIG-I downregulation and not TLR3 downregulation resulted in almost a 90% decrease in virus-induced IFNβ mRNA expression (Fig. 5.1C vs Fig. 5.1B). Since, TLR3 knockdown (KD) did not affect the IFNB mRNA expression, I wanted to determine whether TLR3 is still functional in the NPTr cells. It has been reported that poly I:C present in the extracellular space (naked poly I:C) is internalized through endocytosis and is recognized by

TLR3, whereas poly I:C delivered intracellularly by complexing with a transfection reagent is recognized by cytoplasmic receptors such as RIG-I and MDA5 (8, 108). Therefore, if TLR3 is functional, IFNβ induction upon treatment with naked poly I:C should be inhibited in TLR3 KD cells. As shown in Fig. 5.1D, upon treatment with naked poly I:C, TLR3 downregulation resulted in a 65% decrease in the IFNβ induction, when compared to the cells treated with off-target siRNA (SiOT), while there was no significant decrease in the IFNβ expression in RIG-I downregulated cells, showing that TLR3 is indeed functional in NPTr cells.

5.4.2 DDX3 downregulation results in increased IRF-3 phosphorylation and IFN β mRNA expression upon influenza virus infection

Next, the role of DDX3 in virus-induced IFNβ expression was examined. IRF3 phosphorylation occurs upstream of IFNβ transcription in the RIG-I signalling pathway (429). Therefore, the phosphorylation status of IRF3 in virus-infected cells during downregulated DDX3 expression was verified. NPTr cells were treated with either siRNA specific to DDX3 or SiOT and then infected with SIV/SK virus. IRF3 phosphorylation status in the DDX3 siRNA treated cells and SiOT treated cells were compared at 10 hrs post infection (h.p.i.) and at 12 h.p.i. by Western blotting. As shown in Fig. 5.2A, DDX3 siRNA treatment resulted in efficient knockdown of the gene (WB: DDX3 panel – lanes 1 vs 2 and lanes 3 vs 4). While total IRF3 protein expression remains the same irrespective of the siRNA treatment (WB: IRF3 panel), the level of phosphorylation of IRF3 is higher in the DDX3 siRNA treated cells when compared to the SiOT treated cells (WB: p-IRF3 panel - lanes 1 vs 2 and lanes 3 vs 4). Phosphorylated IRF3 dimerizes, translocates to the nucleus, associates with the IFNβ promoter region and acts as a transcription factor inducing IFNβ mRNA transcription (429). Hence, any increase in IRF3 phosphorylation should also result in increased IFN β mRNA expression. Consequently, IFN β mRNA expression in DDX3 KD cells upon SIV/SK infection was studied. As shown in Fig. 5.2D, DDX3 expression was efficiently downregulated upon treatment with the siRNA specific to DDX3. While, a 38-fold increase (when compared to untreated and uninfected cells) in IFNB mRNA expression was observed in the SiOT treated/virus-infected cells, DDX3 downregulation resulted in a significant increase in IFNB mRNA expression (92- fold increase when compared to untreated and uninfected cells) in response to virus infection, when compared to the SiOT treated/virus-infected cells (Fig. 5.2B). NS1 protein of influenza is a well-known IFN antagonist and influenza viruses with non-functional NS1 protein are robust inducers of IFN β (23, 355). Therefore, I examined whether a similar IFN β enhancement is also observed upon infection with the PR8 del NS1 virus, which lacks the NS1 gene (156). As shown in Fig. 5.2C, PR8 del NS1 virus infection resulted in a robust IFN β mRNA expression (72-fold increase relative to uninfected and untreated cells) in the SiOT treated cells and DDX3 downregulation in PR8 del NS1 infected cells resulted in a significant enhancement in IFN β mRNA expression (178-fold increase relative to uninfected and untreated cells), when compared to the SiOT treated and PR8 del NS1 virus-infected cells.

5.4.3 DDX3 regulates IFN β mRNA expression triggered by the RIG-I agonist LMW poly I:C

From previous experiments, virus-induced IFNβ mRNA expression was observed to be mediated through RIG-I and DDX3 downregulation was established to affect the virus-induced IFNβ mRNA expression. Therefore, the effect of DDX3 in regulating IFNβ mRNA expression



Figure 5.1 Influenza virus-induced IFN^β expression is mediated through the RIG-I pathway. A) NPTr cells were pre-treated with the TBK1/IKKE inhibitor at a concentration of 1 µM or 10 µM or mock-treated with the corresponding volume of DMSO for 1 hr. After 1 hr, the cells were infected with SIV/SK virus at an MOI of 1 and the inhibitor was present in the media throughout infection. B) NPTr cells were transfected with either siRNA specific to TLR3 or with off-target siRNA (SiOT) for 48-52 hrs. Then, the cells were infected with SIV/SK virus at an MOI of 1. C) NPTr cells were treated with either siRNA specific to RIG-I or with SiOT for 48-52 hrs. Then, the cells were infected with SIV/SK virus at an MOI of 1. (A, B, C) At 16 h.p.i., the cell lysate was collected and RNA extraction and reverse transcription performed to generate the cDNA. The cDNA was then used in qPCR experiments to determine IFN^β mRNA expression. D) NPTr cells were transfected with either TLR3 siRNA or RIG-I siRNA, SiOT, or left untreated and 48-52 h.p. siRNA treatment, the cells were treated with 250 ng of naked poly I:C. At 6 h.p. treatment, the cell lysate was collected and RNA extraction and reverse transcription performed. The level of IFN β expression was determined using qPCR with the cDNA from each treatment as template. (E, F) NPTr cells transfected with TLR3 siRNA or RIG-I siRNA or SiOT were collected 48-52 hrs post treatment. (E) TLR3 expression and (F) RIG-I expression was determined using qPCR. Real-time PCR was conducted in triplicate for each sample and the mean value was calculated. Final figures represent the results from at least two independent experiments and the associated standard deviation is displayed as error bar. Significant differences between treatments and controls are represented by an asterisk (P < 0.05) or two asterisks (P < 0.01). Samples were considered statistically different with a significance of p < 0.05%.



Figure 5.2 IRF3 phosphorylation and IFNβ mRNA expression is enhanced in DDX3 KD cells. NPTr cells were transfected with siRNA specific to DDX3 or SiOT for 48-52 hrs. A) Then, the cells were infected with SIV/SK virus at an MOI of 1. At 10 and 12 h.p.i., the cell lysate was collected and subjected to Western blotting using antibodies against DDX3, IRF3, Phospho-IRF3, NS1 and β-actin. B) Then, the cells were infected with SIV/SK virus at an MOI of 1. At 10 h.p.i., the cell lysate was collected and RNA extraction and reverse transcription performed to generate the cDNA. The cDNA was then used in qPCR experiments to determine IFNβ mRNA extraction and reverse transcription performed to generate the cDNA extraction and reverse transcription performed to generate the cDNA was then used in qPCR experiments to determine IFNβ mRNA extraction and reverse transcription performed to generate the cDNA. The cDNA was then used in qPCR experiments to determine IFNβ mRNA extraction and reverse transcription performed to generate the cDNA. The cDNA was then used in qPCR experiments to determine IFNβ mRNA expression. D) Then, the cell lysate was collected and RNA extraction and reverse transcription performed to generate the cDNA was then used in qPCR experiments to determine IFNβ mRNA expression. D) Then, the cell lysate was collected and RNA extraction and reverse transcription performed to generate the cDNA was then used in qPCR experiments to determine DDX3 mRNA expression. Real-time PCR was conducted in triplicate for each sample and the mean value was calculated. Final figures represent the results from three independent experiments and the associated standard deviation is displayed as error bar. Significant differences between treatments and controls are represented by an asterisk (P < 0.05) or two asterisks (P < 0.01). Samples were considered statistically different with a significance of *p* < 0.05%.

induced by an alternative RIG-I agonist was examined. Short or LMW poly I:C ranging in size from 0.2 - 1 kb, when complexed with a transfection reagent has been reported to trigger IFN β expression preferentially through the RIG-I pathway (108, 255). Therefore, first LMW poly I:C (complexed with lipofectamine 2000) was transfected in NPTr cells and the effect of TLR3 and RIG-I siRNA knockdown on IFN β mRNA expression levels was studied. As shown in Fig. 5.3B, the TLR3 siRNA and RIG-I siRNA treatment resulted in the efficient knockdown of the respective genes. Even though TLR3 downregulation reduced the IFNB mRNA expression levels, the level of decline was much more pronounced in the RIG-I KD cells when compared to the TLR3 KD cells (Fig. 5.3A). TLR3 KD resulted in a 30% decrease in the IFNβ mRNA expression levels, while RIG-I KD resulted in a 62% decrease in the IFN β mRNA expression levels when compared to the SiOT treated cells. This showed that, the complexed LMW poly I:C triggers IFNB mRNA expression preferentially through the RIG-I pathway. As a result, the effect of DDX3 KD on IFN^β mRNA expression induced by complexed LMW poly I:C was examined. As shown in Fig. 5.3D, DDX3 siRNA treatment resulted in efficient DDX3 KD. In addition, DDX3 downregulation resulted in a significant increase in the IFNB mRNA expression induced by the complexed LMW poly I:C, when compared to the SiOT treated cells (Fig. 5.3C).

5.4.4 DDX3 overexpression decreases IFNβ promoter activity

For additional confirmation of the inhibitory effect of DDX3 on IFNβ expression, DDX3 was over expressed and IFNβ promoter activity was studied using luciferase reporter assay. IFNβ promoter activation during complexed LMW poly I:C treatment was first tested. Expression of HA-DDX3 or HA-Vector alone did not cause any significant induction of the IFNβ promoter, while treatment with the complexed LMW poly I:C (complexed and transfected with



Figure 5.3 IFN^β mRNA expression mediated through complexed poly I:C. (A,B) NPTr cells were treated with TLR3 siRNA, RIG-I siRNA or SiOT for 48-52 hrs. A) The cells were then treated with LMW poly I:C complexed with lipofectamine 2000. At 6 h.p. treatment, the cell lysate was collected and RNA extraction and reverse transcription performed to generate the cDNA. The cDNA was then used in qPCR experiments to determine IFN^β mRNA expression. B) TLR3 siRNA, RIG-I siRNA and SiOT treated cells were collected and RNA extraction and reverse transcription performed to generate the cDNA. The cDNA was then used in qPCR experiments to determine TLR3 mRNA and RIG-I mRNA expression. (C, D) NPTr cells were transfected with siRNA specific to DDX3 or SiOT for 48-52 hrs. C) Then, the cells were treated with LMW poly I:C complexed with lipofectamine 2000. At 6 h.p. treatment, the cell lysate was collected and RNA extraction and reverse transcription performed to generate the cDNA. The cDNA was then used in qPCR experiments to determine IFN β mRNA expression. D) Then, the cell lysate was collected and RNA extraction and reverse transcription performed to generate the cDNA. The cDNA was then used in qPCR experiments to determine DDX3 mRNA expression. Real-time PCR was conducted in triplicate for each sample and the mean value was calculated. Final figures represent the results from three independent experiments and the associated standard deviation is displayed as error bar. Significant differences between treatments and controls are represented by an asterisk (P < 0.05) or two asterisks (P < 0.01). Samples were considered statistically different with a significance of p < 0.05%.

lipofectamine 2000) did result in a robust induction of the IFNβ promoter (Fig. 5.4A). Increasing the amount of plasmid expressing DDX3 suppressed the LMW poly I:C-induced IFNβ promoter activity significantly in a dose-dependent manner, while the IFNβ promoter activity in the cells expressing HA-vector was similar to the mock plasmid transfected cells (Fig. 5.4A). DDX3 expression level was monitored in the transfected cells by Western blotting using an antibody against the HA-tag and as shown in the lower panel of Fig. 5.4A, the DDX3 expression levels were robust and they increased with increasing amount of transfected HA-DDX3 plasmid.

IFN β promoter activity induced by PR8 del NS1 virus infection was then tested. A dosedependent decline in the IFN β response was observed upon Flag-DDX3 expression in the virusinfected cells, while Flag-vector did not affect the IFN β promoter activity (Fig. 5.4B). DDX3 expression levels were monitored by Western blotting using a Flag-tag antibody and increasing concentrations of the Flag-DDX3 plasmid correlated with increasing expression levels of the Flag-DDX3 protein (Fig. 5.4B – lower panel).

5.4.5 RIG-I and DDX3 bind to LMW poly I:C, but DDX3 is unable to compete with RIG-I for binding to poly I:C

Both RIG-I and DDX3 are known to bind to poly I:C and dsRNA (145, 240, 413). Therefore, I wanted to investigate whether DDX3 could compete with RIG-I for the RNA ligands (poly I:C and dsRNA), thereby limiting the recognition of ligand by RIG-I and in turn inhibiting IFNβ production. To test this, experiments were set up to confirm the ability of RIG-I and DDX3 to bind to poly I:C. Thus, Flag-RIG-I or Flag-DDX3 were expressed in 293T cells and were then purified under native conditions by immunoprecipitation (IP) using Flag antibody conjugated to agarose. The lysate and the eluent were subjected to Western blotting using Flag-





*

Figure 5.4 Effect of DDX3 overexpression on influenza virus and complexed poly I:C-mediated IFNß mRNA expression. 293T cells (A) or NPTr cells (B) were transfected with different plasmids, one containing the firefly luciferase gene under the control of an IFN β promoter and another one containing the renilla luciferase gene under the control of a CMV promoter (as a transfection control). A) Besides these plasmids, 293T cells were also transfected with plasmids expressing HA-DDX3 or the HA vector with increasing concentrations of the plasmid from 0 ng to 80 ng. At 48 hrs post transfection (h.p.t.), the cells were either treated with LMW polyI:C complexed with lipofectamine 2000 or left untreated. At 16 h.p. treatment, the IFN β promoter activity was determined by measuring the luminescence using a luminometer. In order to confirm HA-DDX3 expression, one set of cells were collected 48 hrs post transfection and subjected to Western blotting using antibodies against the HA-tag and β -actin. β-actin expression was used as loading control. B) Besides these plasmids, NPTr cells were also transfected with plasmids expressing Flag-DDX3 or the Flag-vector with increasing concentrations of the plasmid from 0 ng to 160 ng. At 30 hrs post transfection, the cells were infected with PR8 del NS1 virus at an MOI of 1 or left uninfected. At 16 h.p.i., the IFNβ promoter activity was determined by measuring the luminescence using a luminometer. In order to confirm Flag-DDX3 expression, one set of cells were collected 30 hrs post transfection and subjected to Western blotting using antibodies against the Flag-tag and β -actin. β -actin expression was used as loading control. Luciferase assay was conducted in triplicate for each sample and the mean value was calculated. Final figures represent the results from three independent experiments and the associated standard deviation is displayed as error bar. Significant differences between treatments and controls are represented by an asterisk (P < 0.05) or two asterisks (P< 0.01). Samples were considered statistically different with a significance of p < 0.05%.

tag antibody. As shown in Fig. 5.5A, Flag-RIG-I and Flag-DDX3 were successfully expressed in the 293T cell-lysate input (lanes 1 and 5), while expression of the proteins were not observed in the vector transfected cell lysates (lanes 2 and 6). In addition, immunoprecipitation and elution (via competition with Flag peptide) of the two proteins was also successful, as observed from the significant enrichment of the two proteins in the eluent (lanes 3 and 7). Either of the purified proteins were then incubated with biotin-labelled LMW poly I:C (BPIC) bound to streptavidin magnetic beads and subjected to RNA-protein pull down. The poly I:C bound protein complex was purified using the streptavidin magnetic beads after extensive washing. BPIC was detected in the eluent, showing that BPIC was not washed away and was bound to the streptavidin beads throughout the procedure (Fig 5.5B - bottom panels). The proteins in the eluent were then subjected to Western blotting with Flag antibody. Both RIG-I and DDX3 were detected in the eluent containing BPIC, while neither of the two proteins were present in the eluent when unlabelled LMW poly I:C was used as a bait (Fig. 5.5B - top panels). Next, I tested whether DDX3 can compete with RIG-I for binding to the LMW poly I:C. Flag-RIG-I and Flag-DDX3 were purified from 293T cell lysate by IP. The lysate and the eluent were subjected to Western blotting using Flag-tag antibody. As shown in Fig. 5.5C, Flag-RIG-I and Flag-DDX3 were successfully expressed in the 293T cell-lysate input (lanes 1 and 2), while expression of the proteins were not observed in the vector transfected cell lysate (lane 3). In addition, immunoprecipitation and elution (via competition with Flag peptide) of the two proteins was also successful, as observed from the significant enrichment of the two proteins in the eluent (lanes 4 and 5). Purified RIG-I or DDX3 was incubated separately with BPIC or RIG-I and increasing amounts of DDX3 were incubated together with BPIC and the amount of RIG-I and DDX3 pulled down along with BPIC in the eluent was observed. If DDX3 competes with RIG-I for

poly I:C binding, one would observe an increase in the amount of DDX3 in the BPIC pull-down complex corresponding to a decline in the amount of RIG-I in the pull-down complex. However, no competition between DDX3 and RIG-I was observed. As shown in Fig 5.5D, DDX3 was barely detected in the eluents of biotin-labelled LMW poly I:C (lane 2 and 3), whereas intense RIG-I band was readily detected in the eluent (lane 1), indicating that DDX3 has a much lower affinity with poly I:C than RIG-I. Meanwhile, the addition of increasing amounts of DDX3 did not change RIG-I binding (lane 4 and 5).

5.4.6 RIG-I binds to influenza vRNA at a much higher affinity than DDX3

LMW poly I:C is not the authentic ligand during influenza A virus infection. Therefore, I wanted to confirm the above findings with influenza vRNA, which is the true RIG-I ligand during influenza A virus infection (444). For this purpose, the vRNA extracted from purified PR8 virions (PR8 vRNA) and *in vitro* transcribed vRNA of the NS gene segment (NS vRNA) were tested (Fig. 5.6A). Flag-RIG-I and Flag-DDX3 protein were purified from 293T cell lysates by IP with Flag-M2 Agarose (Fig. 5.6B). Biotinylated PR8 vRNA and NS vRNA were incubated with the purified Flag-RIG-I or Flag-DDX3 protein and the protein-vRNA complex was purified using streptavidin magnetic beads. Both of the biotin-labelled vRNA species bound efficiently to the streptavidin beads, since both the biotin-labelled PR8 vRNA and biotin-labelled NS vRNA were detected in the eluent of biotin-labelled RNA species (Fig. 5.6C – bottom panel). While RIG-I bound to both of the biotin-labelled vRNA species (lane 1 and 3), DDX3 did not bind to either of the biotin-labelled vRNA species (lane 5 and 7) (Fig 5.6C – top panel).



Figure 5.5 DDX3 and RIG-I competition assay with LMW poly I:C. (A,C) 293T cells were transfected with 1µg of plasmid expressing Flag-DDX3 or Flag-RIG-I or Flag-vector. At 48 h.p.t., cell lysate was collected, Flag-DDX3 and Flag-RIG-I were purified using Anti-Flag M2 Agarose. The input cell lysate and the purified protein were subjected to Western blotting using Flag-tag antibody. B) Biotinylated LMW poly I:C or non-labelled LMW poly I:C was first incubated with magnetic streptavidin beads and then washed to remove unbound poly I:C. The beads were then incubated with purified Flag-DDX3 or Flag- RIG-I, then washed several times to remove the unbound protein and the streptavidin bound poly I:C-protein complex was then eluted with the elution buffer. The eluent was then run on a gel and the bound Flag-DDX3 and Flag-RIG-I was then detected by Western blotting using Flag-tag antibody. The input poly I:C and eluent were then blotted onto a Hybond membrane, crosslinked by UV and detected using Ambion BrightStar BioDetect kit. D) The purified proteins were then mixed together at a ratio of 1:2 (lane 4- 100 ng Flag-RIG-I and 140 ng Flag-DDX3) or at a ratio of 1:3 (lane 5 - 100 ng Flag-RIG-I and 210 ng Flag-DDX3), Flag-RIG-I alone (lane 1-100 ng), Flag-DDX3 alone at 140 ng (lane 2) or at 210 ng (lane 3) and then incubated with Biotinylated LMW poly I:C. The LMW poly I:C along with any interacting protein was isolated using Streptavidin Magnetic Beads. The amount of Flag-tagged protein in the eluent was determined by Western blot using an anti-Flag antibody and the eluent was blotted on a HyBond membrane and the biotinylated poly I:C present in the eluent was detected using Streptavidin conjugated with IRDye 800CW from Licor.



Figure 5.6 Viral RNA (vRNA) interaction with RIG-I and DDX3. A) Viral RNA was isolated from purified PR8 virion using the Qiagen RNeasy mini kit and NS vRNA of SIV/SK-WT virus was *in vitro* transcribed from a NS gene template containing the T7 promoter sequence using the Ambion MaxiScript T7 polymerase kit. The RNA was run on a urea-polyacrylamide gel along with a RNA ladder and visualized by staining with SYBR Gold. The identity of the bands corresponding to the different vRNA segments (for PR8 vRNA lane) is labelled on the right-hand side of the image. B) 293T cells were transfected with 1µg of plasmid expressing Flag-DDX3 or Flag-RIG-I or Flag-vector. At 48 h.p.t., cell lysate was collected and Flag-DDX3 and Flag-RIG-I were purified using Anti-Flag M2 Agarose. The input cell lysate and the purified protein were subjected to Western blotting using antibody against Flag-tag. C) Biotinylated or non-labelled PR8 vRNA, biotinylated or non-labelled NS vRNA was first incubated with magnetic streptavidin beads and then washed to remove RNA. The RNA bound beads were then incubated with purified Flag-DDX3 or Flag-RIG-I, then washed several times to remove the unbound protein and the streptavidin bound poly I:C-protein complex was then eluted with the supplied elution buffer. The eluent was then run on a gel and the bound Flag-DDX3 or Flag-RIG-I was then detected by Western blot using antibody against Flag-tag. The eluent was also blotted onto a Hybond membrane, crosslinked by UV and the vRNA present in the eluent were detected using Streptavidin conjugated with IRDye 800CW from Licor.

5.4.7 The overall effect of DDX3 regulation on IFNβ expression and SG formation affects PR8 del NS1 virus replication but not WT virus replication

Previously, in chapter 4, suppression of virus-induced SG formation was observed in DDX3 siRNA treated cells (Fig. 4.7A). Here, we observed an enhancement of virus-induced IFN β expression in DDX3 siRNA treated cells. Even though DDX3-mediated IFN β inhibition should be detrimental to virus replication, we observed an increase in the virus titer of PR8 del NS1 virus (chapter 4, Figures 4.7B and 4.7C). The increase in virus replication correlated with DDX3 inhibition on SG formation. These results suggest that while the SG regulatory function of DDX3 has a dominant role in influencing influenza virus replication, the IFN β inhibitory function of DDX3 has only a minor role in the virus life cycle.

5.5 Discussion

The innate immune system detects viral infections through the recognition of unique molecules in the pathogen or through the recognition of unique molecules generated during infection called pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPS) (372, 373). Influenza A virus is recognized by members of at least three classes of PRRs: the toll-like receptors (TLR3, TLR7 and TLR8), RIG-I and the NOD-like receptor family member NLRP3 (233). TLR3 and RIG-I are the major sensors of influenza A virus infection in epithelial cells and distinct from other PRRs, they signal through the activation of TBK1/IKK ϵ (260, 307, 520). Therefore, we tested the contribution of the two receptors in IFN β signalling by using a TBK1/IKK ϵ inhibitor BX795 (92), which showed that TBK1/IKK ϵ activation does play a major role in virus-induced IFN β induction (Fig. 5.1A). Then, the individual contribution of the two receptors was tested by siRNA-mediated knockdown and this showed that the RIG-I receptor and not the TLR3 receptor has a major role in virus-IFN β induction (Figures 5.1B, 5.1C, 5.1E and 5.1F).

Many studies have shown that DDX3 enhances the activation of IRF3 and induction of IFNβ (183, 413, 472, 497). However, in this study I report that DDX3 inhibits IRF3 activation and IFNβ induction (Figures 5.2A, 5.2B, 5.2C, 5.3C, 5.4A and 5.4B). The reason for this discrepancy might be due to the multifunctional nature of DDX3 and differences in the cell-type and RIG-I ligand used in the studies. DDX3 is a multifunctional protein affecting every step of gene expression including transcription, RNA splicing, RNA export and translation (19, 471). Importantly, several studies have reported a role for DDX3 in translational regulation (19, 471). While initially, it was suggested that DDX3 has an inhibitory role on cap-dependent protein translation (485) another study reported that DDX3 does not have any significant effect on

general translation (310). In order to explain these contradictory results, it has been suggested that the level of DDX3 expression might influence whether it has a positive or negative effect on translation and that the overexpression of DDX3 might have a translation repressive effect (471). It is also interesting to note the diversity in the mechanisms proposed to explain the role of DDX3 in enhancing IFN_β induction. Even though existing studies agree that DDX3 upregulates IFN β induction, there are differences in the mechanisms proposed by these studies to explain this enhancing effect. While many studies reported that DDX3 functions through TBK1/IKKE interaction to enhance IFNβ induction (183, 472, 497), another study showed that DDX3 does not affect TBK1/IKKε-mediated IFNβ induction and suggested a new mechanism where DDX3 acted as a viral sensor forming a complex with RIG-I/MDA5 and IPS-1 (413). DDX3 is also recruited to the IFN^β promoter region, suggesting that it can act as a transcriptional regulator (497). Hence, these studies show that DDX3 can influence multiple steps of the IFN β gene expression and IFN β induction pathway and that the observed phenotype can vary depending on experimental conditions such as level of DDX3 expression, cell-type and the ligand used. In line with this, the experimental conditions in this work differ considerably from the above described studies. The differences include the RIG-I ligand (LMW poly I:C vs poly I:C containing both low and high molecular weight species), differences in method of delivery and dosage of poly I:C, differences in plasmids and the amount transfected to express DDX3 and cell-type specific differences (porcine NPTr vs human cell line). In addition, it is also important to note that these studies were accomplished through infection with pathogens other than influenza. Observations from the previous study showed that DDX3 interacts with the viral proteins NP and NS1 and suggests a regulatory role for DDX3 in influenza induced stress granule (SG) formation (see chapter 4). Hence, DDX3 being a multifunctional protein could be utilized in functions and
pathways distinctly different from other pathogens through its interaction with viral proteins NS1 and NP during influenza infection. Therefore, another reason for the contradictory observation could be the differences in the life cycle of the pathogens. In this study, attempts were made to find out the mechanisms by which DDX3 inhibits IFNβ induction upon virus infection. DDX3 and RIG-I are both RNA helicases and are known to bind to dsRNA and poly I:C (145, 240, 413), but unlike RIG-I, DDX3 does not have a signalling domain corresponding to the RIG-I CARD domains (480, 496). RIG-I is a well-documented sensor of the viral RNA and poly I:C in the cytoplasm, which upon activation induces expression of the type I IFN (177). Therefore, the speculation that DDX3 might inhibit RIG-I activation by competing for the RIG-I ligands such as poly I:C and viral RNA were tested. However, *in vitro* experiments clearly demonstrate that RIG-I binds LMW poly I:C and influenza vRNA with an affinity much higher than that of DDX3 (Figures 5.5D and 5.6C). Therefore, it does not seem possible that DDX3 exerts its IFN β inhibitory effect by competing with the RIG-I ligand. However, DDX3 being a multifunctional protein could contribute to DDX3-mediated IFN β inhibition by several other mechanisms. DDX3 interacts with the influenza virus proteins NP, NS1 (see chapter 4) and has also been shown to form a complex with RIG-I and MAVS (413). In addition, NS1 interacts with RIG-I and is a major antagonist of IFN β induction (378). Therefore, it may be interesting to study the interplay between the viral proteins, RIG-I and DDX3 in IFNB induction. Also of interest would be understanding whether DDX3-mediated SG regulation (see chapter 4) has any role in IFN β regulation, since one study has reported SGs as important platforms for viral RNA sensing (408).

Besides inhibiting type I IFN production at multiple steps of the IFN induction pathway, the influenza NS1 protein also inhibits the function of IFN-induced antiviral proteins (23, 290). Viral proteins other than NS1 have also been shown to inhibit IFN induction (180, 231, 551). Therefore, even when IFN transcription is enhanced upon DDX3 downregulation (Figures 5.2B and 5.2C), mechanisms still exist to counteract IFN^β protein expression and IFN^β-mediated antiviral responses at the post-transcriptional level. This might explain the unresponsive effect of DDX3 downregulation and enhanced IFN β transcription on SIV/SK virus replication (chapter 4, Figures 4.7B and 4.7C). However, PR8 del NS1 virus replication was affected by DDX3 downregulation. Even though DDX3 KD increased PR8 del NS1 virus-induced IFNB expression (Fig. 5.2C), an anticipated reduction in the virus replication was not observed. In contrast, increased virus replication of the PR8 del NS1 virus in DDX3 KD cells was observed (chapter 4, Figures 4.7B and 4.7C). This could be explained by the multifunctional nature of the DDX3 protein (19). In this study, DDX3 was observed to be an essential factor of virus-induced stress granules (SGs) during PR8 del NS1 virus infection, as DDX3 KD suppressed virus-induced SG formation (see chapter 4, Fig. 4.7A). Additionally, DDX3 KD promoted PR8 del NS1 virus replication (see chapter 4, Figures 4.7B and 4.7C). Several studies show that SGs possess antiviral functions and SG formation is inhibitory to virus replication (272, 381, 409). Thus, suppression of SG formation correlated with the increase in PR8 del NS1 virus replication in DDX3 siRNA treated cells. DDX3 being a multifunctional protein, it could influence both the IFNβ induction and SG formation pathways during influenza virus infection. However, as these results suggest, the SG regulatory function of DDX3 might have a much profound effect on virus replication than the IFN β regulatory function of DDX3.

In conclusion, the role of DDX3 in regulating virus-induced IFNβ expression has been established. DDX3 regulation on influenza induced IFNβ expression occurs upstream of IRF3 phosphorylation and the mechanism by which it inhibits IFNβ induction requires further study. Additionally, it will be interesting to study the phosphorylation status of IRF3, TBK1/IKKε upon DDX3 downregulation and overexpression in LMW poly I:C transfected cells. This will give a better insight into the mechanism by which DDX3 inhibits IFN β induction and to understand whether the repressive effect might be mediated at the translational level.

CHAPTER 6: GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Influenza A viruses cause frequent epidemics and annual deaths of about 500,000 people worldwide (535), an effective prophylactic and therapeutic measure against influenza infection is essential. The effectiveness of the vaccines developed each year varies depending on several factors and the currently available therapeutic arsenal against influenza virus infections is limited to two main classes of drugs, namely the inhibitors of viral neuraminidase (zanamivir and oseltamivir) and of the viral ion channel protein M2 (rimantadine and amantadine) (102, 205). The emergence of resistant virus strains to these drugs poses a serious problem for the public health and global economy (66, 398). Therefore, there is an urgent need for the discovery of new antiviral drugs, which are protected from the virus drug resistance mechanisms. There is a growing realisation among the scientific community that the best approach to achieving this aim, would be to target cellular host factors instead of targeting the traditional virus factors. While the virus-factors are under pressure to mutate when confronted with drugs affecting the virus life cycle, host-factors are not. Another significant advantage of this approach is that by targeting cellular factors, a broad-spectrum antiviral activity could be achieved, since several viruses may depend on the same cellular pathway. Additionally, by targeting cellular factors, there is a possibility that existing drugs approved for human disorders could be re-directed for use in antiviral therapy.

In spite of these advantages, there are also some disadvantages in targeting cellular factors. As cellular factors may be critical for proper functioning of the cell and in regulating homeostasis, interfering with these processes might lead to cytotoxic and undesirable effects. To minimize this undesirable effect, treatment time has to be limited, which makes this approach more suitable for treating acute virus infections such as influenza virus infections. Some of the recent studies have been successful in employing approaches to validate drugs targeting host factors, in order to achieve antiviral activity against influenza (105, 570). One among them is the sialidase drug DAS181, which removes sialic acids on respiratory epithelial cells and prevents virus attachment to the receptor (42). Resistance to the drug was minimal and unstable upon extensive passaging of influenza virus in the presence of DAS181 (540). Other approaches using inhibitors to target cellular proteases and the Raf/MEK/ERK signalling pathway have also been demonstrated to be successful in inhibiting virus infection (60, 61, 120). Treatment with immunomodulatory drugs targeting the host immune system, such as COX-2 inhibitors and S1P agonists have been found to alleviate tissue damage caused by virus-induced cytokines and also suppress virus replication (312, 313, 359). Additionally, many other inhibitors that target cellular factors are known to affect various stages of the influenza virus life cycle leading to reduced virus replication (386). Thus, targeting host proteins could lead to the development of novel and broad-spectrum antivirals. Therefore, identification of cellular factors that affect virus replication is critical.

Many different strategies have been used to identify and study cellular interaction partners of viral proteins. One of the earliest and widely used approach is the yeast-two-hybrid (Y2H) assay, which was employed by Shapira et al. to study host protein interactions with 10 major influenza A virus proteins (478). Many of the earliest known cellular factors affecting influenza virus replication were discovered using this approach and it is still used in recent studies to identify novel virus-host interaction partners (184, 394, 405, 481). Recently, the Y2H assay system was used to identify host-factors interacting with NS1 and NEP proteins. Seventynine cellular proteins interacting with NS1 and NEP proteins from 9 different influenza virus strains were identified (104). However, the disadvantage of using this approach is that only dual interactions can be studied and virus-host protein interactions in the context of virus infection or in specific protein complexes cannot be studied.

Genome wide siRNA screens have also been used to identify cellular factors required for viral replication (501, 571). Numerous studies have used the RNAi approach and have been critical for expanding the knowledge about the cellular pathways important for virus replication (64, 193, 252, 287, 478). Even though RNAi is a powerful method, there are some limitations to this approach. High-throughput RNAi screening is restricted by the number of genes covered in the siRNA library, the efficiency of knockdown and the inability to study genes that affect cell-growth and survival. Even though a large amount of data generated through these studies is available on the cellular factors involved in virus replication, there is very little overlap among the different studies (105, 501, 571). The lack of overlap suggests that these datasets are far from being comprehensive and hence, additional studies are needed for identification and validation of the viral protein interaction partners.

Another approach employed is to isolate protein complexes by affinity tag purification using tagged viral protein constructs. The proteins in the isolated complex can then be identified using mass spectrometry. Cellular proteins that interact with the influenza vRNP and the polymerase complex have been identified using this approach (244, 365). However, the viral proteins were expressed artificially and hence the observed interactions may not take place in virus-infected cells. It would be ideal to express the tagged viral protein in the context of infection, which would need integration of the tag sequence within the virus genome. The segmented nature of influenza A virus genome and specific packaging mechanisms of viral RNA, make incorporation of the affinity tag at either the N- or C-terminus of the influenza A virus ORF challenging (118). However, advancements in the understanding of the architecture of influenza A virus genome have made possible the generation of recombinant viruses encoding affinity-tagged viral proteins for studying viral protein interactions from virus-infected cells (324, 326, 441).

In this study, a strategy was devised to insert a Strep-tag sequence in NS1 protein in order to analyze protein interactions of NS1 occurring during physiological virus replication. The flexible and variable nature of the linker region between the RNA-binding domain (RD) and effector domain (ED) of NS1 has been demonstrated in several studies. Large scale sequence analysis of the NS1 sequence from various influenza A virus strains showed that the amino acid residues D74-L77 and K79-R83 in the linker region between the RD and ED of NS1 is highly variable (101). Moreover, an X-ray structure study on NS1 observed the region corresponding to residues 75-79 as not well-defined, which shows that the linker region is highly flexible in nature (57). This region is amenable for modifications, which was demonstrated by previous studies in our lab involving tetracysteine (TC) tag and Strep-tag insertions in NS1 (57, 324, 326). Taking advantage of this knowledge, an eight amino acid Strep-tag sequence was inserted in the SK02 NS1 linker region and a recombinant SK02 virus encoding a Strep-tag NS1 (SIV/SK-544) with growth properties and protein expression kinetics similar to the WT virus was successfully rescued (Section 3.4.1). This resulted in the introduction of the Strep-tag sequence in NS1 without affecting the packaging signals or splicing of NS gene segment. Most of the existing studies to identify NS1-interacting host partners have been performed with well-established cell lines. However, studying NS1-host protein interactions in primary cell lines would yield novel interaction partners. The epithelial cells in the respiratory tract serve as the primary sites of viral

replication during influenza infection (353). Therefore, epithelial cells from the trachea of healthy pigs were isolated. The purity was then confirmed by FACS analysis using a specific marker for epithelial cells called cytokeratin (Section 3.4.2). The epithelial cells were then used for infection with the recombinant virus.

The Strep-tag sequence is engineered to bind with high affinity and reversibly to streptactin, enabling the isolation of intact protein complexes (464). Thus, SRECs were infected with SIV/SK-544 and the presence of Strep-tag sequence in the NS1 protein facilitated the purification of an intact NS1-interacting protein complex (Section 3.4.2). The host and viral proteins present in the purified NS1 – host protein complex were identified by LC-MS/MS. Since NS1 interaction with cellular proteins is critical for its multifunctional nature, the host proteins present in the purified complex could in turn provide an understanding of the pathways regulated by NS1 during infection. Therefore, DAVID bioinformatics resources was used to group proteins in my dataset and identified the pathways enriched by these proteins. Several host functions important for virus replication were identified by this analysis and protein-interaction networks derived using STRING database. Cytoscape helped visualize the interactions among the cellular proteins and NS1 in each group (Section 3.4.3-3.4.6). Thus, bioinformatics analysis of the protein dataset provided an insight into the different host functions that may be regulated through NS1 during virus infection. Many of the previously known NS1-interacting proteins such as PABP1, DHX9, DDX21 and CRKL were identified in this study. Additionally, 92 out of the 192 proteins analysed in my dataset were listed as known NS1 interactors in the VirHostNet 2.0 database, which increased the confidence in my dataset. Meanwhile, some of the well-known NS1 binding partners such as $p85\beta$ and CPSF30 were not identified in the NS1-interacting protein complex. The absence of these well-known NS1-interacting partners could be due to the

polymorphisms in the protein sequence of the NS1 used in this study. Examples of these polymorphisms playing a role in binding to different cellular partners have been demonstrated in other studies (104, 478).

SGs are aggregates of inactive mRNPs enriched in translation initiation factors and 40S ribosome subunits (15). SG formation is triggered by a variety of environmental stress conditions including viral infection. The stress conditions induce the activation of a variety of different eIF2a kinases all of which result in the phosphorylation of eIF2a. This triggers SG formation (15). Virus infection commonly activates PKR kinase which in turn phosphorylates $eIF2\alpha$, resulting in the inhibition of translation initiation (350). SGs are generally inhibitory to virus replication due to their role in inducing translational arrest. As a result, viruses typically suppress SG formation at some point in their life cycle. The mechanisms used by viruses to disrupt SG formation are varied. These include: i) cleavage of proteins essential for SG formation, ii) coopting of SG proteins to other functions necessary for virus replication and iii) inhibition of PKR activation (336). Studies demonstrated that poliovirus protein 3C proteinase cleaves the SGnucleating protein G3BP1 and prevents SG formation during the late stages of infection (577); HCV redistributes several P-body and SG proteins such as DDX6, DDX3, G3BP1, RCK/p54 and Xrn1 to virus induced cytoplasmic lipid droplets, thereby facilitating virus replication and restricting SG assembly at the same time (21). Influenza A virus on the other hand inhibits SG formation throughout the virus life-cycle by antagonizing PKR activation and thereby preventing eIF2 α phosphorylation (272). SG inhibition is mediated through the PKR antagonistic function of NS1 and influenza viruses with functional defects in NS1 protein are unable to suppress SG formation (272, 408). Moreover, two other influenza virus proteins NP and PA-X have also been

shown to inhibit both eIF2 α -dependent and independent SG formation through unknown mechanisms (271).

DDX3 was identified as a NS1-interacting partner during virus infection in this study (Figures 4.1A and 4.1B). This prompted the study of the function of DDX3 in influenza A virus life cycle. Given the fact that DDX3 has been reported to localize in SGs and function as an essential factor for SG formation in response to a variety of stresses such as sorbitol, arsenite, heat shock, DTT and UV irradiation (486), I set up my research direction to study DDX3's function in regulating influenza A virus infection through SG formation. The interaction of DDX3 with NS1 and NP proteins was confirmed by IP experiments either in the context of virus infection or with ectopically expressed proteins. Furthermore, the interactions were demonstrated to be RNA independent (Section 4.4.1-4.4.2). Upon immunostaining PR8 del NS1 virus-infected cells for DDX3 and the SG marker TIA-1, it was shown that DDX3 does localize in PR8 del NS1 virus induced SGs. SGs started to appear from 6 h.p.i. and DDX3 localized in SGs at all the time points tested until 11 h.p.i, where SG formation was observed (Section 4.4.4). Strikingly NP also formed granules and co-localized with DDX3 and TIA-1 in SGs, which suggested that DDX3 and NP interaction occurs in virus-induced SGs. While NP localization in SGs has been observed in other studies (271, 381, 408), Onomoto et al. reported that NP localized to the SGs is associated with the vRNA and the SGs serve as a platform for vRNA sensing by RIG-I (408). However, in this study vRNA was not sequestered in the SGs as demonstrated by FISH analysis, suggesting that the NP localized in SGs is not associated with vRNA (Section 4.4.5). Additionally, no SG formation was observed in WT virus-infected cells at any of the time points tested, which could be explained by the SG inhibitory activity of NS1, possibly through preventing PKR phosphorylation (Section 4.4.4 and 4.4.6). SG formation has been reported to

suppress influenza virus replication in other studies, based on the observed reduction in NP expression intensity and the number of NP expressing cells (272, 381). Whether SG formation results in a reduction in the actual virus titers was not tested. In my study, influenza virus titers upon DDX3 knockdown were tested. DDX3 downregulation resulted in SG suppression, which correlated with increased virus titers in PR8 del NS1 virus-infected cells (Section 4.4.8), suggesting that DDX3 is an antiviral protein with a critical role in virus-induced SG formation.

In addition to DDX3, another SG component RAP55 has also been reported to be involved in SG/P-body (PB) formation and has also been shown to interact with NS1 (381). It was shown that NS1 inhibits RAP55 associated SG/P-body formation. The study also reported that NS1 and NP colocalize in RAP55 associated P-bodies. Moreover, P-bodies formed during the early stages of WT virus infection and retreated as the infection progressed into the late stages (381). Similar to SGs, P-bodies contain translationally inactive mRNAs. But, unlike SGs they contain the proteins needed for mRNA degradation such as the decapping enzyme DCP1 and 5'-3' exonuclease XRN1 (127). While SGs are induced by different stress responses, Pbodies are present in resting cells as well as in stress induced cells and both granules can increase in size and number in response to stress (110, 127). Recent studies suggest that SGs and P-bodies physically interact with each other and many components including mRNA and proteins may be exchanged between the two compartments (127, 268). Based on the above findings it might be interesting to study the role of P-bodies and whether SG and P-body interact and exchange components during influenza A virus infection. Interestingly Ded1p, the yeast homologue of DDX3 is a component of P-bodies and is involved in the movement of mRNAs between the polysomes and P-bodies (40, 41). Moreover, DDX3 has been observed to localize in the interface of SGs and P-bodies and has been suggested to be involved in regulating the transfer of

molecules between the two granular compartments (486). Therefore, DDX3 could have additional roles if a P-body-SG linkage exists during influenza infection.

DDX3 has also been reported to interact with different components of the IFNB induction pathway and enhance IFN β expression (19). DDX3 achieves this through its interaction with IKKε, TBK1 and by directly binding to the IFNβ promoter (19). Several viruses have evolved mechanisms to counteract this function by employing viral proteins to interact with DDX3 and subvert its IFN modulatory activity. HCV core protein, HBV pol protein and VACV K7 protein interact with DDX3 and counteract its IFN modulatory function (480). However, interaction of these proteins with DDX3 affects virus replication by interfering with other stages of the virus life cycle. For example, HCV core protein interaction with DDX3 re-localizes DDX3 to HCV assembly sites called lipid droplets and facilitates HCV replication, while HBV pol interaction with DDX3 interferes with the initial step of reverse transcription and negatively affects virus replication (21, 562). DDX3 also interacts with the 3'UTR of HCV genomic RNA and induces a CBP/p300-mediated transcriptional program, which is beneficial for HCV replication (320). DDX3 is required for the replication of several other viruses. DDX3 promotes the translation of JEV viral RNA and many P-body components including DDX3 are recruited to WNV replication sites (76, 317). Many studies have also reported that DDX3 is required for HIV replication and this function is mediated by its interaction with viral proteins Rev and Tat (388, 593). These studies show that DDX3 can affect virus life cycle through multiple mechanisms and underscores the multifunctional nature of the protein. Additionally, it is interesting to note that several SG/PB components, such as PABP1, YBX1, STAU1, ILF3, DDX1, FXR1, G3BP1, hnRNP K, ATXN2L, MOV10 were identified in the NS1-interacting protein complex (16, 51, 211). PABP1, YBX1, STAU1, FXR1, hnRNP K have proviral roles in influenza replication (70,

129, 258, 542, 610), while DDX1, ILF3 and MOV10 have antiviral functions (565, 605, 607). Therefore, it would be interesting to investigate how the functions of these proteins affect SG formation and how SG formation affects the functions of these proteins in the context of virus replication.

Even though the role of DDX3 in regulating virus induced IFN was studied, it remains unknown for influenza A virus replication. Thus, the potential contribution of DDX3 to this critical host defence pathway was explored. Since TLR3 and RIG-I are the major receptors for sensing influenza virus infection (260, 307, 520), the relative contribution of the two pathways to influenza virus-induced IFNB induction was first determined. Gene knockdown assay showed that IFN β expression in influenza virus-infected cells is mediated primarily through the RIG-I pathway, while TLR3 contribution to IFN β induction is minimal (Section 5.4.1). Downregulation of DDX3 resulted in increased IRF3 phosphorylation and increased IFNB mRNA expression in WT influenza virus-infected cells. A similar increase in IFNB expression upon DDX3 downregulation was also observed in PR8 del NS1 virus-infected cells and LMW poly I:C transfected cells, which is a RIG-I agonist (108, 255) (Sections 5.4.2-5.4.3). The ability of LMW poly I:C to trigger IFNβ expression preferentially through the RIG-I pathway was also confirmed (Section 5.4.3). In agreement with the results observed upon DDX3 downregulation, DDX3 over-expression suppressed influenza A virus and LMW poly I:C induced IFN^β induction (Section 5.4.4).

DDX3 and RIG-I are both capable of binding to RNA (145, 240, 413). Therefore, I investigated whether DDX3 could exert its IFN β inhibitory effect by competing with RIG-I for its ligand. Competition assays with purified RIG-I, DDX3 and biotinylated LMW poly I:C

showed that DDX3 could not compete with RIG-I for binding to poly I:C due to its low affinity to the molecule when compared to RIG-I (Section 5.4.5). Studies with biotinylated vRNA also showed the binding affinity of RIG-I to vRNA to be much higher than DDX3 (Section 5.4.6). Even though, DDX3 downregulation increased influenza A virus induced IFNβ expression, it did not have any effect on SIV/SK virus replication, while PR8 del NS1 virus replication was enhanced (Sections 4.4.8 and 5.4.7). The ability of NS1 protein to inhibit the function of ISGs and inhibit the multiple steps of IFNβ expression pathway (23, 290) might explain the lack of any effect on SIV/SK virus replication in DDX3 knockdown cells. While DDX3 does increase IFNβ mRNA expression in PR8 del NS1 virus-infected cells, the SG inhibitory function has a much more profound effect resulting in the observed increase in virus replication.

Many known antiviral components such as OAS, RNaseL, RIG-I, MDA5 and several regulators of RIG-I activation including TRIM25, RIPLET and MEX3C have been shown to co-localize in SGs (409). A recent study also suggests that SGs might act as a platform for facilitating the RIG-I sensing of viral RNAs during influenza infection (408). More importantly, constitutively expressed DDX3 acts as a viral RNA sensor during the initial stages of infection by forming a complex with MAVS and thereby triggering IFNβ production (413). Considering the localization of DDX3 in SGs and its known interaction with the components of RIG-I signalling pathway, it would be interesting to investigate whether and how DDX3 localization in SGs affects RIG-I-mediated IFNβ induction during influenza A virus infection.

In order to gain a better understanding of the role of DDX3 in influenza replication, several key findings resulting from this study could be explored further as follows. Strong interaction between the viral proteins NS1 and NP and DDX3 was observed in this study.

Identification of domains in NS1 and NP that are important for DDX3 interaction could help in understanding the SG recruitment of NP and NS1 and the role of these proteins in SG formation. More importantly, the role of NS1-DDX3 interaction in SG formation and influenza A virus replication needs further analysis. In this study, the R38A/K41A mutation in NS1 disrupts interaction with DDX3, showing that these two amino acids are important for DDX3 interaction. Influenza A virus with this mutation is able to induce PKR phosphorylation and SG formation (272). The inability of this mutant NS1 to interact with DDX3 could be utilized to study the role of DDX3-NS1 interaction in SG formation, if PKR phosphorylation induced SG formation does not occur. Therefore, further studies on DDX3-interacting domains in NS1 protein, could help in developing a mutant NS1 capable of inducing PKR phosphorylation but still able to interact with DDX3 and vice versa. Such a mutant could help dissect the relative contribution of NS1-DDX3 interaction in SG recruitment and formation. Even though this study shows that DDX3 antiviral activity correlates with SG formation, the mechanism of antiviral activity still needs to be determined. Studies on determining the identity of viral RNA components (vRNA, cRNA or mRNA) recruited to SGs and the stage of virus life cycle that is negatively impacted by the SG formation could provide more information on the antiviral mechanism. As discussed previously, P-bodies have been observed during the early stages of WT virus infection. DDX3 could have a role in the formation of P-bodies, which possess mRNA silencing activity similar to SGs (127). Therefore, studies on the role of P-bodies and the function of DDX3 in P-body formation could provide a better understanding on the impact of mRNP granules on influenza A virus replication. Moreover, exploring the role of SGs in influenza A virus-induced IFN^β induction may also provide knowledge on the antiviral mechanisms of SGs.

In conclusion, successful isolation of an intact NS1 protein complex from primary SREC infected with a recombinant Strep-tag NS1 virus was demonstrated. Bioinformatics analysis of the protein dataset helped identify important host functions that may be regulated by NS1 during influenza A virus infection. DDX3 as an antiviral protein with a critical role in influenza A virus-induced SG formation was established. DDX3 also regulates IFN β expression in influenza A virus-infected cells, which demonstrates the multifunctional nature of the protein. However, the NS1 protein of influenza A virus is able to suppress SG formation in WT virus-infected cells and might also counteract the effects of increased IFN β transcription. This shows the evolutionary interplay between the host and virus in developing defense strategies for survival and replication of the virus. Additionally, results from this study also suggest that the function of DDX3 in SG formation has a strong effect on virus replication when compared to its IFN β regulatory function.

References

- Abt, M. C., L. C. Osborne, L. A. Monticelli, T. A. Doering, T. Alenghat, G. F. Sonnenberg, M. A. Paley, M. Antenus, K. L. Williams, J. Erikson, E. J. Wherry, and D. Artis. 2012. Commensal bacteria calibrate the activation threshold of innate antiviral immunity. Immunity 37:158-70.
- 2. Afshar, M., and R. L. Gallo. 2013. Innate immune defense system of the skin. Vet Dermatol 24:32-8 e8-9.
- 3. Akarsu, H., W. P. Burmeister, C. Petosa, I. Petit, C. W. Muller, R. W. Ruigrok, and F. Baudin. 2003. Crystal structure of the M1 protein-binding domain of the influenza A virus nuclear export protein (NEP/NS2). EMBO J 22:4646-55.
- 4. Akira, S. 2006. TLR signaling. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol **311**:1-16.
- 5. Akira, S., and K. Takeda. 2004. Toll-like receptor signalling. Nat Rev Immunol 4:499-511.
- 6. Akira, S., S. Uematsu, and O. Takeuchi. 2006. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. Cell **124**:783-801.
- 7. Alenzi, F. Q. 2010. H1N1 update review. Saudi Med J **31:**235-46.
- 8. Alexopoulou, L., A. C. Holt, R. Medzhitov, and R. A. Flavell. 2001. Recognition of double-stranded RNA and activation of NF-kappaB by Toll-like receptor 3. Nature **413:**732-8.
- 9. Allen, I. C., C. B. Moore, M. Schneider, Y. Lei, B. K. Davis, M. A. Scull, D. Gris, K. E. Roney, A. G. Zimmermann, J. B. Bowzard, P. Ranjan, K. M. Monroe, R. J. Pickles, S. Sambhara, and J. P. Ting. 2011. NLRX1 protein attenuates inflammatory responses to infection by interfering with the RIG-I-MAVS and TRAF6-NF-kappaB signaling pathways. Immunity 34:854-65.
- Allen, I. C., M. A. Scull, C. B. Moore, E. K. Holl, E. McElvania-TeKippe, D. J. Taxman, E. H. Guthrie, R. J. Pickles, and J. P. Ting. 2009. The NLRP3 inflammasome mediates in vivo innate immunity to influenza A virus through recognition of viral RNA. Immunity 30:556-65.
- Allen, I. C., J. E. Wilson, M. Schneider, J. D. Lich, R. A. Roberts, J. C. Arthur, R. M. Woodford, B. K. Davis, J. M. Uronis, H. H. Herfarth, C. Jobin, A. B. Rogers, and J. P. Ting. 2012. NLRP12 suppresses colon inflammation and tumorigenesis through the negative regulation of noncanonical NF-kappaB signaling. Immunity 36:742-54.
- 12. Amorim, M. J., E. A. Bruce, E. K. Read, A. Foeglein, R. Mahen, A. D. Stuart, and P. Digard. 2011. A Rab11- and microtubule-dependent mechanism for cytoplasmic transport of influenza A virus viral RNA. Journal of virology **85**:4143-56.
- 13. **Amulic, B., C. Cazalet, G. L. Hayes, K. D. Metzler, and A. Zychlinsky.** 2012. Neutrophil function: from mechanisms to disease. Annu Rev Immunol **30:**459-89.
- 14. **Anchisi, S., J. Guerra, and D. Garcin.** 2015. RIG-I ATPase activity and discrimination of self-RNA versus non-self-RNA. MBio **6**:e02349.
- 15. Anderson, P., and N. Kedersha. 2009. Stress granules. Curr Biol 19:R397-8.
- 16. **Anderson, P., and N. Kedersha.** 2008. Stress granules: the Tao of RNA triage. Trends Biochem Sci **33**:141-50.
- 17. Anderson, P., and N. Kedersha. 2002. Stressful initiations. J Cell Sci 115:3227-34.

- 18. Andrade, W. A., C. Souza Mdo, E. Ramos-Martinez, K. Nagpal, M. S. Dutra, M. B. Melo, D. C. Bartholomeu, S. Ghosh, D. T. Golenbock, and R. T. Gazzinelli. 2013. Combined action of nucleic acid-sensing Toll-like receptors and TLR11/TLR12 heterodimers imparts resistance to Toxoplasma gondii in mice. Cell Host Microbe 13:42-53.
- 19. **Ariumi, Y.** 2014. Multiple functions of DDX3 RNA helicase in gene regulation, tumorigenesis, and viral infection. Front Genet **5**:423.
- Ariumi, Y., M. Kuroki, K. Abe, H. Dansako, M. Ikeda, T. Wakita, and N. Kato.
 2007. DDX3 DEAD-box RNA helicase is required for hepatitis C virus RNA replication.
 J Virol 81:13922-6.
- 21. Ariumi, Y., M. Kuroki, Y. Kushima, K. Osugi, M. Hijikata, M. Maki, M. Ikeda, and N. Kato. 2011. Hepatitis C virus hijacks P-body and stress granule components around lipid droplets. J Virol **85:**6882-92.
- Arnon, T. I., M. Lev, G. Katz, Y. Chernobrov, A. Porgador, and O. Mandelboim.
 2001. Recognition of viral hemagglutinins by NKp44 but not by NKp30. Eur J Immunol
 31:2680-9.
- 23. **Ayllon, J., and A. Garcia-Sastre.** 2015. The NS1 protein: a multitasking virulence factor. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol **386:**73-107.
- 24. Bachi, A., I. C. Braun, J. P. Rodrigues, N. Pante, K. Ribbeck, C. von Kobbe, U. Kutay, M. Wilm, D. Gorlich, M. Carmo-Fonseca, and E. Izaurralde. 2000. The C-terminal domain of TAP interacts with the nuclear pore complex and promotes export of specific CTE-bearing RNA substrates. RNA 6:136-58.
- 25. **Bailey, C. C., I. C. Huang, C. Kam, and M. Farzan.** 2012. Ifitm3 limits the severity of acute influenza in mice. PLoS Pathog **8:**e1002909.
- 26. **Bailey, C. C., G. Zhong, I. C. Huang, and M. Farzan.** 2014. IFITM-Family Proteins: The Cell's First Line of Antiviral Defense. Annu Rev Virol **1**:261-283.
- 27. Balachandran, S., P. C. Roberts, L. E. Brown, H. Truong, A. K. Pattnaik, D. R. Archer, and G. N. Barber. 2000. Essential role for the dsRNA-dependent protein kinase PKR in innate immunity to viral infection. Immunity 13:129-41.
- 28. **Banchereau, J., and R. M. Steinman.** 1998. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature **392:**245-52.
- 29. **Barabino, S. M., W. Hubner, A. Jenny, L. Minvielle-Sebastia, and W. Keller.** 1997. The 30-kD subunit of mammalian cleavage and polyadenylation specificity factor and its yeast homolog are RNA-binding zinc finger proteins. Genes Dev **11**:1703-16.
- 30. Barondes, S. H., V. Castronovo, D. N. Cooper, R. D. Cummings, K. Drickamer, T. Feizi, M. A. Gitt, J. Hirabayashi, C. Hughes, K. Kasai, and et al. 1994. Galectins: a family of animal beta-galactoside-binding lectins. Cell 76:597-8.
- 31. **Barr, F. E., H. Pedigo, T. R. Johnson, and V. L. Shepherd.** 2000. Surfactant protein-A enhances uptake of respiratory syncytial virus by monocytes and U937 macrophages. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol **23:**586-92.
- 32. **Barr, S. D., J. R. Smiley, and F. D. Bushman.** 2008. The interferon response inhibits HIV particle production by induction of TRIM22. PLoS Pathog **4:**e1000007.
- 33. **Bateman, A. C., A. I. Karasin, and C. W. Olsen.** 2013. Differentiated swine airway epithelial cell cultures for the investigation of influenza A virus infection and replication. Influenza Other Respir Viruses **7:**139-50.

- 34. **Baudin, F., C. Bach, S. Cusack, and R. W. Ruigrok.** 1994. Structure of influenza virus RNP. I. Influenza virus nucleoprotein melts secondary structure in panhandle RNA and exposes the bases to the solvent. EMBO J **13**:3158-65.
- 35. **Baum, A., R. Sachidanandam, and A. Garcia-Sastre.** 2010. Preference of RIG-I for short viral RNA molecules in infected cells revealed by next-generation sequencing. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **107**:16303-8.
- 36. Bauman, D. R., A. D. Bitmansour, J. G. McDonald, B. M. Thompson, G. Liang, and D. W. Russell. 2009. 25-Hydroxycholesterol secreted by macrophages in response to Toll-like receptor activation suppresses immunoglobulin A production. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:16764-9.
- Bean, W. J., M. Schell, J. Katz, Y. Kawaoka, C. Naeve, O. Gorman, and R. G. Webster. 1992. Evolution of the H3 influenza virus hemagglutinin from human and nonhuman hosts. J Virol 66:1129-38.
- 38. **Beaton, A. R., and R. M. Krug.** 1986. Transcription antitermination during influenza viral template RNA synthesis requires the nucleocapsid protein and the absence of a 5' capped end. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **83**:6282-6.
- Becker, S., J. Quay, and J. Soukup. 1991. Cytokine (tumor necrosis factor, IL-6, and IL-8) production by respiratory syncytial virus-infected human alveolar macrophages. J Immunol 147:4307-12.
- 40. Beckham, C., A. Hilliker, A. M. Cziko, A. Noueiry, M. Ramaswami, and R. Parker. 2008. The DEAD-box RNA helicase Ded1p affects and accumulates in Saccharomyces cerevisiae P-bodies. Mol Biol Cell **19:**984-93.
- 41. **Beckham, C. J., and R. Parker.** 2008. P bodies, stress granules, and viral life cycles. Cell Host Microbe **3:**206-12.
- Belser, J. A., X. Lu, K. J. Szretter, X. Jin, L. M. Aschenbrenner, A. Lee, S. Hawley, H. Kim do, M. P. Malakhov, M. Yu, F. Fang, and J. M. Katz. 2007. DAS181, a novel sialidase fusion protein, protects mice from lethal avian influenza H5N1 virus infection. J Infect Dis 196:1493-9.
- 43. Benko, S., J. G. Magalhaes, D. J. Philpott, and S. E. Girardin. 2010. NLRC5 limits the activation of inflammatory pathways. J Immunol 185:1681-91.
- 44. **Berke, I. C., and Y. Modis.** 2012. MDA5 cooperatively forms dimers and ATP-sensitive filaments upon binding double-stranded RNA. EMBO J **31:**1714-26.
- 45. Berke, I. C., X. Yu, Y. Modis, and E. H. Egelman. 2012. MDA5 assembles into a polar helical filament on dsRNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **109**:18437-41.
- 46. Berlanga, J. J., I. Ventoso, H. P. Harding, J. Deng, D. Ron, N. Sonenberg, L. Carrasco, and C. de Haro. 2006. Antiviral effect of the mammalian translation initiation factor 2alpha kinase GCN2 against RNA viruses. EMBO J **25**:1730-40.
- 47. **Bhardwaj, N., A. Bender, N. Gonzalez, L. K. Bui, M. C. Garrett, and R. M. Steinman.** 1994. Influenza virus-infected dendritic cells stimulate strong proliferative and cytolytic responses from human CD8+ T cells. J Clin Invest **94:**797-807.
- 48. **Bier, K., A. York, and E. Fodor.** 2011. Cellular cap-binding proteins associate with influenza virus mRNAs. J Gen Virol **92:**1627-34.
- 49. **Biere, B., B. Bauer, and B. Schweiger.** 2010. Differentiation of influenza B virus lineages Yamagata and Victoria by real-time PCR. J Clin Microbiol **48:**1425-7.

- 50. Binder, M., F. Eberle, S. Seitz, N. Mucke, C. M. Huber, N. Kiani, L. Kaderali, V. Lohmann, A. Dalpke, and R. Bartenschlager. 2011. Molecular mechanism of signal perception and integration by the innate immune sensor retinoic acid-inducible gene-I (RIG-I). J Biol Chem 286:27278-87.
- 51. Bish, R., N. Cuevas-Polo, Z. Cheng, D. Hambardzumyan, M. Munschauer, M. Landthaler, and C. Vogel. 2015. Comprehensive Protein Interactome Analysis of a Key RNA Helicase: Detection of Novel Stress Granule Proteins. Biomolecules 5:1441-66.
- 52. Blanc, M., W. Y. Hsieh, K. A. Robertson, K. A. Kropp, T. Forster, G. Shui, P. Lacaze, S. Watterson, S. J. Griffiths, N. J. Spann, A. Meljon, S. Talbot, K. Krishnan, D. F. Covey, M. R. Wenk, M. Craigon, Z. Ruzsics, J. Haas, A. Angulo, W. J. Griffiths, C. K. Glass, Y. Wang, and P. Ghazal. 2013. The transcription factor STAT-1 couples macrophage synthesis of 25-hydroxycholesterol to the interferon antiviral response. Immunity 38:106-18.
- 53. Blasius, A. L., and B. Beutler. 2010. Intracellular toll-like receptors. Immunity 32:305-15.
- 54. Blevins, M. B., A. M. Smith, E. M. Phillips, and M. A. Powers. 2003. Complex formation among the RNA export proteins Nup98, Rae1/Gle2, and TAP. J Biol Chem 278:20979-88.
- 55. **Boehm, U., T. Klamp, M. Groot, and J. C. Howard.** 1997. Cellular responses to interferon-gamma. Annu Rev Immunol **15:**749-95.
- 56. **Booy, F. P., R. W. Ruigrok, and E. F. van Bruggen.** 1985. Electron microscopy of influenza virus. A comparison of negatively stained and ice-embedded particles. J Mol Biol **184:**667-76.
- 57. **Bornholdt, Z. A., and B. V. Prasad.** 2008. X-ray structure of NS1 from a highly pathogenic H5N1 influenza virus. Nature **456**:985-8.
- 58. Bortz, E., L. Westera, J. Maamary, J. Steel, R. A. Albrecht, B. Manicassamy, G. Chase, L. Martinez-Sobrido, M. Schwemmle, and A. Garcia-Sastre. 2011. Host- and strain-specific regulation of influenza virus polymerase activity by interacting cellular proteins. MBio 2.
- 59. Botlagunta, M., F. Vesuna, Y. Mironchik, A. Raman, A. Lisok, P. Winnard, Jr., S. Mukadam, P. Van Diest, J. H. Chen, P. Farabaugh, A. H. Patel, and V. Raman. 2008. Oncogenic role of DDX3 in breast cancer biogenesis. Oncogene 27:3912-22.
- 60. Bottcher-Friebertshauser, E., C. Freuer, F. Sielaff, S. Schmidt, M. Eickmann, J. Uhlendorff, T. Steinmetzer, H. D. Klenk, and W. Garten. 2010. Cleavage of influenza virus hemagglutinin by airway proteases TMPRSS2 and HAT differs in subcellular localization and susceptibility to protease inhibitors. J Virol 84:5605-14.
- 61. **Bottcher-Friebertshauser, E., D. A. Stein, H. D. Klenk, and W. Garten.** 2011. Inhibition of influenza virus infection in human airway cell cultures by an antisense peptide-conjugated morpholino oligomer targeting the hemagglutinin-activating protease TMPRSS2. J Virol **85:**1554-62.
- 62. **Bourmakina, S. V., and A. Garcia-Sastre.** 2003. Reverse genetics studies on the filamentous morphology of influenza A virus. J Gen Virol **84:**517-27.
- 63. **Braam, J., I. Ulmanen, and R. M. Krug.** 1983. Molecular model of a eucaryotic transcription complex: functions and movements of influenza P proteins during capped RNA-primed transcription. Cell **34:**609-18.

- 64. Brass, A. L., I. C. Huang, Y. Benita, S. P. John, M. N. Krishnan, E. M. Feeley, B. J. Ryan, J. L. Weyer, L. van der Weyden, E. Fikrig, D. J. Adams, R. J. Xavier, M. Farzan, and S. J. Elledge. 2009. The IFITM proteins mediate cellular resistance to influenza A H1N1 virus, West Nile virus, and dengue virus. Cell 139:1243-54.
- 65. Breuer, K., A. K. Foroushani, M. R. Laird, C. Chen, A. Sribnaia, R. Lo, G. L. Winsor, R. E. Hancock, F. S. Brinkman, and D. J. Lynn. 2013. InnateDB: systems biology of innate immunity and beyond--recent updates and continuing curation. Nucleic Acids Res **41**:D1228-33.
- 66. **Bright, R. A., D. K. Shay, B. Shu, N. J. Cox, and A. I. Klimov.** 2006. Adamantane resistance among influenza A viruses isolated early during the 2005-2006 influenza season in the United States. JAMA **295:**891-4.
- 67. **Brownlee, G. G., and J. L. Sharps.** 2002. The RNA polymerase of influenza a virus is stabilized by interaction with its viral RNA promoter. J Virol **76:**7103-13.
- 68. **Bruno, L., T. Seidl, and A. Lanzavecchia.** 2001. Mouse pre-immunocytes as nonproliferating multipotent precursors of macrophages, interferon-producing cells, CD8alpha(+) and CD8alpha(-) dendritic cells. Eur J Immunol **31:**3403-12.
- 69. Buchan, J. R., and R. Parker. 2009. Eukaryotic stress granules: the ins and outs of translation. Mol Cell **36**:932-41.
- 70. **Burgui, I., T. Aragon, J. Ortin, and A. Nieto.** 2003. PABP1 and eIF4GI associate with influenza virus NS1 protein in viral mRNA translation initiation complexes. J Gen Virol **84:**3263-74.
- 71. **Burleigh, L. M., L. J. Calder, J. J. Skehel, and D. A. Steinhauer.** 2005. Influenza a viruses with mutations in the m1 helix six domain display a wide variety of morphological phenotypes. J Virol **79:**1262-70.
- 72. Cardenas, W. B., Y. M. Loo, M. Gale, Jr., A. L. Hartman, C. R. Kimberlin, L. Martinez-Sobrido, E. O. Saphire, and C. F. Basler. 2006. Ebola virus VP35 protein binds double-stranded RNA and inhibits alpha/beta interferon production induced by RIG-I signaling. J Virol 80:5168-78.
- 73. Carninci, P., C. Kvam, A. Kitamura, T. Ohsumi, Y. Okazaki, M. Itoh, M. Kamiya, K. Shibata, N. Sasaki, M. Izawa, M. Muramatsu, Y. Hayashizaki, and C. Schneider. 1996. High-efficiency full-length cDNA cloning by biotinylated CAP trapper. Genomics 37:327-36.
- 74. **Carrat, F., and A. Flahault.** 2007. Influenza vaccine: the challenge of antigenic drift. Vaccine **25:**6852-62.
- 75. **Cella, M., F. Facchetti, A. Lanzavecchia, and M. Colonna.** 2000. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells activated by influenza virus and CD40L drive a potent TH1 polarization. Nat Immunol **1**:305-10.
- 76. Chahar, H. S., S. Chen, and N. Manjunath. 2013. P-body components LSM1, GW182, DDX3, DDX6 and XRN1 are recruited to WNV replication sites and positively regulate viral replication. Virology 436:1-7.
- 77. **Chakrabarti, A. K., and G. Pasricha.** 2013. An insight into the PB1F2 protein and its multifunctional role in enhancing the pathogenicity of the influenza A viruses. Virology **440:**97-104.
- 78. Chang, P. C., C. W. Chi, G. Y. Chau, F. Y. Li, Y. H. Tsai, J. C. Wu, and Y. H. Wu Lee. 2006. DDX3, a DEAD box RNA helicase, is deregulated in hepatitis virus-

associated hepatocellular carcinoma and is involved in cell growth control. Oncogene **25**:1991-2003.

- 79. **Chang, T. H., C. L. Liao, and Y. L. Lin.** 2006. Flavivirus induces interferon-beta gene expression through a pathway involving RIG-I-dependent IRF-3 and PI3K-dependent NF-kappaB activation. Microbes Infect **8**:157-71.
- 80. Chao, C. H., C. M. Chen, P. L. Cheng, J. W. Shih, A. P. Tsou, and Y. H. Lee. 2006. DDX3, a DEAD box RNA helicase with tumor growth-suppressive property and transcriptional regulation activity of the p21waf1/cip1 promoter, is a candidate tumor suppressor. Cancer Res **66**:6579-88.
- 81. **Chen, G., C. H. Liu, L. Zhou, and R. M. Krug.** 2014. Cellular DDX21 RNA helicase inhibits influenza A virus replication but is counteracted by the viral NS1 protein. Cell Host Microbe **15**:484-93.
- 82. Chen, R., and E. C. Holmes. 2006. Avian influenza virus exhibits rapid evolutionary dynamics. Mol Biol Evol 23:2336-41.
- 83. Chen, W., P. A. Calvo, D. Malide, J. Gibbs, U. Schubert, I. Bacik, S. Basta, R. O'Neill, J. Schickli, P. Palese, P. Henklein, J. R. Bennink, and J. W. Yewdell. 2001. A novel influenza A virus mitochondrial protein that induces cell death. Nat Med 7:1306-12.
- 84. **Chenavas, S., T. Crepin, B. Delmas, R. W. Ruigrok, and A. Slama-Schwok.** 2013. Influenza virus nucleoprotein: structure, RNA binding, oligomerization and antiviral drug target. Future Microbiol **8**:1537-45.
- 85. Childs, R. A., A. S. Palma, S. Wharton, T. Matrosovich, Y. Liu, W. Chai, M. A. Campanero-Rhodes, Y. Zhang, M. Eickmann, M. Kiso, A. Hay, M. Matrosovich, and T. Feizi. 2009. Receptor-binding specificity of pandemic influenza A (H1N1) 2009 virus determined by carbohydrate microarray. Nat Biotechnol 27:797-9.
- 86. **Choi, Y. K., S. M. Goyal, and H. S. Joo.** 2002. Prevalence of swine influenza virus subtypes on swine farms in the United States. Arch Virol **147**:1209-20.
- 87. Choppin, P. W., and I. Tamm. 1960. Studies of two kinds of virus particles which comprise influenza A2 virus strains. II. Reactivity with virus inhibitors in normal sera. J Exp Med 112:921-44.
- 88. Chou, M. Y., N. Rooke, C. W. Turck, and D. L. Black. 1999. hnRNP H is a component of a splicing enhancer complex that activates a c-src alternative exon in neuronal cells. Mol Cell Biol **19**:69-77.
- 89. Chu, C., S. Fan, C. Li, C. Macken, J. H. Kim, M. Hatta, G. Neumann, and Y. Kawaoka. 2012. Functional analysis of conserved motifs in influenza virus PB1 protein. PLoS One 7:e36113.
- 90. Chu, C. M., I. M. Dawson, and W. J. Elford. 1949. Filamentous forms associated with newly isolated influenza virus. Lancet 1:602.
- 91. Civril, F., M. Bennett, M. Moldt, T. Deimling, G. Witte, S. Schiesser, T. Carell, and K. P. Hopfner. 2011. The RIG-I ATPase domain structure reveals insights into ATP-dependent antiviral signalling. EMBO Rep 12:1127-34.
- 92. Clark, K., L. Plater, M. Peggie, and P. Cohen. 2009. Use of the pharmacological inhibitor BX795 to study the regulation and physiological roles of TBK1 and IkappaB kinase epsilon: a distinct upstream kinase mediates Ser-172 phosphorylation and activation. J Biol Chem **284:**14136-46.

- 93. Connor, R. J., Y. Kawaoka, R. G. Webster, and J. C. Paulson. 1994. Receptor specificity in human, avian, and equine H2 and H3 influenza virus isolates. Virology **205:**17-23.
- 94. Copeland, C. S., R. W. Doms, E. M. Bolzau, R. G. Webster, and A. Helenius. 1986. Assembly of influenza hemagglutinin trimers and its role in intracellular transport. J Cell Biol 103:1179-91.
- 95. Cordin, O., J. Banroques, N. K. Tanner, and P. Linder. 2006. The DEAD-box protein family of RNA helicases. Gene **367**:17-37.
- 96. **Cros, J. F., A. Garcia-Sastre, and P. Palese.** 2005. An unconventional NLS is critical for the nuclear import of the influenza A virus nucleoprotein and ribonucleoprotein. Traffic **6**:205-13.
- 97. Cruciat, C. M., C. Dolde, R. E. de Groot, B. Ohkawara, C. Reinhard, H. C. Korswagen, and C. Niehrs. 2013. RNA helicase DDX3 is a regulatory subunit of casein kinase 1 in Wnt-beta-catenin signaling. Science **339**:1436-41.
- 98. Cui, J., Y. Li, L. Zhu, D. Liu, Z. Songyang, H. Y. Wang, and R. F. Wang. 2012. NLRP4 negatively regulates type I interferon signaling by targeting the kinase TBK1 for degradation via the ubiquitin ligase DTX4. Nat Immunol 13:387-95.
- 99. Culjkovic, B., I. Topisirovic, L. Skrabanek, M. Ruiz-Gutierrez, and K. L. Borden. 2006. eIF4E is a central node of an RNA regulon that governs cellular proliferation. J Cell Biol 175:415-26.
- 100. Dang, Y., N. Kedersha, W. K. Low, D. Romo, M. Gorospe, R. Kaufman, P. Anderson, and J. O. Liu. 2006. Eukaryotic initiation factor 2alpha-independent pathway of stress granule induction by the natural product pateamine A. J Biol Chem 281:32870-8.
- Darapaneni, V., V. K. Prabhaker, and A. Kukol. 2009. Large-scale analysis of influenza A virus sequences reveals potential drug target sites of non-structural proteins. J Gen Virol 90:2124-33.
- 102. Davies, W. L., R. R. Grunert, R. F. Haff, J. W. McGahen, E. M. Neumayer, M. Paulshock, J. C. Watts, T. R. Wood, E. C. Hermann, and C. E. Hoffmann. 1964. Antiviral Activity of 1-Adamantanamine (Amantadine). Science 144:862-3.
- 103. Davis, W. G., J. B. Bowzard, S. D. Sharma, M. E. Wiens, P. Ranjan, S. Gangappa, O. Stuchlik, J. Pohl, R. O. Donis, J. M. Katz, C. E. Cameron, T. Fujita, and S. Sambhara. 2012. The 3' untranslated regions of influenza genomic sequences are 5'PPPindependent ligands for RIG-I. PLoS One 7:e32661.
- 104. de Chassey, B., A. Aublin-Gex, A. Ruggieri, L. Meyniel-Schicklin, F. Pradezynski, N. Davoust, T. Chantier, L. Tafforeau, P. E. Mangeot, C. Ciancia, L. Perrin-Cocon, R. Bartenschlager, P. Andre, and V. Lotteau. 2013. The interactomes of influenza virus NS1 and NS2 proteins identify new host factors and provide insights for ADAR1 playing a supportive role in virus replication. PLoS Pathog 9:e1003440.
- 105. de Chassey, B., L. Meyniel-Schicklin, A. Aublin-Gex, P. Andre, and V. Lotteau. 2012. Genetic screens for the control of influenza virus replication: from meta-analysis to drug discovery. Mol Biosyst 8:1297-303.
- 106. de Jong, J. C., F. M. de Ronde-Verloop, T. M. Veenendaal-van Herk, T. F. Weijers, K. Bijlsma, and A. D. Osterhaus. 1988. Antigenic heterogeneity within influenza A (H3N2) virus strains. Bull World Health Organ 66:47-55.

- de la Luna, S., P. Fortes, A. Beloso, and J. Ortin. 1995. Influenza virus NS1 protein enhances the rate of translation initiation of viral mRNAs. Journal of virology 69:2427-33.
- 108. **De Miranda, J., K. Yaddanapudi, M. Hornig, and W. I. Lipkin.** 2009. Astrocytes recognize intracellular polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid via MDA-5. FASEB J **23:**1064-71.
- 109. de Vries, E., D. M. Tscherne, M. J. Wienholts, V. Cobos-Jimenez, F. Scholte, A. Garcia-Sastre, P. J. Rottier, and C. A. de Haan. 2011. Dissection of the influenza A virus endocytic routes reveals macropinocytosis as an alternative entry pathway. PLoS Pathog 7:e1001329.
- Decker, C. J., and R. Parker. 2012. P-bodies and stress granules: possible roles in the control of translation and mRNA degradation. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 4:a012286.
- 111. **Der, S. D., A. Zhou, B. R. Williams, and R. H. Silverman.** 1998. Identification of genes differentially regulated by interferon alpha, beta, or gamma using oligonucleotide arrays. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **95:**15623-8.
- 112. **Desselberger, U., V. R. Racaniello, J. J. Zazra, and P. Palese.** 1980. The 3' and 5'terminal sequences of influenza A, B and C virus RNA segments are highly conserved and show partial inverted complementarity. Gene **8:**315-28.
- 113. Di Pietro, A., A. Kajaste-Rudnitski, A. Oteiza, L. Nicora, G. J. Towers, N. Mechti, and E. Vicenzi. 2013. TRIM22 inhibits influenza A virus infection by targeting the viral nucleoprotein for degradation. J Virol **87:**4523-33.
- 114. Dias, A., D. Bouvier, T. Crepin, A. A. McCarthy, D. J. Hart, F. Baudin, S. Cusack, and R. W. Ruigrok. 2009. The cap-snatching endonuclease of influenza virus polymerase resides in the PA subunit. Nature **458**:914-8.
- 115. **Diebold, S. S., T. Kaisho, H. Hemmi, S. Akira, and C. Reis e Sousa.** 2004. Innate antiviral responses by means of TLR7-mediated recognition of single-stranded RNA. Science **303:**1529-31.
- 116. **Ditton, H. J., J. Zimmer, C. Kamp, E. Rajpert-De Meyts, and P. H. Vogt.** 2004. The AZFa gene DBY (DDX3Y) is widely transcribed but the protein is limited to the male germ cells by translation control. Hum Mol Genet **13:**2333-41.
- 117. **Donnelly, R. P., and S. V. Kotenko.** 2010. Interferon-lambda: a new addition to an old family. J Interferon Cytokine Res **30**:555-64.
- 118. Dos Santos Afonso, E., N. Escriou, I. Leclercq, S. van der Werf, and N. Naffakh. 2005. The generation of recombinant influenza A viruses expressing a PB2 fusion protein requires the conservation of a packaging signal overlapping the coding and noncoding regions at the 5' end of the PB2 segment. Virology 341:34-46.
- 119. **Dreyfuss, G., M. J. Matunis, S. Pinol-Roma, and C. G. Burd.** 1993. hnRNP proteins and the biogenesis of mRNA. Annu Rev Biochem **62:**289-321.
- 120. **Droebner, K., S. Pleschka, S. Ludwig, and O. Planz.** 2011. Antiviral activity of the MEK-inhibitor U0126 against pandemic H1N1v and highly pathogenic avian influenza virus in vitro and in vivo. Antiviral Res **92:**195-203.
- 121. **Durfee, L. A., N. Lyon, K. Seo, and J. M. Huibregtse.** 2010. The ISG15 conjugation system broadly targets newly synthesized proteins: implications for the antiviral function of ISG15. Mol Cell **38**:722-32.

- 122. Ehrhardt, C., and S. Ludwig. 2009. A new player in a deadly game: influenza viruses and the PI3K/Akt signalling pathway. Cell Microbiol **11**:863-71.
- 123. Eisenbarth, S. C., A. Williams, O. R. Colegio, H. Meng, T. Strowig, A. Rongvaux, J. Henao-Mejia, C. A. Thaiss, S. Joly, D. G. Gonzalez, L. Xu, L. A. Zenewicz, A. M. Haberman, E. Elinav, S. H. Kleinstein, F. S. Sutterwala, and R. A. Flavell. 2012. NLRP10 is a NOD-like receptor essential to initiate adaptive immunity by dendritic cells. Nature 484:510-3.
- 124. Elinav, E., T. Strowig, A. L. Kau, J. Henao-Mejia, C. A. Thaiss, C. J. Booth, D. R. Peaper, J. Bertin, S. C. Eisenbarth, J. I. Gordon, and R. A. Flavell. 2011. NLRP6 inflammasome regulates colonic microbial ecology and risk for colitis. Cell **145**:745-57.
- 125. Elleman, C. J., and W. S. Barclay. 2004. The M1 matrix protein controls the filamentous phenotype of influenza A virus. Virology **321**:144-53.
- 126. **Emara, M. M., and M. A. Brinton.** 2007. Interaction of TIA-1/TIAR with West Nile and dengue virus products in infected cells interferes with stress granule formation and processing body assembly. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **104**:9041-6.
- 127. Eulalio, A., I. Behm-Ansmant, and E. Izaurralde. 2007. P bodies: at the crossroads of post-transcriptional pathways. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8:9-22.
- 128. Falcon, A. M., A. Fernandez-Sesma, Y. Nakaya, T. M. Moran, J. Ortin, and A. Garcia-Sastre. 2005. Attenuation and immunogenicity in mice of temperature-sensitive influenza viruses expressing truncated NS1 proteins. J Gen Virol **86:**2817-21.
- 129. Falcon, A. M., P. Fortes, R. M. Marion, A. Beloso, and J. Ortin. 1999. Interaction of influenza virus NS1 protein and the human homologue of Staufen in vivo and in vitro. Nucleic Acids Res 27:2241-7.
- 130. Fechter, P., and G. G. Brownlee. 2005. Recognition of mRNA cap structures by viral and cellular proteins. J Gen Virol 86:1239-49.
- 131. Feeley, E. M., J. S. Sims, S. P. John, C. R. Chin, T. Pertel, L. M. Chen, G. D. Gaiha, B. J. Ryan, R. O. Donis, S. J. Elledge, and A. L. Brass. 2011. IFITM3 inhibits influenza A virus infection by preventing cytosolic entry. PLoS Pathog 7:e1002337.
- 132. Feldmann, A., M. K. Schafer, W. Garten, and H. D. Klenk. 2000. Targeted infection of endothelial cells by avian influenza virus A/FPV/Rostock/34 (H7N1) in chicken embryos. J Virol 74:8018-27.
- 133. Feng, Q., S. V. Hato, M. A. Langereis, J. Zoll, R. Virgen-Slane, A. Peisley, S. Hur, B. L. Semler, R. P. van Rij, and F. J. van Kuppeveld. 2012. MDA5 detects the double-stranded RNA replicative form in picornavirus-infected cells. Cell Rep 2:1187-96.
- 134. **Ferlin, A., E. Moro, A. Rossi, B. Dallapiccola, and C. Foresta.** 2003. The human Y chromosome's azoospermia factor b (AZFb) region: sequence, structure, and deletion analysis in infertile men. J Med Genet **40**:18-24.
- 135. Ferrage, F., K. Dutta, E. Nistal-Villan, J. R. Patel, M. T. Sanchez-Aparicio, P. De Ioannes, A. Buku, G. G. Aseguinolaza, A. Garcia-Sastre, and A. K. Aggarwal. 2012. Structure and dynamics of the second CARD of human RIG-I provide mechanistic insights into regulation of RIG-I activation. Structure 20:2048-61.
- 136. Ferrari, M., A. Scalvini, M. N. Losio, A. Corradi, M. Soncini, E. Bignotti, E. Milanesi, P. Ajmone-Marsan, S. Barlati, D. Bellotti, and M. Tonelli. 2003. Establishment and characterization of two new pig cell lines for use in virological diagnostic laboratories. J Virol Methods 107:205-12.

- 137. Finnen, R. L., K. R. Pangka, and B. W. Banfield. 2012. Herpes simplex virus 2 infection impacts stress granule accumulation. J Virol **86:**8119-30.
- 138. Fitzgerald, K. A., S. M. McWhirter, K. L. Faia, D. C. Rowe, E. Latz, D. T. Golenbock, A. J. Coyle, S. M. Liao, and T. Maniatis. 2003. IKKepsilon and TBK1 are essential components of the IRF3 signaling pathway. Nat Immunol 4:491-6.
- 139. Flick, R., G. Neumann, E. Hoffmann, E. Neumeier, and G. Hobom. 1996. Promoter elements in the influenza vRNA terminal structure. RNA 2:1046-57.
- 140. Flores, M., C. Chew, K. Tyan, W. Q. Huang, A. Salem, and R. Clynes. 2015. FcgammaRIIB prevents inflammatory type I IFN production from plasmacytoid dendritic cells during a viral memory response. J Immunol 194:4240-50.
- Fodor, E., D. C. Pritlove, and G. G. Brownlee. 1995. Characterization of the RNA-fork model of virion RNA in the initiation of transcription in influenza A virus. J Virol 69:4012-9.
- 142. **Fontalba, A., O. Gutierrez, and J. L. Fernandez-Luna.** 2007. NLRP2, an inhibitor of the NF-kappaB pathway, is transcriptionally activated by NF-kappaB and exhibits a nonfunctional allelic variant. J Immunol **179:**8519-24.
- 143. Fonteneau, J. F., M. Gilliet, M. Larsson, I. Dasilva, C. Munz, Y. J. Liu, and N. Bhardwaj. 2003. Activation of influenza virus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells: a new role for plasmacytoid dendritic cells in adaptive immunity. Blood 101:3520-6.
- 144. **Fortes, P., A. Beloso, and J. Ortin.** 1994. Influenza virus NS1 protein inhibits premRNA splicing and blocks mRNA nucleocytoplasmic transport. EMBO J **13**:704-12.
- 145. **Franca, R., A. Belfiore, S. Spadari, and G. Maga.** 2007. Human DEAD-box ATPase DDX3 shows a relaxed nucleoside substrate specificity. Proteins **67:**1128-37.
- 146. Franchi, L., A. Amer, M. Body-Malapel, T. D. Kanneganti, N. Ozoren, R. Jagirdar, N. Inohara, P. Vandenabeele, J. Bertin, A. Coyle, E. P. Grant, and G. Nunez. 2006. Cytosolic flagellin requires Ipaf for activation of caspase-1 and interleukin 1beta in salmonella-infected macrophages. Nat Immunol 7:576-82.
- 147. **Fredericksen, B. L., and M. Gale, Jr.** 2006. West Nile virus evades activation of interferon regulatory factor 3 through RIG-I-dependent and -independent pathways without antagonizing host defense signaling. J Virol **80:**2913-23.
- 148. Fuchs, A., T. Y. Lin, D. W. Beasley, C. M. Stover, W. J. Schwaeble, T. C. Pierson, and M. S. Diamond. 2010. Direct complement restriction of flavivirus infection requires glycan recognition by mannose-binding lectin. Cell Host Microbe 8:186-95.
- 149. **Fuller-Pace, F. V.** 2006. DExD/H box RNA helicases: multifunctional proteins with important roles in transcriptional regulation. Nucleic Acids Res **34**:4206-15.
- 150. Gack, M. U., R. A. Albrecht, T. Urano, K. S. Inn, I. C. Huang, E. Carnero, M. Farzan, S. Inoue, J. U. Jung, and A. Garcia-Sastre. 2009. Influenza A virus NS1 targets the ubiquitin ligase TRIM25 to evade recognition by the host viral RNA sensor RIG-I. Cell Host Microbe 5:439-49.
- 151. Gack, M. U., Y. C. Shin, C. H. Joo, T. Urano, C. Liang, L. Sun, O. Takeuchi, S. Akira, Z. Chen, S. Inoue, and J. U. Jung. 2007. TRIM25 RING-finger E3 ubiquitin ligase is essential for RIG-I-mediated antiviral activity. Nature **446**:916-920.
- 152. Gammelin, M., A. Altmuller, U. Reinhardt, J. Mandler, V. R. Harley, P. J. Hudson, W. M. Fitch, and C. Scholtissek. 1990. Phylogenetic analysis of nucleoproteins

suggests that human influenza A viruses emerged from a 19th-century avian ancestor. Mol Biol Evol **7:**194-200.

- 153. Garbelli, A., S. Beermann, G. Di Cicco, U. Dietrich, and G. Maga. 2011. A motif unique to the human DEAD-box protein DDX3 is important for nucleic acid binding, ATP hydrolysis, RNA/DNA unwinding and HIV-1 replication. PLoS One 6:e19810.
- 154. **Garcia-Sastre, A.** 2011. Induction and evasion of type I interferon responses by influenza viruses. Virus Res **162**:12-8.
- 155. **Garcia-Sastre, A.** 2012. The neuraminidase of bat influenza viruses is not a neuraminidase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **109**:18635-6.
- 156. Garcia-Sastre, A., A. Egorov, D. Matassov, S. Brandt, D. E. Levy, J. E. Durbin, P. Palese, and T. Muster. 1998. Influenza A virus lacking the NS1 gene replicates in interferon-deficient systems. Virology 252:324-30.
- 157. Garcin, P., S. Cohen, S. Terpstra, I. Kelly, L. J. Foster, and N. Pante. 2013. Proteomic analysis identifies a novel function for galectin-3 in the cell entry of parvovirus. J Proteomics **79**:123-32.
- 158. **Garfinkel, M. S., and M. G. Katze.** 1993. Translational control by influenza virus. Selective translation is mediated by sequences within the viral mRNA 5'-untranslated region. J Biol Chem **268**:22223-6.
- 159. Garner, O. B., H. C. Aguilar, J. A. Fulcher, E. L. Levroney, R. Harrison, L. Wright, L. R. Robinson, V. Aspericueta, M. Panico, S. M. Haslam, H. R. Morris, A. Dell, B. Lee, and L. G. Baum. 2010. Endothelial galectin-1 binds to specific glycans on nipah virus fusion protein and inhibits maturation, mobility, and function to block syncytia formation. PLoS Pathog 6:e1000993.
- 160. Gastaminza, P., B. Perales, A. M. Falcon, and J. Ortin. 2003. Mutations in the Nterminal region of influenza virus PB2 protein affect virus RNA replication but not transcription. J Virol 77:5098-108.
- 161. Gazit, R., R. Gruda, M. Elboim, T. I. Arnon, G. Katz, H. Achdout, J. Hanna, U. Qimron, G. Landau, E. Greenbaum, Z. Zakay-Rones, A. Porgador, and O. Mandelboim. 2006. Lethal influenza infection in the absence of the natural killer cell receptor gene Ncr1. Nat Immunol 7:517-23.
- 162. Geiss, G. K., M. Salvatore, T. M. Tumpey, V. S. Carter, X. Wang, C. F. Basler, J. K. Taubenberger, R. E. Bumgarner, P. Palese, M. G. Katze, and A. Garcia-Sastre. 2002. Cellular transcriptional profiling in influenza A virus-infected lung epithelial cells: the role of the nonstructural NS1 protein in the evasion of the host innate defense and its potential contribution to pandemic influenza. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:10736-41.
- 163. **Geissler, R., R. P. Golbik, and S. E. Behrens.** 2012. The DEAD-box helicase DDX3 supports the assembly of functional 80S ribosomes. Nucleic Acids Res **40**:4998-5011.
- 164. **Gething, M. J., K. McCammon, and J. Sambrook.** 1986. Expression of wild-type and mutant forms of influenza hemagglutinin: the role of folding in intracellular transport. Cell **46**:939-50.
- Ghazarian, H., B. Idoni, and S. B. Oppenheimer. 2011. A glycobiology review: carbohydrates, lectins and implications in cancer therapeutics. Acta Histochem 113:236-47.

- 166. Ghildyal, R., C. Hartley, A. Varrasso, J. Meanger, D. R. Voelker, E. M. Anders, and J. Mills. 1999. Surfactant protein A binds to the fusion glycoprotein of respiratory syncytial virus and neutralizes virion infectivity. J Infect Dis 180:2009-13.
- 167. Ghisolfi, L., S. Dutt, M. E. McConkey, B. L. Ebert, and P. Anderson. 2012. Stress granules contribute to alpha-globin homeostasis in differentiating erythroid cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 420:768-74.
- 168. Gibbs, M. J., J. S. Armstrong, and A. J. Gibbs. 2001. Recombination in the hemagglutinin gene of the 1918 "Spanish flu". Science **293:**1842-5.
- 169. Girardin, S. E., I. G. Boneca, J. Viala, M. Chamaillard, A. Labigne, G. Thomas, D. J. Philpott, and P. J. Sansonetti. 2003. Nod2 is a general sensor of peptidoglycan through muramyl dipeptide (MDP) detection. J Biol Chem 278:8869-72.
- Girardin, S. E., M. Jehanno, D. Mengin-Lecreulx, P. J. Sansonetti, P. M. Alzari, and D. J. Philpott. 2005. Identification of the critical residues involved in peptidoglycan detection by Nod1. J Biol Chem 280:38648-56.
- 171. Gitlin, L., W. Barchet, S. Gilfillan, M. Cella, B. Beutler, R. A. Flavell, M. S. Diamond, and M. Colonna. 2006. Essential role of mda-5 in type I IFN responses to polyriboinosinic:polyribocytidylic acid and encephalomyocarditis picornavirus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:8459-64.
- 172. Gnirss, K., P. Zmora, P. Blazejewska, M. Winkler, A. Lins, I. Nehlmeier, S. Gartner, A. S. Moldenhauer, H. Hofmann-Winkler, T. Wolff, M. Schindler, and S. Pohlmann. 2015. Tetherin Sensitivity of Influenza A Viruses Is Strain Specific: Role of Hemagglutinin and Neuraminidase. J Virol 89:9178-88.
- 173. **Golebiewski, L., H. Liu, R. T. Javier, and A. P. Rice.** 2011. The avian influenza virus NS1 ESEV PDZ binding motif associates with Dlg1 and Scribble to disrupt cellular tight junctions. Journal of virology **85**:10639-48.
- 174. Gomez-Puertas, P., C. Albo, E. Perez-Pastrana, A. Vivo, and A. Portela. 2000. Influenza virus matrix protein is the major driving force in virus budding. J Virol 74:11538-47.
- 175. **Gonzalez, S., and J. Ortin.** 1999. Distinct regions of influenza virus PB1 polymerase subunit recognize vRNA and cRNA templates. EMBO J **18**:3767-75.
- 176. Gorman, O. T., W. J. Bean, Y. Kawaoka, I. Donatelli, Y. J. Guo, and R. G. Webster. 1991. Evolution of influenza A virus nucleoprotein genes: implications for the origins of H1N1 human and classical swine viruses. J Virol 65:3704-14.
- 177. Goubau, D., S. Deddouche, and C. Reis e Sousa. 2013. Cytosolic sensing of viruses. Immunity 38:855-69.
- 178. Goujon, C., O. Moncorge, H. Bauby, T. Doyle, C. C. Ward, T. Schaller, S. Hue, W. S. Barclay, R. Schulz, and M. H. Malim. 2013. Human MX2 is an interferon-induced post-entry inhibitor of HIV-1 infection. Nature 502:559-62.
- 179. **Goulet, I., S. Boisvenue, S. Mokas, R. Mazroui, and J. Cote.** 2008. TDRD3, a novel Tudor domain-containing protein, localizes to cytoplasmic stress granules. Hum Mol Genet **17**:3055-74.
- 180. Graef, K. M., F. T. Vreede, Y. F. Lau, A. W. McCall, S. M. Carr, K. Subbarao, and E. Fodor. 2010. The PB2 subunit of the influenza virus RNA polymerase affects virulence by interacting with the mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein and inhibiting expression of beta interferon. J Virol 84:8433-45.

- 181. **Greenspan, D., P. Palese, and M. Krystal.** 1988. Two nuclear location signals in the influenza virus NS1 nonstructural protein. Journal of virology **62:**3020-6.
- 182. **Griese, M.** 2002. Respiratory syncytial virus and pulmonary surfactant. Viral Immunol **15**:357-63.
- 183. Gu, L., A. Fullam, R. Brennan, and M. Schroder. 2013. Human DEAD box helicase 3 couples IkappaB kinase epsilon to interferon regulatory factor 3 activation. Mol Cell Biol 33:2004-15.
- 184. Guan, Z. H., M. L. Zhang, P. L. Hou, M. Duan, Y. M. Cui, and X. R. Wang. 2012. Identification of cellular proteins interacting with influenza A virus PB1-F2 protein. Acta Virol 56:199-207.
- 185. Guermonprez, P., J. Valladeau, L. Zitvogel, C. Thery, and S. Amigorena. 2002. Antigen presentation and T cell stimulation by dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 20:621-67.
- 186. Guilligay, D., F. Tarendeau, P. Resa-Infante, R. Coloma, T. Crepin, P. Sehr, J. Lewis, R. W. Ruigrok, J. Ortin, D. J. Hart, and S. Cusack. 2008. The structural basis for cap binding by influenza virus polymerase subunit PB2. Nat Struct Mol Biol 15:500-6.
- 187. **Guirimand, T., S. Delmotte, and V. Navratil.** 2015. VirHostNet 2.0: surfing on the web of virus/host molecular interactions data. Nucleic Acids Res **43**:D583-7.
- 188. **Gunther-Ausborn, S., P. Schoen, I. Bartoldus, J. Wilschut, and T. Stegmann.** 2000. Role of hemagglutinin surface density in the initial stages of influenza virus fusion: lack of evidence for cooperativity. J Virol **74:**2714-20.
- 189. Hale, B. G., R. E. Randall, J. Ortin, and D. Jackson. 2008. The multifunctional NS1 protein of influenza A viruses. J Gen Virol **89:**2359-76.
- 190. Haller, O., P. Staeheli, M. Schwemmle, and G. Kochs. 2015. Mx GTPases: dynaminlike antiviral machines of innate immunity. Trends Microbiol 23:154-63.
- 191. Han, A. P., C. Yu, L. Lu, Y. Fujiwara, C. Browne, G. Chin, M. Fleming, P. Leboulch, S. H. Orkin, and J. J. Chen. 2001. Heme-regulated eIF2alpha kinase (HRI) is required for translational regulation and survival of erythroid precursors in iron deficiency. EMBO J 20:6909-18.
- 192. Han, X., Z. Li, H. Chen, H. Wang, L. Mei, S. Wu, T. Zhang, B. Liu, and X. Lin. 2012. Influenza virus A/Beijing/501/2009(H1N1) NS1 interacts with beta-tubulin and induces disruption of the microtubule network and apoptosis on A549 cells. PLoS One 7:e48340.
- 193. Hao, L., A. Sakurai, T. Watanabe, E. Sorensen, C. A. Nidom, M. A. Newton, P. Ahlquist, and Y. Kawaoka. 2008. Drosophila RNAi screen identifies host genes important for influenza virus replication. Nature 454:890-3.
- 194. Hara, K., M. Shiota, H. Kido, K. Watanabe, K. Nagata, and T. Toyoda. 2003. Inhibition of the protease activity of influenza virus RNA polymerase PA subunit by viral matrix protein. Microbiol Immunol 47:521-6.
- 195. Harding, H. P., I. Novoa, Y. Zhang, H. Zeng, R. Wek, M. Schapira, and D. Ron. 2000. Regulated translation initiation controls stress-induced gene expression in mammalian cells. Mol Cell 6:1099-108.
- 196. Harris, B. Z., and W. A. Lim. 2001. Mechanism and role of PDZ domains in signaling complex assembly. J Cell Sci 114:3219-31.

- 197. Harrison, S. C. 2008. Viral membrane fusion. Nat Struct Mol Biol 15:690-8.
- 198. **Harton, J. A., M. W. Linhoff, J. Zhang, and J. P. Ting.** 2002. Cutting edge: CATERPILLER: a large family of mammalian genes containing CARD, pyrin, nucleotide-binding, and leucine-rich repeat domains. J Immunol **169:**4088-93.
- 199. Hartshorn, K. L., M. R. White, V. Shepherd, K. Reid, J. C. Jensenius, and E. C. Crouch. 1997. Mechanisms of anti-influenza activity of surfactant proteins A and D: comparison with serum collectins. Am J Physiol **273:**L1156-66.
- 200. Hartshorn, K. L., M. R. White, D. R. Voelker, J. Coburn, K. Zaner, and E. C. Crouch. 2000. Mechanism of binding of surfactant protein D to influenza A viruses: importance of binding to haemagglutinin to antiviral activity. Biochem J 351 Pt 2:449-58.
- 201. Hashimoto, G., P. F. Wright, and D. T. Karzon. 1983. Antibody-dependent cellmediated cytotoxicity against influenza virus-infected cells. J Infect Dis 148:785-94.
- 202. Hashimoto, Y., T. Moki, T. Takizawa, A. Shiratsuchi, and Y. Nakanishi. 2007. Evidence for phagocytosis of influenza virus-infected, apoptotic cells by neutrophils and macrophages in mice. J Immunol 178:2448-57.
- 203. Hatada, E., M. Hasegawa, J. Mukaigawa, K. Shimizu, and R. Fukuda. 1989. Control of influenza virus gene expression: quantitative analysis of each viral RNA species in infected cells. J Biochem 105:537-46.
- 204. **Hatada, E., S. Saito, and R. Fukuda.** 1999. Mutant influenza viruses with a defective NS1 protein cannot block the activation of PKR in infected cells. J Virol **73**:2425-33.
- 205. **Hayden, F. G.** 2001. Perspectives on antiviral use during pandemic influenza. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci **356**:1877-84.
- 206. Heikkinen, L. S., A. Kazlauskas, K. Melen, R. Wagner, T. Ziegler, I. Julkunen, and K. Saksela. 2008. Avian and 1918 Spanish influenza a virus NS1 proteins bind to Crk/CrkL Src homology 3 domains to activate host cell signaling. J Biol Chem 283:5719-27.
- 207. Herias, M. V., A. Hogenkamp, A. J. van Asten, M. H. Tersteeg, M. van Eijk, and H. P. Haagsman. 2007. Expression sites of the collectin SP-D suggest its importance in first line host defence: power of combining in situ hybridisation, RT-PCR and immunohistochemistry. Mol Immunol 44:3324-32.
- 208. **Herold, S., S. Ludwig, S. Pleschka, and T. Wolff.** 2012. Apoptosis signaling in influenza virus propagation, innate host defense, and lung injury. J Leukoc Biol **92:**75-82.
- 209. Herold, S., W. von Wulffen, M. Steinmueller, S. Pleschka, W. A. Kuziel, M. Mack, M. Srivastava, W. Seeger, U. A. Maus, and J. Lohmeyer. 2006. Alveolar epithelial cells direct monocyte transepithelial migration upon influenza virus infection: impact of chemokines and adhesion molecules. J Immunol 177:1817-24.
- 210. Herz, C., E. Stavnezer, R. Krug, and T. Gurney, Jr. 1981. Influenza virus, an RNA virus, synthesizes its messenger RNA in the nucleus of infected cells. Cell **26**:391-400.
- 211. **Hilliker, A.** 2012. Analysis of RNA helicases in P-bodies and stress granules. Methods Enzymol **511**:323-46.
- 212. Hinshaw, V. S., C. W. Olsen, N. Dybdahl-Sissoko, and D. Evans. 1994. Apoptosis: a mechanism of cell killing by influenza A and B viruses. Journal of virology **68**:3667-73.

- 213. Hinshaw, V. S., R. G. Webster, B. C. Easterday, and W. J. Bean, Jr. 1981. Replication of avian influenza A viruses in mammals. Infect Immun **34**:354-61.
- 214. Hoffmann, E., S. Krauss, D. Perez, R. Webby, and R. G. Webster. 2002. Eightplasmid system for rapid generation of influenza virus vaccines. Vaccine 20:3165-70.
- 215. Hogbom, M., R. Collins, S. van den Berg, R. M. Jenvert, T. Karlberg, T. Kotenyova, A. Flores, G. B. Karlsson Hedestam, and L. H. Schiavone. 2007. Crystal structure of conserved domains 1 and 2 of the human DEAD-box helicase DDX3X in complex with the mononucleotide AMP. J Mol Biol 372:150-9.
- 216. Holland, J., K. Spindler, F. Horodyski, E. Grabau, S. Nichol, and S. VandePol. 1982. Rapid evolution of RNA genomes. Science **215**:1577-85.
- 217. Holmskov, U., S. Thiel, and J. C. Jensenius. 2003. Collections and ficolins: humoral lectins of the innate immune defense. Annu Rev Immunol 21:547-78.
- 218. Holsinger, L. J., D. Nichani, L. H. Pinto, and R. A. Lamb. 1994. Influenza A virus M2 ion channel protein: a structure-function analysis. J Virol **68**:1551-63.
- 219. Hornung, V., J. Ellegast, S. Kim, K. Brzozka, A. Jung, H. Kato, H. Poeck, S. Akira, K. K. Conzelmann, M. Schlee, S. Endres, and G. Hartmann. 2006. 5'-Triphosphate RNA is the ligand for RIG-I. Science 314:994-7.
- 220. Hrincius, E. R., V. Wixler, T. Wolff, R. Wagner, S. Ludwig, and C. Ehrhardt. 2010. CRK adaptor protein expression is required for efficient replication of avian influenza A viruses and controls JNK-mediated apoptotic responses. Cell Microbiol **12**:831-43.
- 221. Hsu, M. T., J. D. Parvin, S. Gupta, M. Krystal, and P. Palese. 1987. Genomic RNAs of influenza viruses are held in a circular conformation in virions and in infected cells by a terminal panhandle. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **84**:8140-4.
- 222. Huang, I. C., C. C. Bailey, J. L. Weyer, S. R. Radoshitzky, M. M. Becker, J. J. Chiang, A. L. Brass, A. A. Ahmed, X. Chi, L. Dong, L. E. Longobardi, D. Boltz, J. H. Kuhn, S. J. Elledge, S. Bavari, M. R. Denison, H. Choe, and M. Farzan. 2011. Distinct patterns of IFITM-mediated restriction of filoviruses, SARS coronavirus, and influenza A virus. PLoS Pathog 7:e1001258.
- 223. Huber, V. C., J. M. Lynch, D. J. Bucher, J. Le, and D. W. Metzger. 2001. Fc receptor-mediated phagocytosis makes a significant contribution to clearance of influenza virus infections. J Immunol 166:7381-8.
- 224. Ichinohe, T., I. K. Pang, and A. Iwasaki. 2010. Influenza virus activates inflammasomes via its intracellular M2 ion channel. Nat Immunol **11**:404-10.
- 225. Ichinohe, T., I. K. Pang, Y. Kumamoto, D. R. Peaper, J. H. Ho, T. S. Murray, and A. Iwasaki. 2011. Microbiota regulates immune defense against respiratory tract influenza A virus infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:5354-9.
- 226. Imai, Y., K. Kuba, G. G. Neely, R. Yaghubian-Malhami, T. Perkmann, G. van Loo, M. Ermolaeva, R. Veldhuizen, Y. H. Leung, H. Wang, H. Liu, Y. Sun, M. Pasparakis, M. Kopf, C. Mech, S. Bavari, J. S. Peiris, A. S. Slutsky, S. Akira, M. Hultqvist, R. Holmdahl, J. Nicholls, C. Jiang, C. J. Binder, and J. M. Penninger. 2008. Identification of oxidative stress and Toll-like receptor 4 signaling as a key pathway of acute lung injury. Cell 133:235-49.
- 227. Imamura, R., Y. Wang, T. Kinoshita, M. Suzuki, T. Noda, J. Sagara, S. Taniguchi, H. Okamoto, and T. Suda. 2010. Anti-inflammatory activity of PYNOD and its mechanism in humans and mice. J Immunol 184:5874-84.

- 228. **Inohara, N., and G. Nunez.** 2001. The NOD: a signaling module that regulates apoptosis and host defense against pathogens. Oncogene **20**:6473-81.
- 229. Ito, T., O. T. Gorman, Y. Kawaoka, W. J. Bean, and R. G. Webster. 1991. Evolutionary analysis of the influenza A virus M gene with comparison of the M1 and M2 proteins. J Virol 65:5491-8.
- 230. **Ivashkiv, L. B., and L. T. Donlin.** 2014. Regulation of type I interferon responses. Nat Rev Immunol **14**:36-49.
- 231. Iwai, A., T. Shiozaki, T. Kawai, S. Akira, Y. Kawaoka, A. Takada, H. Kida, and T. Miyazaki. 2010. Influenza A virus polymerase inhibits type I interferon induction by binding to interferon beta promoter stimulator 1. J Biol Chem 285:32064-74.
- Iwai, A., T. Shiozaki, and T. Miyazaki. 2013. Relevance of signaling molecules for apoptosis induction on influenza A virus replication. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 441:531-7.
- 233. Iwasaki, A., and P. S. Pillai. 2014. Innate immunity to influenza virus infection. Nat Rev Immunol 14:315-28.
- 234. Jagger, B. W., H. M. Wise, J. C. Kash, K. A. Walters, N. M. Wills, Y. L. Xiao, R. L. Dunfee, L. M. Schwartzman, A. Ozinsky, G. L. Bell, R. M. Dalton, A. Lo, S. Efstathiou, J. F. Atkins, A. E. Firth, J. K. Taubenberger, and P. Digard. 2012. An overlapping protein-coding region in influenza A virus segment 3 modulates the host response. Science 337:199-204.
- 235. **Jankowsky, E.** 2011. RNA helicases at work: binding and rearranging. Trends Biochem Sci **36**:19-29.
- 236. Jego, G., A. K. Palucka, J. P. Blanck, C. Chalouni, V. Pascual, and J. Banchereau. 2003. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce plasma cell differentiation through type I interferon and interleukin 6. Immunity 19:225-34.
- 237. Jensen, L. J., M. Kuhn, M. Stark, S. Chaffron, C. Creevey, J. Muller, T. Doerks, P. Julien, A. Roth, M. Simonovic, P. Bork, and C. von Mering. 2009. STRING 8--a global view on proteins and their functional interactions in 630 organisms. Nucleic Acids Res 37:D412-6.
- 238. Ji, X., G. G. Olinger, S. Aris, Y. Chen, H. Gewurz, and G. T. Spear. 2005. Mannosebinding lectin binds to Ebola and Marburg envelope glycoproteins, resulting in blocking of virus interaction with DC-SIGN and complement-mediated virus neutralization. J Gen Virol 86:2535-42.
- 239. Jiang, D., J. M. Weidner, M. Qing, X. B. Pan, H. Guo, C. Xu, X. Zhang, A. Birk, J. Chang, P. Y. Shi, T. M. Block, and J. T. Guo. 2010. Identification of five interferon-induced cellular proteins that inhibit west nile virus and dengue virus infections. J Virol 84:8332-41.
- 240. Jiang, F., A. Ramanathan, M. T. Miller, G. Q. Tang, M. Gale, Jr., S. S. Patel, and J. Marcotrigiano. 2011. Structural basis of RNA recognition and activation by innate immune receptor RIG-I. Nature **479**:423-7.
- 241. Jiao, X., B. T. Sherman, W. Huang da, R. Stephens, M. W. Baseler, H. C. Lane, and R. A. Lempicki. 2012. DAVID-WS: a stateful web service to facilitate gene/protein list analysis. Bioinformatics 28:1805-6.

- 242. Jin, Y., C. M. Mailloux, K. Gowan, S. L. Riccardi, G. LaBerge, D. C. Bennett, P. R. Fain, and R. A. Spritz. 2007. NALP1 in vitiligo-associated multiple autoimmune disease. N Engl J Med 356:1216-25.
- 243. Johnson, C. L., and M. Gale, Jr. 2006. CARD games between virus and host get a new player. Trends Immunol 27:1-4.
- 244. Jorba, N., S. Juarez, E. Torreira, P. Gastaminza, N. Zamarreno, J. P. Albar, and J. Ortin. 2008. Analysis of the interaction of influenza virus polymerase complex with human cell factors. Proteomics **8**:2077-88.
- 245. Jounai, N., K. Kobiyama, M. Shiina, K. Ogata, K. J. Ishii, and F. Takeshita. 2011. NLRP4 negatively regulates autophagic processes through an association with beclin1. J Immunol **186:**1646-55.
- 246. Jureka, A. S., A. B. Kleinpeter, G. Cornilescu, C. C. Cornilescu, and C. M. Petit. 2015. Structural Basis for a Novel Interaction between the NS1 Protein Derived from the 1918 Influenza Virus and RIG-I. Structure 23:2001-10.
- 247. Kadrmas, J. L., and M. C. Beckerle. 2004. The LIM domain: from the cytoskeleton to the nucleus. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 5:920-31.
- 248. Kallfass, C., S. Lienenklaus, S. Weiss, and P. Staeheli. 2013. Visualizing the beta interferon response in mice during infection with influenza A viruses expressing or lacking nonstructural protein 1. Journal of virology 87:6925-30.
- 249. Kane, M., S. S. Yadav, J. Bitzegeio, S. B. Kutluay, T. Zang, S. J. Wilson, J. W. Schoggins, C. M. Rice, M. Yamashita, T. Hatziioannou, and P. D. Bieniasz. 2013. MX2 is an interferon-induced inhibitor of HIV-1 infection. Nature 502:563-6.
- Karasin, A. I., K. West, S. Carman, and C. W. Olsen. 2004. Characterization of avian H3N3 and H1N1 influenza A viruses isolated from pigs in Canada. J Clin Microbiol 42:4349-54.
- 251. Karin, M., and Y. Ben-Neriah. 2000. Phosphorylation meets ubiquitination: the control of NF-[kappa]B activity. Annu Rev Immunol **18:**621-63.
- 252. Karlas, A., N. Machuy, Y. Shin, K. P. Pleissner, A. Artarini, D. Heuer, D. Becker, H. Khalil, L. A. Ogilvie, S. Hess, A. P. Maurer, E. Muller, T. Wolff, T. Rudel, and T. F. Meyer. 2010. Genome-wide RNAi screen identifies human host factors crucial for influenza virus replication. Nature 463:818-22.
- 253. Katahira, J., K. Strasser, A. Podtelejnikov, M. Mann, J. U. Jung, and E. Hurt. 1999. The Mex67p-mediated nuclear mRNA export pathway is conserved from yeast to human. EMBO J 18:2593-609.
- 254. Kato, H., S. Sato, M. Yoneyama, M. Yamamoto, S. Uematsu, K. Matsui, T. Tsujimura, K. Takeda, T. Fujita, O. Takeuchi, and S. Akira. 2005. Cell type-specific involvement of RIG-I in antiviral response. Immunity 23:19-28.
- 255. Kato, H., O. Takeuchi, E. Mikamo-Satoh, R. Hirai, T. Kawai, K. Matsushita, A. Hiiragi, T. S. Dermody, T. Fujita, and S. Akira. 2008. Length-dependent recognition of double-stranded ribonucleic acids by retinoic acid-inducible gene-I and melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5. J Exp Med **205**:1601-10.
- 256. Kato, H., O. Takeuchi, S. Sato, M. Yoneyama, M. Yamamoto, K. Matsui, S. Uematsu, A. Jung, T. Kawai, K. J. Ishii, O. Yamaguchi, K. Otsu, T. Tsujimura, C. S. Koh, C. Reis e Sousa, Y. Matsuura, T. Fujita, and S. Akira. 2006. Differential roles of MDA5 and RIG-I helicases in the recognition of RNA viruses. Nature 441:101-5.

- 257. Katze, M. G., Y. He, and M. Gale, Jr. 2002. Viruses and interferon: a fight for supremacy. Nat Rev Immunol 2:675-87.
- 258. Kawaguchi, A., K. Matsumoto, and K. Nagata. 2012. YB-1 functions as a porter to lead influenza virus ribonucleoprotein complexes to microtubules. J Virol 86:11086-95.
- 259. Kawai, T., and S. Akira. 2007. Antiviral signaling through pattern recognition receptors. J Biochem 141:137-45.
- 260. **Kawai, T., and S. Akira.** 2006. Innate immune recognition of viral infection. Nat Immunol **7:**131-7.
- 261. Kawai, T., and S. Akira. 2010. The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Toll-like receptors. Nat Immunol **11**:373-84.
- 262. Kawai, T., and S. Akira. 2009. The roles of TLRs, RLRs and NLRs in pathogen recognition. Int Immunol 21:317-37.
- 263. Kawai, T., and S. Akira. 2011. Toll-like receptors and their crosstalk with other innate receptors in infection and immunity. Immunity **34:**637-50.
- 264. Kawai, T., K. Takahashi, S. Sato, C. Coban, H. Kumar, H. Kato, K. J. Ishii, O. Takeuchi, and S. Akira. 2005. IPS-1, an adaptor triggering RIG-I- and Mda5-mediated type I interferon induction. Nat Immunol 6:981-8.
- 265. Kawaoka, Y., S. Krauss, and R. G. Webster. 1989. Avian-to-human transmission of the PB1 gene of influenza A viruses in the 1957 and 1968 pandemics. J Virol 63:4603-8.
- 266. Kedersha, N., and P. Anderson. 2007. Mammalian stress granules and processing bodies. Methods Enzymol **431**:61-81.
- 267. Kedersha, N., S. Chen, N. Gilks, W. Li, I. J. Miller, J. Stahl, and P. Anderson. 2002. Evidence that ternary complex (eIF2-GTP-tRNA(i)(Met))-deficient preinitiation complexes are core constituents of mammalian stress granules. Mol Biol Cell 13:195-210.
- 268. Kedersha, N., G. Stoecklin, M. Ayodele, P. Yacono, J. Lykke-Andersen, M. J. Fritzler, D. Scheuner, R. J. Kaufman, D. E. Golan, and P. Anderson. 2005. Stress granules and processing bodies are dynamically linked sites of mRNP remodeling. J Cell Biol 169:871-84.
- 269. Kedersha, N. L., M. Gupta, W. Li, I. Miller, and P. Anderson. 1999. RNA-binding proteins TIA-1 and TIAR link the phosphorylation of eIF-2 alpha to the assembly of mammalian stress granules. J Cell Biol **147**:1431-42.
- 270. Keller, M., A. Ruegg, S. Werner, and H. D. Beer. 2008. Active caspase-1 is a regulator of unconventional protein secretion. Cell **132**:818-31.
- 271. Khaperskyy, D. A., M. M. Emara, B. P. Johnston, P. Anderson, T. F. Hatchette, and C. McCormick. 2014. Influenza a virus host shutoff disables antiviral stress-induced translation arrest. PLoS Pathog 10:e1004217.
- 272. Khaperskyy, D. A., T. F. Hatchette, and C. McCormick. 2012. Influenza A virus inhibits cytoplasmic stress granule formation. FASEB J **26**:1629-39.
- Khaperskyy, D. A., and C. McCormick. 2015. Timing Is Everything: Coordinated Control of Host Shutoff by Influenza A Virus NS1 and PA-X Proteins. J Virol 89:6528-31.
- 274. **Khatchikian, D., M. Orlich, and R. Rott.** 1989. Increased viral pathogenicity after insertion of a 28S ribosomal RNA sequence into the haemagglutinin gene of an influenza virus. Nature **340**:156-7.

- 275. Kida, H., T. Ito, J. Yasuda, Y. Shimizu, C. Itakura, K. F. Shortridge, Y. Kawaoka, and R. G. Webster. 1994. Potential for transmission of avian influenza viruses to pigs. J Gen Virol 75 (Pt 9):2183-8.
- 276. **Kilbourne, E. D., B. E. Johansson, and B. Grajower.** 1990. Independent and disparate evolution in nature of influenza A virus hemagglutinin and neuraminidase glycoproteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **87:**786-90.
- 277. **Kilbourne, E. D., and J. S. Murphy.** 1960. Genetic studies of influenza viruses. I. Viral morphology and growth capacity as exchangeable genetic traits. Rapid in ovo adaptation of early passage Asian strain isolates by combination with PR8. J Exp Med **111:**387-406.
- 278. Kim, H. M., Y. W. Lee, K. J. Lee, H. S. Kim, S. W. Cho, N. van Rooijen, Y. Guan, and S. H. Seo. 2008. Alveolar macrophages are indispensable for controlling influenza viruses in lungs of pigs. J Virol 82:4265-74.
- 279. Kim, W. J., J. H. Kim, and S. K. Jang. 2007. Anti-inflammatory lipid mediator 15d-PGJ2 inhibits translation through inactivation of eIF4A. EMBO J **26**:5020-32.
- 280. Kim, Y. S., S. G. Lee, S. H. Park, and K. Song. 2001. Gene structure of the human DDX3 and chromosome mapping of its related sequences. Mol Cells 12:209-14.
- 281. **Kimball, S. R.** 2001. Regulation of translation initiation by amino acids in eukaryotic cells. Prog Mol Subcell Biol **26:**155-84.
- 282. Klumpp, K., R. W. Ruigrok, and F. Baudin. 1997. Roles of the influenza virus polymerase and nucleoprotein in forming a functional RNP structure. EMBO J 16:1248-57.
- 283. Kobayashi, K. S., and P. J. van den Elsen. 2012. NLRC5: a key regulator of MHC class I-dependent immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 12:813-20.
- 284. Kobayashi, Y. 2015. Neutrophil biology: an update. EXCLI J 14:220-7.
- 285. Kohlway, A., D. Luo, D. C. Rawling, S. C. Ding, and A. M. Pyle. 2013. Defining the functional determinants for RNA surveillance by RIG-I. EMBO Rep 14:772-9.
- 286. Kolaczkowska, E., and P. Kubes. 2013. Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol **13:**159-75.
- 287. Konig, R., S. Stertz, Y. Zhou, A. Inoue, H. H. Hoffmann, S. Bhattacharyya, J. G. Alamares, D. M. Tscherne, M. B. Ortigoza, Y. Liang, Q. Gao, S. E. Andrews, S. Bandyopadhyay, P. De Jesus, B. P. Tu, L. Pache, C. Shih, A. Orth, G. Bonamy, L. Miraglia, T. Ideker, A. Garcia-Sastre, J. A. Young, P. Palese, M. L. Shaw, and S. K. Chanda. 2010. Human host factors required for influenza virus replication. Nature 463:813-7.
- 288. Kotenko, S. V., G. Gallagher, V. V. Baurin, A. Lewis-Antes, M. Shen, N. K. Shah, J. A. Langer, F. Sheikh, H. Dickensheets, and R. P. Donnelly. 2003. IFN-lambdas mediate antiviral protection through a distinct class II cytokine receptor complex. Nat Immunol 4:69-77.
- 289. Kowalinski, E., T. Lunardi, A. A. McCarthy, J. Louber, J. Brunel, B. Grigorov, D. Gerlier, and S. Cusack. 2011. Structural basis for the activation of innate immune pattern-recognition receptor RIG-I by viral RNA. Cell 147:423-35.
- 290. **Krug, R. M.** 2015. Functions of the influenza A virus NS1 protein in antiviral defense. Curr Opin Virol **12:**1-6.
- 291. **Krupp** 2005, posting date. Stringent RNA quality control using the Agilent 2100 bioanalyzer. Agilent Technologies. [Online.]

- 292. Kufer, T. A., and P. J. Sansonetti. 2011. NLR functions beyond pathogen recognition. Nat Immunol 12:121-8.
- 293. Kumar, A., J. Haque, J. Lacoste, J. Hiscott, and B. R. Williams. 1994. Doublestranded RNA-dependent protein kinase activates transcription factor NF-kappa B by phosphorylating I kappa B. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **91**:6288-92.
- 294. Kumar, H., T. Kawai, and S. Akira. 2011. Pathogen recognition by the innate immune system. Int Rev Immunol **30:**16-34.
- 295. Labadie, K., E. Dos Santos Afonso, M. A. Rameix-Welti, S. van der Werf, and N. Naffakh. 2007. Host-range determinants on the PB2 protein of influenza A viruses control the interaction between the viral polymerase and nucleoprotein in human cells. Virology 362:271-82.
- 296. Lahn, B. T., and D. C. Page. 1997. Functional coherence of the human Y chromosome. Science 278:675-80.
- 297. Lai, M. C., W. C. Chang, S. Y. Shieh, and W. Y. Tarn. 2010. DDX3 regulates cell growth through translational control of cyclin E1. Mol Cell Biol **30**:5444-53.
- 298. Lai, M. C., Y. H. Lee, and W. Y. Tarn. 2008. The DEAD-box RNA helicase DDX3 associates with export messenger ribonucleoproteins as well as tip-associated protein and participates in translational control. Mol Biol Cell **19:**3847-58.
- 299. Lamb, R. A., and C. J. Lai. 1980. Sequence of interrupted and uninterrupted mRNAs and cloned DNA coding for the two overlapping nonstructural proteins of influenza virus. Cell 21:475-85.
- 300. Lamb, R. A., C. J. Lai, and P. W. Choppin. 1981. Sequences of mRNAs derived from genome RNA segment 7 of influenza virus: colinear and interrupted mRNAs code for overlapping proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **78**:4170-4.
- 301. Lanier, L. L. 1998. NK cell receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 16:359-93.
- 302. Lardone, M. C., D. A. Parodi, R. Valdevenito, M. Ebensperger, A. Piottante, M. Madariaga, R. Smith, R. Pommer, N. Zambrano, and A. Castro. 2007. Quantification of DDX3Y, RBMY1, DAZ and TSPY mRNAs in testes of patients with severe impairment of spermatogenesis. Mol Hum Reprod 13:705-12.
- 303. Laver, W. G. 1971. Separation of two polypeptide chains from the hemagglutinin subunit of influenza virus. Virology **45:**275-88.
- 304. Laver, W. G., and R. G. Webster. 1973. Studies on the origin of pandemic influenza. 3. Evidence implicating duck and equine influenza viruses as possible progenitors of the Hong Kong strain of human influenza. Virology **51**:383-91.
- 305. Lazear, H. M., T. J. Nice, and M. S. Diamond. 2015. Interferon-lambda: Immune Functions at Barrier Surfaces and Beyond. Immunity **43:**15-28.
- 306. Le Goffic, R., V. Balloy, M. Lagranderie, L. Alexopoulou, N. Escriou, R. Flavell, M. Chignard, and M. Si-Tahar. 2006. Detrimental contribution of the Toll-like receptor (TLR)3 to influenza A virus-induced acute pneumonia. PLoS Pathog 2:e53.
- 307. Le Goffic, R., J. Pothlichet, D. Vitour, T. Fujita, E. Meurs, M. Chignard, and M. Si-Tahar. 2007. Cutting Edge: Influenza A virus activates TLR3-dependent inflammatory and RIG-I-dependent antiviral responses in human lung epithelial cells. J Immunol 178:3368-72.
- 308. Leahy, M. B., H. C. Dobbyn, and G. G. Brownlee. 2001. Hairpin loop structure in the 3' arm of the influenza A virus virion RNA promoter is required for endonuclease activity. J Virol **75**:7042-9.
- 309. Leahy, M. B., D. C. Pritlove, L. L. Poon, and G. G. Brownlee. 2001. Mutagenic analysis of the 5' arm of the influenza A virus virion RNA promoter defines the sequence requirements for endonuclease activity. J Virol **75**:134-42.
- 310. Lee, C. S., A. P. Dias, M. Jedrychowski, A. H. Patel, J. L. Hsu, and R. Reed. 2008. Human DDX3 functions in translation and interacts with the translation initiation factor eIF3. Nucleic Acids Res 36:4708-18.
- 311. Lee, J. H., S. H. Kim, P. N. Pascua, M. S. Song, Y. H. Baek, X. Jin, J. K. Choi, C. J. Kim, H. Kim, and Y. K. Choi. 2010. Direct interaction of cellular hnRNP-F and NS1 of influenza A virus accelerates viral replication by modulation of viral transcriptional activity and host gene expression. Virology **397**:89-99.
- 312. Lee, S. M., C. Y. Cheung, J. M. Nicholls, K. P. Hui, C. Y. Leung, M. Uiprasertkul, G. L. Tipoe, Y. L. Lau, L. L. Poon, N. Y. Ip, Y. Guan, and J. S. Peiris. 2008. Hyperinduction of cyclooxygenase-2-mediated proinflammatory cascade: a mechanism for the pathogenesis of avian influenza H5N1 infection. J Infect Dis 198:525-35.
- 313. Lee, S. M., W. W. Gai, T. K. Cheung, and J. S. Peiris. 2011. Antiviral effect of a selective COX-2 inhibitor on H5N1 infection in vitro. Antiviral Res **91:**330-4.
- 314. Lee, S. M., K. H. Kok, M. Jaume, T. K. Cheung, T. F. Yip, J. C. Lai, Y. Guan, R. G. Webster, D. Y. Jin, and J. S. Peiris. 2014. Toll-like receptor 10 is involved in induction of innate immune responses to influenza virus infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:3793-8.
- 315. Lemaitre, B., E. Nicolas, L. Michaut, J. M. Reichhart, and J. A. Hoffmann. 1996. The dorsoventral regulatory gene cassette spatzle/Toll/cactus controls the potent antifungal response in Drosophila adults. Cell **86**:973-83.
- 316. Lenschow, D. J., C. Lai, N. Frias-Staheli, N. V. Giannakopoulos, A. Lutz, T. Wolff, A. Osiak, B. Levine, R. E. Schmidt, A. García-Sastre, D. A. Leib, A. Pekosz, K.-P. Knobeloch, I. Horak, and H. W. Virgin. 2007. IFN-stimulated gene 15 functions as a critical antiviral molecule against influenza, herpes, and Sindbis viruses. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104:1371-1376.
- 317. Li, C., L. L. Ge, P. P. Li, Y. Wang, J. J. Dai, M. X. Sun, L. Huang, Z. Q. Shen, X. C. Hu, H. Ishag, and X. Mao. 2014. Cellular DDX3 regulates Japanese encephalitis virus replication by interacting with viral un-translated regions. Virology 449:70-81.
- 318. Li, J., M. Yu, W. Zheng, and W. Liu. 2015. Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of influenza A virus proteins. Viruses 7:2668-82.
- 319. Li, K., R. M. Markosyan, Y. M. Zheng, O. Golfetto, B. Bungart, M. Li, S. Ding, Y. He, C. Liang, J. C. Lee, E. Gratton, F. S. Cohen, and S. L. Liu. 2013. IFITM proteins restrict viral membrane hemifusion. PLoS Pathog 9:e1003124.
- 320. Li, Q., V. Pene, S. Krishnamurthy, H. Cha, and T. J. Liang. 2013. Hepatitis C virus infection activates an innate pathway involving IKK-alpha in lipogenesis and viral assembly. Nat Med **19:**722-9.
- 321. Li, S., J. Y. Min, R. M. Krug, and G. C. Sen. 2006. Binding of the influenza A virus NS1 protein to PKR mediates the inhibition of its activation by either PACT or double-stranded RNA. Virology **349**:13-21.

- 322. Li, X., and P. Palese. 1994. Characterization of the polyadenylation signal of influenza virus RNA. J Virol 68:1245-9.
- 323. Li, X. D., and Z. J. Chen. 2012. Sequence specific detection of bacterial 23S ribosomal RNA by TLR13. Elife 1:e00102.
- 324. Li, Y., X. Lu, J. Li, N. Berube, K. L. Giest, Q. Liu, D. H. Anderson, and Y. Zhou. 2010. Genetically engineered, biarsenically labeled influenza virus allows visualization of viral NS1 protein in living cells. J Virol 84:7204-13.
- 325. Lin, K. L., Y. Suzuki, H. Nakano, E. Ramsburg, and M. D. Gunn. 2008. CCR2+ monocyte-derived dendritic cells and exudate macrophages produce influenza-induced pulmonary immune pathology and mortality. J Immunol **180**:2562-72.
- 326. Lin, L., Y. Li, H. M. Pyo, X. Lu, S. N. Raman, Q. Liu, E. G. Brown, and Y. Zhou. 2012. Identification of RNA helicase A as a cellular factor that interacts with influenza A virus NS1 protein and its role in the virus life cycle. J Virol 86:1942-54.
- 327. Liu, F. T., and G. A. Rabinovich. 2010. Galectins: regulators of acute and chronic inflammation. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1183:158-82.
- 328. Liu, G., H. S. Park, H. M. Pyo, Q. Liu, and Y. Zhou. 2015. Influenza A Virus Panhandle Structure Is Directly Involved in RIG-I Activation and Interferon Induction. J Virol **89:**6067-79.
- 329. Liu, H., L. Golebiewski, E. C. Dow, R. M. Krug, R. T. Javier, and A. P. Rice. 2010. The ESEV PDZ-binding motif of the avian influenza A virus NS1 protein protects infected cells from apoptosis by directly targeting Scribble. Journal of virology 84:11164-74.
- 330. Liu, S. Y., R. Aliyari, K. Chikere, G. Li, M. D. Marsden, J. K. Smith, O. Pernet, H. Guo, R. Nusbaum, J. A. Zack, A. N. Freiberg, L. Su, B. Lee, and G. Cheng. 2013. Interferon-inducible cholesterol-25-hydroxylase broadly inhibits viral entry by production of 25-hydroxycholesterol. Immunity 38:92-105.
- 331. Liu, S. Y., D. J. Sanchez, R. Aliyari, S. Lu, and G. Cheng. 2012. Systematic identification of type I and type II interferon-induced antiviral factors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:4239-44.
- 332. Liu, Y., J. Liu, X. Pang, T. Liu, Z. Ning, and G. Cheng. 2015. The roles of direct recognition by animal lectins in antiviral immunity and viral pathogenesis. Molecules 20:2272-95.
- 333. Liu, Z., Q. Pan, S. Ding, J. Qian, F. Xu, J. Zhou, S. Cen, F. Guo, and C. Liang. 2013. The interferon-inducible MxB protein inhibits HIV-1 infection. Cell Host Microbe 14:398-410.
- 334. Ljunggren, H. G., and K. Karre. 1990. In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. Immunol Today 11:237-44.
- 335. Lloyd, R. E. 2012. How do viruses interact with stress-associated RNA granules? PLoS Pathog 8:e1002741.
- 336. Lloyd, R. E. 2013. Regulation of stress granules and P-bodies during RNA virus infection. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA 4:317-31.
- 337. Loo, Y. M., J. Fornek, N. Crochet, G. Bajwa, O. Perwitasari, L. Martinez-Sobrido, S. Akira, M. A. Gill, A. Garcia-Sastre, M. G. Katze, and M. Gale, Jr. 2008. Distinct RIG-I and MDA5 signaling by RNA viruses in innate immunity. J Virol 82:335-45.

- 338. Loris, R. 2002. Principles of structures of animal and plant lectins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1572:198-208.
- 339. Lou, Z., Y. Sun, and Z. Rao. 2014. Current progress in antiviral strategies. Trends Pharmacol Sci 35:86-102.
- 340. Lu, X., A. Masic, Y. Li, Y. Shin, Q. Liu, and Y. Zhou. 2010. The PI3K/Akt pathway inhibits influenza A virus-induced Bax-mediated apoptosis by negatively regulating the JNK pathway via ASK1. J Gen Virol **91**:1439-49.
- Lu, X., A. Masic, Q. Liu, and Y. Zhou. 2011. Regulation of influenza A virus induced CXCL-10 gene expression requires PI3K/Akt pathway and IRF3 transcription factor. Mol Immunol 48:1417-23.
- 342. Lu, Y., X. Y. Qian, and R. M. Krug. 1994. The influenza virus NS1 protein: a novel inhibitor of pre-mRNA splicing. Genes Dev 8:1817-28.
- 343. Lu, Y., M. Wambach, M. G. Katze, and R. M. Krug. 1995. Binding of the influenza virus NS1 protein to double-stranded RNA inhibits the activation of the protein kinase that phosphorylates the eIF-2 translation initiation factor. Virology **214**:222-8.
- 344. Lund, J. M., L. Alexopoulou, A. Sato, M. Karow, N. C. Adams, N. W. Gale, A. Iwasaki, and R. A. Flavell. 2004. Recognition of single-stranded RNA viruses by Tolllike receptor 7. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:5598-603.
- 345. Luo, D., A. Kohlway, and A. M. Pyle. 2013. Duplex RNA activated ATPases (DRAs): platforms for RNA sensing, signaling and processing. RNA Biol 10:111-20.
- 346. Lynn, D. J., C. Chan, M. Naseer, M. Yau, R. Lo, A. Sribnaia, G. Ring, J. Que, K. Wee, G. L. Winsor, M. R. Laird, K. Breuer, A. K. Foroushani, F. S. Brinkman, and R. E. Hancock. 2010. Curating the innate immunity interactome. BMC Syst Biol 4:117.
- 347. Lynn, D. J., G. L. Winsor, C. Chan, N. Richard, M. R. Laird, A. Barsky, J. L. Gardy, F. M. Roche, T. H. Chan, N. Shah, R. Lo, M. Naseer, J. Que, M. Yau, M. Acab, D. Tulpan, M. D. Whiteside, A. Chikatamarla, B. Mah, T. Munzner, K. Hokamp, R. E. Hancock, and F. S. Brinkman. 2008. InnateDB: facilitating systems-level analyses of the mammalian innate immune response. Mol Syst Biol 4:218.
- 348. **Ma, W., K. M. Lager, A. L. Vincent, B. H. Janke, M. R. Gramer, and J. A. Richt.** 2009. The role of swine in the generation of novel influenza viruses. Zoonoses Public Health **56**:326-37.
- 349. Madsen, J., A. Kliem, I. Tornoe, K. Skjodt, C. Koch, and U. Holmskov. 2000. Localization of lung surfactant protein D on mucosal surfaces in human tissues. J Immunol 164:5866-70.
- Maggi, L. B., Jr., M. R. Heitmeier, D. Scheuner, R. J. Kaufman, R. M. Buller, and J. A. Corbett. 2000. Potential role of PKR in double-stranded RNA-induced macrophage activation. EMBO J 19:3630-8.
- 351. Magitta, N. F., A. S. Boe Wolff, S. Johansson, B. Skinningsrud, B. A. Lie, K. M. Myhr, D. E. Undlien, G. Joner, P. R. Njolstad, T. K. Kvien, O. Forre, P. M. Knappskog, and E. S. Husebye. 2009. A coding polymorphism in NALP1 confers risk for autoimmune Addison's disease and type 1 diabetes. Genes Immun 10:120-4.
- 352. Mandelboim, O., N. Lieberman, M. Lev, L. Paul, T. I. Arnon, Y. Bushkin, D. M. Davis, J. L. Strominger, J. W. Yewdell, and A. Porgador. 2001. Recognition of haemagglutinins on virus-infected cells by NKp46 activates lysis by human NK cells. Nature 409:1055-60.

- 353. Manicassamy, B., S. Manicassamy, A. Belicha-Villanueva, G. Pisanelli, B.
 Pulendran, and A. Garcia-Sastre. 2010. Analysis of in vivo dynamics of influenza virus infection in mice using a GFP reporter virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:11531-6.
- 354. Manz, B., D. Dornfeld, V. Gotz, R. Zell, P. Zimmermann, O. Haller, G. Kochs, and M. Schwemmle. 2013. Pandemic influenza A viruses escape from restriction by human MxA through adaptive mutations in the nucleoprotein. PLoS Pathog **9**:e1003279.
- 355. **Marc, D.** 2014. Influenza virus non-structural protein NS1: interferon antagonism and beyond. J Gen Virol **95**:2594-611.
- 356. **Marc, D., S. Barbachou, and D. Soubieux.** 2013. The RNA-binding domain of influenzavirus non-structural protein-1 cooperatively binds to virus-specific RNA sequences in a structure-dependent manner. Nucleic Acids Res **41**:434-49.
- 357. Marcello, T., A. Grakoui, G. Barba-Spaeth, E. S. Machlin, S. V. Kotenko, M. R. MacDonald, and C. M. Rice. 2006. Interferons alpha and lambda inhibit hepatitis C virus replication with distinct signal transduction and gene regulation kinetics. Gastroenterology 131:1887-98.
- 358. Mariathasan, S., D. S. Weiss, K. Newton, J. McBride, K. O'Rourke, M. Roose-Girma, W. P. Lee, Y. Weinrauch, D. M. Monack, and V. M. Dixit. 2006. Cryopyrin activates the inflammasome in response to toxins and ATP. Nature **440**:228-32.
- 359. Marsolais, D., B. Hahm, K. H. Edelmann, K. B. Walsh, M. Guerrero, Y. Hatta, Y. Kawaoka, E. Roberts, M. B. Oldstone, and H. Rosen. 2008. Local not systemic modulation of dendritic cell S1P receptors in lung blunts virus-specific immune responses to influenza. Mol Pharmacol 74:896-903.
- 360. Martinon, F., A. Mayor, and J. Tschopp. 2009. The inflammasomes: guardians of the body. Annu Rev Immunol 27:229-65.
- Masic, A., L. A. Babiuk, and Y. Zhou. 2009. Reverse genetics-generated elastasedependent swine influenza viruses are attenuated in pigs. The Journal of general virology 90:375-85.
- 362. **Matlin, K. S., H. Reggio, A. Helenius, and K. Simons.** 1981. Infectious entry pathway of influenza virus in a canine kidney cell line. J Cell Biol **91:**601-13.
- 363. **Matrosovich, M. N., T. Y. Matrosovich, T. Gray, N. A. Roberts, and H. D. Klenk.** 2004. Human and avian influenza viruses target different cell types in cultures of human airway epithelium. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **101**:4620-4.
- 364. **Matrosovich, M. N., T. Y. Matrosovich, T. Gray, N. A. Roberts, and H. D. Klenk.** 2004. Neuraminidase is important for the initiation of influenza virus infection in human airway epithelium. J Virol **78:**12665-7.
- 365. Mayer, D., K. Molawi, L. Martinez-Sobrido, A. Ghanem, S. Thomas, S. Baginsky, J. Grossmann, A. Garcia-Sastre, and M. Schwemmle. 2007. Identification of cellular interaction partners of the influenza virus ribonucleoprotein complex and polymerase complex using proteomic-based approaches. J Proteome Res 6:672-82.
- 366. Mazroui, R., R. Sukarieh, M. E. Bordeleau, R. J. Kaufman, P. Northcote, J. Tanaka, I. Gallouzi, and J. Pelletier. 2006. Inhibition of ribosome recruitment induces stress granule formation independently of eukaryotic initiation factor 2alpha phosphorylation. Mol Biol Cell 17:4212-9.

- 367. McAuley, J. L., M. D. Tate, C. J. MacKenzie-Kludas, A. Pinar, W. Zeng, A. Stutz, E. Latz, L. E. Brown, and A. Mansell. 2013. Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome by IAV virulence protein PB1-F2 contributes to severe pathophysiology and disease. PLoS Pathog 9:e1003392.
- 368. **McDonald, N. J., C. B. Smith, and N. J. Cox.** 2007. Antigenic drift in the evolution of H1N1 influenza A viruses resulting from deletion of a single amino acid in the haemagglutinin gene. J Gen Virol **88**:3209-13.
- 369. McEwen, E., N. Kedersha, B. Song, D. Scheuner, N. Gilks, A. Han, J. J. Chen, P. Anderson, and R. J. Kaufman. 2005. Heme-regulated inhibitor kinase-mediated phosphorylation of eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 inhibits translation, induces stress granule formation, and mediates survival upon arsenite exposure. J Biol Chem 280:16925-33.
- 370. McGhee, J. R., and K. Fujihashi. 2012. Inside the mucosal immune system. PLoS Biol 10:e1001397.
- 371. McLaren, J. E., and D. P. Ramji. 2009. Interferon gamma: a master regulator of atherosclerosis. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 20:125-35.
- 372. **Medzhitov, R.** 2001. Toll-like receptors and innate immunity. Nat Rev Immunol **1**:135-45.
- 373. Medzhitov, R., and C. A. Janeway, Jr. 2002. Decoding the patterns of self and nonself by the innate immune system. Science **296**:298-300.
- 374. Melen, K., L. Kinnunen, R. Fagerlund, N. Ikonen, K. Y. Twu, R. M. Krug, and I. Julkunen. 2007. Nuclear and nucleolar targeting of influenza A virus NS1 protein: striking differences between different virus subtypes. Journal of virology **81:**5995-6006.
- 375. Mercier, S., C. St-Pierre, I. Pelletier, M. Ouellet, M. J. Tremblay, and S. Sato. 2008. Galectin-1 promotes HIV-1 infectivity in macrophages through stabilization of viral adsorption. Virology **371**:121-9.
- 376. Merz, C., H. Urlaub, C. L. Will, and R. Luhrmann. 2007. Protein composition of human mRNPs spliced in vitro and differential requirements for mRNP protein recruitment. RNA 13:116-28.
- 377. Miao, E. A., C. M. Alpuche-Aranda, M. Dors, A. E. Clark, M. W. Bader, S. I. Miller, and A. Aderem. 2006. Cytoplasmic flagellin activates caspase-1 and secretion of interleukin 1beta via Ipaf. Nat Immunol **7**:569-75.
- 378. Mibayashi, M., L. Martinez-Sobrido, Y. M. Loo, W. B. Cardenas, M. Gale, Jr., and A. Garcia-Sastre. 2007. Inhibition of retinoic acid-inducible gene I-mediated induction of beta interferon by the NS1 protein of influenza A virus. J Virol 81:514-24.
- 379. Mikulasova, A., E. Vareckova, and E. Fodor. 2000. Transcription and replication of the influenza a virus genome. Acta Virol 44:273-82.
- 380. **Min, J. Y., and R. M. Krug.** 2006. The primary function of RNA binding by the influenza A virus NS1 protein in infected cells: Inhibiting the 2'-5' oligo (A) synthetase/RNase L pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **103**:7100-5.
- 381. Mok, B. W., W. Song, P. Wang, H. Tai, Y. Chen, M. Zheng, X. Wen, S. Y. Lau, W. L. Wu, K. Matsumoto, K. Y. Yuen, and H. Chen. 2012. The NS1 protein of influenza A virus interacts with cellular processing bodies and stress granules through RNA-associated protein 55 (RAP55) during virus infection. J Virol 86:12695-707.

- 382. Mokas, S., J. R. Mills, C. Garreau, M. J. Fournier, F. Robert, P. Arya, R. J. Kaufman, J. Pelletier, and R. Mazroui. 2009. Uncoupling stress granule assembly and translation initiation inhibition. Mol Biol Cell **20**:2673-83.
- 383. Moore, C. B., D. T. Bergstralh, J. A. Duncan, Y. Lei, T. E. Morrison, A. G. Zimmermann, M. A. Accavitti-Loper, V. J. Madden, L. Sun, Z. Ye, J. D. Lich, M. T. Heise, Z. Chen, and J. P. Ting. 2008. NLRX1 is a regulator of mitochondrial antiviral immunity. Nature 451:573-7.
- 384. Morales, D. J., K. Monte, L. Sun, J. J. Struckhoff, E. Agapov, M. J. Holtzman, T. S. Stappenbeck, and D. J. Lenschow. 2015. Novel mode of ISG15-mediated protection against influenza A virus and Sendai virus in mice. J Virol **89:**337-49.
- 385. Motta, V., F. Soares, T. Sun, and D. J. Philpott. 2015. NOD-like receptors: versatile cytosolic sentinels. Physiol Rev **95**:149-78.
- Muller, K. H., L. Kakkola, A. S. Nagaraj, A. V. Cheltsov, M. Anastasina, and D. E. Kainov. 2012. Emerging cellular targets for influenza antiviral agents. Trends Pharmacol Sci 33:89-99.
- 387. Muramoto, Y., T. Noda, E. Kawakami, R. Akkina, and Y. Kawaoka. 2013. Identification of novel influenza A virus proteins translated from PA mRNA. J Virol 87:2455-62.
- 388. Naji, S., G. Ambrus, P. Cimermancic, J. R. Reyes, J. R. Johnson, R. Filbrandt, M. D. Huber, P. Vesely, N. J. Krogan, J. R. Yates, 3rd, A. C. Saphire, and L. Gerace. 2012. Host cell interactome of HIV-1 Rev includes RNA helicases involved in multiple facets of virus production. Mol Cell Proteomics 11:M111 015313.
- 389. Nakano, H., M. Yanagita, and M. D. Gunn. 2001. CD11c(+)B220(+)Gr-1(+) cells in mouse lymph nodes and spleen display characteristics of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J Exp Med 194:1171-8.
- 390. Nan, Y., G. Nan, and Y. J. Zhang. 2014. Interferon induction by RNA viruses and antagonism by viral pathogens. Viruses 6:4999-5027.
- 391. Nasr, N., S. Maddocks, S. G. Turville, A. N. Harman, N. Woolger, K. J. Helbig, J. Wilkinson, C. R. Bye, T. K. Wright, D. Rambukwelle, H. Donaghy, M. R. Beard, and A. L. Cunningham. 2012. HIV-1 infection of human macrophages directly induces viperin which inhibits viral production. Blood 120:778-88.
- 392. Navratil, V., B. de Chassey, L. Meyniel, S. Delmotte, C. Gautier, P. Andre, V. Lotteau, and C. Rabourdin-Combe. 2009. VirHostNet: a knowledge base for the management and the analysis of proteome-wide virus-host interaction networks. Nucleic Acids Res 37:D661-8.
- 393. Nayak, D. P., E. K. Hui, and S. Barman. 2004. Assembly and budding of influenza virus. Virus Res 106:147-65.
- 394. Nemeroff, M. E., S. M. Barabino, Y. Li, W. Keller, and R. M. Krug. 1998. Influenza virus NS1 protein interacts with the cellular 30 kDa subunit of CPSF and inhibits 3'end formation of cellular pre-mRNAs. Mol Cell 1:991-1000.
- 395. Neumann, G., T. Noda, and Y. Kawaoka. 2009. Emergence and pandemic potential of swine-origin H1N1 influenza virus. Nature **459**:931-9.
- 396. **Newby, C. M., L. Sabin, and A. Pekosz.** 2007. The RNA binding domain of influenza A virus NS1 protein affects secretion of tumor necrosis factor alpha, interleukin-6, and interferon in primary murine tracheal epithelial cells. Journal of virology **81**:9469-80.

- 397. Nhu, Q. M., K. Shirey, J. R. Teijaro, D. L. Farber, S. Netzel-Arnett, T. M. Antalis, A. Fasano, and S. N. Vogel. 2010. Novel signaling interactions between proteinaseactivated receptor 2 and Toll-like receptors in vitro and in vivo. Mucosal Immunol 3:29-39.
- 398. Nicoll, A., B. Ciancio, and P. Kramarz. 2008. Observed oseltamivir resistance in seasonal influenza viruses in Europe interpretation and potential implications. Euro Surveill 13.
- 399. Noah, D. L., K. Y. Twu, and R. M. Krug. 2003. Cellular antiviral responses against influenza A virus are countered at the posttranscriptional level by the viral NS1A protein via its binding to a cellular protein required for the 3' end processing of cellular premRNAS. Virology 307:386-95.
- 400. Noda, T., and Y. Kawaoka. 2010. Structure of influenza virus ribonucleoprotein complexes and their packaging into virions. Rev Med Virol **20**:380-91.
- 401. Nourry, C., S. G. Grant, and J. P. Borg. 2003. PDZ domain proteins: plug and play! Sci STKE 2003:RE7.
- 402. Nover, L., K. D. Scharf, and D. Neumann. 1989. Cytoplasmic heat shock granules are formed from precursor particles and are associated with a specific set of mRNAs. Mol Cell Biol 9:1298-308.
- 403. O'Neill, L. A., K. A. Fitzgerald, and A. G. Bowie. 2003. The Toll-IL-1 receptor adaptor family grows to five members. Trends Immunol 24:286-90.
- 404. **O'Neill, R. E., R. Jaskunas, G. Blobel, P. Palese, and J. Moroianu.** 1995. Nuclear import of influenza virus RNA can be mediated by viral nucleoprotein and transport factors required for protein import. J Biol Chem **270**:22701-4.
- 405. **O'Neill, R. E., and P. Palese.** 1995. NPI-1, the human homolog of SRP-1, interacts with influenza virus nucleoprotein. Virology **206:**116-25.
- 406. Obenauer, J. C., J. Denson, P. K. Mehta, X. Su, S. Mukatira, D. B. Finkelstein, X. Xu, J. Wang, J. Ma, Y. Fan, K. M. Rakestraw, R. G. Webster, E. Hoffmann, S. Krauss, J. Zheng, Z. Zhang, and C. W. Naeve. 2006. Large-scale sequence analysis of avian influenza isolates. Science 311:1576-80.
- 407. Oldenburg, M., A. Kruger, R. Ferstl, A. Kaufmann, G. Nees, A. Sigmund, B. Bathke, H. Lauterbach, M. Suter, S. Dreher, U. Koedel, S. Akira, T. Kawai, J. Buer, H. Wagner, S. Bauer, H. Hochrein, and C. J. Kirschning. 2012. TLR13 recognizes bacterial 23S rRNA devoid of erythromycin resistance-forming modification. Science 337:1111-5.
- 408. Onomoto, K., M. Jogi, J. S. Yoo, R. Narita, S. Morimoto, A. Takemura, S. Sambhara, A. Kawaguchi, S. Osari, K. Nagata, T. Matsumiya, H. Namiki, M. Yoneyama, and T. Fujita. 2012. Critical role of an antiviral stress granule containing RIG-I and PKR in viral detection and innate immunity. PLoS One 7:e43031.
- 409. **Onomoto, K., M. Yoneyama, G. Fung, H. Kato, and T. Fujita.** 2014. Antiviral innate immunity and stress granule responses. Trends Immunol **35**:420-8.
- 410. Orlich, M., H. Gottwald, and R. Rott. 1994. Nonhomologous recombination between the hemagglutinin gene and the nucleoprotein gene of an influenza virus. Virology **204**:462-5.

- 411. Oshiumi, H., M. Ikeda, M. Matsumoto, A. Watanabe, O. Takeuchi, S. Akira, N. Kato, K. Shimotohno, and T. Seya. 2010. Hepatitis C virus core protein abrogates the DDX3 function that enhances IPS-1-mediated IFN-beta induction. PLoS One 5:e14258.
- 412. **Oshiumi, H., M. Miyashita, N. Inoue, M. Okabe, M. Matsumoto, and T. Seya.** 2010. The ubiquitin ligase Riplet is essential for RIG-I-dependent innate immune responses to RNA virus infection. Cell Host Microbe **8:**496-509.
- 413. **Oshiumi, H., K. Sakai, M. Matsumoto, and T. Seya.** 2010. DEAD/H BOX 3 (DDX3) helicase binds the RIG-I adaptor IPS-1 to up-regulate IFN-beta-inducing potential. Eur J Immunol **40**:940-8.
- 414. **Owsianka, A. M., and A. H. Patel.** 1999. Hepatitis C virus core protein interacts with a human DEAD box protein DDX3. Virology **257:**330-40.
- 415. **Ozato, K., D. M. Shin, T. H. Chang, and H. C. Morse, 3rd.** 2008. TRIM family proteins and their emerging roles in innate immunity. Nat Rev Immunol **8**:849-60.
- 416. Palese, P. 2004. Influenza: old and new threats. Nat Med 10:S82-7.
- 417. **Panas, M. D., N. Kedersha, and G. M. McInerney.** 2015. Methods for the characterization of stress granules in virus infected cells. Methods.
- 418. **Panas, M. D., T. Schulte, B. Thaa, T. Sandalova, N. Kedersha, A. Achour, and G. M. McInerney.** 2015. Viral and cellular proteins containing FGDF motifs bind G3BP to block stress granule formation. PLoS Pathog **11:**e1004659.
- 419. **Park, S. H., S. G. Lee, Y. Kim, and K. Song.** 1998. Assignment of a human putative RNA helicase gene, DDX3, to human X chromosome bands p11.3-->p11.23. Cytogenet Cell Genet **81:**178-9.
- 420. **Park, Y. W., and M. G. Katze.** 1995. Translational control by influenza virus. Identification of cis-acting sequences and trans-acting factors which may regulate selective viral mRNA translation. J Biol Chem **270**:28433-9.
- 421. Pasick, J., K. Handel, J. Robinson, J. Copps, D. Ridd, K. Hills, H. Kehler, C. Cottam-Birt, J. Neufeld, Y. Berhane, and S. Czub. 2005. Intersegmental recombination between the haemagglutinin and matrix genes was responsible for the emergence of a highly pathogenic H7N3 avian influenza virus in British Columbia. J Gen Virol 86:727-31.
- Patil, C., and P. Walter. 2001. Intracellular signaling from the endoplasmic reticulum to the nucleus: the unfolded protein response in yeast and mammals. Curr Opin Cell Biol 13:349-55.
- 423. **Patterson, S., J. S. Oxford, and R. R. Dourmashkin.** 1979. Studies on the mechanism of influenza virus entry into cells. J Gen Virol **43:**223-9.
- 424. **Pavlovic, J., O. Haller, and P. Staeheli.** 1992. Human and mouse Mx proteins inhibit different steps of the influenza virus multiplication cycle. J Virol **66:**2564-9.
- 425. **Pavlovic, J., T. Zurcher, O. Haller, and P. Staeheli.** 1990. Resistance to influenza virus and vesicular stomatitis virus conferred by expression of human MxA protein. J Virol **64:**3370-5.
- 426. **Peisley, A., M. H. Jo, C. Lin, B. Wu, M. Orme-Johnson, T. Walz, S. Hohng, and S. Hur.** 2012. Kinetic mechanism for viral dsRNA length discrimination by MDA5 filaments. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **109:**E3340-9.

- 427. **Pekosz, A., C. Newby, P. S. Bose, and A. Lutz.** 2009. Sialic acid recognition is a key determinant of influenza A virus tropism in murine trachea epithelial cell cultures. Virology **386:**61-7.
- 428. Perales, B., J. J. Sanz-Ezquerro, P. Gastaminza, J. Ortega, J. F. Santaren, J. Ortin, and A. Nieto. 2000. The replication activity of influenza virus polymerase is linked to the capacity of the PA subunit to induce proteolysis. J Virol 74:1307-12.
- 429. Perry, A. K., G. Chen, D. Zheng, H. Tang, and G. Cheng. 2005. The host type I interferon response to viral and bacterial infections. Cell Res 15:407-22.
- 430. Pichlmair, A., K. Kandasamy, G. Alvisi, O. Mulhern, R. Sacco, M. Habjan, M. Binder, A. Stefanovic, C. A. Eberle, A. Goncalves, T. Burckstummer, A. C. Muller, A. Fauster, C. Holze, K. Lindsten, S. Goodbourn, G. Kochs, F. Weber, R. Bartenschlager, A. G. Bowie, K. L. Bennett, J. Colinge, and G. Superti-Furga. 2012. Viral immune modulators perturb the human molecular network by common and unique strategies. Nature 487:486-90.
- 431. Pichlmair, A., O. Schulz, C. P. Tan, T. I. Naslund, P. Liljestrom, F. Weber, and C. Reis e Sousa. 2006. RIG-I-mediated antiviral responses to single-stranded RNA bearing 5'-phosphates. Science 314:997-1001.
- 432. **Pinto, L. H., L. J. Holsinger, and R. A. Lamb.** 1992. Influenza virus M2 protein has ion channel activity. Cell **69:**517-28.
- 433. **Pinto, L. H., and R. A. Lamb.** 2006. The M2 proton channels of influenza A and B viruses. J Biol Chem **281**:8997-9000.
- 434. **Piotrowska, J., S. J. Hansen, N. Park, K. Jamka, P. Sarnow, and K. E. Gustin.** 2010. Stable formation of compositionally unique stress granules in virus-infected cells. Journal of virology **84**:3654-65.
- 435. Pippig, D. A., J. C. Hellmuth, S. Cui, A. Kirchhofer, K. Lammens, A. Lammens, A. Schmidt, S. Rothenfusser, and K. P. Hopfner. 2009. The regulatory domain of the RIG-I family ATPase LGP2 senses double-stranded RNA. Nucleic Acids Res 37:2014-25.
- 436. **Portela, A., and P. Digard.** 2002. The influenza virus nucleoprotein: a multifunctional RNA-binding protein pivotal to virus replication. J Gen Virol **83:**723-34.
- 437. Pritlove, D. C., L. L. Poon, L. J. Devenish, M. B. Leahy, and G. G. Brownlee. 1999. A hairpin loop at the 5' end of influenza A virus virion RNA is required for synthesis of poly(A)+ mRNA in vitro. J Virol 73:2109-14.
- 438. **Qian, X. Y., F. Alonso-Caplen, and R. M. Krug.** 1994. Two functional domains of the influenza virus NS1 protein are required for regulation of nuclear export of mRNA. Journal of virology **68**:2433-41.
- 439. **Qian, X. Y., C. Y. Chien, Y. Lu, G. T. Montelione, and R. M. Krug.** 1995. An aminoterminal polypeptide fragment of the influenza virus NS1 protein possesses specific RNA-binding activity and largely helical backbone structure. RNA **1**:948-56.
- 440. Qin, Q., K. Carroll, C. Hastings, and C. L. Miller. 2011. Mammalian orthoreovirus escape from host translational shutoff correlates with stress granule disruption and is independent of eIF2alpha phosphorylation and PKR. J Virol **85**:8798-810.
- 441. Rameix-Welti, M. A., A. Tomoiu, E. Dos Santos Afonso, S. van der Werf, and N. Naffakh. 2009. Avian Influenza A virus polymerase association with nucleoprotein, but

not polymerase assembly, is impaired in human cells during the course of infection. J Virol **83:**1320-31.

- 442. **Randall, R. E., and S. Goodbourn.** 2008. Interferons and viruses: an interplay between induction, signalling, antiviral responses and virus countermeasures. J Gen Virol **89:**1-47.
- 443. Rebsamen, M., J. Vazquez, A. Tardivel, G. Guarda, J. Curran, and J. Tschopp. 2011. NLRX1/NOD5 deficiency does not affect MAVS signalling. Cell Death Differ 18:1387.
- 444. Rehwinkel, J., C. P. Tan, D. Goubau, O. Schulz, A. Pichlmair, K. Bier, N. Robb, F. Vreede, W. Barclay, E. Fodor, and C. Reis e Sousa. 2010. RIG-I detects viral genomic RNA during negative-strand RNA virus infection. Cell **140**:397-408.
- 445. **Reichert, V. L., H. Le Hir, M. S. Jurica, and M. J. Moore.** 2002. 5' exon interactions within the human spliceosome establish a framework for exon junction complex structure and assembly. Genes Dev **16:**2778-91.
- 446. **Richardson, J. C., and R. K. Akkina.** 1991. NS2 protein of influenza virus is found in purified virus and phosphorylated in infected cells. Arch Virol **116:**69-80.
- 447. **Richt, J. A., and A. Garcia-Sastre.** 2009. Attenuated influenza virus vaccines with modified NS1 proteins. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol **333:**177-95.
- 448. **Robb, N. C., G. Chase, K. Bier, F. T. Vreede, P. C. Shaw, N. Naffakh, M. Schwemmle, and E. Fodor.** 2011. The influenza A virus NS1 protein interacts with the nucleoprotein of viral ribonucleoprotein complexes. Journal of virology **85**:5228-31.
- 449. Robb, N. C., and E. Fodor. 2012. The accumulation of influenza A virus segment 7 spliced mRNAs is regulated by the NS1 protein. The Journal of general virology 93:113-8.
- 450. **Robb, N. C., D. Jackson, F. T. Vreede, and E. Fodor.** 2010. Splicing of influenza A virus NS1 mRNA is independent of the viral NS1 protein. J Gen Virol **91:**2331-40.
- 451. **Rocak, S., and P. Linder.** 2004. DEAD-box proteins: the driving forces behind RNA metabolism. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol **5**:232-41.
- 452. Rossman, J. S., X. Jing, G. P. Leser, V. Balannik, L. H. Pinto, and R. A. Lamb. 2010. Influenza virus m2 ion channel protein is necessary for filamentous virion formation. J Virol 84:5078-88.
- 453. **Rossman, J. S., X. Jing, G. P. Leser, and R. A. Lamb.** 2010. Influenza virus M2 protein mediates ESCRT-independent membrane scission. Cell **142**:902-13.
- 454. Rossman, J. S., and R. A. Lamb. 2011. Influenza virus assembly and budding. Virology 411:229-36.
- 455. **Rutherford, M. N., G. E. Hannigan, and B. R. Williams.** 1988. Interferon-induced binding of nuclear factors to promoter elements of the 2-5A synthetase gene. EMBO J **7:**751-9.
- 456. **Sadler, A. J., and B. R. Williams.** 2007. Structure and function of the protein kinase R. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol **316**:253-92.
- 457. Samanta, M., D. Iwakiri, T. Kanda, T. Imaizumi, and K. Takada. 2006. EB virusencoded RNAs are recognized by RIG-I and activate signaling to induce type I IFN. EMBO J 25:4207-14.
- 458. **Sanz-Ezquerro, J. J., S. de la Luna, J. Ortin, and A. Nieto.** 1995. Individual expression of influenza virus PA protein induces degradation of coexpressed proteins. J Virol **69**:2420-6.

- 459. Sato, S., M. Fukasawa, Y. Yamakawa, T. Natsume, T. Suzuki, I. Shoji, H. Aizaki, T. Miyamura, and M. Nishijima. 2006. Proteomic profiling of lipid droplet proteins in hepatoma cell lines expressing hepatitis C virus core protein. J Biochem 139:921-30.
- 460. Satterly, N., P. L. Tsai, J. van Deursen, D. R. Nussenzveig, Y. Wang, P. A. Faria, A. Levay, D. E. Levy, and B. M. Fontoura. 2007. Influenza virus targets the mRNA export machinery and the nuclear pore complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **104**:1853-8.
- 461. Schild, G. C., R. W. Newman, R. G. Webster, D. Major, and V. S. Hinshaw. 1980. Antigenic analysis of influenza A virus surface antigens: considerations for the nomenclature of influenza virus. Brief review. Arch Virol **63:**171-84.
- 462. Schlee, M., A. Roth, V. Hornung, C. A. Hagmann, V. Wimmenauer, W. Barchet, C. Coch, M. Janke, A. Mihailovic, G. Wardle, S. Juranek, H. Kato, T. Kawai, H. Poeck, K. A. Fitzgerald, O. Takeuchi, S. Akira, T. Tuschl, E. Latz, J. Ludwig, and G. Hartmann. 2009. Recognition of 5' triphosphate by RIG-I helicase requires short blunt double-stranded RNA as contained in panhandle of negative-strand virus. Immunity 31:25-34.
- 463. Schmidt, A., T. Schwerd, W. Hamm, J. C. Hellmuth, S. Cui, M. Wenzel, F. S. Hoffmann, M. C. Michallet, R. Besch, K. P. Hopfner, S. Endres, and S. Rothenfusser. 2009. 5'-triphosphate RNA requires base-paired structures to activate antiviral signaling via RIG-I. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:12067-72.
- 464. Schmidt, T. G., and A. Skerra. 2007. The Strep-tag system for one-step purification and high-affinity detection or capturing of proteins. Nat Protoc 2:1528-35.
- 465. Schmitt, A. P., and R. A. Lamb. 2005. Influenza virus assembly and budding at the viral budozone. Adv Virus Res 64:383-416.
- 466. Schneider, M., A. G. Zimmermann, R. A. Roberts, L. Zhang, K. V. Swanson, H. Wen, B. K. Davis, I. C. Allen, E. K. Holl, Z. Ye, A. H. Rahman, B. J. Conti, T. K. Eitas, B. H. Koller, and J. P. Ting. 2012. The innate immune sensor NLRC3 attenuates Toll-like receptor signaling via modification of the signaling adaptor TRAF6 and transcription factor NF-kappaB. Nat Immunol 13:823-31.
- 467. Schneider, W. M., M. D. Chevillotte, and C. M. Rice. 2014. Interferon-stimulated genes: a complex web of host defenses. Annu Rev Immunol **32:**513-45.
- 468. Schoggins, J. W., S. J. Wilson, M. Panis, M. Y. Murphy, C. T. Jones, P. Bieniasz, and C. M. Rice. 2011. A diverse range of gene products are effectors of the type I interferon antiviral response. Nature **472:**481-5.
- 469. Scholtissek, C., W. Rohde, V. Von Hoyningen, and R. Rott. 1978. On the origin of the human influenza virus subtypes H2N2 and H3N2. Virology 87:13-20.
- 470. Schroder, K., P. J. Hertzog, T. Ravasi, and D. A. Hume. 2004. Interferon-gamma: an overview of signals, mechanisms and functions. J Leukoc Biol **75**:163-89.
- 471. **Schroder, M.** 2010. Human DEAD-box protein 3 has multiple functions in gene regulation and cell cycle control and is a prime target for viral manipulation. Biochem Pharmacol **79:**297-306.
- 472. Schroder, M., M. Baran, and A. G. Bowie. 2008. Viral targeting of DEAD box protein 3 reveals its role in TBK1/IKKepsilon-mediated IRF activation. EMBO J 27:2147-57.
- 473. Schroeder, A., O. Mueller, S. Stocker, R. Salowsky, M. Leiber, M. Gassmann, S. Lightfoot, W. Menzel, M. Granzow, and T. Ragg. 2006. The RIN: an RNA integrity number for assigning integrity values to RNA measurements. BMC Mol Biol 7:3.

- 474. Schulz, O., S. S. Diebold, M. Chen, T. I. Naslund, M. A. Nolte, L. Alexopoulou, Y. T. Azuma, R. A. Flavell, P. Liljestrom, and C. Reis e Sousa. 2005. Toll-like receptor 3 promotes cross-priming to virus-infected cells. Nature **433**:887-92.
- 475. Schulz, O., A. Pichlmair, J. Rehwinkel, N. C. Rogers, D. Scheuner, H. Kato, O. Takeuchi, S. Akira, R. J. Kaufman, and C. Reis e Sousa. 2010. Protein kinase R contributes to immunity against specific viruses by regulating interferon mRNA integrity. Cell Host Microbe 7:354-61.
- 476. Selman, M., S. K. Dankar, N. E. Forbes, J. J. Jia, and E. G. Brown. 2012. Adaptive mutation in influenza A virus non-structural gene is linked to host switching and induces a novel protein by alternative splicing. Emerg Microbes Infect 1:e42.
- 477. Shannon, P., A. Markiel, O. Ozier, N. S. Baliga, J. T. Wang, D. Ramage, N. Amin, B. Schwikowski, and T. Ideker. 2003. Cytoscape: a software environment for integrated models of biomolecular interaction networks. Genome Res 13:2498-504.
- 478. Shapira, S. D., I. Gat-Viks, B. O. Shum, A. Dricot, M. M. de Grace, L. Wu, P. B. Gupta, T. Hao, S. J. Silver, D. E. Root, D. E. Hill, A. Regev, and N. Hacohen. 2009. A physical and regulatory map of host-influenza interactions reveals pathways in H1N1 infection. Cell 139:1255-67.
- 479. **Shapiro, G. I., T. Gurney, Jr., and R. M. Krug.** 1987. Influenza virus gene expression: control mechanisms at early and late times of infection and nuclear-cytoplasmic transport of virus-specific RNAs. J Virol **61:**764-73.
- 480. Sharma, D., and E. Jankowsky. 2014. The Ded1/DDX3 subfamily of DEAD-box RNA helicases. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol **49**:343-60.
- 481. Sharma, K., S. Tripathi, P. Ranjan, P. Kumar, R. Garten, V. Deyde, J. M. Katz, N. J. Cox, R. B. Lal, S. Sambhara, and S. K. Lal. 2011. Influenza A virus nucleoprotein exploits Hsp40 to inhibit PKR activation. PLoS One 6:e20215.
- 482. Sharma, S., B. R. tenOever, N. Grandvaux, G. P. Zhou, R. Lin, and J. Hiscott. 2003. Triggering the interferon antiviral response through an IKK-related pathway. Science 300:1148-51.
- 483. Sheppard, P., W. Kindsvogel, W. Xu, K. Henderson, S. Schlutsmeyer, T. E. Whitmore, R. Kuestner, U. Garrigues, C. Birks, J. Roraback, C. Ostrander, D. Dong, J. Shin, S. Presnell, B. Fox, B. Haldeman, E. Cooper, D. Taft, T. Gilbert, F. J. Grant, M. Tackett, W. Krivan, G. McKnight, C. Clegg, D. Foster, and K. M. Klucher. 2003. IL-28, IL-29 and their class II cytokine receptor IL-28R. Nat Immunol 4:63-8.
- 484. **Sheriff, S., C. Y. Chang, and R. A. Ezekowitz.** 1994. Human mannose-binding protein carbohydrate recognition domain trimerizes through a triple alpha-helical coiled-coil. Nat Struct Biol **1**:789-94.
- 485. Shih, J. W., T. Y. Tsai, C. H. Chao, and Y. H. Wu Lee. 2008. Candidate tumor suppressor DDX3 RNA helicase specifically represses cap-dependent translation by acting as an eIF4E inhibitory protein. Oncogene 27:700-14.
- 486. Shih, J. W., W. T. Wang, T. Y. Tsai, C. Y. Kuo, H. K. Li, and Y. H. Wu Lee. 2012. Critical roles of RNA helicase DDX3 and its interactions with eIF4E/PABP1 in stress granule assembly and stress response. Biochem J **441**:119-29.

- 487. Shin, Y. K., Y. Li, Q. Liu, D. H. Anderson, L. A. Babiuk, and Y. Zhou. 2007. SH3 binding motif 1 in influenza A virus NS1 protein is essential for PI3K/Akt signaling pathway activation. J Virol 81:12730-9.
- 488. Shin, Y. K., Q. Liu, S. K. Tikoo, L. A. Babiuk, and Y. Zhou. 2007. Effect of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway on influenza A virus propagation. J Gen Virol 88:942-50.
- 489. Shin, Y. K., Q. Liu, S. K. Tikoo, L. A. Babiuk, and Y. Zhou. 2007. Influenza A virus NS1 protein activates the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt pathway by direct interaction with the p85 subunit of PI3K. J Gen Virol **88:**13-8.
- 490. Shinya, K., S. Hamm, M. Hatta, H. Ito, T. Ito, and Y. Kawaoka. 2004. PB2 amino acid at position 627 affects replicative efficiency, but not cell tropism, of Hong Kong H5N1 influenza A viruses in mice. Virology **320**:258-66.
- 491. Shtyrya, Y. A., L. V. Mochalova, and N. V. Bovin. 2009. Influenza virus neuraminidase: structure and function. Acta Naturae 1:26-32.
- 492. Siegrist, F., M. Ebeling, and U. Certa. 2011. The small interferon-induced transmembrane genes and proteins. J Interferon Cytokine Res **31**:183-97.
- 493. **Silverman, R. H.** 2007. Viral encounters with 2',5'-oligoadenylate synthetase and RNase L during the interferon antiviral response. J Virol **81:**12720-9.
- 494. Skehel, J. J., T. Bizebard, P. A. Bullough, F. M. Hughson, M. Knossow, D. A. Steinhauer, S. A. Wharton, and D. C. Wiley. 1995. Membrane fusion by influenza hemagglutinin. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 60:573-80.
- 495. Soares, F., I. Tattoli, M. E. Wortzman, D. Arnoult, D. J. Philpott, and S. E. Girardin. 2013. NLRX1 does not inhibit MAVS-dependent antiviral signalling. Innate Immun 19:438-48.
- 496. **Soto-Rifo, R., and T. Ohlmann.** 2013. The role of the DEAD-box RNA helicase DDX3 in mRNA metabolism. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA **4:**369-85.
- 497. Soulat, D., T. Burckstummer, S. Westermayer, A. Goncalves, A. Bauch, A. Stefanovic, O. Hantschel, K. L. Bennett, T. Decker, and G. Superti-Furga. 2008. The DEAD-box helicase DDX3X is a critical component of the TANK-binding kinase 1-dependent innate immune response. EMBO J 27:2135-46.
- 498. Spear, G. T., M. R. Zariffard, J. Xin, and M. Saifuddin. 2003. Inhibition of DC-SIGN-mediated trans infection of T cells by mannose-binding lectin. Immunology 110:80-5.
- 499. Steel, J., and A. C. Lowen. 2014. Influenza A virus reassortment. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 385:377-401.
- 500. Steinhauer, D. A., and J. J. Holland. 1987. Rapid evolution of RNA viruses. Annu Rev Microbiol 41:409-33.
- 501. Stertz, S., and M. L. Shaw. 2011. Uncovering the global host cell requirements for influenza virus replication via RNAi screening. Microbes Infect 13:516-25.
- 502. Stevens, J., L. M. Chen, P. J. Carney, R. Garten, A. Foust, J. Le, B. A. Pokorny, R. Manojkumar, J. Silverman, R. Devis, K. Rhea, X. Xu, D. J. Bucher, J. C. Paulson, N. J. Cox, A. Klimov, and R. O. Donis. 2010. Receptor specificity of influenza A H3N2 viruses isolated in mammalian cells and embryonated chicken eggs. J Virol 84:8287-99.

- 503. Stieneke-Grober, A., M. Vey, H. Angliker, E. Shaw, G. Thomas, C. Roberts, H. D. Klenk, and W. Garten. 1992. Influenza virus hemagglutinin with multibasic cleavage site is activated by furin, a subtilisin-like endoprotease. EMBO J 11:2407-14.
- 504. Stremlau, M., C. M. Owens, M. J. Perron, M. Kiessling, P. Autissier, and J. Sodroski. 2004. The cytoplasmic body component TRIM5alpha restricts HIV-1 infection in Old World monkeys. Nature **427**:848-53.
- 505. **Stutz, F., and E. Izaurralde.** 2003. The interplay of nuclear mRNP assembly, mRNA surveillance and export. Trends Cell Biol **13**:319-27.
- 506. Suarez, D. L., D. A. Senne, J. Banks, I. H. Brown, S. C. Essen, C. W. Lee, R. J. Manvell, C. Mathieu-Benson, V. Moreno, J. C. Pedersen, B. Panigrahy, H. Rojas, E. Spackman, and D. J. Alexander. 2004. Recombination resulting in virulence shift in avian influenza outbreak, Chile. Emerg Infect Dis 10:693-9.
- 507. **Subbarao, E. K., W. London, and B. R. Murphy.** 1993. A single amino acid in the PB2 gene of influenza A virus is a determinant of host range. J Virol **67**:1761-4.
- 508. Sumpter, R., Jr., Y. M. Loo, E. Foy, K. Li, M. Yoneyama, T. Fujita, S. M. Lemon, and M. Gale, Jr. 2005. Regulating intracellular antiviral defense and permissiveness to hepatitis C virus RNA replication through a cellular RNA helicase, RIG-I. J Virol 79:2689-99.
- 509. Sun, P. D. 2003. Structure and function of natural-killer-cell receptors. Immunol Res 27:539-48.
- 510. Sutterwala, F. S., S. Haasken, and S. L. Cassel. 2014. Mechanism of NLRP3 inflammasome activation. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1319:82-95.
- 511. Swiecki, M., N. S. Omattage, and T. J. Brett. 2013. BST-2/tetherin: structural biology, viral antagonism, and immunobiology of a potent host antiviral factor. Mol Immunol 54:132-9.
- 512. Swiecki, M., Y. Wang, W. Vermi, S. Gilfillan, R. D. Schreiber, and M. Colonna. 2011. Type I interferon negatively controls plasmacytoid dendritic cell numbers in vivo. J Exp Med 208:2367-74.
- 513. Szewczyk, B., K. Bienkowska-Szewczyk, and E. Krol. 2014. Introduction to molecular biology of influenza a viruses. Acta Biochim Pol **61:**397-401.
- 514. Szretter, K. J., J. D. Brien, L. B. Thackray, H. W. Virgin, P. Cresswell, and M. S. Diamond. 2011. The interferon-inducible gene viperin restricts West Nile virus pathogenesis. J Virol 85:11557-66.
- 515. Tadaki, H., H. Saitsu, A. Nishimura-Tadaki, T. Imagawa, M. Kikuchi, R. Hara, U. Kaneko, T. Kishi, T. Miyamae, N. Miyake, H. Doi, Y. Tsurusaki, H. Sakai, S. Yokota, and N. Matsumoto. 2011. De novo 19q13.42 duplications involving NLRP gene cluster in a patient with systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Hum Genet 56:343-7.
- 516. Takahasi, K., H. Kumeta, N. Tsuduki, R. Narita, T. Shigemoto, R. Hirai, M. Yoneyama, M. Horiuchi, K. Ogura, T. Fujita, and F. Inagaki. 2009. Solution structures of cytosolic RNA sensor MDA5 and LGP2 C-terminal domains: identification of the RNA recognition loop in RIG-I-like receptors. J Biol Chem 284:17465-74.
- 517. Takahasi, K., M. Yoneyama, T. Nishihori, R. Hirai, H. Kumeta, R. Narita, M. Gale, Jr., F. Inagaki, and T. Fujita. 2008. Nonself RNA-sensing mechanism of RIG-I helicase and activation of antiviral immune responses. Mol Cell **29**:428-40.

- 518. **Takeda, K., and S. Akira.** 2005. Toll-like receptors in innate immunity. Int Immunol **17:**1-14.
- 519. Takeda, K., T. Kaisho, and S. Akira. 2003. Toll-like receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 21:335-76.
- 520. **Takeuchi, O., and S. Akira.** 2008. MDA5/RIG-I and virus recognition. Curr Opin Immunol **20:**17-22.
- 521. **Takeuchi, O., and S. Akira.** 2010. Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. Cell **140**:805-20.
- 522. Takizawa, T., S. Matsukawa, Y. Higuchi, S. Nakamura, Y. Nakanishi, and R. Fukuda. 1993. Induction of programmed cell death (apoptosis) by influenza virus infection in tissue culture cells. J Gen Virol 74 (Pt 11):2347-55.
- 523. Talon, J., M. Salvatore, R. E. O'Neill, Y. Nakaya, H. Zheng, T. Muster, A. Garcia-Sastre, and P. Palese. 2000. Influenza A and B viruses expressing altered NS1 proteins: A vaccine approach. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:4309-14.
- 524. **Tan, S. L., and M. G. Katze.** 1998. Biochemical and genetic evidence for complex formation between the influenza A virus NS1 protein and the interferon-induced PKR protein kinase. J Interferon Cytokine Res **18:**757-66.
- 525. **Tan, S. Y., B. Roediger, and W. Weninger.** 2015. The role of chemokines in cutaneous immunosurveillance. Immunol Cell Biol.
- 526. **Tange, T. O., A. Nott, and M. J. Moore.** 2004. The ever-increasing complexities of the exon junction complex. Curr Opin Cell Biol **16**:279-84.
- 527. **Tange, T. O., T. Shibuya, M. S. Jurica, and M. J. Moore.** 2005. Biochemical analysis of the EJC reveals two new factors and a stable tetrameric protein core. RNA **11**:1869-83.
- 528. **Taubenberger, J. K., and J. C. Kash.** 2010. Influenza virus evolution, host adaptation, and pandemic formation. Cell Host Microbe **7:**440-51.
- 529. **Taylor, M. E., P. M. Brickell, R. K. Craig, and J. A. Summerfield.** 1989. Structure and evolutionary origin of the gene encoding a human serum mannose-binding protein. Biochem J **262**:763-71.
- 530. Tecle, T., M. R. White, E. C. Crouch, and K. L. Hartshorn. 2007. Inhibition of influenza viral neuraminidase activity by collectins. Arch Virol 152:1731-42.
- 531. **Thomas, M., C. Kranjec, K. Nagasaka, G. Matlashewski, and L. Banks.** 2011. Analysis of the PDZ binding specificities of Influenza A virus NS1 proteins. Virol J **8:**25.
- 532. Thomas, P. G., P. Dash, J. R. Aldridge, Jr., A. H. Ellebedy, C. Reynolds, A. J. Funk, W. J. Martin, M. Lamkanfi, R. J. Webby, K. L. Boyd, P. C. Doherty, and T. D. Kanneganti. 2009. The intracellular sensor NLRP3 mediates key innate and healing responses to influenza A virus via the regulation of caspase-1. Immunity 30:566-75.
- 533. **Thompson, C. I., W. S. Barclay, M. C. Zambon, and R. J. Pickles.** 2006. Infection of human airway epithelium by human and avian strains of influenza a virus. Journal of virology **80:**8060-8.
- 534. Thompson, M. R., J. J. Kaminski, E. A. Kurt-Jones, and K. A. Fitzgerald. 2011. Pattern recognition receptors and the innate immune response to viral infection. Viruses 3:920-40.

- 535. Thompson, W. W., D. K. Shay, E. Weintraub, L. Brammer, N. Cox, L. J. Anderson, and K. Fukuda. 2003. Mortality associated with influenza and respiratory syncytial virus in the United States. JAMA 289:179-86.
- 536. Thomson, S. J., F. G. Goh, H. Banks, T. Krausgruber, S. V. Kotenko, B. M. Foxwell, and I. A. Udalova. 2009. The role of transposable elements in the regulation of IFN-lambda1 gene expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **106**:11564-9.
- 537. Ting, J. P., R. C. Lovering, E. S. Alnemri, J. Bertin, J. M. Boss, B. K. Davis, R. A. Flavell, S. E. Girardin, A. Godzik, J. A. Harton, H. M. Hoffman, J. P. Hugot, N. Inohara, A. Mackenzie, L. J. Maltais, G. Nunez, Y. Ogura, L. A. Otten, D. Philpott, J. C. Reed, W. Reith, S. Schreiber, V. Steimle, and P. A. Ward. 2008. The NLR gene family: a standard nomenclature. Immunity 28:285-7.
- 538. Tong, S., Y. Li, P. Rivailler, C. Conrardy, D. A. Castillo, L. M. Chen, S. Recuenco, J. A. Ellison, C. T. Davis, I. A. York, A. S. Turmelle, D. Moran, S. Rogers, M. Shi, Y. Tao, M. R. Weil, K. Tang, L. A. Rowe, S. Sammons, X. Xu, M. Frace, K. A. Lindblade, N. J. Cox, L. J. Anderson, C. E. Rupprecht, and R. O. Donis. 2012. A distinct lineage of influenza A virus from bats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:4269-74.
- 539. **Topisirovic, I., N. Siddiqui, V. L. Lapointe, M. Trost, P. Thibault, C. Bangeranye, S. Pinol-Roma, and K. L. Borden.** 2009. Molecular dissection of the eukaryotic initiation factor 4E (eIF4E) export-competent RNP. EMBO J **28**:1087-98.
- 540. Triana-Baltzer, G. B., R. L. Sanders, M. Hedlund, K. A. Jensen, L. M. Aschenbrenner, J. L. Larson, and F. Fang. 2011. Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of influenza virus mutants selected with the sialidase fusion protein DAS181. J Antimicrob Chemother 66:15-28.
- 541. Trinchieri, G. 1989. Biology of natural killer cells. Adv Immunol 47:187-376.
- 542. **Tsai, P. L., N. T. Chiou, S. Kuss, A. Garcia-Sastre, K. W. Lynch, and B. M. Fontoura.** 2013. Cellular RNA binding proteins NS1-BP and hnRNP K regulate influenza A virus RNA splicing. PLoS Pathog **9:**e1003460.
- 543. Tsai, S. Y., J. A. Segovia, T. H. Chang, I. R. Morris, M. T. Berton, P. A. Tessier, M. R. Tardif, A. Cesaro, and S. Bose. 2014. DAMP molecule S100A9 acts as a molecular pattern to enhance inflammation during influenza A virus infection: role of DDX21-TRIF-TLR4-MyD88 pathway. PLoS Pathog 10:e1003848.
- 544. **Turan, K., M. Mibayashi, K. Sugiyama, S. Saito, A. Numajiri, and K. Nagata.** 2004. Nuclear MxA proteins form a complex with influenza virus NP and inhibit the transcription of the engineered influenza virus genome. Nucleic Acids Res **32**:643-52.
- 545. **Twu, K. Y., D. L. Noah, P. Rao, R. L. Kuo, and R. M. Krug.** 2006. The CPSF30 binding site on the NS1A protein of influenza A virus is a potential antiviral target. J Virol **80**:3957-65.
- 546. Valente, G., L. Ozmen, F. Novelli, M. Geuna, G. Palestro, G. Forni, and G. Garotta. 1992. Distribution of interferon-gamma receptor in human tissues. Eur J Immunol 22:2403-12.
- 547. Valiente-Echeverria, F., M. A. Hermoso, and R. Soto-Rifo. 2015. RNA helicase DDX3: at the crossroad of viral replication and antiviral immunity. Rev Med Virol 25:286-99.
- 548. van Boxel-Dezaire, A. H., and G. R. Stark. 2007. Cell type-specific signaling in response to interferon-gamma. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol **316**:119-54.

- 549. van de Sandt, C. E., J. H. Kreijtz, and G. F. Rimmelzwaan. 2012. Evasion of influenza A viruses from innate and adaptive immune responses. Viruses 4:1438-76.
- 550. van Kessel, K. P., J. Bestebroer, and J. A. van Strijp. 2014. Neutrophil-Mediated Phagocytosis of Staphylococcus aureus. Front Immunol **5**:467.
- 551. Varga, Z. T., I. Ramos, R. Hai, M. Schmolke, A. Garcia-Sastre, A. Fernandez-Sesma, and P. Palese. 2011. The influenza virus protein PB1-F2 inhibits the induction of type I interferon at the level of the MAVS adaptor protein. PLoS Pathog 7:e1002067.
- 552. Varki, A., M. E. Etzler, R. D. Cummings, and J. D. Esko. 2009. Discovery and Classification of Glycan-Binding Proteins.
- 553. Venkataraman, T., M. Valdes, R. Elsby, S. Kakuta, G. Caceres, S. Saijo, Y. Iwakura, and G. N. Barber. 2007. Loss of DExD/H box RNA helicase LGP2 manifests disparate antiviral responses. J Immunol **178:**6444-55.
- 554. Venkatesh, S., and P. D. Bieniasz. 2013. Mechanism of HIV-1 virion entrapment by tetherin. PLoS Pathog 9:e1003483.
- 555. Verhelst, J., E. Parthoens, B. Schepens, W. Fiers, and X. Saelens. 2012. Interferoninducible protein Mx1 inhibits influenza virus by interfering with functional viral ribonucleoprotein complex assembly. J Virol **86:**13445-55.
- 556. Verhoeyen, M., R. Fang, W. M. Jou, R. Devos, D. Huylebroeck, E. Saman, and W. Fiers. 1980. Antigenic drift between the haemagglutinin of the Hong Kong influenza strains A/Aichi/2/68 and A/Victoria/3/75. Nature **286**:771-6.
- 557. Vethanayagam, R. R., N. G. Almyroudis, M. J. Grimm, D. C. Lewandowski, C. T. Pham, T. S. Blackwell, R. Petraitiene, V. Petraitis, T. J. Walsh, C. F. Urban, and B. H. Segal. 2011. Role of NADPH oxidase versus neutrophil proteases in antimicrobial host defense. PLoS One 6:e28149.
- 558. Vey, M., M. Orlich, S. Adler, H. D. Klenk, R. Rott, and W. Garten. 1992. Hemagglutinin activation of pathogenic avian influenza viruses of serotype H7 requires the protease recognition motif R-X-K/R-R. Virology **188**:408-13.
- 559. Voorhout, W. F., T. Veenendaal, Y. Kuroki, Y. Ogasawara, L. M. van Golde, and H. J. Geuze. 1992. Immunocytochemical localization of surfactant protein D (SP-D) in type II cells, Clara cells, and alveolar macrophages of rat lung. J Histochem Cytochem 40:1589-97.
- 560. Vreede, F. T., T. E. Jung, and G. G. Brownlee. 2004. Model suggesting that replication of influenza virus is regulated by stabilization of replicative intermediates. J Virol **78**:9568-72.
- 561. Wagner, R., T. Wolff, A. Herwig, S. Pleschka, and H. D. Klenk. 2000. Interdependence of hemagglutinin glycosylation and neuraminidase as regulators of influenza virus growth: a study by reverse genetics. J Virol 74:6316-23.
- 562. Wang, H., S. Kim, and W. S. Ryu. 2009. DDX3 DEAD-Box RNA helicase inhibits hepatitis B virus reverse transcription by incorporation into nucleocapsids. J Virol 83:5815-24.
- 563. **Wang, H., and W. S. Ryu.** 2010. Hepatitis B virus polymerase blocks pattern recognition receptor signaling via interaction with DDX3: implications for immune evasion. PLoS Pathog **6**:e1000986.

- 564. **Wang, P., P. Palese, and R. E. O'Neill.** 1997. The NPI-1/NPI-3 (karyopherin alpha) binding site on the influenza a virus nucleoprotein NP is a nonconventional nuclear localization signal. Journal of virology **71:**1850-6.
- 565. Wang, P., W. Song, B. W. Mok, P. Zhao, K. Qin, A. Lai, G. J. Smith, J. Zhang, T. Lin, Y. Guan, and H. Chen. 2009. Nuclear factor 90 negatively regulates influenza virus replication by interacting with viral nucleoprotein. J Virol 83:7850-61.
- 566. Wang, W., K. Riedel, P. Lynch, C. Y. Chien, G. T. Montelione, and R. M. Krug. 1999. RNA binding by the novel helical domain of the influenza virus NS1 protein requires its dimer structure and a small number of specific basic amino acids. RNA 5:195-205.
- 567. Wang, X., E. R. Hinson, and P. Cresswell. 2007. The interferon-inducible protein viperin inhibits influenza virus release by perturbing lipid rafts. Cell Host Microbe 2:96-105.
- 568. Wang, X., M. Li, H. Zheng, T. Muster, P. Palese, A. A. Beg, and A. Garcia-Sastre. 2000. Influenza A virus NS1 protein prevents activation of NF-kappaB and induction of alpha/beta interferon. J Virol **74:**11566-73.
- 569. **Wang, Y., J. Zhou, and Y. Du.** 2014. hnRNP A2/B1 interacts with influenza A viral protein NS1 and inhibits virus replication potentially through suppressing NS1 RNA/protein levels and NS1 mRNA nuclear export. Virology **449:**53-61.
- 570. Watanabe, T., E. Kawakami, J. E. Shoemaker, T. J. Lopes, Y. Matsuoka, Y. Tomita, H. Kozuka-Hata, T. Gorai, T. Kuwahara, E. Takeda, A. Nagata, R. Takano, M. Kiso, M. Yamashita, Y. Sakai-Tagawa, H. Katsura, N. Nonaka, H. Fujii, K. Fujii, Y. Sugita, T. Noda, H. Goto, S. Fukuyama, S. Watanabe, G. Neumann, M. Oyama, H. Kitano, and Y. Kawaoka. 2014. Influenza virus-host interactome screen as a platform for antiviral drug development. Cell Host Microbe 16:795-805.
- 571. Watanabe, T., S. Watanabe, and Y. Kawaoka. 2010. Cellular networks involved in the influenza virus life cycle. Cell Host Microbe 7:427-39.
- 572. Webby, R. J., and R. G. Webster. 2001. Emergence of influenza A viruses. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 356:1817-28.
- 573. Weber, F., V. Wagner, S. B. Rasmussen, R. Hartmann, and S. R. Paludan. 2006. Double-stranded RNA is produced by positive-strand RNA viruses and DNA viruses but not in detectable amounts by negative-strand RNA viruses. J Virol **80:**5059-64.
- 574. Weber, M., A. Gawanbacht, M. Habjan, A. Rang, C. Borner, A. M. Schmidt, S. Veitinger, R. Jacob, S. Devignot, G. Kochs, A. Garcia-Sastre, and F. Weber. 2013. Incoming RNA virus nucleocapsids containing a 5'-triphosphorylated genome activate RIG-I and antiviral signaling. Cell Host Microbe 13:336-46.
- 575. Webster, R. G., W. J. Bean, O. T. Gorman, T. M. Chambers, and Y. Kawaoka. 1992. Evolution and ecology of influenza A viruses. Microbiol Rev 56:152-79.
- 576. Wen, X., X. Huang, B. W. Mok, Y. Chen, M. Zheng, S. Y. Lau, P. Wang, W. Song, D. Y. Jin, K. Y. Yuen, and H. Chen. 2014. NF90 exerts antiviral activity through regulation of PKR phosphorylation and stress granules in infected cells. J Immunol 192:3753-64.
- 577. White, J. P., A. M. Cardenas, W. E. Marissen, and R. E. Lloyd. 2007. Inhibition of cytoplasmic mRNA stress granule formation by a viral proteinase. Cell Host Microbe 2:295-305.

- 578. **Wijburg, O. L., S. DiNatale, J. Vadolas, N. van Rooijen, and R. A. Strugnell.** 1997. Alveolar macrophages regulate the induction of primary cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses during influenza virus infection. J Virol **71:**9450-7.
- 579. Will, C. L., and R. Luhrmann. 2011. Spliceosome structure and function. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol **3**.
- 580. Williams, B. R. 2001. Signal integration via PKR. Sci STKE 2001:re2.
- 581. Wise, H. M., A. Foeglein, J. Sun, R. M. Dalton, S. Patel, W. Howard, E. C. Anderson, W. S. Barclay, and P. Digard. 2009. A complicated message: Identification of a novel PB1-related protein translated from influenza A virus segment 2 mRNA. J Virol 83:8021-31.
- 582. Wise, H. M., E. C. Hutchinson, B. W. Jagger, A. D. Stuart, Z. H. Kang, N. Robb, L. M. Schwartzman, J. C. Kash, E. Fodor, A. E. Firth, J. R. Gog, J. K. Taubenberger, and P. Digard. 2012. Identification of a novel splice variant form of the influenza A virus M2 ion channel with an antigenically distinct ectodomain. PLoS Pathog 8:e1002998.
- 583. Wisskirchen, C., T. H. Ludersdorfer, D. A. Muller, E. Moritz, and J. Pavlovic. 2011. The cellular RNA helicase UAP56 is required for prevention of double-stranded RNA formation during influenza A virus infection. J Virol **85**:8646-55.
- 584. Woodward, A. M., J. Mauris, and P. Argueso. 2013. Binding of transmembrane mucins to galectin-3 limits herpesvirus 1 infection of human corneal keratinocytes. J Virol 87:5841-7.
- 585. Wu, B., A. Peisley, C. Richards, H. Yao, X. Zeng, C. Lin, F. Chu, T. Walz, and S. Hur. 2013. Structural basis for dsRNA recognition, filament formation, and antiviral signal activation by MDA5. Cell 152:276-89.
- 586. **Wu, Y., B. Tefsen, Y. Shi, and G. F. Gao.** 2014. Bat-derived influenza-like viruses H17N10 and H18N11. Trends Microbiol **22**:183-91.
- 587. Xu, L. G., Y. Y. Wang, K. J. Han, L. Y. Li, Z. Zhai, and H. B. Shu. 2005. VISA is an adapter protein required for virus-triggered IFN-beta signaling. Mol Cell **19**:727-40.
- 588. **Yamamoto, M., S. Sato, K. Mori, K. Hoshino, O. Takeuchi, K. Takeda, and S. Akira.** 2002. Cutting edge: a novel Toll/IL-1 receptor domain-containing adapter that preferentially activates the IFN-beta promoter in the Toll-like receptor signaling. J Immunol **169:**6668-72.
- 589. **Yamasaki, S., and P. Anderson.** 2008. Reprogramming mRNA translation during stress. Curr Opin Cell Biol **20**:222-6.
- 590. Yamaya, M., W. E. Finkbeiner, S. Y. Chun, and J. H. Widdicombe. 1992. Differentiated structure and function of cultures from human tracheal epithelium. The American journal of physiology 262:L713-24.
- 591. Yang, M. L., Y. H. Chen, S. W. Wang, Y. J. Huang, C. H. Leu, N. C. Yeh, C. Y. Chu, C. C. Lin, G. S. Shieh, Y. L. Chen, J. R. Wang, C. H. Wang, C. L. Wu, and A. L. Shiau. 2011. Galectin-1 binds to influenza virus and ameliorates influenza virus pathogenesis. J Virol 85:10010-20.
- 592. **Yarilina, A., K. H. Park-Min, T. Antoniv, X. Hu, and L. B. Ivashkiv.** 2008. TNF activates an IRF1-dependent autocrine loop leading to sustained expression of chemokines and STAT1-dependent type I interferon-response genes. Nat Immunol **9:**378-87.

- 593. **Yasuda-Inoue, M., M. Kuroki, and Y. Ariumi.** 2013. DDX3 RNA helicase is required for HIV-1 Tat function. Biochem Biophys Res Commun **441**:607-11.
- 594. Yedavalli, V. S., C. Neuveut, Y. H. Chi, L. Kleiman, and K. T. Jeang. 2004. Requirement of DDX3 DEAD box RNA helicase for HIV-1 Rev-RRE export function. Cell 119:381-92.
- 595. Yewdell, J. W., E. Reits, and J. Neefjes. 2003. Making sense of mass destruction: quantitating MHC class I antigen presentation. Nat Rev Immunol 3:952-61.
- 596. **Ying, H., X. Ji, M. L. Hart, K. Gupta, M. Saifuddin, M. R. Zariffard, and G. T. Spear.** 2004. Interaction of mannose-binding lectin with HIV type 1 is sufficient for virus opsonization but not neutralization. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses **20**:327-35.
- 597. Ylosmaki, L., C. Schmotz, E. Ylosmaki, and K. Saksela. 2015. Reorganization of the host cell Crk(L)-PI3 kinase signaling complex by the influenza A virus NS1 protein. Virology **484**:146-52.
- 598. **Yoneyama, M., and T. Fujita.** 2007. Function of RIG-I-like receptors in antiviral innate immunity. J Biol Chem **282:**15315-8.
- 599. Yoneyama, M., M. Kikuchi, K. Matsumoto, T. Imaizumi, M. Miyagishi, K. Taira, E. Foy, Y. M. Loo, M. Gale, Jr., S. Akira, S. Yonehara, A. Kato, and T. Fujita. 2005. Shared and unique functions of the DExD/H-box helicases RIG-I, MDA5, and LGP2 in antiviral innate immunity. J Immunol 175:2851-8.
- 600. Yoneyama, M., M. Kikuchi, T. Natsukawa, N. Shinobu, T. Imaizumi, M. Miyagishi, K. Taira, S. Akira, and T. Fujita. 2004. The RNA helicase RIG-I has an essential function in double-stranded RNA-induced innate antiviral responses. Nat Immunol 5:730-7.
- 601. York, A., and E. Fodor. 2013. Biogenesis, assembly, and export of viral messenger ribonucleoproteins in the influenza A virus infected cell. RNA Biol **10**:1274-82.
- 602. Yount, J. S., B. Moltedo, Y. Y. Yang, G. Charron, T. M. Moran, C. B. Lopez, and H. C. Hang. 2010. Palmitoylome profiling reveals S-palmitoylation-dependent antiviral activity of IFITM3. Nat Chem Biol 6:610-4.
- 603. Yu, S., J. Chen, M. Wu, H. Chen, N. Kato, and Z. Yuan. 2010. Hepatitis B virus polymerase inhibits RIG-I- and Toll-like receptor 3-mediated beta interferon induction in human hepatocytes through interference with interferon regulatory factor 3 activation and dampening of the interaction between TBK1/IKKepsilon and DDX3. J Gen Virol 91:2080-90.
- 604. Yuan, P., M. Bartlam, Z. Lou, S. Chen, J. Zhou, X. He, Z. Lv, R. Ge, X. Li, T. Deng, E. Fodor, Z. Rao, and Y. Liu. 2009. Crystal structure of an avian influenza polymerase PA(N) reveals an endonuclease active site. Nature 458:909-13.
- 605. Zhang, J., F. Huang, L. Tan, C. Bai, B. Chen, J. Liu, J. Liang, C. Liu, S. Zhang, G. Lu, Y. Chen, and H. Zhang. 2016. MOV10 is a Restriction Factor of Influenza A Virus by Inhibiting the Nuclear Import of the Viral Nucleoprotein. J Virol.
- 606. Zhang, X., T. W. Brann, M. Zhou, J. Yang, R. M. Oguariri, K. B. Lidie, H. Imamichi, D. W. Huang, R. A. Lempicki, M. W. Baseler, T. D. Veenstra, H. A. Young, H. C. Lane, and T. Imamichi. 2011. Cutting edge: Ku70 is a novel cytosolic DNA sensor that induces type III rather than type I IFN. J Immunol 186:4541-5.

- 607. Zhang, Z., T. Kim, M. Bao, V. Facchinetti, S. Y. Jung, A. A. Ghaffari, J. Qin, G. Cheng, and Y. J. Liu. 2011. DDX1, DDX21, and DHX36 helicases form a complex with the adaptor molecule TRIF to sense dsRNA in dendritic cells. Immunity **34**:866-78.
- 608. **Zhao, C., T. Y. Hsiang, R. L. Kuo, and R. M. Krug.** 2010. ISG15 conjugation system targets the viral NS1 protein in influenza A virus-infected cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **107**:2253-8.
- 609. **Zheng, H., H. A. Lee, P. Palese, and A. Garcia-Sastre.** 1999. Influenza A virus RNA polymerase has the ability to stutter at the polyadenylation site of a viral RNA template during RNA replication. J Virol **73:**5240-3.
- 610. Zhou, Z., M. Cao, Y. Guo, L. Zhao, J. Wang, X. Jia, J. Li, C. Wang, G. Gabriel, Q. Xue, Y. Yi, S. Cui, Q. Jin, and T. Deng. 2014. Fragile X mental retardation protein stimulates ribonucleoprotein assembly of influenza A virus. Nat Commun 5:3259.
- 611. Zust, R., L. Cervantes-Barragan, M. Habjan, R. Maier, B. W. Neuman, J. Ziebuhr, K. J. Szretter, S. C. Baker, W. Barchet, M. S. Diamond, S. G. Siddell, B. Ludewig, and V. Thiel. 2011. Ribose 2'-O-methylation provides a molecular signature for the distinction of self and non-self mRNA dependent on the RNA sensor Mda5. Nat Immunol 12:137-43.

APPENDIX I: PUBLICATIONS, CONFERENCES, SCHOLARSHIPS AND AWARDS Publications:

 Lin L, Li Y, Pyo HM, Lu X, Raman SN, Liu Q, Brown EG, Zhou Y. 2012. Identification of RNA Helicase A as a Cellular Factor That Interacts with Influenza A Virus NS1 Protein and Its Role in the Virus Life Cycle. J Virol. 86(4):1942-54.

My contribution – Determination of mutant virus titers by plaque assay for the growth curve experiment. Percentage contribution – 10%.

 Raman SN, Liu G, Pyo HM, Cui YC, Xu F, Ayalew LE, Tikoo SK, Zhou Y. 2016. DDX3 interacts with influenza A NS1 and NP proteins and exerts antiviral function through regulation of stress granule formation. J. Virol. doi:10.1128/JVI.03010-15 My contribution – Conception and design of experiments, execution of experiments, acquisition and analysis of data, and drafting of the manuscript. Percentage contribution – 90%.

Conferences:

- Raman SN, Zhou Y. November 12-13, 2010. Determination of Temperature sensitive loci for Swine Influenza SIV/SK/2001 (H1N1). Canadian pandemic preparedness meeting, Montreal, QC, Canada. (poster presentation)
- Raman SN, Zhou Y. March 11, 2011. Determination of Temperature sensitive loci for Swine Influenza SIV/SK/2001 (H1N1). The 18th annual Life and Health Sciences research day, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada. (poster presentation)
- 3. **Raman SN**, Zhou Y. June 1, 2012. *Cytokine expression profile of influenza infected primary swine respiratory epithelial cells (SRECs)*. Li Ka Shing Institute of Virology and Gairdner foundation symposium, Edmonton, AB, Canada. (poster presentation)

- 4. Raman SN, Zhou Y. March 9, 2012. Rescue of a swine influenza virus with strep-tagged NS1 to study virus-host protein interactions in swine respiratory epithelial cells (SRECs). The 19th annual Life and Health Sciences research day, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada. (poster presentation)
- Raman SN, Zhou Y. July 22, 2012. Rescue of a swine influenza virus with strep-tagged NS1 to study virus-host protein interactions in swine respiratory epithelial cells (SRECs). The 31st annual meeting of American Society of Virology, Madison, WI, USA on. (poster presentation)
- 6. Raman SN, Zhou Y. March 15, 2013. Identification of host factors in swine respiratory epithelial cells that contribute to host anti-viral defense and influenza virus replication. The 20th annual Life and Health Sciences research day, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada. (poster presentation)
- Raman SN, Zhou Y. June 16-21, 2013. DDX1 and DDX3 as potential host factors in regulating influenza virus replication in Swine Respiratory Epithelial Cells (SRECs). The 15th International Negative Strand Virus meeting in Granada, Spain. (poster presentation)
- Raman SN, Zhou Y. May 28-30, 2014. *Role of DDX3 in IFNβ response during influenza infection*. The 2014 Prairie Infectious Immunology Network Conference, Hecla, MB, Canada. (poster presentation)

Scholarships and awards:

- Sep 2010-Aug 2011, Vaccinology and Immunotherapeutics departmental scholarship, University of Saskatchewan, Value is CAD 8000.
- Sep 2011-Aug 2012, Vaccinology and Immunotherapeutics departmental scholarship, University of Saskatchewan, Value is CAD 8500.

- Sep 2012-Aug 2013, Vaccinology and Immunotherapeutics departmental scholarship, University of Saskatchewan, Value is CAD 9000.
- 4. 2012, Saskatchewan Innovation and Opportunity scholarship. Value is CAD 10000.
- 5. 2013, Saskatchewan Innovation and Opportunity scholarship. Value is CAD 10000.
- 2012, Student travel award, University of Saskatchewan, to attend the Li Ka Shing Institute of Virology and Gairdner Foundation Symposium, Value is CAD 350.
- 2012, Student travel award, American Society of Virology, to attend The American Society for Virology the 31st annual meeting. Value is USD 500.
- 2013, Student travel award, University of Saskatchewan, to attend the 15th International Negative Strand Virus meeting. Value is CAD 550.

APPENDIX II: PROOF OF PERMISSION LETTERS FOR REUSE OF COPYRIGHTED MATERIAL IN THESIS

Permission for content used in Figure 1.1:

Scien	CAAAS.OR	G FEEDBACK HELP L	IBRARIANS	All Scie	nce Journals	Enter Search Term	SEARCH ADVANCED
Jerem					UNIV OF SASKATCHEW	AN ALERTS ACCESS RIGHTS	MY ACCOUNT SIGN IN
MA	AAS NEWS	SCIENCE JOURNALS	CAREERS M	ULTIMEDIA	COLLECTIONS		JOIN / SUBSCRIBE
Science The World's Leading Journal of Original Scientific Research, Global News, and Commentary.							
Science Home	Current Issue P	revious Issues Science E	xpress Science Pi	roducts My :	Science About the Jo	urnal	
Home > Science Magaz	zine > About the Jour	nal > Reprints & Permissions					
Usi	ing AAAS Mate	rial in a Thesis or Dise	sertation				
NO Puł	TE: If you are the blish for rules on	ne Original Author of the reproducing your paper	AAAS article be in a dissertation	eing reproduc or thesis.	ed, please refer to yo	our License to	
AA. Sig	AS permits the maling, but only	use of content published provided the following c	in its journals Se iteria are met.	cience, Scien	ce Technical Medicir	ne, and Science	
	 If you are usi dissertation of 	ng figure(s)/table(s), per or thesis.	mission is grante	ed for use in p	rint and electronic ve	ersions of your	
:	 A full text art reproduction 	icle may be used only in of full text articles in ele	print versions of ctronic versions of	a dissertatio of theses or d	n or thesis. AAAS do	pes not permit the	
:	 The following Reprinted wit 	credit line must be prin h permission from AAA	ted along wit <mark>h t</mark> h S.''	e AAAS mat	erial: "From [Full Re	ference Citation].	
	 All required of and must app 	redit lines and notices n bear on any printed copi	nust be visible an es that an author	iy time a user ized user mig	accesses any part o ht make.	f the AAAS material	
	5. The AAAS m permission fr	naterial may not be mod om the author. Author p	ified or altered ex ermission for any	cept that fig such change	ures and tables may as must be secured p	be modified with prior to your use.	
(6. AAAS must	oublish the full paper pri	or to your use of	any of its tex	t or figures.		
-	 If the AAAS must also ob not charge a apply to news 	material covered by this tain permission from the fee if permission is gran s articles.	permission was author, who may ted. See original	published in y grant or wit article for au	Science during the ye hhold permission, an thor's address. This	ears 1974–1994, you d who may or may condition does not	

 If you are an Original Author on the AAAS article being reproduced, please refer to your License to Publish for rules on reproducing your paper in a dissertation or thesis.

Permission for content used in Figure 1.2:

Permission was obtained by email.

[Viralzone] Requesting permission for using figure in thesis

2 messages

Sathya Narayanan Thulasi Raman <chatyabiotech@gmail.com> To: viralzone@isb-sib.ch Cc: chatyabiotech@gmail.com Thu, Nov 19, 2015 at 2:47 PM

Sender name: Sathya Narayanan Thulasi Raman Subject: [Viralzone] Requesting permission for using figure in thesis

Dear Sir/Madam,

I am a graduate student at University of Saskatchewan, Canada. I would like to use the influenza viral genome picture from the link below in my academic thesis.

http://viralzone.expasy.org/all_by_species/131.html

Hence, please grant me permission to use this figure in my thesis.

Thank You, Sathya Narayanan

This email message has been generated on the ExPASy WWW server (www.expasy.org). In case of problems, please contact helpdesk@expasy.org. --Message sent from host viralzone.expasy.org. Referring page: http://viralzone.expasy.org/.

Browser: Mozilla/5.0 (Windows NT 6.1; WOW64; Trident/7.0; rv:11.0) like Gecko.

Philippe Lemercier via RT <viralzone@isb-sib.ch> Reply-To: viralzone@isb-sib.ch To: chatyabiotech@gmail.com Fri, Nov 20, 2015 at 7:59 AM

Dear Sathya Narayanan Thulasi Raman

I hereby grant you permission to use infléuenza virus genome picture in your thesis. Please cite ViralZone, SIB Swiss institute of bioinformatics.

best regards

Philippe Le Mercier [Quoted text hidden]

Permission for content used in Figure 1.3:

Permission was obtained by email.

Permission to use figure for thesis

5 messages

sathya narayanan <chatyabiotech@gmail.com> To: help@reactome.org Thu, Dec 17, 2015 at 3:40 PM

Dear Sir/Madam,

I am a graduate student at University of Saskatchewan. I would like to request permission to use the figure from the below given link in my thesis. Please grant me permission to use this figure in my thesis.

http://www.reactome.org/figures/influenza_life_cycle_overview.jpg

Thank You, Sathya

Robin Haw <Robin.Haw@oicr.on.ca> Thu, Dec 17, 2015 at 3:51 PM To: sathya narayanan <chatyabiotech@gmail.com>, "help@reactome.org" <help@reactome.org>

Dear Sathya, You have our permission to use this image. Please remember to cite Reactome as the source. Thanks, Robin Haw

Robin Haw, PhD

Project Manager and Outreach Coordinator

Ontario Institute for Cancer Research

MaRS Centre 661 University Avenue Suite 510 Toronto, Ontario Canada M5G 0A3

Tel: 647-260-7985 Mobile: 416-457-8235 Toll-free: 1-866-678-6427 @robinhaw, @reactome, @OICR_news

http://orcid.org/0000-0002-2013-7835 http://www.oicr.on.ca http://www.reactome.org

This message and any attachments may contain confidential and/or privileged information for the sole use of the intended recipient. Any review or distribution by anyone other than the person for whom it was originally intended is strictly prohibited. If you have received this message in error, please contact the sender and delete all copies. Opinions, conclusions or other information contained in this message may not be that of the organization.

Permission for content used in Figures 1.5 and 1.6:



Permission Not Required

Material may be republished in a thesis / dissertation without obtaining additional permission from Annual Reviews, providing that the author and the original source of publication are fully acknowledged.

Permission for content used in Figure 1.7:

Society for General Microbiology LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Dec 17, 2015

This is a License Agreement between SathyaNarayanan Thulasi Raman ("You") and Society for General Microbiology ("Society for General Microbiology") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Society for General Microbiology, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	3752251390934
License date	Nov 18, 2015
Licensed content publisher	Society for General Microbiology
Licensed content title	Journal of general virology
Licensed content date	Jan 1, 1998
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	Publisher, not-for-profit
Format	Print, Electronic
Portion	chart/graph/table/figure
Number of charts/graphs/tables/figures	1
Title or numeric reference of the portion(s)	Title : The multifunctional NS1 protein of influenza A viruses , Figure 2.
Title of the article or chapter the portion is from	N/A
Editor of portion(s)	Not Applicable
Author of portion(s)	Hale
Volume of serial or monograph.	89
Page range of the portion	2360
Publication date of portion	October 2008
Rights for	Main product
Duration of use	Current edition and up to 5 years
Creation of copies for the disabled	no
With minor editing privileges	no
For distribution to	Canada
In the following language(s)	Original language of publication
With incidental promotional	no

use

The lifetime unit quantity of new product	Up to 499
Made available in the following markets	University
The requesting person/organization is:	Sathya Narayanan Thulasi Raman/ VIDO-InterVac, University (Saskatchewan
Order reference number	None
Author/Editor	Sathya N Thulasi Raman, Yan Zhou
The standard identifier	Thesis/Dissertation
Title	IDENTIFICATION OF HOST FACTORS IN SWINE RESPIRATORY EPITHELIAL CELLS THAT CONTRIBUTE TO HOST ANTI-VIRAL DEFENSE AND INFLUENZA VIRUS REPLICATION
Publisher	University of Saskatchewan
Expected publication date	Dec 2015
Estimated size (pages)	203
Total (may include CCC user fee)	0.00 USD